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PART I
 

Certain statements contained herein are forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
including, but not limited to, statements pertaining to future financial and/or operating results, future growth in research, technology, clinical development, and
potential opportunities for Oncocyte, along with other statements about the future expectations, beliefs, goals, plans, or prospects expressed by management
constitute forward-looking statements. Any statements that are not historical fact (including, but not limited to statements that contain words such as
“anticipate,” “believe,” “can,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “strategy,” “target,”
“will,” “would”) should also be considered to be forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, including, without
limitation, risks inherent in the development and/or commercialization of potential products, uncertainty in the results of clinical trials or regulatory approvals,
need and ability to obtain future capital, and maintenance of intellectual property rights. Actual results may differ materially from the results anticipated in
these forward-looking statements and as such should be evaluated together with the many uncertainties that affect the businesses of Oncocyte, particularly
those mentioned in this Report under “Risk Factors”. Except as required by law, Oncocyte undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements
to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements.
 

The forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements about:
 

 ● the timing and potential achievement of future milestones;
   
 ● the timing and our ability to obtain and maintain coverage and reimbursements from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services and other

third-party payers;
   
 ● our plans to pursue research and development of diagnostic test candidates;
   
 ● the potential commercialization of our diagnostic tests currently in development;
   
 ● the timing and success of future clinical trials and the period during which the results of the clinical trials will become available;
   
 ● the potential receipt of revenue from future sales of our diagnostic tests or tests in development;
   
 ● our assumptions regarding obtaining reimbursement and reimbursement rates;
   
 ● our estimates regarding future orders of tests and our ability to perform a projected number of tests;
   
 ● our estimates and assumptions around patient populations, market size and price points for reimbursement for our diagnostic tests
   
 ● our estimates regarding future revenues and operating expenses, and future capital requirements;
   
 ● our intellectual property position;
   
 ● the impact of government laws and regulations;
   
 ● the uncertainties associated with the coronavirus (COVID-19) ongoing pandemic, including its possible effects on our operations and the demand

for our diagnostic tests and Pharma Services;
   
 ● our ability to efficiently and flexibly manage our business amid uncertainties related to COVID-19; and
   
 ● our competitive position.

 
Unless the context otherwise requires, all references to “OncoCyte,” “we,” “us,” “our,” “the Company” or similar words refer to OncoCyte

Corporation, together with our consolidated subsidiaries.
 

The description or discussion, in this Form 10-K, of any contract or agreement is a summary only and is qualified in all respects by reference to the
full text of the applicable contract or agreement.

 
DetermaRx™, DetermaIO™, DetermaTx™, DetermaMx™ and DetermaDx™ are trademarks of OncoCyte Corporation regardless of whether the

“TM” symbol accompanies the use of or reference to the applicable trademark in this Report.
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INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA
 

This Annual Report (“Report”) on Form 10-K contains market data and industry forecasts that were obtained from industry publications, third party
market research and publicly available information. These publications generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources
believed to be reliable. While we believe that the information from these publications is reliable, we have not independently verified such information.
 

This Report also contains estimates and other statistical data made by independent parties and by us relating to market size and growth and other data
about our industry. We obtained the industry and market data in this Report from our own research as well as from industry and general publications, surveys
and studies conducted by third parties, some of which may not be publicly available. Such data involves a number of assumptions and limitations and contains
projections and estimates of the future performance of the industries in which we operate that are subject to a high degree of uncertainty. We caution you not to
give undue weight to such projections, assumptions and estimates.
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Item 1. Business
 
Development of Our Business
 

Oncocyte is a molecular diagnostics company focused on developing and commercializing proprietary tests, initially offered as laboratory-developed
tests (“LDTs), to serve unmet medical needs across the cancer care continuum. Our tests aim to provide actionable information to physicians and patients at
critical decision points to optimize treatment decisions, including the selection of immunotherapy, improve patient outcomes, and reduce overall cost of care.
During the early years of our cancer LDT development efforts we explored the development of non-invasive, liquid biopsies, for a variety of cancers. We
subsequently determined to focus our resources on the development of a non-invasive confirmatory blood test for lung cancer that we called DetermaDx™
intended for use to clarify whether a potentially cancerous lung nodule is suspicious or likely benign.

 
To diversify and grow our business while DetermaDx™ was in development, we completed two strategic asset and business acquisitions during 2019

and early 2020 that transformed Oncocyte from a single product company to a company with a broader menu of laboratory-developed tests that physicians may
use at different critical decision points in cancer diagnosis and treatment to support their decision-making. We believe that our effort to provide clinically
actionable tests for certain key decision points along the continuum of diagnosis shown below will mitigate the inherent risk of being a single product company
and should lead to greater revenue opportunities in rapidly emerging markets in lung cancer and beyond.

 
As part of the new strategy to become relevant in the broader diagnostic continuum of lung cancer, our first strategic transaction was an investment in

Razor Genomics, Inc. (“Razor”) during September 2019 through which we acquired an equity position in Razor and a sublicense to complete development and
to commercialize Razor’s test for early stage lung cancer management. This test, which we call DetermaRx™, is the first and only test to predict a post-surgery
patient’s risk of cancer recurrence and their response to chemotherapy in early stage lung cancer, and is our first test to be commercialized and reimbursed by
Medicare. DetermaRx serves an unmet clinical need given 30-50% mortality rates in these patients in the absence of timely chemotherapy treatment. During
February 2021 we acquired all of the outstanding shares of Razor common stock and it is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of Oncocyte.

 
In January 2020, we acquired Insight Genetics, Inc. (“Insight”) which significantly expanded our product pipeline by adding DetermaIOTM, a

proprietary gene expression assay with promising data supporting its potential to help identify patients likely to respond to checkpoint inhibitor drugs. This new
class of drugs modulate the immune response and show activity in multiple solid tumor types including non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), and triple
negative breast cancer (TNBC). Insight also has an existing revenue generating pharma service business that offers pharmaceutical companies comprehensive,
multi-analyte test development and clinical trial services at its CLIA laboratory. The breadth of expertise at our Insight facility includes DNA and gene
expression (RNA) test development, analysis and clinical testing for clinical studies and trials across multiple platforms including polymerase chain reaction
(PCR) and next generation sequencing (NGS) including whole transcriptome analysis at the RNA level and whole exome analysis at the DNA level for tumor
mutational burden (TMB) and genomic profiling for treatment selection.

 
On the pharmaceutical services side, there are approximately 3,000 PD-1/PD-L1 ongoing clinical trials that are expected to recruit over 500,000

patients over the next 5 years. This represents a potential $1 billion market opportunity for immune-therapy clinical trial services alone. It is well established
that multi-analyte testing is more sensitive than testing a single analyte. Our multi-analyte testing capabilities combining DNA and RNA should make us an
attractive service provider to biopharmaceutical companies for biomarker discovery and companion diagnostic development compared to DNA based testing
alone.

 
We discontinued the development of DetermaDx™ during the second quarter of 2020 after findings from a clinical validation study demonstrated that

the performance of DetermaDx™ did not meet the predetermined endpoints for the study. The primary clinical validation study endpoint for the commercial
launch of DetermaDx™ was to achieve a statistically significant improvement over and above the clinical factors being utilized by physicians today to help
with the diagnosis of intermediate risk lung nodules, particularly those in the 0.8 cm to 2.2 cm size range. Since discontinuing DetermaDx™ we have focused
our efforts on maximizing the opportunities for our two most advanced commercial LDTs, DetermaRx™ and DetermaIO™.

 
During February 2021, we and our newly organized wholly-owned subsidiary CNI Monitor Sub, Inc. entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger

(the “Chronix Merger Agreement”) pursuant to which we plan to acquire Chronix Biomedical, Inc. (“Chronix”) through a merger of Chronix with our
subsidiary. By acquiring Chronix, we will add Chronix’s TheraSure™-CNI Monitor to our diagnostic test pipeline. The CNI Monitor, which we plan to market
as DetermaCNI, is a patented, blood-based test for immunotherapy monitoring utilizing a copy number index or CNI that relies on the property of cancer to
modify the normal genome of cells by accumulating mutations and variation in the number of copies of genes in the genome. The CNI Monitor test
quantitatively measures the amount of that copy number variation present in blood that has been shed by dying tumor cells. Monitoring the change in the CNI
over time for a patient on immunotherapy may allow a physician to monitor their patient’s response to the immunotherapy treatment or the progression of the
disease and to adjust treatment accordingly. Our initial focus will be to offer the CNI Monitor to the pharma industry for research use and pharma trials in lung
cancer and other solid tumor types treated by immunotherapy. Our ultimate goal will be to develop the CNI Monitor for clinical use as a blood-based
immunotherapy monitoring test.
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In addition to the CNI Monitor, Chronix has certain organ transplant technology. Chronix has laboratory operations in Germany that can support the
continued development and commercial launch of the CNI Monitor and other tests, including our DetermaRx™ and DetermaIO™, in Germany and other EU
member countries after completion of the merger.

 
We expect to complete the Chronix merger during April 2021 if the conditions to the merger under the Chronix Merger Agreement are met.
 

The Cancer Care Continuum
 
The cancer care continuum that is the focus of our business be divided into three important components of information that physicians require to

manage their patients through the full term of cancer care:
 

 1. Diagnosing cancer, including the type of cancer.
 2. Determining the best course of treatment for the patient.
 3. Once the patient is treated, monitoring for therapeutic efficacy and disease recurrence.
 

This three-component continuum represents a large unmet total available market or TAM in the United States and the rest of the world as reflected in
graphic below. Oncocyte’s mission is to address the second and third components of the continuum after cancer has been diagnosed, with the goal of ensuring
that each patient has the best chance for disease free survival.

 

 
Since the advent of genomic scale characterization of cancer, oncologists have strived to apply genomic targeted testing to improvement in selection

of treatment and management of disease progression. We are initially applying a comprehensive targeted approach to lung cancer where management
paradigms are most mature and believe a similar approach will have utility across solid tumors grounded in their common features in responding to immune
therapy. Our first indication for commercialization is lung cancer which remains the leading cause of cancer death in the United States and the rest of the world,
making it one of the largest molecular diagnostic market opportunities.

 
While our sales efforts current focus on physicians managing patients with lung cancer, the pipeline of tests we plan to offer in the future will expand

to all solid tumors and, strategically, our clinical studies and trials with pharma companies will not be limited to lung cancer given the early success of our test
in other solid tumors. Our proprietary diagnostic tests are focused on the interrogation of RNA signatures, the coding component that converts DNA code into
actual protein production within a cell, from tumor tissue or peripheral blood samples and target key clinical questions that are critical to better management of
cancer, from treatment through monitoring of therapeutic efficacy and recurrence of certain cancers. As we expand the scope of our test offerings towards the
goal of addressing more key clinical decision points in lung and other cancers, we remain technology agnostic, and aim to continue to identify tests that allow
us to reduce to practice the findings from large scale genomic profiling leading to the best approach that addresses the needs of patients and physicians in a
manner consistent with the need for rapid turnaround time and judicious use of precious tumor tissue or blood samples while delivering good health economic
outcomes.
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Our primary growth engines are tests that are novel and proprietary. Through our strategic acquisitions, we have added significant bioinformatics
expertise in algorithm development and validation that we can use to analyze functional gene expression and other biological data in order to develop tests that
address significant clinical challenges that have not been successfully addressed by currently available technologies. At the same time our tests are run on
instruments with a high global installed base enabling decentralization of testing to labs worldwide.

 
Business Strategy
 
Why Treatment Selection in Cancer

 
Approximately 1.8 million people were diagnosed with cancer in 2020 in the United States, and an estimated 17 million worldwide, according to the

American Cancer Society. Despite the advancements in therapeutics, cancer remains the second leading cause of death in the United States. Biomarkers are
playing an increasingly important role in helping pharmaceutical companies and oncologists identify and select patients for established and new therapies to
ensure the right patient gets the right treatment as early as possible post-diagnosis, in order to best improve patient outcomes.
 

We are building Oncocyte to be a “one stop lab” for treatment decisions for every patient diagnosed with a solid tumor, by delivering to the treating
oncologist proprietary biomarker testing that offers incremental information to inform patient treatment and monitor response to therapy, in combination with
the current standard of care testing they order today. Since DetermaRx and DetermaIO would only be offered by Oncocyte, our goal is to become the preferred
lab for physicians for both our proprietary tests and more traditional tests otherwise offered by many different labs that we can perform in our CLIA
laboratories. An example of this testing would be for a patient diagnosed with lung cancer, for whom standard of care targeting information on EGFR, ALK,
PD-L1 would be offered, plus DetermaIO our proprietary test for informing immune therapy decisions, all using the same patient tumor or blood sample. This
would allow informed selection of targeted immune-therapy and potentially the need for additional cytotoxic chemotherapy. For the course of treatment, we are
developing blood based monitoring tools to detect non-response or progression on therapy to inform timely treatment changes.

 
This “one-stop” approach offers several practical advantages. Today, the testing needs of physicians managing cancer patients are met by several

specialty reference labs, meaning the physician or hospital must split the sample and send portions to several different labs to complete the various tests needed
to accurately diagnose the cancer type and select a therapy. Not only does this process consume a large amount of sparse patient biopsy sample risking
depletion of the sample before completing all testing, but also the process can take up to three weeks for the compilation of all the results to make it back to the
treating physician to inform therapeutic decision making. All too often in the existing paradigm, patients are committed to a therapeutic approach before all the
information is returned from the different clinical labs. Oncocyte’s consolidation of testing modalities will allow the judicious use of limited patient biopsy
samples and deliver results to the ordering physician within a more expeditious time frame for optimizing the treatment regimen. Our survey of cancer
physicians indicates a significant demand for the attributes of consuming a minimal portion of patient biopsy sample and faster turnaround of testing results.

 
Our Laboratory Tests — Strategically Addressing Unmet Clinical Questions Across the Cancer Care Continuum
 

We are developing molecular LDTs that provide physicians information to enable the timely diagnosis and treatment of cancer with the ultimate goal
of transforming this deadly cancer to a curable or chronic disease. We believe that the proprietary tests in our product pipeline will allow Oncocyte to be
relevant in the early stage of decision making giving us unique access to the sample “tumor block” from the beginning of the diagnostic process, thus allowing
us to offer other follow up tests without physicians needing to send patient samples to another laboratory. Although we may sometimes refer to our tests as
“diagnostic tests,” our laboratory-developed tests are intended to support and help inform physician decision-making, but are not themselves diagnostic or
prescriptive of treatment decisions.
 
DetermaRxTM – Treatment selection in early stage lung cancer
 

Oncocyte’s first commercially available laboratory-developed test is DetermaRxTM, the only predictive molecular test for early stage adenocarcinoma
of the lung. This gene expression-based test provides information that a physician can use to help identify early-stage, surgically resected patients with Stage I
and IIA non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) who are at high-risk of recurrence and may benefit from chemotherapy.
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NSCLC of the lung is the most common type of lung cancer accounting for 80% to 85% of incidence. Survival rates for patients diagnosed at an early
stage are significantly higher than those for patients whose lung cancer is diagnosed at an advanced stage such as Stage III or Stage IV. Surgery is the standard
of care for patients diagnosed with early stage (Stage I and Stage IIA) lung cancer. Yet even after complete surgical resection, between 30% to 50% of those
early stage patients have a recurrence of the disease. Trials of chemotherapy treatment in early-stage disease have been inconclusive as to whether the early
stage treatment improves outcomes in un-stratified patients. Current guidelines suggest risk stratification and use of adjuvant (post-surgery) chemotherapy in
“high-risk” patients. However, the recommendations for assessment of risk are subjective and lack clinical studies that validate their usefulness in informing
the use of chemotherapy.

 
DetermaRx™ is a 14-gene molecular stratification test performed on surgically resected tissue and is indicated for patients with Stage I and Stage IIA

NSCLC to help determine who may benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy. Typically, thoracic surgeons or medical oncologists order the test after surgical
resection. These surgical samples are processed as formalin fixed and paraffin embedded (FFPE) tissue samples. We receive blocks or scrolls of FFPE samples
for testing in our CLIA-certified laboratory. A test report is generated classifying patient risk of recurrence and returned to the ordering physician, generally
within 10 business days. This turnaround time enables the treating physician to have the report in time for discussion of a treatment plan with the patient,
usually a month after surgery.

 
The results from the prospective study published in Clinical Lung Cancer 2018 and presented at the North American Lung Conference (NA IASCLC)

in 2020 were compelling. Patients who were identified as “high risk” and treated with double platinum chemotherapy had a 3% recurrence rate compared to a
30% cancer recurrence rate in high risk patients who declined chemotherapy.

 
We believe that there is an annual U.S. market opportunity of approximately 40,000 patients or approximately $140 million for DetermaRx™ based

on our reimbursement levels approved by CMS in 2020. This market is expected to grow as high-risk screening recommendations are adopted, resulting in
more patients being screened through Low Dose CT (LDCT) scans and diagnosed at an early stage. The European market presents a similar number of patients
per year, while China represents the largest patient population with over 250,000 early stage lung cancer cases per year.
 

DetermaRxTM has been validated in three independent cohorts with close to 1,400 patients and test data has been published in top-tier peer reviewed
publications including Lancet Oncology, JAMA, and the Journal of Thoracic Oncology. Importantly, the impact of the use of chemotherapy in high-risk
patients was demonstrated in a paper published in Clinical Lung Cancer in 2017. We have also initiated a prospective definitive clinical trial randomizing
molecular high-risk patients to adjuvant chemotherapy or surgical intervention alone in order to gather the highest level of evidence supporting the predictive
information of DetermaRx. If successful, this study will strongly support access to the entire global market, including countries whose regulatory entities
require the most stringent evidence for test reimbursement or marketing.
 
DetermaIOTM – Immunotherapy treatment selection
 

For patients diagnosed with cancer, immunotherapies, particularly immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI’s) targeting PD-1 and PD-L1, have emerged as a
novel drug class that helps recruit the body’s immune system to attack the growing tumor. Pharmaceutical companies are investing heavily in this space, with
hundreds of clinical trials ongoing, and a number of drugs approved by the FDA for all solid tumors, including pembrolizumab (KeytrudaTM), nivolumab
(OpdivoTM), and atezolizumab (TecentriqTM).

 
Through the acquisition of Insight in January 2020, Oncocyte has expanded its portfolio to include a novel gene expression-based test called

DetermaIO™, which is being developed to identify patients most likely to respond to immunotherapy drugs. Current predictive biomarkers, including PD-L1
and Tumor Mutational Burden or TMB, have shown only limited ability to accurately predict which patients will respond to an immunotherapy. For example,
according to published literature, more than half of PD-L1 positive patients do not respond to immune- checkpoint inhibitors, and 1 in 6 patients who will
respond are missed (referred to as a “false negative”).

 
While ICIs represent a significant advancement in treatment options for patients diagnosed with advanced solid cancers, the response rates have been

modest, based on treatment directed by the current standard of care biomarker PD-L1 immunohistochemistry. Depending on the solid tumor type, only
approximately 15% to 40% of PD-L1 positive tumors respond to ICIs, while a significant number of PDL-1 negative patients do respond. Another issue with
ICIs is that although ICI treatments can be highly effective in the right patients, ICI’s also have significant side effects which include exacerbation of latent
autoimmune disorders. There is a compelling medical and health economic unmet need for a biomarker that can provide three improvements to the use of ICIs:
(1) the identification of additional patients who may respond to the treatment and missed by the existing biomarkers, (2) enable additional or alterative
treatment options for the 60% to 85% of patients who may receive these expensive drugs without benefit but while still facing the risk of side effects associated
with ICIs, and (3) inform the use of ICI’s in combination with traditional cytotoxic chemotherapy to enhance response rates.
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DetermaIOTM represents an opportunity to enter a very large market to help identify patients who will respond to immune therapy, with more than
750,000 U.S. patients eligible for ICI therapy annually and growing with expanding indications for this type of treatment. As depicted in the image below,
analyst predict the ICI spend in the US alone will exceed $125 billion by 2025 meaning the healthcare system will deploy well over $60 billion on drug
therapies that will offer no benefit to many of the patients who would receive ICI therapy.

 

 
DetermaIOTM is a proprietary molecular test that has proven in clinical studies to date to provide incremental utility beyond the current tests being

used to identify patients who will have a response to ICIs, and represents a solid opportunity to provide better information for patient management leading to
better patient outcomes as well as saving the healthcare systems in the US significant cost. We completed the CLIA validation of DetermaIO™ in April of 2020
and launched the test for research use through our Pharma Services operations to enable pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical companies to utilize it in
clinical studies of ICIs that they are developing. There are approximately 3,000 PD-1/PD-L1 targeted therapy clinical trials ongoing that are expected to recruit
over 500,000 patients. This represents a potential $1 billion market opportunity for immune-therapy clinical trial services to pharma companies developing ICIs
which could be addressed by our Pharma Services operations. The test currently is only available as a research product for pharma studies, but there are
currently several studies that have been submitted for publication that include clinical data to support use of DetermaIO as in clinical practice to predict which
cancer patients are likely to respond to immunotherapies. Assuming successful publication or presentation of these studies, including the clinical data, at the
upcoming American Association of Cancer Research (AACR) in April, the American Association of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) in early June and European
Society of Medical Oncology (ESMO) in September, we expect to be able to launch DetermaIO in the clinical market in the late third or early fourth quarter of
2021.

 
We also believe, based on our projected reimbursable pricing model, that the clinical use of DetermaIO will address a potential $3 billion TAM

opportunity. The actual TAM for DetermaIO™ in medical practice will depend upon a variety of factors including our ability to demonstrate the efficacy and
clinical utility of the test, the extent of physician acceptance of the test, whether the test will be approved for Medicare reimbursement, and, if reimbursement is
approved, the actual approved reimbursement price.

 
How DetermaIO May Inform the Choice of Therapies

 
Despite the potential benefit of immunotherapy, those therapies are associated with high cost and toxicity, making it very important to accurately

identify both responders and non-responders to reduce overall morbidity and mortality. DetermaIO™ was developed for that purpose. The test measures the
expression levels of 27 genes and algorithmically computes a quantitative score that incorporates information from the immune inflammatory infiltrates within
and around the tumor combined with information from the wound response surrounding the tumor. An established threshold is used to classify patients as likely
responder or likely non-responder which has now been validated in several independent clinical studies in multiple cancers. Initial data using DetermaIO™ as
an immune therapy response predictor in NSCLC was presented at the 2019 Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer (SITC) conference that suggested the test
may offer incremental utility beyond PD-L1 and TMB alone in identifying responders to checkpoint inhibitors. Similarly, data presented at the 2020 American
Society of Clinical Oncology annual meeting (ASCO) demonstrated superiority to PDL-1 IHC in predicting pathologic complete response in neoadjuvant
treated triple negative breast cancer.
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The diagram below reflects the importance of the biology of the tissue immune micro-environment and explains why we believe DetermaIO is an
important breakthrough complimenting the current therapy decision process for physicians considering immune checkpoint inhibitors. The figure depicts that
every individual forms tumor cells during their lifetime, but our immune system recognizes these abnormal cells and attacks and removes them keeping them
from growing into a clinically relevant cancer. When the immune system is over-active and reacts to normal cells, it results in autoimmune disorders. The
balance between killing these near normal tumor cells and normal cells is called immune homeostasis and is largely governed by biologic systems called
immune checkpoints. When tumors cells disrupt these checkpoints and overwhelm the immune system, a cancer develops. One mechanism by which tumor and
the immune system regulate the intensity of immune surveillance is through modulating expression of PD-1 and PD-L1 that together regulate the activity
immune effector cells. ICI therapeutics have been developed that block these receptor sites and allow the immune system to once again “see” the tumor and
attack and restore the immune system’s ability to kill cancer cells. Because these drugs work on immune cells regardless of their targets, the side effects of
these drugs can be enhanced autoimmunity. Unfortunately, response rates to ICI’s are only approximately 15% to 40% depending upon tumor type. However,
responses are often durable although resistance does evolve during treatment in some patients. The early success of these drugs has stimulated deeper
investigation into the mechanism by which tumors evade the immune system which has revealed a complex interplay between tumor evasion strategies, the
activity of immune effector cells and the tissue repair mechanisms that modulate anti-tumor activity. The balance between signal from the tumor, signals from
the inflammatory cells invading the tumor, and signals from the wound response are now understood to account for resistance to ICI’s and are the target of
second-generation therapeutic strategies to overcome resistance.

 
DetermaIOTM was developed to measure the status of the immune system in immune and wound response tissue surrounding tumors. It incorporates

measurement of the complete microenvironment including activity of genes expressed in immune effector cells, genes expressed in activated wound response
cells, and in some cases, genes expressed by the tumor itself. It is the combination of measurement of these three signals that we believe distinguishes
DetermaIOTM from most other approaches. Current biomarkers being used to assess the likelihood of immune response have shown only modest ability to
predict responses to ICI’s. PDL-1 immunohistochemistry looks at the presence of PDL-1 receptors and tumor mutation burden (TMB) at the number of
mutations (neoantigens) in the tumor genome. We believe DetermaIO is a direct measure the status of the immune microenvironment and as such identifies
those tumors poised to respond to the addition of ICI’s. We believe and now have data to support that the integration of the signal from the “Hot” component of
the tumor with the “Cold” immune repressive features, and in some cases the exclusion of immune cells altogether, the immune desert, is superior to measuring
any of these physiologies alone.

 

 
The ability to accurately determine response to immunotherapies has important implications for both the patients themselves and the healthcare

economy as a whole. For the patients that are likely to respond to immunotherapies, these drugs can be a much more effective and less toxic treatment option
than standard chemotherapy. For the patients who are unlikely to respond, opting for a different course of treatment would eliminate exposure to potentially
serious side effects such as autoimmune diseases, and could save payers in the healthcare industry use of extremely costly therapy regimens. The market
continues to seek a test that is predictive, uses very little tissue, and can be performed rapidly. We believe DetermaIO™ meets all the important criteria for a
precision medicine test that can be routinely use.
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The origin of the gene expression classifier used in DetermaIO™ was work done to better classify triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) into four

tumor cell subtypes that could be modified by the immune classifier. It started with a greater than 2200 gene unsupervised classifier that recognized both the
physiological differences between tumor types within TNBC, and the activated immune and stromal signatures characteristic of advanced cancers. The original
development team from Insight had success reducing the large gene signature to a 101-gene panel for classification of TNBC, and then recognized that the only
twenty-seven RNAs from the tumor could provide the appropriate classification of the immune environment that has now matured into DetermaIO™, our
CLIA certified PCR test for immune response classification. Since this immune classifier relies upon gene expression signatures derived primarily from
inflammatory cells and activated stromal cells, there is no reason to assume that DetermaIO’s immune classification function would be limited to only these
tissue types. This prompted our work in lung cancer where the unmodified classifier performed very similarly to breast cancer. We are working to validate the
classification function and classifier threshold using publicly available gene expression datasets and testing the classifier as a predictor of response to ICI
therapy in other solid tumor types. DetermaIO™ is now offered as part of our Pharma Services business as a CLIA validated PCR test, and can be assessed for
clinical studies in whole transcriptome RNAseq data. In addition, the original 101-gene TNBC tumor classifier is advancing in studies elucidating its
association with different targeted or cytotoxic chemotherapy treatment regimens in TNBC. We plan on investing in further studies to elucidate and validate the
role of DetermaIO and the TNBC classifier in managing immune therapy in other tumor types and TNBC respectively.
 
Blood Based Monitoring Opportunity
 

The next emerging opportunity in cancer diagnostics is in the area of therapy response monitoring and recurrence monitoring. Analysts have estimated
a worldwide TAM ranging from $5 billion to $10 billion for monitoring for therapeutic efficacy and disease recurrence. There are an estimated 15 million
people “living with cancer” and over one million people diagnosed with a solid tumor each year in the US alone. Monitoring is a “repeat” testing opportunity
and given the limitations of current standard of care, CT/MRI imaging, there is an emerging and potentially large market for a blood based test that can inform
a treating physician that a tumor is becoming resistant to a patient’s current treatment protocol before an imaging technique can detect whether there is
shrinkage in a tumor. Our mission is to provide relevant, high value information from our menu of tests to treating physicians throughout the “patient journey”
for people with lung cancer and other solid tumors. DetermaRx and DetermaIO were developed to help physicians choose the right therapy, and our entry into
blood based monitoring is a natural addition to our test menu to help physicians understand whether their therapeutic choice is working for their patient and to
help them make appropriate changes to a patient’s protocol if the tumor is non-responsive. Once the patient’s tumor resolves and they become “Disease Free”,
monitoring for recurrence 3 to 4 times a year using a simple blood test could become a way to help turn cancer into a chronic disorder versus a deadly disease,
an important part of our corporate mission.
 

Most approaches to blood based detection and quantitation of tumor load involve genome scale sequencing of a patient’s tumor to identify “personal”
mutations in the tumor and then develop a custom NGS panel assay to monitor for those mutations in each patient’s blood. This process requires significant
investment in time and money upfront and complicated infrastructure to manage these “tumor informed” personalized custom panels. We believe there is an
opportunity to develop tests that do not require this personalization and therefore eliminate the burdensome tissue requirement and shorten the time to initiate
therapeutic monitoring. If we complete our planned acquisition of Chronix, we will add to our test pipeline their Therapy Monitoring solution, TheraSure CNI,
which we expect to market as DetermaCNI. This new monitoring test does not require tumor sequencing prior to blood testing therefore is intended to be an
alternative to the tumor informed approach that requires a tissue biopsy. Chronix will also bring to Oncocyte a world class assay development team with deep
experience and a portfolio of intellectual property in the field of digital-PCR based detection of DNA in blood that will be the foundation for development of
our next generation tumor monitoring products.)
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Pharma Services
 

Our acquisition of Insight expanded our laboratory offerings to include a CLIA-certified laboratory that has been accredited by the College of
American Pathologists (CAP). The lab is ISO 9001 201 and 21 CFR Part 820 compliant which allows it to support the key delivery of services to the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry for biomarker discovery, clinical trials, and product development. Our pharma service business offers
pharmaceutical companies comprehensive, multi-analyte test development and clinical trial services at our Nashville, Tennessee CLIA laboratory. The breadth
of our expertise includes DNA and gene expression (RNA) test development, analysis and clinical testing for clinical studies and trials across multiple
platforms including polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and next generation sequencing (NGS) including whole transcriptome analysis at the RNA level and
whole exome analysis at the DNA level for tumor mutational burden (TMB) and genomic profiling for treatment selection. We currently provide the following
services:
 
 ● Custom drug target discovery services
 ● Assay design, development and validation services
 ● Clinical trial and other testing services
 

Pharmaceutical companies investing millions of dollars in clinical trials may benefit from developing predictive biomarkers that can help identify the
subset of patients most likely to respond to their drugs. This patient stratification approach may enhance the success rates of their clinical trials by allowing the
pharmaceutical company to identify which patients to include in the trials. We believe that it is now well understood that a multi-analyte approach combining
DNA, RNA, and protein expression and epigenomic markers will deliver the highest level of treatment response prediction compared to DNA based testing
alone.

 
The quality credentialing and the multi-analyte capabilities described above enable our laboratory to provide end-to-end services to biopharmaceutical

companies from discovery of a predictive biomarker, to its validation in clinical trials, and finally to the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”)
stage for approval of the biomarker as a “companion diagnostic” to be utilized in conjunction with the therapy to identify patients eligible for the drug.

 
Commercialization of our Molecular Diagnostic Tests
 

Our first commercial diagnostic test is DetermaRx™ which we began to commercialize in 2020. We are presently performing the DetermaRx tests at
our CLIA certified laboratory in Brisbane, California. We are in the process to completing construction of a new laboratory at our facility in Irvine California
which will be the home of our west coast CLIA operations and certain administrative functions. We expect to complete construction and certify the Irvine
laboratory by June of 2021, after which we plan to decommission the Brisbane laboratory. We will then have a west coast CLIA lab in Irvine and an Eastern US
CLIA lab and Pharma Services lab in Nashville, Tennessee that will serve as our Immune Diagnostic Center of Excellence, and at the close of the Chronix
merger, we will acquire and operate our Blood Based Monitoring Center of Excellence from Gottingen, Germany.

 
In January 2020, we hired our first six sales representatives and trained them for the market launch of DetermaRxTM all of whom have extensive

experience selling high value oncology molecular tests, and a medical educator who is a board-certified genetic counselor. The product was launched to seven
Early Adopter Sites in February to establish and test our CLIA lab protocols and workflows, gain customer feedback on the final patient report and validate our
logistical plan for sample transport. The decision was made to enter a full market launch in late February after successful validation of our processes, and full
engagement started in early March. To expand our customer base for DetermaRx™, we have hired a limited sales force in focused regions of the country to
identify and target hospitals and physicians that perform a high volume of surgical resections, which include large group practices (LGPs), as well as National
Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) and NCI cancer centers. Our primary call point is thoracic surgeons because they manage most early-stage lung
cancer patients, and refer patients to medical oncologists for further treatment post-surgery as needed. Our sales representatives also call on medical oncologists
who make the chemotherapy treatment decision for patients identified high-risk by the test. These are complimentary call points as often decisions to adopt a
test are made by a multi-disciplinary team. Unfortunately, the world was facing the emergence of a pandemic of a Novel Coronavirus, called SARS- CoV2,
which ultimately led to the COVID pandemic that severely impacted our sales forces’ ability to engage new accounts and surgeons in person at the critical early
phase of full market launch. In late March 2020, our medical education team pivoted to a virtual training program and began to offer Medical Education events
over virtual calls and video meetings which allowed our sales representatives to set up virtual presentations to educate physicians about DetermaRxTM. We
believe the program was successful because through the end of 2020, the virtual programs had reached over 3,000 healthcare professionals. As of the filing of
this Annual Report, we continue to rely on the virtual programs since our sales professionals have limited in person access to hospitals and surgical or
oncologist’s offices.

 
Since our broad commercial launch in March 2020, DetermaRx has now been made available at more than 80 hospitals in the United States including

multiple prestigious National Cancer Institute (NCI) and NCCN cancer centers and large community practices where most cancer is treated. The strategy we
are pursuing to market DetermaRx™ is likely to be replicated in large measure for the market launch of our other cancer tests as we complete test development.
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We are investing in physician education to drive demand for DetermaRx™. A central pillar of our physician education efforts is our Key Opinion
Leader-led speaker program that is focused on peer-to-peer engagement. Several community and academic speakers have already been enrolled as speakers.
Our marketing and physician education efforts also include participation in lung cancer focused national and regional medical meetings and symposia, and
grant support of accredited continuing medical education (CME) events.

 
Market Access – Reimbursement
 
Billing, Coverage, and Reimbursement for our Diagnostic Tests
 

Currently DetermaRxTM is Oncocyte’s only commercialized clinical test. We expect that revenues from our clinical laboratory for this test will be
derived from several different sources:

 
 ● Third-party payers that provide coverage to the patient, such as an insurance company, a managed care organization, or a governmental payer

program, including Medicare;
 ● Physicians or other authorized parties, such as hospitals or independent laboratories, that order the test for patients or otherwise refer the testing

services to us; or
 ● Patients, in cases where the patient has no insurance, has insurance that partially covers the testing, or owes a co-payment, co-insurance, or

deductible amount.
 

In August 2020, CMS delivered a final coverage and pricing decision, which is important for commercialization because approximately 70% of
patients for whom the test is indicated are eligible for Medicare coverage. However, in the absence of reimbursement by a health insurance plan or Medicare,
patients who would be candidates for the use of our tests may decline to use our tests, and physicians may be reluctant to prescribe our tests, due to the cost of
the test to the patients. Because of this patient cost factor, revenues from any new cancer test that we market may experience slow growth until the test is
approved for reimbursement by larger payer plans which cover many patients.
 
Medicare
 

For cancer diagnostics, Medicare or CMS reimbursement approval is critical. CMS relies on a network of Medicare Administrative Contractors
(“MACs”) to make Local Coverage Decisions approving a test for reimbursement. The Molecular Diagnostics Services (“MolDx”) Program was developed by
Palmetto GBA (the previous MAC for California) to identify and establish coverage and reimbursement for molecular diagnostics tests. The program has
developed guidelines for the level of evidence of efficacy required to be obtained through clinical trials. Palmetto, which contracted with CMS to administer
the MolDx, issues Local Coverage Determinations that affect coverage, coding, and billing of many molecular tests and the current MAC for California,
Noridian Healthcare Solutions, LLC, has adopted the coverage policies from Palmetto. MACs also serve as the primary operational contact between the
Medicare Fee-For-Service program, for paying Medicare claims, and approximately 1.5 million health care providers enrolled in the program.

 
Private Third-Party Payers
 

In addition to seeking Medicare reimbursement approval, we will seek reimbursement approval from private payers such as health insurance
companies and HMOs. Private payers generally will determine whether to approve a diagnostic test for reimbursement based on the published results of
clinical validity and clinical utility studies, and may base their decision on whether to cover a test, and at what level to reimburse, on the MAC’s local coverage
determination. Obtaining private payer medical coverage generally takes twelve to twenty-four months from the time that sufficient evidence is demonstrated.
In the interim we will bill commercial payers and appeal any denials using the published clinical evidence supporting the utility of the test.

 
Reimbursement rates paid by private third-party payers can vary based on whether the provider is considered to be an “in-network” provider, a

participating provider, a covered provider, an “out-of-network” provider or a non-participating provider. Currently, we are out-of-network with all commercial
payers. These definitions can vary among payers. An in-network provider usually has a contract with the payer or benefits provider. This contract governs,
among other things, service-level agreements and reimbursement rates. In certain instances, an insurance company may negotiate an in-network rate for our
testing. An in-network provider may have rates that are lower per test than those that are out-of-network, and that rate can vary widely. Rates vary based on the
payer, the testing type and often the specifics of the patient’s insurance plan. If a laboratory agrees to contract as an in-network provider, it generally expects to
receive quicker payment and access to additional covered patients. However, it is likely that we will initially be considered an “out-of-network” or non-
participating provider by payers who cover the vast majority of patients until we can negotiate contracts with the payers.

 
We cannot predict whether, or under what circumstances, payers will reimburse for patients for our tests. We have a rigorous process for prior

authorization and appeals to overturn denials and to get contracted with commercial payers. Full or partial denial of coverage by payers, or reimbursement at
inadequate levels, would have a material adverse impact on our business and on market acceptance of our tests.
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Billing and Collection

 
Where there is a private or governmental third-party payer coverage policy in place, we will bill the payer and the patient in accordance with the

established policy. Our efforts in obtaining reimbursement based on individual claims, including pursuing appeals or reconsiderations of claims denials, could
take a substantial amount of time, and bills may not be paid for many months, if at all. Furthermore, if a third-party payer denies coverage after final appeal,
payment may not be received at all.
 

Where there is no coverage policy in place, we will pursue reimbursement on a case-by-case basis. In some cases, if not prohibited by law or
regulation, we may bill physicians, hospitals and other laboratories directly for the services that they order. However, laws and regulations in certain states
prohibit laboratories from billing physicians or other purchasers for testing that they order. Some states may allow laboratories to bill physicians directly but
may prohibit the physician and, in some cases, other purchasers from charging more than the purchase price for the services, or may allow only for the recovery
of acquisition costs, or may require disclosure of certain information on the invoice. An increase in the number of states that impose similar restrictions could
adversely affect us by encouraging physicians to perform laboratory services in-house or by causing physicians to refer services to other laboratories that are
not subject to the same restrictions.
 
Corporate Information
 

We were incorporated in September 2009 in the state of California. Our principal executive offices are located at 15 Cushing, Irvine, California 92618.
Our telephone number is (949) 409-7600. Our website is www.Oncocyte.com. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website, is not,
and shall not be deemed to be, incorporated into or be considered a part of this Report.
 

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012. We will remain an “emerging growth
company” until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenues of $1.07 billion or more; (ii) the last day of our
fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the first sale of our common equity securities pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”); (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in nonconvertible debt during the previous three
years; or (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. We refer
to the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 herein as the “JOBS Act,” and references herein to “emerging growth company” shall have the meaning
associated with it in the JOBS Act.
 

As an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of specified reduced disclosure and other requirements that are otherwise applicable, in
general, to public companies that are not emerging growth companies. These provisions include:
 
 ● Reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements;
 ● No non-binding shareholder advisory votes on executive compensation or golden parachute arrangements; and
 ● Exemption from the auditor attestation requirement in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting.
 

We may take advantage of these exemptions for up to five years or such earlier time that we are no longer an emerging growth company.
 

Competition
 

Our industry is highly competitive and characterized by rapid technological change. Key competitive factors in our industry include, among others,
the ability to successfully complete clinical studies, the ability to obtain any required regulatory approval, average selling prices of competing tests, CLIA
laboratory capacity and costs, intellectual property and patent rights, and sales and marketing capabilities. We are an early stage company with a limited
operating history and many of our competitors have substantially more resources than we do, including financial, technical and sales resources. In addition,
many of our competitors have more experience than we have in the development and commercialization of diagnostics. We are also competing with academic
institutions, governmental agencies and private organizations that are conducting research in the field of diagnostics. Our competition will be determined in
part by the potential indications for which our lead test candidates are developed and ultimately marketed. Additionally, the timing of market introduction of
our diagnostic tests or of competitors’ tests may be an important competitive factor.

 
For the DetermaRx™ test, Oncocyte is not aware of any other diagnostic test currently on the market for the treatment stratification of patients with

surgically resected Stage I and IIA NSCLC, therefore we do not believe there is a direct competitor to our DetermaRx™ test. Guidelines established by the
NCCN include criteria for identifying patients at high risk of recurrence for resected Stage I and IIA NSCLC, but these criteria, to our knowledge, have not
been validated to demonstrate accuracy or clinical benefit.
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The DetermaIO™ test competes with multiple biomarkers already in clinical use or in development for predicting response to immunotherapy. The
most commonly used clinical tests employed in the immunotherapy response market are PD-L1 expression testing and TMB. We believe, however, the current
standard of care for PD-L1 testing has important limitations. According to published literature, more than half of PD-L1 positive patients do not respond to
immune- checkpoint inhibitors, and 1 in 6 patients who will respond are missed (referred to as a “false negative”). Furthermore, data presented at recent
oncology medical conferences suggests that TMB is not a reliable predictor of immunotherapy response. Further, data presented at SITC (discussed
previously), suggested that DetermaIO™ outperformed both PD-L1 and TMB in predicting response to checkpoint inhibitors in patients with NSCLC. We are
planning additional studies to confirm these results in a larger patient population for clinical use and reimbursement.
 
Certain Razor Agreements
 

During February 2021 we acquired all of the shares of Razor common stock from its shareholders. Razor is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Oncocyte. Razor holds an exclusive worldwide license from a state university under certain patent rights applicable to DetermaRx™. The license agreement
includes certain royalty payment, sublicense revenue sharing, and test development and commercialization milestone provisions. If the development and
commercialization milestones are not met in a timely manner UCSF could convert the license into a non-exclusive license. Royalties payable to the licensor
will be in a mid-single digit percentage range depending on the source of revenue. The license agreement will remain in effect until the expiration or
abandonment of the last of the licensed patent rights, but would terminate earlier if Oncocyte were to become subject to bankruptcy proceedings or if Oncocyte
fails to perform or violates any term of the license agreement and does not cure the breach within the time allotted.

 
During September 2019, we entered into a Sublicense and Distribution Agreement (“Razor Sublicense Agreement”) with Razor and its then principal

shareholder Encore Clinical, Inc. (“Encore”) pursuant to which Razor granted us exclusive worldwide sublicenses under certain patent rights applicable to
DetermaRx™ for purposes of commercialization and development of DetermaRx™. Although we have since acquired all of the shares of Razor from its
former shareholders, Oncocyte remains obligated on the Razor Sublicense Agreement to pay all royalties and all revenue sharing and earnout payments owed
by Razor to certain third parties with respect to DetermaRx™ revenues, including the licensor of the patent rights, but those payments will be deducted from
gross revenues to determine net revenues for the purpose of paying royalties to the Razor shareholders. Total royalty and earnout payments to the Razor
shareholders, the licensor, and other third parties will be a low double-digit percentage, and in addition certain milestone payments may become due if
cumulative net revenue benchmarks are reached. Royalties and earnout payments will be payable on a quarterly basis.

 
Development Agreement
 

During September 2019, in connection with our initial investment in Razor, we entered into a Development Agreement that governs certain matters
pertaining to a clinical trial of DetermaRx (“Clinical Trial”). The Development Agreement sets forth (i) certain obligations and responsibilities of Oncocyte,
Encore, and Razor, with respect to the Clinical Trial, including the obligations of Oncocyte and Razor to pay Clinical Trial costs and expenses, (ii) Encore’s
obligation to provide consulting services to Razor and Oncocyte in support of the Clinical Trial, (iii) Oncocyte’s obligation to make certain payments in cash to
Encore , and to issue additional shares of Oncocyte common stock to Encore and the Minority Shareholders, upon the attainment of certain Clinical Trial
milestones, and (iv) Encore’s entitlement to certain cash payments if certain Clinical Trial funding is received.

 
Upon completion of enrollment of the full number of patients for the Clinical Trial, Oncocyte will issue to Encore and the other former Razor

shareholders shares of Oncocyte common stock with an aggregate market value at the date of issue equal to $3 million. If the issuance of shares of our common
stock having a market value of $3 million would require us to issue a number of shares that, when combined with any shares we issued under the Purchase
Agreement and the Minority Shareholder Purchase Agreements, would exceed 19.99% of the issued and outstanding shares of our common stock or the
outstanding voting power of our shares as of the date of the Purchase Agreement, we may deliver a number of shares of our common stock that would not
exceed that combined 19.99% limit and an amount of cash necessary to bring the combined value of cash and shares to $3 million.
 

If within a specified time frame Encore is substantially responsible for obtaining funding to Oncocyte or Razor for the Clinical Trial from any third-
party pharmaceutical company, a portion of such additional funding amount will be paid to Encore, subject to a $3 million cap on the payment to Encore if the
funding is provided by a designated pharmaceutical company.
 
Facilities
 

Oncocyte leases a building located at 15 Cushing in Irvine, California that serves as Oncocyte’s principal executive and administrative offices and
laboratory facility. Oncocyte plans to construct a clinical diagnostic laboratory and a research laboratory in the building and to seek CLIA certification for the
laboratory. Oncocyte also operates CLIA certified laboratories in Brisbane, California and Nashville, Tennessee.
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Materials

 
There is a limited number of manufacturers of molecular testing equipment and related chemical reagents necessary for the provision of our cancer

tests. Additionally, the chemical reagents used with the testing equipment we chose are available only from the equipment manufacturer. This situation poses a
risk to us. After encountering inconsistent results using testing equipment and reagents from one manufacturer, we switched to testing equipment from a
different manufacturer. If issues were to arise with the testing equipment or reagents we are using causing us to acquire different testing equipment again, we
would need to conduct additional laboratory studies to determine whether our previous test results can be reproduced using the new equipment. If similar issues
were to arise after commercialization of a test, we could experience a disruption for a period of time in providing the tests to patients and we would lose
revenues and potentially market share as a result.
 
Patents and Trade Secrets
 

We rely primarily on patents and contractual obligations with employees and third parties to protect our proprietary rights. We have sought, and intend
to continue to seek, appropriate patent protection for important and strategic components of our proprietary technologies by filing patent applications in the
U.S. and certain foreign countries. There can be no assurance that any of our patents will guarantee protection or market exclusivity for our diagnostic tests and
diagnostic test candidates. We may also use license agreements both to access technologies developed by other companies and universities and to convey
certain intellectual property rights to others. Our financial success will be dependent in part on our ability to obtain commercially valuable patent claims and to
protect our intellectual property rights and to operate without infringing upon the proprietary rights of others.

 
We have certain exclusive rights to patents and patent applications co-owned by our subsidiary Razor and The University of California San Francisco.

The claims are directed to compositions of matter and methods useful for treating and detection of lung cancer using specific biomarkers or a panel of specific
biomarkers. Patents covered by the exclusive rights have issued in the United States, Australia, Europe, and Hong Kong with projected expiration dates in 2032
and 2033.

 
We and Razor also have exclusive sublicense rights to certain patents and patent applications owned by The University of California San Francisco.

The claims are directed to compositions of matter and methods useful for treating and detection of lung cancer using specific biomarkers or a panel of specific
biomarkers. Patents covered by the exclusive rights have issued in Australia, Europe, New Zealand, Japan, China, Canada, and Hong Kong and are pending in
the United States with projected expiration dates in 2028.

 
Through our acquisition of Insight Genetics in January of 2020, we obtained exclusive rights to additional intellectual property, including trade

secrets, registered trademarks, domain names, copyrights, issued and reissued patents and pending applications, and software material, and have sense the
acquisition filed our own patents to protect DetermaIO.

 
In addition to relying on patents, we will rely on trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological advancement, and licensing opportunities to

maintain our competitive position. The molecular diagnostics that we are developing use gene expression classifiers or algorithms, which are mathematical
models that weight the biomarkers to produce a score. We will treat the mathematical models as trade secrets. We have entered into intellectual property,
invention, and non-disclosure agreements with our employees, and it is our practice to enter into confidentiality agreements with our consultants. There can be
no assurance, however, that these measures will prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of our trade secrets and know-how, or that others may not
independently develop similar trade secrets and know-how or obtain access to our trade secrets, know-how, or proprietary technology.
 
General Risks Related to Obtaining and Enforcing Patent Protection
 

Our patents and patent applications are directed to compositions of matter, formulations, methods of use and/or methods of manufacturing. The patent
positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including ours, are generally uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. Our
business could be negatively impacted by any of the following:
 
 ● The claims of any patents that are issued may not provide meaningful protection, may not provide a basis for commercially viable diagnostic tests

or may not provide us with any competitive advantages;
   
 ● Our patents may be challenged by competitors or other third parties and if the third parties are successful in their challenge, they could use the

patented inventions to compete with us;
   
 ● Others may have patents that relate to our technology or business that may prevent us from marketing our diagnostic test candidates unless we are

able to obtain a license to those patents;
   
 ● Patent applications to which we have rights may not result in issued patents and the information disclosed in those applications could be used by

our competitors;
   
 ● Changes in government regulations or patent laws; and
   
 ● We may not be successful in developing additional proprietary technologies that are patentable.
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In addition, others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies, duplicate any of our technologies and, if patents are licensed or
issued to us, design around the patented technologies licensed to or developed by us. Moreover, we could incur substantial costs in litigation if we have to
defend ourselves in patent lawsuits brought by third parties or if we initiate such lawsuits.
 

The United States Supreme Court’s decisions in Mayo Collaborative Services v. Prometheus Laboratories, Inc. and Association for Molecular
Pathology v. Myriad Genetics may limit our ability to obtain patent protection on diagnostic methods that merely recite a correlation between a naturally
occurring event and a diagnostic outcome associated with that event. Our cancer diagnostic tests are based on the presence of certain genetic markers for a
variety of cancers. In Mayo Collaborative Services v. Prometheus Laboratories, Inc., the Supreme Court ruled that patent protection is not available for simple
the use of a mathematical correlation of the presence of a well-known naturally occurring metabolite as a means of determining proper drug dosage. The claims
in the contested patents that were the subject of that decision were directed to measuring the serum level of a drug metabolite and adjusting the dosing regimen
of the drug based on the metabolite level. The Supreme Court said that a patent claim that merely claimed a correlation between the blood levels of a drug
metabolite and the best dosage of the drug was not patentable subject matter because it did no more than recite a correlation that occurs in nature.
 

In Association for Molecular Pathology v. Myriad Genetics, the Supreme Court ruled that the discovery of the precise location and sequence of certain
genes, mutations of which can dramatically increase the risk of breast and ovarian cancer, was not patentable. Knowledge of the gene location and sequences
was used to determine the genes’ typical nucleotide sequence, which, in turn, enabled the development of medical tests useful for detecting mutations in these
genes in a particular patient to assess the patient’s cancer risk. But the mere discovery of an important and useful gene did not render the genes patentable as a
new composition of matter.
 

Also, in Ariosa Diagnostics, Inc. v. Sequenom, Inc., the Federal Circuit ruled that a method for detecting a paternally inherited nucleic acid of fetal
origin performed on a maternal serum or plasma sample from a pregnant female was not patent eligible subject matter under the framework set forth in Mayo
Collaborative Services v. Prometheus Laboratories, Inc. The court examined the elements of the claim to determine whether the claim contained an inventive
concept sufficient to transform the claimed naturally occurring phenomenon into a patent eligible application and found that the method steps did not support
patentability because they used conventional amplification and detection techniques. Although the claims can be distinguished from the claims at issue in Mayo
Collaborative Services v. Prometheus Laboratories, Inc., the court was bound by the language of the Supreme Court decision to hold Sequenom’s claims
unpatentable.
 

In Illumina, Inc. v. Ariosa Diagnostics, Inc., the Federal Circuit reversed and remanded the lower court and found that claims directed to methods of
preparing plasma to isolate extracellular fetal DNA, based on the inventors’ discovery that fetal DNA strands in maternal plasma are relatively short compared
to maternal DNA, were directed to patent-eligible subject matter. The majority reasoned that the claimed methods include process steps that lead to a DNA
fraction that is different from the naturally-occurring fraction present in the mother’s blood due to enrichment of cell-free fetal DNA. Thus, the process
achieves more than simply observing that fetal DNA is shorter than maternal DNA or detecting the presence of that phenomenon. The majority noted that the
inclusion of specific techniques for carrying out the steps of the method, illustrated the concrete nature of the claimed process steps. These concrete process
steps were used, not merely to observe the presence of the phenomenon that fetal DNA is shorter than maternal DNA, but to exploit that discovery in a method
for preparation of a mixture enriched in fetal DNA and thus supported a finding of patent eligible subject matter.
 

While the cases discussed above are instructive, the United States Patent and Trademark Office (the “USPTO”) has also issued guidelines in light of
the Supreme Court decisions indicating that process claims having a natural principle as a limiting step will be evaluated to determine if the claim includes
additional steps that practically apply the natural principle such that the claim amounts to significantly more than the natural principle itself. Because the
diagnostic tests that we are developing combine an innovative methodology with newly discovered compositions of matter, we are hopeful that this Supreme
Court decision will not preclude the availability of patent protection for our diagnostic tests.
 

The USPTO has also issued multiple Subject Matter Eligibility Updates to provide further guidance in determining subject matter eligibility. The
Subject Matter Eligibility Updates include new Subject Matter Eligibility Examples for the Life Sciences. These examples provide favorable exemplary subject
matter eligibility analysis of hypothetical claims covering diagnostic tests and claims drawn from case law. This update from the USPTO does not change our
opinion on our ability to obtain meaningful patent protection.
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There is a risk that any patent applications that we file and any patents that we hold or later obtain could be challenged by third parties and declared
invalid or infringing of third-party claims. A patent interference proceeding may be instituted with the USPTO when more than one person files a patent
application covering the same technology, or if someone wishes to challenge the validity of an issued patent filed before March 16, 2013. At the completion of
the interference proceeding, the USPTO will determine which competing applicant is entitled to the patent, or whether an issued patent is valid. Patent
interference proceedings are complex, highly contested legal proceedings, and the USPTO’s decision is subject to appeal. This means that if an interference
proceeding arises with respect to any of our patent applications, we may experience significant expenses and delay in obtaining a patent, and if the outcome of
the proceeding is unfavorable to us, the patent could be issued to a competitor rather than to us. In addition to interference proceedings, the USPTO can
reexamine issued patents at the request of a third party seeking to have the patent invalidated. Currently an inter partes review proceeding will allow third
parties to challenge the validity, based on issues of novelty and non-obviousness, in view of patents and printed publications, of an issued patent where there is
a reasonable likelihood of invalidity. This means that patents owned or licensed by us may be subject to re-examination and may be lost if the outcome of the
re-examination is unfavorable to us.
 

Post Grant Review under the America Invents Act makes available opposition-like proceedings in the United States. As with the USPTO interference
proceedings, Post Grant Review proceedings will be very expensive to contest and can result in significant delays in obtaining patent protection or can result in
a denial of a patent application. To invoke a post-grant review, a challenge must be filed within nine months of a patent’s issuance or reissuance. Post-grant
review can be sought based on any grounds that can be used to challenge the validity of a patent claim, with the exception of failure to disclose the best mode.
Also, a derivation proceeding may be instituted by the USPTO or an inventor alleging that a patent or application was derived from the work of another
inventor.
 

Oppositions to the issuance of patents may be filed under European patent law and the patent laws of certain other countries. As with the USPTO
interference proceedings, these foreign proceedings can be very expensive to contest and can result in significant delays in obtaining a patent or can result in a
denial of a patent application.
 

The enforcement of patent rights often requires litigation against third party infringers, and such litigation can be costly to pursue. Even if we succeed
in having new patents issued or in defending any challenge to issued patents, there is no assurance that our patents will be comprehensive enough to provide us
with meaningful patent protection against our competitors.
 
Government Regulation
 
CLIA—Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988 and State Regulation
 

We expect that DetermaRx™ and DetermaIO™ will be regulated under the Clinical Laboratory Improvements Amendment (“CLIA”) as laboratory
developed tests or “LDTs” and will not be regulated as in vitro diagnostic test or IVDs” that will be subject to approval by the FDA and through the European
Directive on in vitro diagnostics in the European Union. below. In 1988, Congress enacted CLIA, which established quality standards for all laboratories that
provide testing services to ensure the accuracy, reliability and timeliness of patient test results regardless of where the test is performed.
 

Under CLIA, a laboratory is defined as any facility that performs laboratory testing on specimens derived from humans for the purpose of providing
information for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of disease, or the impairment of, or assessment of health of human beings. Because we meet this
definition, CLIA requires that we hold a certificate applicable to the complexity of the categories of testing we perform and that we comply with certain
standards. Laboratories performing high complexity testing are required to meet more stringent requirements than laboratories performing less complex tests.
CLIA regulations require clinical laboratories like ours to comply with various operational, personnel, facilities administration, quality, and proficiency testing
requirements intended to ensure that testing services are accurate, reliable and timely. CLIA certification is a prerequisite for reimbursement eligibility for
services provided to state and federal health care program beneficiaries. CLIA is user-fee funded. Therefore, all costs of administering the program must be
covered by the regulated facilities, including certification and survey costs.
 
FDA Regulation of Diagnostic Tests
 

We have designed, developed, and are validating our tests as LDTs and consequently believe our tests are governed under the CLIA regulations, as
administered by CMS, as well as by applicable state laws.

 
Historically, the FDA has exercised enforcement restraint with respect to most LDTs and has not required laboratories that offer LDTs to comply with

FDA requirements for medical devices, such as registration, device listing, quality systems regulations, premarket clearance or premarket approval, and post-
market controls.
 

In recent years, the FDA has stated it intends to end its policy of enforcement restraint and begin regulating certain LDTs as medical devices. In
October 2014, the FDA issued two draft guidance documents, entitled “Framework for Regulatory Oversight of Laboratory Developed Tests (LDTs)” and
“FDA Notification and Medical Device Reporting for Laboratory Developed Tests (LDTs)”, respectively, that set forth a proposed risk-based regulatory
framework that would apply varying levels of FDA oversight to LDTs.
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The FDA has indicated that it does not intend to modify its policy of enforcement restraint until the draft guidance documents are finalized.
Subsequently, in January 2017, the FDA issued a Discussion Paper on LDTs (“Discussion Paper”), in which it outlined a substantially revised “possible
approach” to the oversight of LTDs. The risk-based approach outlined focuses on new and significantly modified high and moderate risk LDTs and low risk
LDTs, LDTs for rare diseases, traditional LDTs, LDTs intended solely for public health surveillance, certain LDTs used in CLIA certified labs, and LDTs
intended solely for forensic use would not be expected to comply with premarket review, quality systems, and registration and listing requirements unless
necessary to protect public health. With respect to the post-market surveillance of LDTs, the FDA’s Discussion Paper recommends that laboratories initially
report serious adverse events for all tests except the exempted categories of tests, which include LDTs intended for public health surveillance, some stem
cell/tissue/organ transplantation LDTs, and LDTs intended solely for forensic use. The Discussion Paper notes that it is not a final version of the 2014 draft
guidance and that it does not intend to represent the FDA’s formal position but rather describes the evolution of the agency’s thinking about the regulatory
framework for LDTs.
 

Responding to the COVID-19 pandemic, in August, 2020, the Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”), the parent agency for FDA,
formally rescinded FDA guidance and other informal statements concerning FDA’s premarket review of LDTs and announced that the FDA “will not require
premarket review of [LDTs] absent notice-and comment rulemaking, as opposed through guidance documents, compliance manuals, website statements, or
other informal issuances.” It is unclear at this time whether the Biden administration will revise or rescind this policy.

 
It is unclear at this time when or if the FDA will finalize its plans to end enforcement discretion, via notice and comment rulemaking or otherwise, and

even then, new regulatory requirements are expected to be phased-in over time. Nevertheless, the FDA may attempt to regulate certain LDTs on a case-by-case
basis at any time.

 
In December 2018, legislators released a draft bill called the Verifying Accurate, Leading-edge IVCT Development (“VALID”) Act, which features a

precertification program. The term IVCT refers to in vitro clinical tests, a category that w comprises both test kits and lab-developed tests. Following years of
discussion, on March 5, 2020, identical versions of the VALID Act were introduced in both chambers of Congress. As introduced, the VALID Act includes
precertification proposed by the FDA, a process through which diagnostic developers could receive premarket approval or clearance for one test representative
of a group of tests using the same technology and have other elements in common. Approval of that representative test would precertify other tests in the group
and allow the lab to launch them without premarket review. The VALID Act would also create a new system for labs and hospitals to use to submit their tests
electronically to the FDA for approval, which is aimed at reducing the amount of time it takes for the agency to approve such tests, and establish a new
program to expedite the development of diagnostic tests that can be used to address a current unmet need for patients. The introduced Valid Act also includes
specific language designed to address public health emergencies, including COVID-19. The FDA estimates that between 40% and 50% of tests would qualify
for precertification. If enacted, the impact of the VALID Act will be minimal for IVD manufacturers because of the alignment between the VALID Act and
existing medical device statutory and regulatory requirements and the fact that such requirements have been enforced for IVD manufacturers for decades;
however, it will have a significant impact on clinical laboratories as laboratories will need to comply with many new requirements, including: registration and
listing with the FDA; quality requirements; investigational studies; premarket review and approval; adverse event reporting; and corrections and removals
(recalls). While the VALID Act outlines a framework for these elements (among others), the law, if enacted, would direct the FDA to promulgate regulations
and issue guidance documents, giving clinical laboratories and others ample opportunity to participate in shaping the new IVCT regulatory program.
 

On March 18, 2020, Senator Rand Paul introduced a bill, called the Verified Innovative Testing in American Laboratories (“VITAL”) Act, which
strikes a counterpoint to the proposed VALID Act. VITAL seeks to update existing federal lab standards under the CLIA, specifically stating that all aspects of
lab-developed testing procedures would be regulated by the US Health and Human Services Secretary under the Public Health Services Act, and that no aspects
of lab-developed testing procedures would be regulated under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, including during a public health emergency.

 
While we cannot predict whether the either VALID Act or the VITAL Act as proposed, or any modified version of either act will be enacted into law, it

is expected that some form of the acts will be incorporated into a broader health care legislative package. The likelihood that Congress will pass legislation and
the extent to which such legislation may affect the FDA’s plans to regulate certain LDTs as medical devices is difficult to predict at this time. Until the VALID
Act, VITAL Act, or other legislation is passed reforming the federal government’s regulation of LDTs, it is unknown how the FDA may regulate our tests in the
future and what testing and data may be required to support any required clearance or approval.

 
If the FDA ultimately regulates certain LDTs, whether via final guidance, final regulation, or as instructed by Congress, our tests may be subject to

certain additional regulatory requirements. Complying with the FDA’s requirements can be expensive, time-consuming, and subject us to significant or
unanticipated delays. Insofar as we may be required to obtain premarket clearance or approval to perform or continue performing an LDT, we cannot assure
that we will be able to obtain such authorization. Even if we obtain regulatory clearance or approval where required, such authorization may not be for the
intended uses that we believe are commercially attractive or are critical to the commercial success of our tests. As a result, the application of the FDA’s
requirements to our tests could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

 
Notwithstanding the FDA’s current position with respect to oversight of our tests, we may voluntarily decide to pursue FDA pre-market review for our

current tests and tests we may offer in the future if we determine that doing so would be appropriate from a strategic perspective.
 
Failure to comply with applicable FDA regulatory requirements may trigger a range of enforcement actions by the FDA including warning letters,

civil monetary penalties, injunctions, criminal prosecution, recall or seizure, operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of operations, and
denial of or challenges to applications for clearance or approval, as well as significant adverse publicity.
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State Laboratory Licensing
 

In addition to federal certification requirements of laboratories under CLIA, we are required to maintain licensure under California law for our
laboratory in Brisbane, California and under Tennessee law for our laboratory in Nashville, Tennessee. State laws generally include standards for the day-to-
day operation of a clinical reference laboratory, including the training and skills required of personnel and quality control. In addition, those laws often mandate
proficiency testing, which involves testing of specimens that have been specifically prepared for the laboratory.
 

Some states require licensure of out-of-state laboratories that accept specimens from those states. Our laboratories will need to pass various state
inspections in order to get licensed to provide LDTs in each of state that requires licensure. CLIA provides that a state may adopt laboratory regulations that are
more stringent than those under federal law, and two states, New York and Washington, have met that standard and therefore substitute for the federal CLIA
program. In addition, some, but not all, states require a separate state license or permit, which must be obtained in addition to a CLIA certificate, and some
states require a laboratory doing business in that state to be licensed even if the laboratory is located in another state.

 
Our laboratories are licensed by the appropriate state agencies in the states in which we do business, if such licensure is required. If a laboratory is out

of compliance with state laws or regulations governing licensed laboratories, a state may impose penalties, which penalties vary from state to state but may
include suspension, limitation, revocation or annulment of the license, assessment of financial penalties or fines, or imprisonment. We believe that we are in
material compliance with all applicable licensing laws and regulations.

 
We may become aware from time to time of certain states that require out-of-state laboratories to obtain licensure to accept specimens from patients

within the state. If we identify any other state with such requirements, or if we are contacted by any other state advising us of such requirements, we intend to
follow all instructions from the state regulators regarding compliance with such requirements.
 
In Vitro Diagnostics
 

In the future, we may elect to develop IVDs, which are regulated by the FDA as medical devices. Medical devices marketed in the United States are
subject to the regulatory controls under CLIA, the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, and regulations adopted by the FDA. Some requirements, known as
premarket requirements, apply to medical devices before they are marketed, and other requirements, known as post-market requirements, apply to medical
devices after they are marketed.
 

The particular premarket requirements that must be met to market a medical device in the United States will depend on the classification of the device
under FDA regulations. Medical devices are categorized into one of three classes, based on the degree of risk they present. Devices that pose the lowest risk are
designated as Class I devices; devices that pose moderate risk are designated as Class II devices and are subject to general controls and special controls; and the
devices that pose the highest risk are designated as Class III devices and are subject to general controls and premarket approval.
 

A premarket submission to the FDA will be required for some Class I devices, most Class II devices; and all Class III devices. Most Class I and some
Class II devices are exempt from premarket submission requirements. Some Class I and most Class II devices may be marketed after a 510(k) premarket
notification, while a more extensive PMA is required to market Class III devices.
 

Until regulatory requirements suggested by the FDA or required by any new legislation are phased in, our current LDTs will not require FDA filing
before launch and we will continue to follow the CLIA certification and inspection pathway.
 

If the new requirements are phased in or if we elect to develop IVDs, our future screenings diagnostics may require a 510(k) submission or a
Premarket Approval (“PMA”) application to the FDA. In a 510(k) submission, the device sponsor must demonstrate that the new device is “substantially
equivalent” to a predicate device in terms of intended use, technological characteristics, and performance testing. A 510(k) requires demonstration of
substantial equivalence to another device that is legally marketed in the United States. Substantial equivalence means that the new device is at least as safe and
effective as the predicate. A device is substantially equivalent if, in comparison to a predicate it (a) has the same intended use as the predicate and has the same
technological characteristics as the predicate; or (b) has the same intended use as the predicate, has different technological characteristics, and the information
submitted to the FDA does not raise new questions of safety and effectiveness, and is demonstrated to be at least as safe and effective as the legally marketed
predicate device.
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A claim of substantial equivalence does not mean the new and predicate devices must be identical. Substantial equivalence is established with respect
to intended use, design, energy used or delivered, materials, chemical composition, manufacturing process, performance, safety, effectiveness, labeling,
biocompatibility, standards, and other characteristics. A device may not be marketed in the United States until the submitter receives a letter declaring the
device substantially equivalent. If the FDA determines that a device is not substantially equivalent, the applicant may resubmit another 510(k) with new data, or
request a Class I or II designation through the FDA’s de novo process that allows a new device without a valid predicate to be classified into Class I or II if it
meets certain criteria, or file a reclassification petition, or submit a PMA.
 

A new 510(k) submission is required for changes or modifications to an existing approved device, where the modifications could significantly affect
the safety or effectiveness of the device or the device is to be marketed for a new or different indication for use.

 
A PMA for Class III devices is the most stringent type of premarket submission. Before the FDA approves a PMA, the sponsor must provide valid

scientific evidence demonstrating reasonable assurance of safety and effectiveness for the device’s intended use.
 
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act and Other Data Privacy and Security Laws
 

Under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”), the HHS has issued regulations to protect the privacy and security of
protected health information. HIPAA also regulates standardization of data content, codes and formats used in health care transactions and standardization of
identifiers for health plans and providers. Penalties for violations of HIPAA regulations include civil and criminal penalties.
 

CMS and the Office of Civil Rights issued a final rule in February 2014 to amend both the HIPAA and CLIA regulations. The final rule amended the
HIPAA privacy rule to remove the CLIA laboratory exceptions, and as a result, HIPAA-covered laboratories are now required to provide individuals, upon
request, with access to their completed test reports. Under the 2014 rule, CLIA laboratories and CLIA-exempt laboratories may provide copies of a patient’s
completed test reports that, using the laboratory’s authentication process, can be identified as belonging to that patient. These changes to the CLIA regulations
and the HIPAA Privacy Rule were intended to provide individuals with a greater ability to access their health information. CLIA laboratories must create and
maintain policies, procedures, and other documentation necessary to inform patients of the right to access laboratory test reports and how to exercise that right.
In December 2020, aiming to remove regulations that impede communication and data exchange between providers and health plans and expand individuals’
rights to access their own digital health information, HHS proposed further changes to the HIPAA privacy rule. These most recently proposed updates of the
HIPAA privacy rule are subject to public comment period until May 6, 2021.

 
In addition to the federal privacy regulations, there are a number of state laws regarding the privacy and security of health information and personal

data that are applicable to clinical laboratories. The compliance requirements of these laws, including additional breach reporting requirements, and the
penalties for violation vary widely and new privacy and security laws in this area are evolving. For example, California has implemented comprehensive
privacy laws and regulations. The California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act imposes restrictive requirements regulating the use and disclosure of
health information and other personally identifiable information. In addition to fines and penalties imposed upon violators, some of these state laws also afford
private rights of action to individuals who believe their personal information has been misused. California’s patient privacy laws, for example, provide for
penalties of up to $250,000 and permit injured parties to sue for damages. In addition to the California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act, California
also recently enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, or CCPA, which became effective January 1, 2020. The CCPA has been characterized as
the first “GDPR-like” privacy statute to be enacted in the United States because it mirrors a number of the key provisions of the E.U. General Data Protection
Regulation. The CCPA establishes a new privacy framework for covered businesses in the State of California, by creating an expanded definition of personal
information, establishing new data privacy rights for consumers imposing special rules on the collection of consumer data from minors, and creating a new and
potentially severe statutory damages framework for violations of the CCPA and for businesses that fail to implement reasonable security procedures and
practices to prevent data breaches. While data subject to HIPAA and federal regulations governing the conduct of clinical trials is exempt from CCPA, certain
of our business activities may be subject to CCPA. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for data breaches
that result from a business’ failure to implement and maintain reasonable data security procedures.

 
On November 3, 2020, California passed the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”) through a ballot initiative. The CPRA will create a new

California Privacy Protection Agency, an “independent watchdog” whose mission is both to “vigorously enforce” the CPRA and “ensure that businesses and
consumers are well-informed about their rights and obligations.” Among other things, the CPRA will create a new category of “sensitive personal information”
and offer consumers the right to limit processing of such information, impose purpose limitation, data minimization, data retention, and security compliance
obligations on regulated businesses, and add or modify the rights available to consumers, including by providing a right to correct the information a business
holds about them. The CPRA’s amendments to the CCPA will take effect on January 1, 2023, and will generally apply to personal information collected by
businesses on or after January 1, 2022.
 
Physician Referral Prohibitions
 

Under a federal law directed at “self-referral,” commonly known as the Stark Law, there are prohibitions, with certain exceptions, on Medicare and
Medicaid payments for laboratory tests referred by physicians who personally, or through a family member, have a “financial relationship”—including an
investment or ownership interest or a compensation arrangement—with the clinical laboratory performing the tests. Several Stark Law exceptions are relevant
to arrangements involving clinical laboratories, including: (1) fair market value compensation for the provision of items or services; (2) payments by physicians
to a laboratory for clinical laboratory services; (3) certain space and equipment rental arrangements that satisfy certain requirements, and (4) personal services
arrangements that satisfy certain requirements. The laboratory cannot submit claims to the Medicare Part B program for services furnished in violation of the
Stark Law, and Medicaid reimbursements may be at risk as well. Penalties for violating the Stark Law include the return of funds received for all prohibited
referrals, fines, civil monetary penalties and possible exclusion from the federal health care programs. Many states have comparable laws that are not limited to
Medicare and Medicaid referrals.
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On November 20, 2020 CMS issued a final rule to modernize and clarify the regulations that interpret self-referral law. The final rule was issued in
conjunction with the CMS Patients over Paperwork initiative and the HHS Regulatory Sprint to Coordinated Care and establishes exceptions to the physician
self-referral law for certain value-based compensation arrangements between or among physicians, providers, and suppliers. It also establishes a new exception
for certain arrangements under which a physician receives limited remuneration for items or services actually provided by the physician; establishes a new
exception for donations of cybersecurity technology and related services; and amends the existing exception for electronic health records (EHR) items and
services. While the final rule presents significant opportunities for new arrangements, it also necessitates revisions to current arrangements involving healthcare
providers, others involved in the healthcare industry, and patients.

 
Corporate Practice of Medicine
 

A number of states, including California, do not allow business corporations to employ physicians to provide professional services. This prohibition
against the “corporate practice of medicine” is aimed at preventing corporations such as us from exercising control over the medical judgments or decisions of
physicians. The state licensure statutes and regulations and agency and court decisions that enumerate the specific corporate practice rules vary considerably
from state to state and are enforced by both the courts and regulatory authorities, each with broad discretion. If regulatory authorities or other parties in any
jurisdiction successfully assert that we are engaged in the unauthorized corporate practice of medicine, we could be required to restructure our contractual and
other arrangements. In addition, violation of these laws may result in sanctions imposed against us and/or the professional through licensure proceedings, and
we could be subject to civil and criminal penalties that could result in exclusion from state and federal health care programs.
 
Federal and State Fraud and Abuse Laws
 

A variety of federal and state laws prohibit fraud and abuse. These laws are interpreted broadly and enforced aggressively by various state and federal
agencies, including CMS, the Department of Justice, the Office of Inspector General for HHS, and various state agencies. In addition, the Medicare and
Medicaid programs increasingly use a variety of contractors to review claims data and to identify improper payments as well as fraud and abuse. These
contractors include Recovery Audit Contractors, Medicaid Integrity Contractors and Zone Program Integrity Contractors. In addition, CMS conducts
Comprehensive Error Rate Testing audits, the purpose of which is to detect improper Medicare payments. Any overpayments identified must be repaid unless a
favorable decision is obtained on appeal. In some cases, these overpayments can be used as the basis for an extrapolation, by which the error rate is applied to a
larger universe of claims, and which can result in even higher repayments.
 

The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting, receiving, or providing
remuneration, directly or indirectly, to induce or in return for either the referral of an individual, or the furnishing, recommending, or arranging for the
purchase, lease or order of any health care item or service reimbursable, in whole or in part, under a federal health care program. The definition of
“remuneration” has been broadly interpreted to include anything of value, including gifts, discounts, credit arrangements, payments of cash, ownership interests
and providing anything at less than its fair market value. Recognizing that the Anti- Kickback Statute is broad and may technically prohibit many innocuous or
beneficial arrangements within the health care industry, the Office of Inspector General for HHS has issued a series of regulatory “safe harbors.” These safe
harbor regulations set forth certain requirements that, if met, will assure immunity from prosecution under the federal Anti-Kickback Statute. Although full
compliance with these provisions ensures against prosecution under the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the failure of a transaction or arrangement to fit within a
specific safe harbor does not necessarily mean that the transaction or arrangement is illegal or that prosecution under the federal Anti-Kickback Statute will be
pursued.
 

HIPAA also created new federal crimes, including health care fraud and false statements relating to health care matters. The health care fraud statute
prohibits knowingly and willfully executing a scheme to defraud any health care benefit program, including private third-party payers. A violation of this
statute is a felony and may result in fines, imprisonment or exclusion from federal health care programs, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The
false statements statute prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or
fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for health care benefits, items or services. A violation of this statute is a felony and may
result in fines, imprisonment or exclusion from federal health care programs.
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Many states have laws similar to the federal laws described above, and state laws may be broader in scope and may apply regardless of payer.
 

Additionally, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) prohibits U.S. corporations and their representatives from offering, promising,
authorizing or making payments to any foreign government official, government staff member, political party or political candidate in an attempt to obtain or
retain business abroad. The scope of the FCPA includes interactions with certain healthcare professionals in many countries. Other countries have enacted
similar anti-corruption laws and/or regulations.
 
Other Regulatory Requirements
 

Our laboratory will be subject to federal, state and local regulations relating to the handling and disposal of regulated medical waste, hazardous waste
and biohazardous waste, including chemical, biological agents and compounds, blood samples and other human tissue. Typically, we will use outside vendors
who are contractually obligated to comply with applicable laws and regulations to dispose of such waste. These vendors will be licensed or otherwise qualified
to handle and dispose of such waste.
 

The Occupational Safety and Health Administration has established extensive requirements relating to workplace safety for health care employers,
including requirements to develop and implement programs to protect workers from exposure to blood-borne pathogens by preventing or minimizing any
exposure through needle stick or similar penetrating injuries.

 
On May 1, 2020, the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology promulgated final regulations under the authority of the

21st Century Cures Act that impose new conditions to obtain and maintain certification of certified health information technology and prohibit certain covered
actors, including operators of laboratories which are considered “health care providers” under the final regulation, from engaging in activities that are likely to
interfere with the access, exchange, or use of electronic health information (information blocking). The final regulations further defined exceptions for
activities that are permissible, even though they may have the effect of interfering with the access, exchange, or use of electronic health information. The
information blocking effective date is April 5, 2021. Under the 21st Century Cures Act, health care providers that violate the information blocking prohibition
will be subject to appropriate disincentives, which HHS services has yet to establish through required rulemaking. Developers of certified information
technology and health information networks and health information exchanges, however, may be subject to civil monetary penalties of up to $1 million per
violation. The HHS Office of Inspector General has the authority to impose such penalties and on April 24, 2020 published a proposed rule to codify its new
authority in regulation, which the agency proposed would become effective 60 days after it issues a final rule, but in no event before November 2, 2020. HHS
Office of Inspector General has not yet issued a final rule.

 
Employees
 

As of December 31, 2020, we employed 51 persons on a full-time basis.
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors
 

Our business is subject to various risks, including those described below. You should consider the following risk factors, together with all of the other
information included in this Report, which could materially adversely affect our proposed operations, our business prospects, and financial condition, and the
value of an investment in our business. There may be other factors that are not mentioned here or of which we are not presently aware that could also affect our
business operations and prospects.
 

Risks Related to Our Capital Resources
 
We may incur significant cash payment and common stock issuance obligations under our agreements arising from our investments in Razor and
Insight and planned investment in Chronix.
 

As described in Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements, we have entered into certain agreements with Razor and its shareholders, including a
Purchase Agreement, Minority Holder Stock Purchase Agreements, and a Development Agreement, under which we may incur significant cash payment and
common stock issuance obligations. As described in Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements, we paid the amounts due to Razor under the Purchase
Agreement and Minority Holder Stock Purchase Agreements.

 
Under the Development Agreement, upon completion of enrollment of the full number of patients for DetermaRx™ Clinical Trial, Oncocyte will be

obligated to issue to the Razor shareholders shares of Oncocyte common stock with an aggregate market value equal to $3 million at the date of issue.
 

The number of shares of Oncocyte common stock issuable under the Purchase Agreement, the Minority Holder Purchase Agreements, and the
Development Agreement on a combined basis is limited to 19.99% of the issued and outstanding shares of Oncocyte common stock or the outstanding voting
power of Oncocyte shares as of the date of the Purchase Agreement, and if that number of shares has a value of less than $3 million on the date the
Development Agreement obligation must be met, we would need to pay an amount of cash necessary to bring the combined value of cash and shares to $3
million to satisfy the Development Agreement obligation. The number of shares that may become issuable to satisfy the $3 million obligations cannot presently
be determined because the number of shares will depend upon the market price of our common stock when the shares become issuable. The issuance of those
shares of common stock will dilute the interests of our other common stockholders.

 
Under the Development Agreement we are also obligated to pay the expenses of DetermaRx™ Clinical Trial after Razor’s $4 million Clinical Trial

Expense Reserve has been exhausted. If within a specified time frame Encore is substantially responsible for obtaining funding to Oncocyte or Razor for the
Clinical Trial from any third-party pharmaceutical company, a portion of such additional funding amount will be paid to Encore, subject to a $3 million cap on
the payment to Encore if the funding is provided by a designated pharmaceutical company.
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In addition, under the Merger Agreement pursuant to which we acquired Insight, as described in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Report, we have agreed to pay contingent consideration of up to $6.0 million in any combination of cash or shares of Oncocyte
common stock if certain milestones related to DetermaIO™ are achieved (the “Contingent Consideration”), which consist of (i) a $1.5 million clinical trial
completion and data publication milestone, (ii) $3.0 million for an affirmative final local coverage determination from CMS for a specified lung cancer test,
and (iii) up to $1.5 million for achieving certain CMS reimbursement milestones.

 
If the Chronix merger is completed, we will issue 295,000 shares of OncoCyte common stock to holders of certain Chronix preferred stock, and we

will provide $2.675 million in cash for the payment of certain Chronix liabilities and we will assume up to $5.575 million of additional Chronix liabilities. As
additional consideration for the acquisition of Chronix, we have agreed to pay to holders of other classes and series of Chronix stock (i) up to $14 million in
any combination of cash or OncoCyte common stock if certain milestones are achieved, (ii) earnout consideration of up to 15% of net collections for sales of
specified tests and products during certain five to ten-year earnout periods, and (iii) up to 75% of net collections during a seven-year earnout period from the
sale or license of Chronix’s patents to a third party for use in transplantation medicine.

 
To meet these various cash payment obligations, we may need to sell additional shares of our common stock or other securities to raise the cash

needed, or we may have to divert cash on hand that we would otherwise use for other business and operational purposes which could cause us to delay or
reduce activities in the development and commercialization of our cancer tests. Any shares of common stock or other securities we sell to raise cash to meet our
cash payment obligations will dilute the interests of our common stockholders.

 
We have incurred operating losses since inception, and we do not know if we will attain profitability.
 

Since our inception in September 2009, we have incurred operating losses and negative cash flows and we expect to continue to incur losses and
negative cash flows in the future. Our net losses for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $29.9 million and $22.4 million, respectively, and we
had an accumulated deficit of $123.7 million as of December 31, 2020. We finance our operations primarily through sales of our common stock. There is no
assurance that we will be able to obtain any additional financing that we may need, or that any such financing that may become available will be on terms that
are favorable to us and our shareholders. Ultimately, our ability to generate sufficient operating revenue to earn a profit depends upon our success in developing
and marketing or licensing our diagnostic tests and technology.

 
It is likely that we will need to issue additional equity or debt securities in order to raise additional capital needed to pay our operating expenses until
such time as our revenues are sufficient to finance our operating expenses.
 
 ● We plan to continue to incur substantial research and development expenses and we anticipate that we will be incurring significant sales and

marketing costs as we develop and commercialize our diagnostic tests. Our research and development expenses may also increase if we work to
develop tests for additional types of cancer or for other cancer related diagnostic purposes. The period of time for which our current cash and
marketable securities will be sufficient to finance our operations will depend on the extent to which we expend funds on commercializing our
tests and conducting new research and development programs. We will need to raise additional capital to pay operating expenses unless we are
able to generate sufficient revenues from diagnostic test sales, royalties, and license fees to meet our operating expenses.

   
 ● Our ability to raise additional equity or debt capital will depend not only on the successful completion of development of our diagnostic tests and

receiving reimbursement approval from Medicare and other third-party payers for those tests, but also will depend on access to capital and
conditions in the capital markets. Although we have received a Medicare reimbursement determination for DetermaRx™, obtaining Medicare
reimbursement approval for our other diagnostic tests could take two to three years, and investors may be reluctant to provide us with additional
capital until we obtain Medicare reimbursement approval for those tests or until we can demonstrate that private payers such as health insurance
companies or HMOs are willing to pay for the use of our diagnostic tests at prices sufficient for us to earn a reasonable return on our investments
in our diagnostic test portfolio. There is no assurance that we will be able to raise capital at times and in amounts needed to finance the
development and commercialization of our diagnostic tests and general operations. Even if capital is available, it may not be available on terms
that we or our shareholders would consider favorable.

   
 ● Sales or other issuances of additional equity securities by us could result in the dilution of the interests of our shareholders.
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Our rights to receive and retain certain payments from Burning Rock Biotech Limited under our Sublicense Agreement with them are subject to
certain conditions.
 

We have entered into an Exclusive Sublicense Agreement in the PRC Territory (the “Sublicense Agreement”) with Burning Rock Biotech Limited
(“Burning Rock”), Razor and Razor’s largest shareholder Encore Clinical Inc. pursuant to which rights to DetermaRx™ in the Peoples Republic of China,
including Hong Kong, Macau, and Taiwan will be sublicensed to Burning Rock. Under the Burning Rock Sublicense Agreement we will be entitled to receive
certain payments totaling $4 million subject to the successful transfer and installation of the DetermaRx™ technology on Burning Rock’s platforms, and
additional payments if certain milestones are achieved. However, there is no assurance that the transfer and installation of the DetermaRx™ technology will be
successfully completed within the time required by the Burning Rock Sublicense Agreement or that any of the additional payment milestones will be achieved.
Further, even if we do receive the $4 million payment, we will be obligated to refund to Burning Rock all or a portion of that payment if certain subsequent
events occur, including events that are not within our control. The refund obligation will lapse in installments of $250,000 every three months after the
completion date of the technology installation required to launch the DetermaRx™ test, until the occurrence of an event trigger, the obligation to make a refund
to Burning Rock or until March 31, 2025 when the refund obligation will expire in full.
 

Risks Related to Our Business Operations
 
Our revenues in the near term will depend on our ability to commercialize a small number of diagnostic tests and to grow our Pharma Services
business.

 
Our near-term commercial efforts will focus on maximizing the opportunities for DetermaRx™ and DetermaIO™ and DetermaCNI™ if we complete

the Chronix merger, as well as increasing our Pharma Services business. Our reliance on a small group of diagnostic tests as sources of revenue could limit our
future revenue, make it more difficult for us to finance our operations, and impair our prospects for profitability and growth. DetermaIO™ is currently
available only for biopharma diagnostic development and research use. We plan to continue DetermaIO™ development, initially for use as a companion test in
immunotherapy drug development to select patients for clinical trials, and subsequently as a full companion diagnostic for clinical use to help physicians
determine which patients are most likely to have a sustained response to immunotherapies. We also plan to develop DetermaCNI™ for clinical use if complete
the Chronix merger. However, there is no assurance that our development plans for DetermaIO™ or DetermaCNI™ will be successful or that we will be
generate sufficient revenues from commercialization of our diagnostic tests and from performing Pharma Services to finance our operations and earn a profit.
 
The research and development work we are doing is costly, time consuming, and uncertain as to its results.
 

We incurred research and development expenses amounting to approximately $9.8 million and $6.8 million during years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively. The current focus of our research and development efforts is a clinical trial of DetermaRx™ and the development of DetermaIO™ for
clinical use. Other tests planned for our development pipeline include DetermaTx™, DetermaMx™ and, if we complete the Chronix merger, DetermaCNI™. If
we are successful in developing a new technology or diagnostic test for additional types of cancer, refinement of the new technology or diagnostic test and
definition of the practical applications and limitations of the technology or diagnostic test may take years and require the expenditure of large sums of money.
There is no assurance that we will be successful in completing the development of our current diagnostic tests or in developing additional diagnostic tests
regardless of the amount of our expenditures.
 
Sales of our diagnostic tests could be adversely impacted by the reluctance of physicians to adopt the use of our tests and by the availability of
competing diagnostic tests.
 

Physicians and hospitals may be reluctant to try a new diagnostic test due to the high degree of risk associated with the application of new
technologies and diagnostic test in the field of human medicine, especially if the new test differs from the current standard of care for detecting cancer in
patients. Competing tests for the initial diagnosis, reoccurrence diagnosis and optimal treatment of cancer are being manufactured and marketed by established
companies and by other smaller biotechnology companies. In order to compete with other diagnostic tests, particularly any that sell at lower prices, our tests
will have to provide medically significant advantages or be more cost effective. Even if we are able to overcome physician reluctance and compete with
products that are currently on the market, our competitors may succeed in developing new safer, more accurate or more cost-effective diagnostic tests that
could render our diagnostic tests and technologies obsolete or noncompetitive.
 
We have limited capital, marketing, sales, and regulatory compliance resources for the commercialization of our diagnostic tests.
 

We are building our own marketing and sales capability for our diagnostic tests, and are devoting significant financial and management resources to
recruiting, training, and managing our sales force and building a health care regulatory compliance program. However, due to our limited capital resources, we
may need to enter into marketing arrangements with other diagnostic companies for one or more of our tests in domestic or foreign markets. Under such
marketing arrangements we may license marketing rights to one or more of our diagnostic tests to other diagnostic companies or to one or more joint venture
companies that may be formed to market our tests, and we might receive only a royalty on sales or an equity interest in a joint venture company. As a result,
our revenues from the sale of our tests through such arrangements may be substantially less than the amount of revenues and gross profits that we might receive
if we were to market our tests ourselves.
 

25



 
 
If we complete the acquisition of Chronix we will face risks related to the integration of Chronix’s operations with ours.
 

Although we believe that our planned acquisition of Chronix will be beneficial to our business, including adding their LDT in development
TheraSure™-CNI Monitor, adding their laboratory in Germany, and adding key personnel, there are a number of risks that we will face associated with the
acquisition, including but not limited to: (i) the possibility that we will not realize the anticipated benefits of the acquisition or that the benefits will not justify
the cost of the acquisition; (ii) unexpected expenditures or assumed liabilities that may be incurred as a result of the acquisition; (iii) unanticipated difficulties
in conforming Chronix business practices with ours, including accounting policies, operating procedures, internal controls, and financial records, especially
considering that Chronix has operations abroad; (iv) we may not have accurately forecasted the future performance of Chronix and cost of operations which
could result in unforeseen adverse effects on our operating results; (v) synergies between Chronix and Oncocyte that we estimated may be materially different
from actual results; (vi) we be unsuccessful in integrating and retaining Chronix personnel; (vii) we may need to devote a greater than estimated allocation of
our resources to develop and commercialize Chronix laboratory tests and technologies; (viii) we may not be able to maintain the accreditation or certification
of Chronix’s German laboratory; and (ix) managing a larger and more complex business enterprise, including managing operations overseas and complying
with foreign laws, may strain our financial and management resources.
 
We may face technology transfer challenges and expenses in adding new tests to our portfolio and in expanding our reach into new geographical areas
on new instrument platforms.
 

Our plan for expanding our business includes developing and acquiring additional teststhat can be transferred into our current lab footprint in the US
and/or onto molecular testing instrument platforms for distribution in ex-US markets.. Due to differences in the hardware and software platforms available at
different laboratories for running molecular tests, we may need to make adjustments to the configuration of the reagents that make up our LDTs in our US labs
or as we convert them to kits, and there may be changes to the related software in order for the tests to be performed on particular hardware platforms. Making
any such adjustments could take a considerable amount of time and expense, and there will be no assurance that we will succeed in running our tests on the
hardware and software that we may encounter in different laboratories. To manage this issue and to attain uniformity among our laboratory locations, we may
license or acquire our own instrument system and software from another company that has a platform that will be compatible with our tests. In addition to
acquisition costs, operationally we will have to build out infrastructure for installing a new testing platform across multiple laboratory locations as well as
support functions to help maintain these instrument systems in new customer labs, and we may also encounter unexpected technology issues in the process.
 
If our laboratory facilities become damaged or inoperable, or we are required to vacate any facility, our ability to provide services and pursue our
research and development and commercialization efforts may be jeopardized.
 

We do not have any clinical laboratory facilities outside of our facilities in Brisbane, California, and Nashville, Tennessee. Our planned primary
clinical laboratory facility in Irvine, California is still under construction and is expected to be completed in 2021. We also plan to acquire a laboratory in
Germany through our planned merger with Chronix. Our facilities and equipment could be harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or man-made disasters,
including fire, flooding and power outages, which may render it difficult or impossible for us to perform our tests or provide laboratory services for some
period of time. The inability to perform our tests or the backlog of tests that could develop if any of our facilities is inoperable for even a short period of time
may result in the loss of customers or harm to our reputation or relationships with key researchers, collaborators, and customers, and we may be unable to
regain those customers or repair our reputation in the future. Furthermore, our facilities and the equipment we use to perform our research and development
work could be costly and time-consuming to repair or replace.

 
Additionally, a key component of our research and development process involves using biological samples and the resulting data sets and medical

histories, as the basis for our diagnostic test development. In some cases, these samples are difficult to obtain. If the parts of our laboratory facilities where we
store these biological samples are damaged or compromised, our ability to pursue our research and development projects, commercialization of our diagnostic
tests, as well as our reputation, could be jeopardized. We carry insurance for damage to our property and the disruption of our business, but this insurance may
not be sufficient to cover all of our potential losses and may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all.

 
Further, if our laboratories become inoperable, we may not be able to license or transfer our proprietary technology to a third-party, with established

state licensure and CLIA certification under the scope of which our diagnostic tests could be performed following validation and other required procedures, to
perform the tests. Even if we find a third-party with such qualifications to perform our tests, such party may not be willing to perform the tests for us on
commercially reasonable terms. Moreover, we believe our tests are currently subject to enforcement discretion by the FDA because we believe the tests
currently qualify as LDTs. If, however, we are required to find a third-party laboratory to conduct our testing services, we believe this would change our status
and the FDA would consider such tests offered through a third-party to then be a medical device subject to active FDA regulation and enforcement under its in
vitro diagnostic authorities. In that case, we may be required to obtain premarket clearance or approval prior to offering our tests, which would be time-
consuming and costly and could result in interruptions and delays in our ability to sell or offer our tests.
 
If we fail to meet our obligations under license agreements, we may lose our rights to key technologies on which our business depends.
 

Razor has rights to commercialize DetermaRx™ under a license which imposes certain obligations, including payment obligations and obligations to
pursue development and commercialization of diagnostic tests under the licensed patents and technology. If the licensor believes that Razor and Oncocyte as
Razor’s sublicensee have failed to meet those contractual obligations it could seek to limit or terminate our license rights, which could lead to costly and time-
consuming litigation and, potentially, a loss of the licensed rights. During the period of any such litigation our ability to continue marketing DetermaRx™, and
our ability to raise any capital that we might then need, could be significantly and negatively affected. If our license rights were lost, we would not be able to
continue to use the licenses needed for DetermaRx™ in our business. Even if the licensor were to elect to convert our exclusive license to non-exclusive rights
rather than terminating our license as a result of our failure to meet a license agreement obligation, the loss of exclusivity might result in our loss of revenue to
any competitors that might acquire rights from the licensor to use the licensed patents in competition with us.
 
There is a limited number of manufacturers of molecular diagnostic testing equipment and related chemical reagents necessary for the provision of
our diagnostic tests.
 



After encountering inconsistent results using diagnostic testing equipment and reagents from one manufacturer, we switched to diagnostic testing
equipment from a different manufacturer. The chemical reagents used with the diagnostic testing equipment are available only from the equipment
manufacturer. If issues were to arise with the new equipment or reagents we are using causing us to acquire different diagnostic testing equipment again, we
would need to conduct validation and analytic studies to determine whether our previous test results can be reproduced using the new equipment. As a result,
we could experience delays again in developing our diagnostic tests. If similar issues were to arise after commercialization of a diagnostic test, we could
experience a disruption for a period of time in providing the diagnostic tests to patients and we would lose revenues and potentially market share as a result.
 
If we fail to enter into and maintain successful strategic alliances for diagnostic tests that we elect to co-develop, co-market, or out-license, we may
have to reduce or delay our diagnostic test development or increase our expenditures.
 

In order to facilitate the development, manufacture and commercialization of our diagnostic tests we may enter into strategic alliances with diagnostic,
pharmaceutical, or medical device companies to advance our programs and enable us to maintain our financial and operational capacity. We will face
significant competition in seeking appropriate alliances. We may not be able to negotiate alliances on acceptable terms, if at all. If we fail to create and
maintain suitable alliances, we may have to limit the size or scope of, or delay, one or more of our product development or research programs, or we will have
to increase our expenditures and will need to obtain additional funding, which may be unavailable or available only on unfavorable terms.
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If we are able to enter into development and marketing arrangements with diagnostic, pharmaceutical or medical device companies for our diagnostic
tests, we may license product development, manufacturing, and marketing rights to the pharmaceutical or medical device company or to a joint venture
company formed with the pharmaceutical or medical device company. Under such arrangements we might receive only a royalty on sales of the diagnostic tests
developed or an equity interest in a joint venture company that develops the diagnostic test. As a result, our revenues from the sale of those diagnostic tests may
be substantially less than the amount of revenues and gross profits that we might receive if we were to develop, manufacture, and market the diagnostic tests
ourselves.
 
We may become dependent on possible future collaborations to develop and commercialize many of our diagnostic test candidates and to provide the
manufacturing, regulatory compliance, sales, marketing and distribution capabilities required for the success of our business.
 

We may enter into various kinds of collaborative research and development, manufacturing, and diagnostic test marketing agreements to develop and
commercialize our diagnostic tests. Any future milestone payments and cost reimbursements from collaboration agreements could provide an important source
of financing for our research and development programs, thereby facilitating the application of our technology to the development and commercialization of
our diagnostic tests, but there are risks associated with entering into collaboration arrangements.
 

There is a risk that we could become dependent upon one or more collaborative arrangements for diagnostic test development or manufacturing or as a
source of revenues from the sale of any diagnostic tests that may be developed by us alone or through one of the collaborative arrangements. A collaborative
arrangement upon which we might depend might be terminated by our collaboration partner or they might determine not to actively pursue the development or
commercialization of our diagnostic tests. A collaboration partner also may not be precluded from independently pursuing competing diagnostic tests or
technologies.
 

There is a risk that a collaboration partner might fail to perform its obligations under the collaborative arrangements or may be slow in performing its
obligations. In addition, a collaboration partner may experience financial difficulties at any time that could prevent it from having available funds to contribute
to the collaboration. If a collaboration partner fails to conduct its diagnostic test development, manufacturing, commercialization, regulatory compliance, sales
and marketing or distribution activities successfully and in a timely manner, or if it terminates or materially modifies its agreements with us, the development
and commercialization of one or more diagnostic test candidates could be delayed, curtailed or terminated because we may not have sufficient financial
resources or capabilities to continue diagnostic test development, manufacturing, and commercialization on our own.

 
Failure to adequately protect, or disputes relating to, trademarks, could harm our business.
 

We cannot be certain that the legal steps we are taking are sufficient to protect our trademark rights or that, notwithstanding legal protection, others
will not infringe or misappropriate our intellectual property rights. In addition, we could come into conflict with third parties over trademark rights, which
could result in disruptive and expensive litigation. Challenges to our trademarks could result in significant costs related to the prosecution or defense of the
registrations of our trademarks or rebranding if we need to abandon or modify a trademark.
 
Our business could be adversely affected if we lose the services of the key personnel upon whom we depend.

 
We presently rely on a small senior management team to direct our diagnostics program and our initial commercial activities. Accordingly, the loss of

the services of one or more of the members of that management team could have a material adverse effect on our business.
 
We have granted a security interest in substantially all of our assets to secure our obligations under a bank loan agreement.
 

We have entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank for a loan that is secured by substantially all of our assets, other than
our patents and trade secrets, as collateral for the loan. If a default were to arise under the Loan and Security Agreement, the bank could foreclose on its
security interest and we could lose our collateral, which could force us to discontinue our operations.
 
Our business and operations could suffer in the event of system failures.
 

Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of our contractors and consultants are vulnerable to damage
from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures. Such events could cause
interruption of our operations. For example, the loss of data for our diagnostic test candidates could result in delays in our regulatory filings and development
efforts and significantly increase our costs. To the extent that any disruption or security breach was to result in a loss of or damage to our data, or inappropriate
disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability and the development of our diagnostic test candidates could be delayed.
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Security breaches and other disruptions could compromise our information and expose us to liability, and could cause our business and reputation to
suffer.

 
In the ordinary course of business, we collect and store sensitive data, including intellectual property, our proprietary business information and that of

our business partners, and personally identifiable information of patients and employees. The secure processing, maintenance, and transmission of this
information is critical to our operations and business strategy. Despite our security measures, our information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable
to attacks by hackers or breached due to employee error, malfeasance, or other disruptions. Any such breach could compromise our networks and the
information stored there could be accessed, publicly disclosed, lost, or stolen. Any such access, disclosure, theft, or other loss of information could result in
legal claims or proceedings or liability under laws that protect the privacy of personal information, and could disrupt our operations and damage our reputation.
Even if we do not incur an interruption of or our operations, fines, penalties, or financial liability to third parties from a security breach, we could suffer a loss
of confidence in our services, which could adversely affect our business and competitive position.
 
Failure of our internal control over financial reporting could harm our business and financial results.
 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting for external purposes in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. Internal control over financial reporting includes maintaining records that in reasonable detail accurately
and fairly reflect our transactions; providing reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary for preparation of our consolidated financial
statements; providing reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures of our assets are made in accordance with management authorization; and providing
reasonable assurance that unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements
would be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting is not intended to provide
absolute assurance that a misstatement of our consolidated financial statements would be prevented or detected. Our growth and entry into new diagnostic tests,
technologies and markets will place significant additional pressure on our system of internal control over financial reporting. Any failure to maintain an
effective system of internal control over financial reporting could limit our ability to report our financial results accurately and timely or to detect and prevent
fraud. Because we are an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting issuer, we are exempt from the requirement of having our internal controls over
financial reporting audited by our independent registered public accountants, which means that material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal
controls that might be detected by an audit may not be detected and remedied.

 
We are subject to laws and regulations governing corruption, which will require us to develop, maintain, and implement costly compliance programs.

 
We must comply with a wide range of laws and regulations to prevent corruption, bribery, and other unethical business practices, including the

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or FCPA, anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws in other countries. The creation and implementation of international business
practices compliance programs is costly and such programs are difficult to enforce, particularly where reliance on third parties is required.

 
Anti-bribery laws prohibit us, our employees, and some of our agents or representatives from offering or providing any personal benefit to covered

government officials to influence their performance of their duties or induce them to serve interests other than the missions of the public organizations in which
they serve. Certain commercial bribery rules also prohibit offering or providing any personal benefit to employees and representatives of commercial
companies to influence their performance of their duties or induce them to serve interests other than their employers. The FCPA also obligates companies
whose securities are listed in the U.S. to comply with certain accounting provisions requiring us to maintain books and records that accurately and fairly reflect
all transactions of the corporation, including international subsidiaries, and devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls for
international operations. The anti-bribery provisions of the FCPA are enforced primarily by the United States Department of Justice. The SEC is involved with
enforcement of the books and records provisions of the FCPA.

 
Compliance with these anti-bribery laws is expensive and difficult, particularly in countries in which corruption is a recognized problem. In addition,

the anti-bribery laws present particular challenges in the medical industry because in many countries including China, hospitals are state-owned or operated by
the government, and doctors and other hospital employees are considered foreign government officials. Furthermore, in certain countries (China in particular),
hospitals and clinics are permitted to sell pharmaceuticals to their patients and are primary or significant distributors of pharmaceuticals. Certain payments to
hospitals in connection with clinical studies, procurement of pharmaceuticals and other work have been deemed to be improper payments to government
officials that have led to vigorous anti-bribery law enforcement actions and heavy fines in multiple jurisdictions, particularly in the U.S. and China.
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It is not always possible to identify and deter violations, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in
controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to
be in compliance with such laws or regulations.

 
In the medical industry, corrupt practices include, among others, acceptance of kickbacks, bribes or other illegal gains or benefits by the hospitals and

medical practitioners from manufacturers of pharmaceutical or other products, distributors or their third party agents in connection with the prescription of
certain pharmaceuticals or sale of products. If our employees, affiliates, distributors or third party marketing firms violate these laws or otherwise engage in
illegal practices with respect to their sales or marketing of our products or other activities involving our products, we could be required to pay damages or
heavy fines by multiple jurisdictions where we operate, which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. There
have been recent occurrences in which certain hospitals have denied access to sales representatives from pharmaceutical companies because the hospitals
wanted to avoid the perception of corruption. If this attitude becomes widespread among our potential customers, our ability to promote our products to
hospitals may be adversely affected.

 
If we and our subsidiaries expand operations internationally, we will need to increase the scope of our compliance programs to address the risks

relating to the potential for violations of the FCPA and other anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws. Our compliance programs will need to include policies
addressing not only the FCPA, but also the provisions of a variety of anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws in multiple foreign jurisdictions, provisions relating
to books and records that apply to us as a public company, and include effective training for our personnel throughout our organization. The creation and
implementation of anti-corruption compliance programs is costly and such programs are difficult to enforce, particularly where reliance on third parties is
required. Violation of the FCPA and other anti-corruption laws can result in significant administrative and criminal penalties for us and our employees,
including substantial fines, suspension or debarment from government contracting, prison sentences, or even the death penalty in extremely serious cases in
certain countries. The SEC also may suspend or bar us from trading securities on U.S. exchanges for violation of the FCPA’s accounting provisions. Even if we
are not ultimately punished by government authorities, the costs of investigation and review, distraction of our personnel, legal defense costs, and harm to our
reputation could be substantial and could limit our profitability or our ability to develop or commercialize our product candidates. In addition, if any of our
competitors are not subject to the FCPA, they may engage in practices that will lead to their receipt of preferential treatment from foreign hospitals and enable
them to secure business from foreign hospitals in ways that are unavailable to us.

 
Risks Related to Our Industry

 
Our operations as a clinical laboratory are subject to oversight by CMS under CLIA, as well as certain state agencies, and any failure to maintain our
CLIA or applicable state permits and licenses may affect our ability to commercialize our diagnostic tests.
 

We are subject to CLIA, a federal law regulating clinical laboratories that perform testing on specimens derived from humans for the purpose of
providing information for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of disease. Our clinical laboratories must be certified under CLIA in order for us to perform
testing on human specimens. CLIA is intended to ensure the quality and reliability of clinical laboratories in the United States by mandating specific standards
in the areas of personnel qualifications, administration, and participation in proficiency testing, patient test management, quality control, quality assurance and
inspections. We have a current certificate under CLIA to perform routine chemistry. To renew these certificates, our diagnostic laboratories are subject to
survey and inspection every two years. Moreover, CLIA inspectors may make periodic inspections of our clinical laboratories outside of the renewal process.

 
The law also requires us to maintain a state laboratory license to conduct testing in the states in which are laboratories are located. State laws establish

standards for day-to-day operation of a clinical laboratory, including the training and skills required of personnel and quality control. In addition, several states
require that we hold licenses to test specimens from patients in those states. We do not have immediate plans to market our tests for commercial use in the
European Union and as a result, at this time we do not believe we are subject to EU or EU member state post-market regulations related to our tests.

 
If we were to lose our CLIA certification or a required state license for a laboratory, whether as a result of a revocation, suspension or limitation, we

would no longer be able to offer our tests from the affected laboratory, which would limit our revenue and harm our business. If we were to lose our license in
other states where we are required to hold licenses, we would not be able to test specimens from those states. If we perform testing on samples originating in a
state where we require a license, but do not currently have one, we could be subject to fines, sanctions, and may be denied permits or licenses in the future.
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If the FDA takes the position that any of our tests are not within the scope of its policy on enforcement discretion for laboratory-developed tests, or
otherwise determines that it will seek to actively regulate one or more of our diagnostic tests, responding to such a regulatory position could lead to
delays in commercialization, or (if encountered after commercialization) requirements to halt the commercial provision of our tests until FDA
marketing authorization is obtained.
 

Although the FDA has historically exercised enforcement discretion over most LDTs, it does not consider tests to be subject to this enforcement
discretion if they were or are designed or manufactured completely, or partly, outside of the laboratory that offers and uses them, or if they are offered “over-
the-counter” (as opposed to being available to patients only when prescribed by a health care provider). In recent years, however, the FDA has stated it intends
to end its policy of general enforcement discretion and regulate certain LDTs as medical devices. To this end, on October 3, 2014, the FDA issued two draft
guidance documents, entitled “Framework for Regulatory Oversight of Laboratory Developed Tests (LDTs)” and “FDA Notification and Medical Device
Reporting for Laboratory Developed Tests (LDTs),” respectively, that set forth a proposed risk-based regulatory framework that would apply varying levels of
FDA oversight to LDTs. Subsequently, on January 13, 2017, the FDA published a “discussion paper” in which it outlined a substantially revised “possible
approach” to the oversight of LDTs.
 

In August 2020, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the parent agency for FDA, announced that the FDA “will not require premarket
review of LDTs absent notice-and-comment rulemaking, as opposed to through guidance documents, compliance manuals, website statements, or other
informal issuances.” It is unclear at this time whether this policy will be retained the Biden Administration, and if so, when the FDA might seek to begin the
notice and comment rulemaking process.
 

Legislative proposals addressing the FDA’s oversight of LDTs have been introduced in previous Congresses, and we expect that new legislative
proposals may be introduced from time-to-time. The likelihood that Congress will pass such legislation and the extent to which such legislation may affect the
FDA’s plans to regulate certain LDTs as medical devices is difficult to predict at this time.
 

In March 2020, a bill titled the “Verifying Accurate Leading-edge IVCT Development Act of 2020,” or VALID Act, was officially introduced in
Congress. The bill proposes a risk-based approach to regulate LDTs and creates a new in vitro clinical test, or IVCT, category of regulated products, which
includes LDTs, and a regulatory structure under the FDA. As proposed, the bill grandfathers many existing tests from the proposed premarket approval, quality
systems, and labeling requirements, respectively, but would require such tests to comply with other regulatory requirements (e.g., registration and listing,
adverse event reporting). Later that month, Senator Paul introduced the Verified Innovative Testing in American Laboratories Act of 2020, or VITAL Act,
which proposes that all aspects of “laboratory-developed testing procedures” be subject to regulation under CLIA, and that no aspects of such procedures be
subject to regulation by the FDA. We cannot predict if either of these bills will be enacted in their current (or any other) form and cannot quantify the effect of
these bills on our business.
 

If the FDA were to determine that our tests are not within the policy for LDTs for any reason, including new rules, policies, or guidance, or due to new
legislation such as the proposed VALID Act, our tests may become subject to FDA requirements, including pre-market review. If required, the regulatory
marketing authorization process may involve, among other things, successfully completing additional clinical trials and submitting a pre-market clearance
(510(k)) submission or filing a de novo or pre-market approval application with the FDA. If pre-market review and approval is required by the FDA, we may
need to incur additional expenses or require additional time to seek it, or we may be unable to satisfy FDA standards, and our tests may not be cleared or
approved on a timely basis, if at all, and the labeling claims permitted by the FDA may not be consistent with our currently planned claims or adequate to
support adoption of and reimbursement for our tests. Ongoing compliance with FDA regulations would increase the cost of conducting our business, and
subject us to inspection by and the regulatory requirements of the FDA, for example registration and listing, adherence to good manufacturing practices under
the Quality System Regulation, and medical device reporting, and enforcement action in the event we fail to comply with these requirements. Our laboratories
are operating under CLIA and are not currently operating as device manufacturing facilities following FDA’s Quality System Regulation. Because these
standards differ, we may face challenges establishing FDA-compliant quality systems or be unable to do so. If after commercialization under the LDT
framework our tests are allowed to remain on the market but there is uncertainty about the regulatory status of our tests, including questions that may be raised
if competitors object to our regulatory positioning as an LDT, we may encounter ongoing regulatory and legal challenges and related costs. Such challenges or
related developments (for example if the labeling claims the FDA allows us to make are more limited than the claims we currently plan to make) may impact
our commercialization efforts as orders or reimbursement may be less than anticipated. Any of these regulatory developments may cause our business to suffer.
 
We will also need to obtain FDA and other regulatory approvals for any IVDs that we may develop, in order to market those IVD tests.
 

If we decide to develop IVDs, we will need to obtain regulatory clearance or approval to market each new IVD test. This means that:
 
 ● The IVDs that we may develop cannot be sold until the CMS or the FDA, and corresponding foreign regulatory authorities approve or authorize

the laboratory tests or the IVDs for medical use.
   
 ● We will have to conduct expensive and time-consuming clinical trials of new diagnostic tests. The full cost of conducting and completing clinical

trials necessary to obtain FDA clearance or approval of IVD tests or for gaining reimbursement from health insurance companies, health
maintenance organizations, Medicare, and other third-party payers cannot be presently determined but could exceed our financial resources.

   
 ● Data obtained from preclinical and clinical studies is susceptible to varying interpretations that could delay, limit or prevent regulatory agency

clearances or approvals. Delays or denials of the regulatory clearances or approvals may be encountered as a result of changes in regulatory
agency policy, regulations, or laws.

   
 ● A diagnostic test that is cleared or approved for marketing may be subject to restrictions on use.
   
 ● The FDA can withdraw approval of an FDA regulated product if problems arise.
 
Clinical trial failures can occur at any stage of the testing and we may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, the clinical



trial process that could delay or prevent commercialization of our current or future diagnostic tests.
 

Clinical trial failures or delays can occur at any stage of the trials, and may be directly or indirectly caused by a variety of factors, including but not
limited to:
 
 ● Delays in securing clinical investigators or trial sites for our clinical trials;
   
 ● Delays in obtaining Institutional Review Board and other regulatory approvals to commence a clinical trial;
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 ● Slower than anticipated rates of patient recruitment and enrollment, or failing to reach the targeted number of patients due to competition for

patients from other trials;
   
 ● Limited or no availability of coverage, reimbursement and adequate payment from health maintenance organizations and other third-party payers

for the use of our diagnostic test candidates in our clinical trials;
   
 ● Negative or inconclusive results from clinical trials;
   
 ● Approval and introduction of new diagnostic or changes in standards of practice or regulatory guidance that render our clinical trial endpoints or

the targeting of our proposed indications obsolete;
   
 ● Inability to monitor patients adequately during or after treatment or problems with investigator or patient compliance with the trial protocols;
   
 ● Inability to replicate in large controlled studies safety and efficacy data obtained from a limited number of patients in uncontrolled trials; and
   
 ● Inability or unwillingness of medical investigators to follow our clinical protocols.
 
The commercial success of our diagnostic tests depends on the availability and sufficiency of third-party payer coverage and reimbursement, which
may be limited or unavailable.
 

Our ability to successfully commercialize our diagnostic tests will depend, in significant part, on the extent to which appropriate reimbursement levels
can be obtained for patients. Physicians will be hesitant to order a diagnostic test for a patient when they may be left with a large out-of-pocket fee through co-
payments or co-insurance or unreimbursed balances. Third-party payers, including Medicare, Medicaid and private insurers, are increasingly challenging the
prices charged for healthcare products and services. In addition, legislative proposals to reform health care or reduce government insurance programs may
result in lower prices or the actual inability of prospective customers to purchase our tests. Furthermore, even if reimbursement is available, it may not be
available at price levels sufficient for us to realize a positive return on our investment. We have never successfully obtained reimbursement for any test and
may never be able to obtain reimbursement from any third-party payer; without such coverage and reimbursement, we may not achieve market acceptance of
our test and may never be profitable.

 
The United States government and state legislatures have shown significant interest in implementing cost containment programs to limit the growth of

government-paid healthcare costs, including price controls, restrictions on reimbursement and coverage. Adoption of government controls and measures, and
tightening of restrictive policies in jurisdictions with existing controls and measures, could exclude or limit one or more of our diagnostic tests from coverage.
Even if a diagnostic test receives coverage and reimbursement from third-party payers, such coverage policies and reimbursement rates may change at any
time, might not be adequate, or less favorable coverage policies and reimbursement rates may be implemented in the future. If we are unable to obtain and
maintain sufficient third-party coverage and adequate reimbursement for a diagnostic test, its commercial success may be greatly hindered, and our financial
condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

 
We may need to conduct additional studies in order to demonstrate the cost-effectiveness of our diagnostic tests to the satisfaction of our target

customers and their third-party payers. Such studies might require us to commit a significant amount of management time and financial and other resources
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Changes in healthcare laws and policies may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
 

We cannot predict whether future healthcare initiatives will be implemented at the federal or state level, or how any future legislation or regulation
may affect us. For instance, the payment reductions imposed by the Affordable Care Act (“ACA”) and the expansion of the federal and state governments’ role
in the U.S. healthcare industry as well as changes to the reimbursement amounts paid by payers for our tests and future tests and products may reduce our
profits and have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Notably, Congress enacted legislation in
2017 that eliminated the ACA’s “individual mandate” beginning in 2019, which may significantly impact the number of covered lives participating in exchange
plans. The U.S. Supreme Court is currently reviewing the constitutionality of the ACA, although it is unclear when a decision will be made. Further, it is
possible that additional governmental action be taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
 

PAMA significantly altered the payment methodology under the Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule that determines Medicare coverage for laboratory
tests. Under PAMA (as amended by the Further Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2020 and the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act,
respectively) and its implementing regulations, clinical laboratories must report to CMS private payer rates for clinical diagnostic laboratory tests. Laboratories
that fail to timely report the required payment information may be subject to substantial civil money penalties. Medicare payments for clinical diagnostic
laboratory tests are paid based upon these reported private payer rates. For certain clinical diagnostic laboratory tests that are not designated as advanced
diagnostic laboratory tests, initial payment rates will be assigned by the cross-walk or gap-fill methodology. For laboratory tests that are designated as new
advanced diagnostic laboratory tests initial payment rates will be based on the actual list charge for the laboratory test. The payment rates calculated under
PAMA will be held at 2020 levels during 2021, and then, where applicable based upon median private payer rates reported, reduced by up to 15% per test per
year in each of 2022 through 2024, with a second round of private payer rate reporting in 2022 to establish rates for 2023 through 2025.
 
Because of certain Medicare billing policies, we may not receive complete reimbursement for tests provided to Medicare patients.
 

Medicare has coverage policies that can be national or regional in scope. Coverage means that the test or assay is approved as a benefit for Medicare
beneficiaries. If there is no coverage, neither the supplier nor any other party, such as a diagnostic laboratory, may receive reimbursement from Medicare for
the service. Regional policies are directed by Medicare’s regional MACs. Reimbursement for our diagnostic testing may be negatively impacted by California
MAC policies.
 
Long payment cycles of Medicare, Medicaid and other third-party payers, or other payment delays, could hurt our cash flows and increase our need
for working capital.

 
Medicare and Medicaid have complex billing and documentation requirements that we will have to satisfy in order to receive payment. Failure to

comply with these requirements and other laws applicable to billing may result in, among other things, non-payment, refunds, exclusion from government
healthcare programs, and civil or criminal liabilities, any of which may have a material adverse effect on our revenues and earnings. Similarly, the failure of
private health insurers or other private third-party payers to properly process our payment claims in a timely manner could delay our receipt of payment for our
diagnostic tests and services, which may have a material adverse effect on our cash flows.
 
Private health insurance company policies may deny coverage or limit the amount they will reimburse us for the performance of our diagnostic tests.
 

Patients who are not covered by Medicare will generally rely on health insurance provided by private health insurance companies. If we are
considered a “non-contracted provider” by a third-party payer, that payer may not reimburse patients for diagnostic tests performed by us, or doctors within the
payer’s network of covered physicians may not use our services to perform diagnostic tests for their patients. As a result, we may need to enter into contracts
with health insurance companies or other private payers to provide diagnostic tests to their insured patients at specified rates of reimbursement which may be
lower than the rates we might otherwise collect.
 

32



 
 
We will be required to comply with federal and state laws governing the privacy of health information, and any failure to comply with these laws
could result in material criminal and civil penalties.
 

HIPAA sets forth security regulations that establish administrative, physical and technical standards for maintaining the confidentiality, integrity and
availability of Protected Health Information in electronic form. We also may be required to comply with state laws that are more stringent than HIPAA or that
provide individuals with greater rights with respect to the privacy or security of, and access to, their health care records. The Health Information Technology
for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“HITECH”) established certain health information security breach notification obligations that require covered entities
to notify each individual whose “protected health information” is breached.

 
We may incur significant compliance costs related to HIPAA and HITECH privacy regulations and varying state privacy regulations and varying state

privacy and security laws. Given the complexity of HIPAA and HITECH and their overlap with state privacy and security laws, and the fact that these laws are
rapidly evolving and are subject to changing and potentially conflicting interpretation, our ability to comply with the HIPAA, HITECH and state privacy
requirements is uncertain and the costs of compliance are significant. The costs of complying with any changes to the HIPAA, HITECH and state privacy
restrictions may have a negative impact on our operations. Noncompliance could subject us to criminal penalties, civil sanctions and significant monetary
penalties as well as reputational damage.
 
If we are successful in commercializing our diagnostic tests, we will be obligated to comply with numerous additional federal and state statutes and
regulations pertaining to our business and be subject to government oversight and scrutiny for our compliance with such laws. Laboratory and health
care regulatory compliance efforts are expensive and time-consuming, and failure to maintain compliance with applicable laws could result in
enforcement action which could be detrimental to our business.
 

If we are successful in commercializing any of our diagnostic tests, and particularly if payment becomes available from government or commercial
payers for a test, we will be subject to extensive and frequently changing federal and state laws governing various aspects of our business. We will be subject to
ongoing compliance with laws addressing our laboratory licensure and certification at the federal and state level; advertising and promotion (including laws
enforced by the Federal Trade Commission); and laws intended to prevent fraud, waste, and abuse in healthcare programs (including among others the Anti-
Kickback Statute, False Claims Act, the Eliminating Kickbacks in Recovery Act (EKRA), the Stark Law, and applicable state law equivalents).

 
These laws and regulations are complex and are subject to interpretation by the courts and by government agencies. If one or more such agencies

alleges that we may be in violation of any of these requirements, regardless of the outcome, it could damage our reputation and adversely affect important
business relationships with third parties. Any action brought against us for violation of these or other laws or regulations, even if we successfully defend against
it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management’s attention from the operation of our business. If our operations are found to be
in violation of any of these laws and regulations, we may be subject to any applicable penalty associated with the violation, including civil and criminal
penalties, damages and fines, and in some circumstances we could be required to refund payments received by us from payers, or even be excluded from
participation in healthcare programs. Any of the foregoing consequences could seriously harm our business and our financial results.

 
We plan to adopt policies and procedures designed to comply with applicable laws and regulations. Developing a compliance infrastructure is costly

and time-consuming, and even a well-designed and implemented compliance program cannot necessarily prevent all violations of relevant laws. We may be
subject to enforcement action based on the actions or omissions of employees or contractors, including our anticipated sales force.

 
Risks Related to Intellectual Property

 
We rely on patents and trade secrets, and our financial success will depend, in part, on our ability to obtain commercially valuable patent claims,
protect our intellectual property rights and operate without infringing upon the proprietary rights of others.
 

We rely primarily on patents and contractual obligations with employees and third parties to protect our proprietary rights. We have sought, and intend
to continue to seek, appropriate patent protection for important and strategic components of our proprietary technologies by filing patent applications in the
United States and certain foreign countries. We may also use license agreements both to access technologies developed by other companies and universities and
to convey certain intellectual property rights to others. Our financial success will depend, in part, on our ability to obtain commercially valuable patent claims,
protect our intellectual property rights and operate without infringing upon the proprietary rights of others.
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We may not be able to obtain patent protection for our diagnostic test if our pending U.S. patent applications are found to be directed to unpatentable
subject matter.
 

The U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain
circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. For example, recent cases have held that diagnostic methods merely reciting a
correlation between a naturally occurring event and a diagnostic outcome associated with that event is not patentable subject matter. If our pending U.S. patent
applications are found to be directed to unpatentable subject matter by the USPTO, or any patents issuing from our pending patent applications are invalidated
based on these decisions, we may be unable to prevent competitors from using the biomarkers or other subject matter disclosed in the patent applications to
develop similar diagnostic tests that would compete with our tests. Additionally, there have been recent proposals for additional changes to the patent laws of
the United States and other countries that, if adopted, could impact our ability to enforce our proprietary technology. Depending on future actions by the U.S.
Congress, U.S. courts, the USPTO and the relevant law-making bodies in other countries, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in
unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce our existing patents and patents that we might obtain in the future.
 
Changes to the patent laws in the United States and other jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to
protect our diagnostic test.
 

Our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and enforcing patents in the biopharmaceutical industry
involves both technological and legal complexity and is costly, time-consuming and inherently uncertain. Patent reform legislation in the United States and
other countries, including the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, signed into law in September 2011, could increase those uncertainties
and costs. The Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law. These include provisions that affect the way patent applications
are prosecuted, redefine prior art and provide more efficient and cost-effective avenues for competitors to challenge the validity of patents. In addition, the
Leahy-Smith Act has transformed the U.S. patent system into a “first to file” system. The first-to-file provisions, however, only became effective in March
2013. Accordingly, it is not yet clear what, if any, impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operation of our business. However, the Leahy-Smith Act and
its implementation could make it more difficult to obtain patent protection for our inventions and increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the
prosecution of our or our collaboration partners’ patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our or our collaboration partners’ issued patents, all of
which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
 
Other companies or organizations may challenge our patent rights or may assert patent rights that prevent us from developing and commercializing
our diagnostic test.
 

Any patent applications that we file and any patents that we hold or later obtain could be challenged by third parties and declared invalid or infringing
of third-party claims. A patent interference proceeding may be instituted with the USPTO when more than one person files a patent application covering the
same technology, or if someone wishes to challenge the validity of an issued patent filed before March 16, 2013. At the completion of the interference
proceeding, the USPTO will determine which competing applicant is entitled to the patent, or whether an issued patent is valid. Patent interference proceedings
are complex, highly contested legal proceedings, and the USPTO’s decision is subject to appeal. This means that if an interference proceeding arises with
respect to any of our patent applications, we may experience significant expenses and delay in obtaining a patent, and if the outcome of the proceeding is
unfavorable to us, the patent could be issued to a competitor rather than to us. In addition to interference proceedings, the USPTO can reexamine issued patents
at the request of a third party seeking to have the patent invalidated. An inter partes review proceeding allows third parties to challenge the validity of an issued
patent where there is a reasonable likelihood of invalidity. This means that patents owned or licensed by us may be subject to re-examination and may be lost if
the outcome of the re-examination is unfavorable to us.
 

Post Grant Review under the Leahy-Smith Act makes available opposition-like proceedings in the United States. As with the USPTO interference
proceedings, Post Grant Review proceedings will be very expensive to contest and can result in significant delays in obtaining patent protection or can result in
a denial of a patent application. Further, a derivation proceeding may be instituted by the USPTO or an inventor alleging that a patent or application was
derived from the work of another inventor.

 
Oppositions to the issuance of patents may be filed under European patent law and the patent laws of certain other countries. As with the USPTO

interference proceedings, these foreign proceedings can be very expensive to contest and can result in significant delays in obtaining a patent or can result in a
denial of a patent application.
 

The enforcement of patent rights often requires litigation against third party infringers, and such litigation can be costly to pursue. Even if we succeed
in having new patents issued or in defending any challenge to issued patents, our patents may not be comprehensive enough to provide us with meaningful
patent protection against our competitors.
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If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, the value of our technology could be materially adversely affected, and our business
would be harmed.
 

In addition to patents, we rely on trade secrets, know-how, and continuing technological advancement to maintain our competitive position. The
molecular diagnostics that we are developing use gene expression classifiers or algorithms, which are mathematical models that weight the biomarkers to
produce a score. We will treat the mathematical models as trade secrets. We have entered into intellectual property, invention, and non-disclosure agreements
with our employees, and it is our practice to enter into confidentiality agreements with our consultants. These measures, however, may not prevent the
unauthorized disclosure or use of our trade secrets and know-how, or that others may not independently develop similar trade secrets and know-how or obtain
access to our trade secrets, know-how, or proprietary technology.
 
We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or other intellectual property, which could be expensive, time-consuming and
unsuccessful.
 

Competitors may infringe our patents, trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may be
required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming and divert the time and attention of our management and scientific personnel.
Any claims we assert against perceived infringers could provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their patents, in
addition to counterclaims asserting that our patents are invalid or unenforceable, or both. In any patent infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a
patent of ours is invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, and that we do not have the right to stop the other party from using the invention at issue. Even if
the validity of such patents is upheld, the court may construe the patent’s claims narrowly or decide that we do not have the right to stop the other party from
using the invention at issue on the grounds that our patent claims do not cover the invention. An adverse outcome in a litigation or proceeding involving our
patents could limit our ability to assert our patents against those parties or other competitors, and may curtail or preclude our ability to exclude third parties
from making and selling similar or competitive products. Any of these occurrences could adversely affect our competitive business position, business prospects
and financial condition. Similarly, if we assert trademark infringement claims, a court may determine that the marks we have asserted are invalid or
unenforceable, or that the party against whom we have asserted trademark infringement has superior rights to the marks in question, in which case, we could
ultimately be forced to cease use of such trademarks.
 

Even if we establish infringement, the court may decide not to grant an injunction against further infringing activity and instead award only monetary
damages, which may or may not be an adequate remedy. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual
property litigation, some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during litigation. There could also be public announcements of
the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could
have a material adverse effect on the price of shares of our common stock. Moreover, we may not have sufficient financial or other resources to file and pursue
such infringement claims, which typically last for years before they are concluded. Even if we ultimately prevail in such claims, the monetary cost of such
litigation and the diversion of the attention of our management and scientific personnel could outweigh any benefit we receive as a result of the proceedings.
 
We may not be able to enforce our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
 

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents, if issued, on our diagnostic test candidate in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively
expensive. The requirements for patentability may differ in certain countries, particularly in developing countries. Competitors may use our technologies in
jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories
where we may obtain patent protection, but where patent enforcement is not as strong as that in the United States. These products may compete with our
diagnostic test in jurisdictions where we do not have any issued or licensed patents or where any future patent claims or other intellectual property rights may
not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing with us.

 
Moreover, our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights may be adversely affected by unforeseen changes in foreign intellectual

property laws. Additionally, laws of some countries outside of the United States and Europe do not afford intellectual property protection to the same extent as
the laws of the United States and Europe. Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in
certain foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of some countries, including India, China and certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of
patents and other intellectual property rights. This could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or the misappropriation of our other
intellectual property rights. For example, many foreign countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant licenses to third
parties. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in certain countries outside the United States and Europe.
Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export
otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, if our ability to enforce our patents to stop infringing activities is inadequate.
These products may compete with our diagnostic test, and our patents, if issued, or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to
prevent them from competing.
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Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions, whether or not successful, could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and
resources from other aspects of our business. Furthermore, while we intend to protect our intellectual property rights in major markets for our diagnostic test,
we cannot ensure that we will be able to initiate or maintain similar efforts in all jurisdictions in which we may wish to market our diagnostic test. Accordingly,
our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights in such countries may be inadequate.
 
If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties, such litigation could be costly and time consuming and could prevent or delay
us from developing or commercializing our diagnostic test.
 

There is a substantial amount of intellectual property litigation in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, and we may become party to, or
threatened with, litigation or other adversarial proceedings regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our current or future diagnostic test, including
interference proceedings before the USPTO, misappropriation claims, or other allegations. The outcome of intellectual property litigation is subject to
uncertainties that cannot be adequately quantified in advance. For example, the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries have produced a significant
number of patents, and it may not always be clear to industry participants, including us, which patents cover various types of products or methods of use. The
coverage of patents is subject to interpretation by the courts, and the interpretation is not always uniform. If we were sued for patent infringement, we would
need to demonstrate that our diagnostic test or methods either do not infringe the patent claims of the relevant patent or that the patent claims are invalid or
unenforceable, and we may not be able to do this. Proving invalidity is difficult. For example, in the United States, proving invalidity requires a showing of
clear and convincing evidence to overcome the presumption of validity enjoyed by issued patents.

 
In addition, several of our employees have executed proprietary rights, non-disclosure and non-competition agreements, or similar agreements with

their previous employers, who may allege these employees have used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information.
Even if we are successful in these proceedings, we may incur substantial costs, and the time and attention of our management and scientific personnel could be
diverted in pursuing these proceedings, which could significantly harm our business and operating results. We may also not have sufficient resources to bring
these actions to a successful conclusion.

 
If we are found to infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights, we may have to pay monetary damages, lose valuable intellectual property rights

or personnel, or be forced to cease developing, manufacturing or commercializing the infringing diagnostic test. Alternatively, we may be required to obtain a
license from such third party in order to use the infringing technology and continue developing, manufacturing or marketing the infringing diagnostic test.
However, we may not be able to obtain any required license on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could be
non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us. In addition, we could be found liable for monetary damages,
including treble damages and attorneys’ fees if we are found to have willfully infringed a patent. A finding of infringement could prevent us from
commercializing our diagnostic test or force us to cease some of our business operations, which could materially harm our business. Claims that we have
misappropriated the confidential information or trade secrets of third parties could have a similar negative impact on our business.
 
Patent terms may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our diagnostic test for an adequate amount of time.
 

Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new diagnostic tests, patents protecting such candidates
might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. We expect to seek extensions of patent terms in the United States and, if available, in
other countries where we are prosecuting patents. In the United States, the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 permits a patent
term extension of up to five years beyond the normal expiration of the patent, which is limited to the approved indication or any additional indications
approved during the period of extension. However, the applicable authorities, including the FDA and the USPTO in the United States, and any equivalent
regulatory authorities in other countries, may not agree with our assessment of whether such extensions are available, and may refuse to grant extensions to our
patents, or may grant more limited extensions than we request. If this occurs, our competitors may be able to take advantage of our investment in development
and clinical trials by referencing our clinical and preclinical data and launch their product earlier than might otherwise be the case.
 

Risks Related to the Covid-19 Pandemic
 
The ongoing COVID-19 global pandemic and the worldwide attempts to contain it could harm our business and our results of operations and
financial condition could be adversely impacted by such pandemic.

 
The ongoing global outbreak of the coronavirus COVID-19, and the various attempts throughout the world to contain it, have created significant

volatility, uncertainty and disruption. The COVID-19 pandemic has had, and may continue to have, significant effects on our operations, ability to generate
revenues, and financing activities. In response to government directives and guidelines, health care advisories and employee and other concerns, we have
altered certain aspects of our operations. A number of our employees have had to work remotely from home and those on site have had to follow our social
distance guidelines, which could impact their productivity. COVID-19 could also disrupt our operations due to absenteeism by infected or ill members of
management or other employees, or absenteeism by members of management and other employees who cannot effectively work remotely but who elect not to
come to work due to the illness affecting others in our office or laboratory facilities, or due to quarantines. COVID-19 illness could also impact members of our
Board of Directors resulting in absenteeism from meetings of the directors or committees of directors, and making it more difficult to convene the quorums of
the full Board of Directors or its committees needed to conduct meetings for the management of our affairs.
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The pandemic is affecting our revenue-generating activities. During the COVID-19 pandemic, we have not been able, and may continue to not be
able, to maintain our preferred level of physician or customer outreach and marketing of our diagnostic testing and Pharma Services, which may have
negatively impacted, and may continue to negatively impact, our potential new customers’ interest in our tests and services. Because of COVID-19, travel,
visits, and in-person meetings related to our business have been severely curtailed or canceled and we have instead used on-line or virtual meetings to meet
with potential customers and others.

 
The concern over available hospital, staffing, equipment, and other resources, and the risk of exposure to the virus, has led to early stage lung cancer

surgeries being delayed, and the continued deferral of lung cancer surgeries could result in delayed or reduced use of DetermaRx™ in the near term. Even if
COVID-19 related restrictions are relaxed and lung cancer surgeries are performed at or close to pre-pandemic levels, any growth and anticipated adoption of
our diagnostic tests may not occur due to reasons other than COVID-19.

 
The consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic have led to uncertainties related to our growth and our ability to forecast the demand for our diagnostic

testing and Pharma Services and resulting revenues, as we have not had time to establish a base of customers, revenues or other relevant trends. We have had
no commercial revenues until the first quarter of 2020 when we launched of our first commercial diagnostic test, DetermaRx, and acquired the Pharma Services
business of Insight. We had expected that initial DetermaRx™ revenues would be constrained by the lack of Medicare coverage. Medicare reimbursement
pricing approval for DetermaRx™ did not become effective until September 2020. Deferrals in lung cancer surgeries due to COVID-19 may have reduced
demand for DetermaRx™, but because of the lack of historical DetermaRx™ revenues, with or without Medicare reimbursement, we are unable to determine
the extent to which the deferral of those surgeries impacted our DetermaRx™ revenues. Resurgences in COVID-19 cases could cause additional deferrals of
lung cancer surgeries during the course of the pandemic. The lack of in-person interaction with healthcare providers for our promotion of the use of
DetermaRx™ has also placed a constraint on our ability to market that test, but we cannot determine the extent to which that has impacted our revenues due to
the absence of historical revenues. Similarly, our Pharma Services revenues commenced with our acquisition of Insight during the first quarter of 2020 and
because we do not have a prior history of Pharma Services revenues we cannot assess how COVID-19 may have impacted those revenues, although we are
aware that certain planned clinical trials of new pharmaceuticals for which we had expected to provide Pharma Services were delayed due to the pandemic.

 
Although we have not yet experienced COVID-19 related supply chain disruptions impacting our testing capacity, if the vendors of equipment and

reagents used in our diagnostic laboratories experience supply, operational, or financial disruptions due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we could experience
supply constraints in the future that could cause increased costs or delays in performing DetermaRx™ tests and Pharma Services and in continuing the
development of new diagnostic tests, including DetermaIO™.

 
Additionally, the anticipated economic consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic may adversely impact financial markets, resulting in high share

price volatility, reduced market liquidity, and substantial declines in the market prices of the securities of some publicly traded companies. Volatile or declining
markets for equities could adversely affect our ability to raise capital when needed through the sale of shares of common stock or other securities. Accordingly,
we cannot assure that adequate financing will be available on favorable terms, if at all. If we are not able to raise the capital we need, we could be forced to
modify, curtail, delay, or suspend some or all aspects of planned operations. Sales of additional equity securities could result in significant dilution of the
interests of our shareholders.

 
It is possible that impacts of COVID-19 on our operations or revenues or our access to capital could prevent us from complying, or could result in a

material noncompliance, with one or more obligations or covenants under material agreements to which we are a party, with the result that we would be in
material breach of the applicable obligation, covenant, or agreement. Any such material breach could cause us to incur material financial liabilities or an
acceleration of the date for paying a financial obligation to the other party to the applicable agreement, or could cause us to lose material contractual rights,
such as rights to use leased equipment or laboratory or office space, or rights to use licensed patents or other intellectual property the use of which is material to
our business. Similarly, it is possible that impacts of COVID-19 on the business, operations, or financial condition of any third party with whom we have a
contractual relationship could cause the third party to be unable to perform its contractual obligations to us, resulting in Oncocyte’s loss of the benefits of a
contract that could be material to our business.
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The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic and the various responses might impact our business, operations and financial results will depend
on numerous evolving factors that we will not be able to accurately predict, including: the duration and scope of the pandemic; governmental, business and
individuals’ actions that have been and continue to be taken in response to the pandemic; the availability and cost to access COVID-19 tests, vaccines and
therapies; the effect on our potential customers and their demand for our diagnostic testing and Pharma Services; and the effect on our suppliers and their
ability to provide the necessary equipment and materials to support our tests and services. In addition to the direct impacts to our business operations, the
global economy is likely to continue to be significantly weakened as a result of actions taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and to the extent that
such a weakened global economy impacts customers’ ability or willingness to purchase and pay for our tests, our business and results of operation could be
negatively impacted. Due to the uncertain scope and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and uncertain timing of any recovery or normalization, we are
currently unable to estimate the resulting impacts on our operations and financial results. We will continue to actively monitor the issues raised by the COVID-
19 pandemic and may take further actions that alter our operations, as may be required by federal, state, local or foreign authorities, or that we determine are in
the best interests of our employees, any customers and stockholders. It is not clear what the potential effects any such alterations or modifications may have on
our business, including the effects on our financial results.
 

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
 

Ownership of our common stock will entail certain risks associated with the limited history of the trading of our common stock, volatility of prices for
our shares, and the fact that we do not pay dividends.
 
The price of our stock may rise and fall rapidly.
 

The market price of our common stock, like that of the shares of many biotechnology companies, may be highly volatile. The price of our common
stock may rise or fall rapidly as a result of a number of factors, including:
 
 ● Sales or potential sales of substantial amounts of our common stock;
   
 ● Results of or delays in preclinical testing or clinical trials of our diagnostic test candidates;
   
 ● Announcements about us or about our competitors, including clinical trial results, regulatory approvals, new diagnostic test introductions and

commercial results;
   
 ● The cost of our development programs;
   
 ● The success of competitive diagnostic tests or technologies;
   
 ● Litigation and other developments relating to our issued patents or patent applications or other proprietary rights or those of our competitors;
   
 ● Conditions in the diagnostic, pharmaceutical or biotechnology industries;
   
 ● Actual or anticipated changes in estimates as to financial results, development timelines or recommendations by securities analysts;
   
 ● Variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us, including the failure of our earnings to meet

analysts’ expectations;
   
 ● General economic, industry and market conditions; and
   
 ● Changes in payer coverage and or reimbursement.
 

Many of these factors are beyond our control. The stock markets in general, and the market for pharmaceutical and biotechnological companies in
particular, have been experiencing extreme price and volume fluctuations which have affected the market price of the equity securities without regard to the
operating performance of the issuing companies. Broad market fluctuations, as well as industry factors and general economic and political conditions, may
adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
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A FASB accounting standard could increase the risk that our future financial statements could be qualified by going concern uncertainty.
 

Under FASB accounting standard ASU No. 2014-15, “Presentation of Financial Statements-Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of
Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern.” in connection with preparing financial statements for each annual and interim
reporting period our management must evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the
Oncocyte’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued (or within one year after the date that the
financial statements are available to be issued when applicable). As a result of the implementation of ASU No. 2014-15, we will be required to have more cash,
cash equivalents, and liquid investments on hand on the date we issue or file our financial statements than had been the case during prior years in order to avoid
going a concern qualification in our auditor’s report and in the footnotes to our financial statements. If our financial statements were to become subject to a
going concern qualification or uncertainty or if we are unable to alleviate substantial doubt as part of our going concern assessment, or both, the market price of
our common stock could decline.
 
Because we do not pay dividends, our stock may not be a suitable investment for anyone who needs to earn dividend income.
 

We do not pay cash dividends on our common stock. For the foreseeable future we anticipate that any earnings generated in our business will be used
to finance the growth of our business and will not be paid out as dividends to our shareholders. Under a Loan and Security Agreement with Silicon Valley
Bank, we have agreed not to pay dividends or to make any distributions or to redeem or repurchase any capital stock without Silicon Valley Bank’s prior
written consent while the Loan and Security Agreement remains in effect. This means that our stock may not be a suitable investment for anyone who needs to
earn income from their investments.
 
Securities analysts may not initiate coverage or continue to cover our common stock, and this may have a negative impact on the market price of our
shares.
 

The market for our common stock will depend, in part, on the research and reports that securities analysts publish about our business and our common
stock. We do not have any control over these analysts. Certain securities analysts cover our shares and they could issue reports or recommendations that are
unfavorable to the price of our shares, and they could downgrade a previously favorable report or recommendation, and in either case our share price could
decline as a result of the report. If one or more of these analysts ceases to cover our shares or fails to publish regular reports on our business, we could lose
visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
 
You may experience dilution of your ownership interests if we issue additional shares of common stock or preferred stock.
 

In the future, we may issue our authorized but previously unissued equity securities, resulting in the dilution of the ownership interests of our present
shareholders. We are currently authorized to issue an aggregate of 155,000,000 shares of capital stock consisting of 150,000,000 shares of common stock and
5,000,000 “blank check” shares of preferred stock. At December 31, 2020, there were 69,116,802 shares of common stock outstanding, 3,383,913 shares of
common stock reserved for exercise of warrants and 8,428,821 shares of common stock reserved for issuance upon the exercise of options under our employee
stock option plans. No shares of preferred stock are presently outstanding.

 
We may issue additional common stock or other securities that are convertible into or exercisable for common stock in order to raise additional

capital, or in connection with hiring or retaining employees, directors, or consultants, or in connection with future acquisitions of licenses to technology or
diagnostic tests in connection with future business acquisitions, or for other business purposes. The future issuance of any such additional common stock or
other securities may create downward pressure on the trading price of our common stock.
 

We may also issue preferred stock having rights, preferences, and privileges senior to the rights of our common stock with respect to dividends, rights
to share in distributions of our assets if we liquidate our company, or voting rights. Any preferred stock may also be convertible into common stock on terms
that would be dilutive to holders of common stock.
 
Our former parent company, may sell its Oncocyte shares to raise capital to finance its operations.
 

Prior to February 17, 2017, Oncocyte was a consolidated subsidiary of its former parent company Lineage Cell Therapeutics, Inc., formerly known as
BioTime, Inc. (“Lineage”). Based on its most recent report of beneficial ownership on Schedule 13D, as of January 8, 2021 Lineage held 3,297,401 shares of
Oncocyte common stock. Lineage has been periodically selling shares of Oncocyte common stock from its holdings and has announced its intention to
continue to sell Oncocyte shares. The sale of such shares could have a depressing effect on the market value of Oncocyte common stock and the prices at which
we can sell our own shares of common stock to raise capital to support our operations.
 

39



 
 
We are an “emerging growth company,” and may elect to comply with reduced public company reporting requirements applicable to emerging
growth companies, which could make our common stock less attractive to investors.
 

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we may to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting
requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including reduced disclosure obligations regarding
executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on
executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We cannot predict if investors will find our
common stock less attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less
active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile. We may take advantage of these reporting exemptions until we are no
longer an “emerging growth company.” We will remain an “emerging growth company” until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have
total annual gross revenues of $1.07 billion or more; (ii) the fifth anniversary of the completion of the first sale of our common equity securities pursuant to an
effective registration statement under the Securities Act; (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in nonconvertible debt during the
previous three years; or (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer under the rules of the SEC.
 
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
 

Not applicable.
 
Item 2. Properties
 

Our principal executive and administrative offices are located in an office and laboratory facility of leased space in Irvine, California. The Irvine lease
expires in September 2027. At this Irvine, California location, we are expanding the capacity of our CLIA laboratories as our planned primary clinical
laboratory facility to perform a larger volume of cancer diagnostic tests to be performed, which is still under construction and is expected to be completed in
2021.

 
We also operate CLIA-certified laboratories in Brisbane, California and Nashville, Tennessee. Our subleased Brisbane CLIA laboratory space sublease

will expire on March 31, 2023, and the lease of the Nashville, Tennessee CLIA laboratory space will expire in April 2024.
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
 

From time to time, we may be involved in routine litigation incidental to the conduct of our business. We are not presently involved in any material
litigation or proceedings.
 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
 

Not applicable
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PART II
 
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 
Market Information

 
Beginning on March 8, 2021, our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “OCX”, and prior to that date our

common stock was traded on the NYSE American under the same symbol. As of March 8, 2021, there were 88,914,144 shares of our common stock
outstanding.

 
Holders
 

As of March 9, 2021, we had approximately 262 holders of record of our common stock. This number does not include shareholders whose shares of
Oncocyte common stock are held in “street name” in accounts with securities broker-dealers or other financial institutions or fiduciaries.

 
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
 

The following table shows certain information concerning the options outstanding and available for issuance under all of our compensation plans and
agreements as of December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except weighted average exercise price):

 

Plan Category  

Number of Shares to be
Issued upon Exercise of
Outstanding Options,

Warrants and Rights (1)   

Weighted Average
Exercise Price of the
Outstanding Options,

Warrants and Rights (1)   

Number of Shares Remaining
Available for Future Issuance
under Equity Compensation

Plans (2)  
Oncocyte Stock Option Plans Approved by
Shareholders   8,630  $ 2.75   3,346 
 
(1) Includes both our 2010 Employee Stock Option Plan and our 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.
(2) All shares remaining available for future issuance are under our 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.
 

Additional information concerning our 2010 Employee Stock Option Plan and our 2018 Equity Incentive Plan and stock options may be found in Note
11 to the consolidated financial statements found elsewhere in this Report.
 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

 
None.
 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data
 

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Accordingly,
we are not required to provide the information required by this item in this Report.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is intended to provide information necessary
to understand our audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and highlight certain other information which,
in the opinion of management, will enhance a reader’s understanding of our financial condition, changes in financial condition and results of operations. These
historical consolidated financial statements may not be indicative of our future performance. This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations contains a number of forward-looking statements, all of which are based on our current expectations and could be
affected by the uncertainties and risks described throughout this filing, particularly in “Risk Factors.”
 
Emerging Growth Company Status
 

The Jumpstart our Business Startups Act of 2012 (“JOBS Act”) permits an “emerging growth company” such as Oncocyte to take advantage of an
extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies. However, we elected to comply with newly
adopted or revised accounting standards when they become applicable to public companies because our financial statements were consolidated with those of
Lineage, which is not an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act and is therefore not permitted to delay the adoption of new or revised accounting
standards that become applicable to public companies. This election under the JOBS Act to not delay the adoption of new or revised accounting standards is
irrevocable.
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
 

We are a molecular diagnostics company focused on developing and commercializing proprietary laboratory-developed tests or LDTs to serve unmet
medical needs across the cancer care continuum. We have prioritized lung cancer as our first indication. Lung cancer remains the leading cause of cancer death
in the United States, despite the availability of molecular testing and novel therapies to treat patients.
 

Our first commercial diagnostic test is a proprietary treatment stratification test called DetermaRx™ that identifies which patients with early stage
non-small cell lung cancer may benefit from chemotherapy, resulting in a significantly higher, five-year survival rate. We are also developing multi-gene
molecular, laboratory-developed diagnostic tests that we have branded as DetermaIO™. DetermaIO™ is a proprietary gene expression assay with promising
data supporting its potential to help identify patients likely to respond to checkpoint inhibitor drugs. This new class of drugs modulate the immune response
and show activity in multiple solid tumor types including non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), and triple negative breast cancer (TNBC). DetermaIO™ is
presently available for research use through our Pharma Services operations but one of our goals is to complete development of that assay and to make it
available for clinical use later this year. We also perform other assay development and clinical testing services for pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies
through our Pharma Services operations.

 
Other tests in our development pipeline include DetermaTx™, a test that we are targeting for commercial launch later this year and that is intended to

compliment DetermaIO™ by assessing the mutational status of a tumor to help identify the appropriate targeted therapy. We also plan to initiate the
development of DetermaMx™ as a blood based test to monitor cancer patients for recurrence of their disease. We plan to add to our diagnostic test pipeline the
DetermaCNI™, a patented, blood-based test from Chronix for immunotherapy monitoring, if we complete the merger with Chronix.

 
The inherent uncertainties of developing and commercializing new diagnostic tests for medical use make it impossible to predict the amount of time

and expense that will be required to complete the development and commercialization of those tests. There is no assurance that we will be successful in
developing new technology or diagnostic tests, or that any technology or diagnostic tests that we may develop will be proven safe and effective in diagnosis of
cancer in humans, or will be successfully commercialized.
 

We believe we have sufficient cash, cash equivalents, and marketable equity securities to carry out our current operations through at least twelve
months from the issuance date of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Report. We expect that our operating expenses will continue
to increase as we conduct our planned clinical trial of DetermaRx, and if we successfully complete the development of DetermaIO™, DetermaTx™ and
DetermaMx™ and commercialize those tests. We have hired a sales and marketing team, we are expanding the capacity of our CLIA laboratories to perform a
larger volume of cancer related tests by constructing a new primary clinical laboratory facility in Irvine, California, which is expected to be completed in 2021.
We also plan to acquire a laboratory in Germany through our planned merger with Chronix and we will incur additional expenses resulting from the integration
of Chronix operations with our existing operations, including costs related to adding the European laboratory and an increase in headcount. We are continuing
to seek other opportunities to acquire ownership of or marketing rights to additional cancer tests. Because of the expected time frame to apply for and receive
Medicare reimbursement approval for our tests, our pre-Medicare approval revenues from commercialization of our tests and revenues from services we
perform for pharmaceutical companies are not expected to cover our operating expenses. We will need to obtain additional financing for our operations until
such time as we generate sufficient revenues from the commercialization of our tests to cover our operating expenses. Our determination as to when we will
seek new financing and the amount of financing that we will need will be based on our evaluation of the progress we make in our research and development
programs, any changes to or the expansion of the scope and focus of our research, progress and results of commercializing our tests after completion of
development, progress in receiving Medicare and other payor reimbursement approval, and our projection of future costs. See “Liquidity and Capital
Resources” for a discussion of our available capital resources, our need for future financing, and possible sources of capital.
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Critical Accounting Policies
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”), requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in our consolidated financial statements and related notes. Our significant
accounting policies are described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Report. We have identified below our critical
accounting policies and estimates that we believe require the greatest amount of judgment. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate estimates which are subject to
significant judgment, including those related to the going concern assessments of our consolidated financial statements, allocation of direct and indirect
expenses, useful lives associated with long-lived intangible assets, machinery and equipment, loss contingencies, valuation allowances related to deferred
income taxes, and assumptions used to value stock-based awards, debt or other equity instruments. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates compared to historical experience and trends, which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
value of assets and liabilities. To the extent that there are material differences between our estimates and our actual results, our future financial statement
presentation, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected.
 

We believe the assumptions and estimates associated with the following have the greatest potential impact on our consolidated financial statements.
 
Going concern assessment
 

With the implementation of FASB’s standard on going concern, ASU No. 2014-15, we assess going concern uncertainty in our consolidated financial
statements to determine if we have sufficient cash and cash equivalents on hand and working capital, including available loans or lines of credit, if any, to
operate for a period of at least one year from the date our consolidated financial statements are issued, which is referred to as the “look-forward period” as
defined by ASU No. 2014-15. As part of this assessment, based on conditions that are known and reasonably knowable to us, we consider various scenarios,
forecasts, projections, and estimates, and we make certain key assumptions, including the timing and nature of projected cash expenditures or programs, and
our ability to delay or curtail those expenditures or programs, if necessary, among other factors. Based on this assessment, as necessary or applicable, we make
certain assumptions around implementing curtailments or delays in the nature and timing of programs and expenditures to the extent we deem probable those
implementations can be achieved and we have the proper authority to execute them within the look-forward period in accordance with ASU No. 2014-15.
 
Business combinations

 
We account for business combinations, such as the Insight Merger, in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805, Business

Combinations, which requires the purchase price to be measured at fair value. When the purchase consideration consists, in part or entirely of our common
shares, we calculate the purchase price by determining the fair value, as of the acquisition date, of shares issued in connection with the closing of the
acquisition. We recognize estimated fair values of the tangible assets and intangible assets acquired, including in-process research and development
(“IPR&D”), and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date, and we record as goodwill any amount of the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in excess of the purchase price.

 
Contingent consideration liabilities
 

ASC 805 requires that contingent consideration be estimated and recorded at fair value as of the acquisition date as part of the total consideration
transferred. Contingent consideration is an obligation of the acquirer to transfer additional assets or equity interests to the selling shareholders in the future if
certain future events occur or conditions are met, such as the attainment of product development milestones. Contingent consideration also includes additional
future payments to selling shareholders based on achievement of components of earnings, such as “earn-out” provisions or percentage of future revenues,
including royalties paid to the selling shareholders based on a percentage of revenues generated from DetermaIO™ and Insight Pharma Services over their
respective useful life.

 
The fair value of milestone-based contingent consideration was determined using a scenario analysis valuation method which incorporates our

assumptions with respect to the likelihood of achievement of the Insight milestones, as defined in the Merger Agreement, credit risk, timing of the contingent
consideration payments and a risk-adjusted discount rate to estimate the present value of the expected payments, all of which require significant management
judgment and assumptions. Since the contingent consideration payments are based on nonfinancial, binary events, management believes the use of the scenario
analysis method is appropriate.
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The fair value of royalty- or revenue share-based contingent consideration was determined using a single scenario analysis method to value those
payments. The single scenario method incorporates our assumptions with respect to specified future revenues generated from DetermaIO™ and current Insight
Pharma Services over their respective useful lives, credit risk, and a risk-adjusted discount rate to estimate the present value of the expected royalty payments,
all of which require significant management judgment and assumptions. Since the royalty-based contingent consideration payments are based on future
revenues and linear payouts, management believes the use of the single scenario method is appropriate.
 

The fair value of all contingent consideration after the Merger Date is reassessed by us as changes in circumstances and conditions occur, with the
subsequent change in fair value recorded in our consolidated statements of operations. Changes in key assumptions can materially affect the estimated fair
value of contingent consideration liabilities and, accordingly, the resulting gain or loss that we record in our consolidated financial statements. See Note 5 to
our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Report.
 
Goodwill and intangible assets
 

In accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other, in-process research and development projects acquired in a business combination that
are not complete as of the acquisition date are capitalized and accounted for as indefinite-lived intangible assets until completion or abandonment of the related
research and development efforts. Upon successful completion of the project, the capitalized amount is amortized over its estimated useful life. If a project is
abandoned, all remaining capitalized amounts are written off immediately. We consider various factors and risks for potential impairment of IPR&D assets,
including the current legal and regulatory environment, uncertainties posed by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and the competitive landscape. Adverse
clinical trial results, significant delays or inability to obtain local determination coverage (“LCD”) from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
(“CMS”) for Medicare reimbursement for a diagnostic test, the inability to bring a diagnostic test to market and the introduction or advancement of
competitors’ diagnostic tests could result in partial or full impairment of the related intangible assets. Consequently, the eventual realized value of the IPR&D
project may vary from its fair value at the date of acquisition, and IPR&D impairment charges may occur in future periods. During the period between
completion or abandonment, the IPR&D assets will not be amortized but will be tested for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests if we
become aware of any events occurring or changes in circumstances that would indicate a reduction in the fair value of the IPR&D projects below their
respective carrying amounts.
 

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net identifiable assets and liabilities. Goodwill, similar to IPR&D, is not
amortized but is tested for impairment at least annually, or if circumstances indicate its value may no longer be recoverable. Qualitative factors considered in
this assessment include industry and market conditions, overall financial performance, and other relevant events and factors affecting our business. Based on
the qualitative assessment, if it is determined that the fair value of goodwill is more likely than not to be less than its carrying amount, the fair value of a
reporting unit will be calculated and compared with its carrying amount and an impairment charge will be recognized for the amount that the carrying value
exceeds the fair value. We continue to operate in one segment and considered to be the sole reporting unit and, therefore, goodwill is tested for impairment at
the enterprise level.

 
Accounting for warrants
 

We determine the accounting classification of warrants we issue, as either liability or equity classified, by first assessing whether the warrants meet
liability classification in accordance with ASC 480-10, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity, then
in accordance with ASC 815-40, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock. Under ASC
480, warrants are considered liability classified if the warrants are mandatorily redeemable, obligate us to settle the warrants or the underlying shares by paying
cash or other assets, and warrants that must or may require settlement by issuing variable number of shares. If warrants do not meet the liability classification
under ASC 480-10, we assess the requirements under ASC 815-40, which states that contracts that require or may require the issuer to settle the contract for
cash are liabilities recorded at fair value, irrespective of the likelihood of the transaction occurring that triggers the net cash settlement feature. If the warrants
do not require liability classification under ASC 815-40, in order to conclude equity classification, we also assess whether the warrants are indexed to our
common stock and whether the warrants are classified as equity under ASC 815-40 or other GAAP. After all such assessments, we conclude whether the
warrants are classified as liability or equity. Liability classified warrants require fair value accounting at issuance and subsequent to initial issuance with all
changes in fair value after the issuance date recorded in the statements of operations. Equity classified warrants only require fair value accounting at issuance
with no changes recognized subsequent to the issuance date. We do not have any liability classified warrants as of any period presented. See Note 10 to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Report.
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Stock-based compensation
 

We recognize compensation expense related to share-based payments in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation (“ASC
718”), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for share-based payment awards made to directors and employees based on
estimated fair values. We estimate the fair value of employee stock-based payment awards on the grant-date and recognize the resulting fair value over the
requisite service period on a straight-line basis. For stock-based awards that vest only upon the attainment of one or more performance goals, compensation
cost is recognized if and when we determine that it is probable that the performance condition or conditions will be, or have been, achieved. We utilize the
Black-Scholes option pricing model for determining the fair value of stock options. Our determination of fair value of share-based payment awards on the date
of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. These
variables include, but are not limited to, expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, and actual and projected employee stock option exercise
behaviors. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we estimated the expected volatility using our own stock price volatility to the extent applicable
or a combination of our stock price volatility and the stock price volatility of stock of peer companies, for a period equal to the expected term of the options.
The expected term of options granted is based on our own experience and, in part, based upon the “simplified method” provided under Staff Accounting
Bulletin, Topic 14, or SAB Topic 14, as necessary. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury rates in effect during the corresponding period of grant.
Although the fair value of employee stock options is determined in accordance with FASB guidance, the key inputs and assumptions may change as we
develop our own company estimates, experience and key inputs including our expected term, and stock price volatility based on the trading history of our stock
in the public market. Changes in these subjective assumptions can materially affect the estimated value of equity grants and the stock-based compensation that
we record in our consolidated financial statements.

 
Leases

 
We account for leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases. We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Leases are classified as either

financing or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the consolidated statements of operations. Under the available
practical expedients for the adoption of ASC 842, we account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. We recognize right-of-use
(“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities for leases with terms greater than twelve months in the consolidated balance sheet. ROU assets represent the right to use an
underlying asset during the lease term and lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets
and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As most leases do not provide an
implicit rate, we use an incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease
payments. We use the implicit rate when it is readily determinable. The operating lease ROU asset also includes any lease payments made and excludes lease
incentives. Lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. Lease expense for
lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating leases are included as right-of-use assets in machinery and equipment, and
ROU lease liabilities, current and long-term, in the consolidated balance sheets. Financing leases are included in machinery and equipment, and in financing
lease liabilities, current and long-term, in the consolidated balance sheets. We disclose the amortization of our ROU assets and operating lease payments as a
net amount, “Amortization of right-of-use assets and liabilities”, on the consolidated statements of cash flows.

 
On January 1, 2019, the adoption date of ASC 842, and based on the available practical expedients under the standard, we did not reassess any expired

or existing contracts, reassess the lease classification for any expired or existing leases and reassess initial direct costs for exiting leases. We also elected not to
capitalize leases that have terms of twelve months or less.

 
The adoption of ASC 842 did not have a material impact to our consolidated financial statements because we did not have any significant operating

leases at the time of adoption. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we entered into various operating leases and an embedded operating lease
in accordance with ASC 842 discussed in Notes 4 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Report. Our accounting for
financing leases (previously referred to as “capital leases”) remained substantially unchanged.
 
Impairment of long-lived assets
 

We assess the impairment of long-lived assets, which consists primarily of long-lived intangible assets, machinery and equipment, whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that such assets might be impaired and the carrying value may not be recoverable. If events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable and the expected undiscounted future cash flows attributable to the asset are less than the
carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value is recorded.

 
Income taxes
 

We account for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, which prescribes the use of the asset and liability method, whereby deferred
tax asset or liability account balances are calculated at the balance sheet date using current tax laws and rates in effect. Valuation allowances are established
when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Our judgments
regarding future taxable income may change over time due to changes in market conditions, changes in tax laws, tax planning strategies or other factors. If our
assumptions and consequently our estimates change in the future, the valuation allowance may be increased or decreased, which may have a material impact on
our statements of operations.
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The guidance also prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax
positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more-likely-than-not sustainable upon
examination by taxing authorities. We will recognize accrued interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. No
amounts were accrued for the payment of interest and penalties as of the financial statement periods presented herein. We account for uncertain tax positions by
assessing all material positions taken in any assessment or challenge by relevant taxing authorities. We are currently unaware of any tax issues under review.
See Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Report.
 
Revenue recognition
 

Prior to January 1, 2020, we generated no revenues. Effective on January 1, 2020, we adopted the revenue recognition standard ASC Topic 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC) 606. Pursuant to ASC 606, revenues are recognized when control of services performed is transferred to
customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those services. ASC 606 provides for a five-step model that
includes, (i) identifying the contract with a customer, (ii) identifying the performance obligations in the contract, (iii) determining the transaction price, (iv)
allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations, and (v) recognizing revenue when, or as, an entity satisfies a performance obligation.
 

DetermaRx™ testing revenue
 

In the first quarter of 2020, we commercially launched DetermaRx™ and commenced performing tests on clinical samples through orders received
from physicians, hospitals and other healthcare providers. In determining whether all of the revenue recognition criteria (i) through (v) above are met with
respect to DetermaRx™ tests, each test result is considered a single performance obligation and is generally considered complete when the test result is
delivered or made available to the prescribing physician electronically and, as such, there are no shipping or handling fees incurred by us or billed to customers.
Although we bill a list price for all tests ordered and completed for all payer types, we recognize realized revenue on a cash basis rather than accrual basis
when we cannot conclude that all the revenue recognition criteria have been met. Because this is a novel test and there are no current reimbursement
arrangements with third-party payers other than Medicare, the transaction price represents variable consideration. Application of the constraint for variable
consideration is an area that requires significant judgment. For all payers other than Medicare, we must take into account the uncertainty of receiving payment,
or being subject to claims for refund, from payers with whom we do not have a sufficient payment collection history or contractual reimbursement agreements.
Accordingly, for those payers, we expect to continue to recognize revenue on a cash basis until we have a sufficient history to reliably estimate payment
patterns or have contractual reimbursement arrangements, or both, in place. In September 2020, we received a final pricing decision for DetermaRx™ from
CMS and with Medicare coverage in effect, we commenced recognizing revenue when DetermaRx™ tests are performed for Medicare patients, or when
payment was approved by Medicare in the case of certain tests performed prior to September 2020, rather than on a cash basis.

 
Pharma Services revenue

 
Through our Insight subsidiary we provide a range of molecular diagnostic services to pharmaceutical customers referred to as “Pharma Services”

including testing for biomarker discovery, assay design and development, clinical trial support, and a broad spectrum of biomarker tests in Insight’s CLIA-
certified laboratory. These Pharma Services are generally performed under individual scope of work (“SOW”) arrangements with specific deliverables defined
by the customer. Pharma Services are generally performed on a time and materials basis. Upon completion of the service to the customer in accordance with
the SOW, we have the right to bill the customer for the agreed upon price (either on a per test or per deliverable basis) and we recognize the pharma service
revenue at that time. We generally identify each sale of its pharma service offering as a single performance obligation.
 

Completion of the service and satisfaction of the performance obligation under a SOW is typically evidenced by access to the report or test made
available to the customer or any other form or applicable manner of delivery defined in the SOW. However, for certain SOWs under which work is performed
pursuant to the customer’s highly customized specifications, we have the enforceable right to bill the customer for work completed, rather than upon
completion of the SOW. For those SOWs, we recognize revenue over a period of time during which the work is performed using a formula that accounts for
expended efforts, generally measured in labor hours, as a percentage of total estimated efforts for the completion of the SOW. As the performance obligation
under the SOW is satisfied, any amounts earned as revenue and billed to the customer are included in accounts receivable. Any revenues earned but not yet
billed to the customer as of the date of our consolidated financial statements are issued are recorded as contract assets and are included in prepaids and other
current assets as of the financial statement date. Amounts recorded in contract assets are reclassified to accounts receivable in our consolidated financial
statements when the customer is invoiced according to the billing schedule in the contract.
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We establish an allowance for doubtful accounts based on the evaluation of the collectability of Pharma Services accounts receivables after
considering a variety of factors, including the length of time receivables are past due, significant events that may impair the customer’s ability to pay, such as a
bankruptcy filing or deterioration in the customer’s operating results or financial position, and historical experience. If circumstances related to customers
change, estimates of the recoverability of receivables would be further adjusted. We continuously monitor collections and payments from customers and
maintain a provision for estimated credit losses and uncollectible accounts, if any, based upon historical experience and any specific customer collection issues
that have been identified. Amounts determined to be uncollectible are written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. As of December 31, 2020, we
have not recorded any losses or allowance for doubtful accounts on accounts receivables from Pharma Services.

 
Cost of revenues
 

Cost of revenues generally consists of cost of materials, direct labor including benefits, bonus and stock-based compensation, equipment and
infrastructure expenses, clinical sample related costs associated with performing Pharma Services and DetermaRx™ tests, and license fees due to third parties,
and also includes amortization of acquired customer relationship intangible assets. Infrastructure expenses include depreciation of laboratory equipment,
allocated rent costs, leasehold improvements and allocated information technology costs for operations at our CLIA laboratories. Costs associated with
performing diagnostic tests and Pharma Services are recorded as the tests or services are performed regardless of whether revenue was recognized with respect
to that test or pharma service. Royalties or revenue share payments for licensed technology calculated as a percentage of revenues or determined based on
achieving certain aggregated amounts of revenues generated using the associated technology are recorded as expenses at the time the related revenues are
recognized. As discussed above, we generated no revenues or cost of revenues prior to January 1, 2020.
 
Research and development expenses
 

Research and development expenses are comprised of costs incurred to develop technology, and include: salaries and benefits, including stock-based
compensation; laboratory expenses, including reagents and supplies used in research and development laboratory work; infrastructure expenses, including
allocated facility occupancy costs; and contract services and other outside costs. Indirect research and development expenses are allocated primarily based on
headcount, as applicable, and include rent and utilities, common area maintenance, telecommunications, property taxes, and insurance. Research and
development costs are expensed as incurred. For periods prior to January 1, 2020, indirect research and development expenses included overhead costs incurred
and allocated by Lineage to us under the Shared Facilities Agreement as expenses that benefited or supported our research and development functions. The
Shared Facilities Agreement was terminated as of December 31, 2019.
 
General and administrative expenses
 

General and administrative expenses include both direct expenses incurred by us and, prior to January 1, 2020, indirect overhead costs incurred by
Lineage and allocated to us under the Shared Facilities Agreement as expenses that benefited or supported our general and administrative functions. Direct
general and administrative expenses consist primarily of: compensation and related benefits, including stock-based compensation, for executive and corporate
personnel; professional and consulting fees; rent and utilities; common area maintenance; telecommunications; property taxes; and insurance. Indirect general
and administrative expenses allocated by Lineage to us under the Shared Facilities Agreement, which was terminated as of December 31, 2019, were primarily
based on headcount or space occupied, as applicable, and include costs for financial reporting and compliance, rent and utilities, common area maintenance,
telecommunications, property taxes, and insurance.
 
Sales and marketing expenses
 

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel costs and related benefits, including stock-based compensation, trade show expenses,
branding and positioning expenses, and consulting fees. Sales and marketing expenses also include indirect expenses for applicable overhead allocated based
on headcount, and include allocated costs for rent and utilities, common area maintenance, telecommunications, property taxes, and insurance. Prior to January
1, 2020, a portion of the expenses allocated by Lineage under the Shared Facilities Agreement were designated by us as sales and marketing expenses to the
extent we determined that such expenses were fairly allocable to sales and marketing functions, including overhead.
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Results of Operations
 

The ongoing global outbreak of COVID-19, and the various attempts throughout the world to contain it, have created significant financial volatility,
economic uncertainty, and changes to the way Oncocyte conducts certain aspects of its operations. The COVID-19 pandemic has had, and may continue to
have, significant effects on our operations, ability to generate revenues, and financing activities. In response to government directives and guidelines, health
care advisories and employee and other concerns, a number of our employees have had to work remotely from home and those on site have had to follow our
social distance guidelines, which could impact their productivity. Travel and visits related to our business and business meetings, including planned or expected
travel and in-person meetings to market DetermaRx™, have been eliminated or severely curtailed. Although employee absenteeism due to COVID-19 illness
has not had an adverse impact on our operations as of the date of this Report, we face the risk of losing, at least temporarily, the services of employees if they
become ill.

 
The consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic have led to uncertainties related to our growth and our ability to forecast the demand for our diagnostic

testing and Pharma Services and resulting revenues, as we have not had time to establish a base of customers, revenues or other relevant trends prior to the
outbreak of COVID-19. We had no commercial revenues until the first quarter of 2020 when we launched our first commercial diagnostic test, DetermaRx™,
and acquired the Pharma Services business of Insight. We had expected that initial DetermaRx™ revenues would be constrained by the lack of Medicare
coverage. CMS Medicare reimbursement pricing approval for DetermaRx™ did not become effective until September 2020. Deferrals in lung cancer surgeries
due to COVID-19 may have reduced demand for DetermaRx™, but because of the lack of historical DetermaRx™ revenues, with and without Medicare
reimbursement, we are unable to determine the extent to which the deferral of those surgeries impacted our DetermaRx™ revenues. Resurgences in COVID-19
cases could cause additional deferrals of lung cancer surgeries during the course of the pandemic. The lack of in-person interaction with healthcare providers
for our promotion of the use of DetermaRx™ has also placed a constraint on our ability to market that test, but we cannot determine the extent to which that
has impacted our revenues due to the absence of historical revenues. Similarly, our Pharma Services revenues commenced with our acquisition of Insight
during the first quarter of 2020, and because we do not have a prior history of Pharma Services revenues we cannot assess how COVID-19 may have impacted
those revenues, although we are aware that certain planned clinical trials of new pharmaceuticals for which we had expected to provide Pharma Services were
delayed due to the pandemic.

 
The pandemic is affecting our revenue-generating activities. During the COVID-19 pandemic, we have not been, and may not be, able to maintain our

preferred level of physician or customer outreach and marketing of our diagnostic testing and Pharma Services, which could negatively impact our potential
new customers’ interest in our tests and services. Even if government and other COVID-19 related restrictions are relaxed and lung cancer surgeries are
performed at or close to pre-pandemic levels, any growth and anticipated adoption of our diagnostic tests may not occur. Although we have not yet experienced
COVID-19 related supply chain disruptions impacting our testing capacity, if the vendors of equipment and reagents used in our diagnostic laboratories
experience supply, operational, or financial disruptions due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we could experience supply constraints in the future that could cause
increased costs or delays in performing DetermaRx™ tests and Pharma Services and in continuing the development of new diagnostic tests.

 
The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic and the various responses might impact our business, operations and financial results will depend

on numerous evolving factors that we will not be able to accurately predict, including: the duration and scope of the pandemic; governmental, business and
individuals’ actions that have been and continue to be taken in response to the pandemic; the availability and cost to access COVID-19 tests, vaccines and
therapies; the effect on our potential customers and their demand for our diagnostic testing and Pharma Services; the effect on our suppliers and their ability to
provide the necessary equipment and materials to support our tests and services; disruptions or restrictions on our employees’ ability to work and travel;
interruptions or restrictions related to the distribution of our tests in foreign markets, including impacts on logistics of shipping and receiving patient samples;
and any stoppages, disruptions or increased costs associated with development, production and marketing of our diagnostic tests. In addition to the direct
impacts to our business operations, the global economy is likely to continue to be significantly weakened as a result of actions taken in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic and to the extent that such a weakened global economy impacts customers’ ability or willingness to purchase and pay for our tests, our business
and results of operation could be negatively impacted. Due to the uncertain scope and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and uncertain timing of any
recovery or normalization, we are currently unable to estimate the resulting impacts on our operations and financial results. We will continue to actively
monitor the issues raised by the COVID-19 pandemic and may take further actions that alter our operations, as may be required by federal, state, local or
foreign authorities, or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, our customers, and our shareholders.
 
Revenues for the Year Ended December 31, 2020
 

The year ended December 31, 2020 is the first year in which we generated revenues. We currently derive our revenues from Pharma Services
generated by our wholly owned subsidiary, Insight, which we acquired on January 31, 2020, and from the sale of our novel lung cancer stratification test,
DetermaRx™, which we commercially launched in early 2020.

 
The following table shows our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2020 (in thousands).

 
  Year Ended  
  December 31, 2020  
Revenues  $ 1,216  

 
48



 
 

Under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, we may not recognize revenues even if we have performed the diagnostic tests we have
commercialized until we have contracts for reimbursement from third-party payers and a history of experience of cash collections for the tests we perform.
Until we develop that experience or have the contracts in place with payers or Medicare or other insurance coverage for a test, we recognize revenue on a cash
basis for the tests that we perform. In September 2020, we received a final pricing decision for our DetermaRx™ test from CMS and commenced recognizing
revenue on an accrual basis when DetermaRx™ tests are performed for Medicare covered patients, or when payment was approved by Medicare in the case of
certain tests performed prior to September 2020, rather than on a cash basis. All other payers for the DetermaRx™ test are currently recognized on a cash basis.
For financial accounting purposes, regardless of when, or whether, revenues may be recognized, we incurred and accrued costs of revenues and other operating
expenses discussed below related to any services we perform. Our ability to increase our testing revenue for DetermaRx™ will depend on our ability to
penetrate the market and obtain coverage from additional third-party payers.

 
Despite COVID adversely impacting the number of surgeries performed, DetermaRx™ testing volume grew quarter over quarter in the first year of

launch driven by our rapid pivot to virtual engagements of physicians via targeted educational programs, key opinion leader or KOL webinars, continuing
medical education programs, and virtual molecular tumor boards attended by over 3000 medical professionals, including thoracic surgeons, medical
oncologists, pathologists and nurse navigators. Following our commercial launch in the first quarter of 2020, DetermaRx™ tests ordered during the second,
third and fourth quarter of 2020 were 64,175 and 238, respectively.

 
Pharma Services revenues in the fourth quarter of 2020 were lower sequentially when compared to the third quarter of 2020 due to delays in customer

projects resulting from the COVID surge, causing those projects to be carried over into the first half of 2021. Pharma services are generally performed on a
time and materials basis. Upon our completion of the service to the customer in accordance with the contract, we have the right to bill the customer for the
agreed upon price (either on a per test or per deliverable basis) and recognize the pharma services revenue at that time, on an accrual basis.

 
The following table presents the percentage of consolidated revenues attributable to products or services classes that represent greater than ten percent

of consolidated revenues:
 

  Year Ended  
  December 31, 2020  
DetermaRx™   45%
Pharma Services   55%
Total   100%  

 
The following table presents the percentage of consolidated revenues received from unaffiliated customers that individually represent greater than ten

percent of consolidated revenues:
 

  Year Ended  
  December 31, 2020  
Medicare for DetermaRx™   40%
Pharma Services Company A   23%
Pharma Services Company B   12%

 
Costs and Operating Expenses

 
The following tables show our costs and operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands).

 
  Year Ended December 31,   $ Increase/   $ Increase/  
  2020   2019   (Decrease)   (Decrease)  
Cost of revenues  $ 1,855   $ -         $ 1,855    n/a         
Research and development expenses   9,800    6,794          3,006    44%        
General and administrative expenses   16,788     13,281          3,507    26%        
Sales and marketing expenses   6,494    2,164          4,330    200%        

 
Cost of revenues

 
The cost of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020 were primarily incurred from performing our DetermaRx™ tests and Pharma Services.

Oncocyte generated no cost of revenues prior to January 1, 2020 because did not perform revenue generating tests and services during prior years. Cost of
revenues for performing our DetermaRx™ novel test include all tests we performed regardless of payer type.
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We expect the cost of DetermaRx™ testing to generally increase in line with the increase in the number of tests we perform, even if we have no
corresponding revenues. We expect that our cost per test to decrease modestly over time due to the efficiencies we may gain if testing volume increases, and
from automation and other cost reductions. There can be no assurance, however, that any of these efficiencies or cost savings will be achieved. Cost of
revenues for Pharma Services will vary depending on the nature, timing, and scope of customer projects.
 
Research and development expenses
 

Research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2020 increased to $9.8 million from $6.8 million during 2019, an increase of
$3.0 million primarily attributable to personnel and related expenses, including noncash stock-based compensation expense. Personnel and related expenses for
the year ended December 31, 2020 include $0.4 million in cash-based severance charges and $0.2 million in accelerated noncash stock-based compensation
expenses recorded during the third quarter as part of the partial reduction in force plan and salary reduction agreements we instituted in September 2020.

 
We expect to continue to incur a significant amount of research and development expenses during the foreseeable future. Although we have terminated

development work for our DetermaDx product line, we will continue development of DetermaIO™, DetermaTx™, and DetermaMx™, clinical trials to
promote commercialization of DetermaRx™, and development of our planned DetermaCNI™ test if we complete the Chronix merger. Our future research and
development efforts and expenses will also depend on the amount of capital that we are able to raise to finance those activities and whether we acquire rights to
any new diagnostic tests. A portion of our costs for leasing and operating our CLIA laboratories in California and Tennessee, and in Germany if we complete
the Chronix merger, will also be included in research and development expenses to the extent allocated to the development of our diagnostic tests.

 
The COVID-19 global pandemic has negatively impacted, and is expected to continue to negatively impact, patient recruitment for clinical trials

necessary for us to promote the use of DetermaRx™ by physicians, and clinical trials of immunotherapies by pharma companies that may use DetermaIO™ in
selecting patients for their trials. We believe that our planned DetermaRx™ clinical trials are critical to gaining physician adoption and driving favorable
coverage decisions by private payers, and we expect our investment in the DetermaRx™ clinical trial to increase over time. We may also commence our own
clinical trials of DetermaIO™ if we develop that diagnostic test to the point where we determine that its use as a clinical diagnostic appears to be feasible.
 
General and administrative expenses
 

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2020 increased to $16.8 million from $13.3 million during 2019, an increase of
$3.5 million primarily attributable to personnel and related expenses, including noncash stock-based compensation expense. Personnel and related expenses for
the year ended December 31, 2020 include a $0.9 million cash-based severance charges and $0.5 million in accelerated noncash stock-based compensation
expenses recorded during the third quarter as part of the partial reduction in force plan and salary reduction agreements we instituted in September 2020.
 

We are no longer receiving services or use of facilities from Lineage under the Shared Facilities Agreement. We have hired our own accounting and
administrative personnel and we are now bearing the full cost of their compensation and employee benefits, and we have acquired our own leased office and
laboratory facilities and are bearing directly lease and other operating costs related to those facilities. Our general and administrative expenses increased during
2020 as we replaced services from Lineage with services from our own employees and leased and operated our own office and laboratory facilities.
 
Sales and marketing expenses
 

Sales and marketing expenses for the year ended December 31, 2020 increased to $6.5 million from $2.2 million during 2019. This $4.3 million
increase is primarily attributable to: $3.4 million in personnel and related expenses, including noncash stock-based compensation expense; $0.5 million in
marketing and consulting expenses, including travel and related expenses primarily for the commercialization of DetermaRx™, and $0.5 million in allocation
of facility, insurance, and information technology expenses.

 
In January 2020, we hired our first six sales representatives and trained them for the market launch of DetermaRxTM all of whom have extensive

experience selling high value oncology molecular tests, and a medical educator who is a board-certified genetic counselor. The product was launched to seven
Early Adopter Sites in February to establish and test our CLIA lab protocols and workflows, gain customer feedback on the final patient report and validate our
logistical plan for sample transport. The decision was made to enter a full market launch in late February after successful validation of our processes, and full
engagement started in early March. To expand our customer base for DetermaRx™, we have hired a limited sales force in focused regions of the country to
identify and target hospitals and physicians that perform a high volume of surgical resections. Unfortunately, the COVID pandemic severely impacted our sales
forces’ ability to engage new accounts and surgeons in person at the critical early phase of full market launch. In late March 2020, our medical education team
pivoted to a virtual training program and began to offer medical education events over virtual calls and video meetings which allowed our sales representatives
to set up virtual presentations to educate physicians about DetermaRxTM. As of the filing of this Report, we continue to rely on the virtual programs since our
sales professionals have limited in person access to hospitals and surgical or oncologist’s offices.
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We expect to continue to incur a significant amount of sales and marketing expenses during the foreseeable future as we continue to market and sell
DetermaRx™ and, if we successfully complete product development, begin commercialization efforts for DetermaIO™ as a clinical test. Sales and marketing
expenses will also increase if we successfully develop and begin commercializing DetermaTx™ and DetermaMx™ or acquire and commercialize other
diagnostic tests including DetermaCNI™. Our sales and marketing efforts, and the amount of related expenses that we will incur in the near term, will largely
depend upon the degree of success we have in commercializing DetermaRx™, and whether we can successfully complete the development and
commercialization of DetermaIO™ and our other planned clinical tests. Our commercialization efforts and expenses will also depend on the amount of capital
that we are able to raise to finance commercialization of our diagnostic tests. Our future expenditures on sales and marketing will also depend on the amount of
revenue that those efforts are likely to generate. Because physicians are more likely to prescribe a test for their patients if the cost is covered by Medicare or
health insurance, demand for our diagnostic tests and our expenditures on sales and marketing are likely to increase if our diagnostic or other tests qualify for
reimbursement by Medicare or private health insurance companies.

 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration

 
We will pay contingent consideration if various payment milestones are triggered under the merger agreement through which we acquired Insight. See

Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Report. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration will be based on our
reassessment of the key assumptions underlying the determination of this liability as changes in circumstances and conditions occur from the Insight
acquisition date to the reporting period being presented, with the subsequent change in fair value recorded as part of our consolidated loss from operations for
that period. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded an unrealized gain of approximately $4.0 million related to the decrease in the fair value of
contingent consideration primarily attributable to a revised estimate of the timing of the possible future payouts.
 
Other income and expenses, net
 

Other income and expenses, net, is primarily comprised of interest income and interest expenses, net, pro rata loss from our equity method investment
in Razor, and unrealized gains and losses on Lineage and AgeX Therapeutics, Inc. (“AgeX”) marketable equity securities we hold. Interest income is earned
from money market funds we hold for capital preservation. Interest expense was incurred under our loan payable to the Silicon Valley Bank, our loan from the
U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) and under financing lease obligations. Interest expense, net, reflects the
interest expense incurred on our loans and financing obligations in excess of interest income earned from money market accounts.

 
For the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded interest expense, net, of $0.3 million from our loans and financing leases. For the year ended

December 31, 2019, we recorded interest income, net, of $0.3 million mainly from our money market fund investments for capital preservation. For the year
ended December 31, 2020, we recorded $0.3 million of unrealized gain from the fair market value increase of the marketable equity securities we hold in
shares of Lineage and AgeX common stock, and for the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded an insignificant amount of unrealized loss from the fair
market value decrease of those marketable equity securities. We did not sell any marketable securities during any of the periods presented. As of December 31,
2020 and 2019, we held marketable equity securities with a total fair market value of $0.7 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

 
Our $11.245 million equity method investment in Razor that we made in September 2019, plus the $4.0 million Razor milestone payment we made in

June 2020, are being amortized over a 10-year useful life from the investment date, and that amortization, including our pro rata share of Razor’s losses, is
included in other income and expenses, net, as a pro rata loss in our equity method investment in Razor. The loss of $1.5 million that we recognized in 2020
reflects a combination of the amortization of our investment balance and our pro rata share of losses recognized by Razor for its operating results for the year
ended December 31, 2020.
 
Income taxes
 

As of December 31, 2020, we had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $119.7 million for U.S. federal income tax purposes and $73.6
million for state income tax purposes. Federal net operating losses generated on or prior to December 31, 2017, expire in varying amounts between 2027 and
2037, while federal net operating losses generated after December 31, 2017, carryforward indefinitely. The state net operating losses expire in varying amounts
between 2022 and 2040. We also have capital loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes of $0.3 million each, which expire in 2022.
 

As of December 31, 2020, we had research and development credit carryforwards for federal and state purposes of $1.8 million and $1.7 million,
respectively. The federal credits will expire between 2030 and 2040, while the state credits have no expiration.
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In connection with the acquisition of Insight discussed in Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Report, and in
accordance with business combination accounting standards, a change in the acquirer’s valuation allowance that stems from a business combination should be
recognized as an element of the acquirer’s income tax expense or benefit in the period of the acquisition. Accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2020,
we recorded a $1.25 million partial release of our valuation allowance with a corresponding income tax benefit stemming from the deferred tax liabilities
generated by the acquired Insight in-process research and development and customer relationships intangible assets.
 

A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Other than the
partial release discussed above for the year ended December 31, 2020, we established a full valuation allowance for all periods presented due to the uncertainty
of realizing future tax benefits from our net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets. Accordingly, due to losses incurred for all periods
presented, we did not record any provision or benefit for income taxes except for the tax benefit recorded in connection with the Insight acquisition discussed
above.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

We finance our operations primarily through the sale of our common stock. We have incurred operating losses and negative cash flows since inception
and had an accumulated deficit of $123.7 million at December 31, 2020. We expect to continue to incur operating losses and negative cash flows for the near
future.

 
At December 31, 2020, we had $7.1 million of cash and cash equivalents and held shares of Lineage and AgeX common stock as marketable equity

securities valued at $0.7 million. During January and February 2021 we raised an additional $69.6 million through the sale of shares of our common stock in
public offerings, including $37.5 million during February 2021 in an underwritten public offering led by Piper Sandler & Co., $25 million during January
through a registered direct offering to certain institutional investors that were previous investors in our common stock offerings, $6.3 million during January
through sales of our common stock in “at-the-market” transactions through an Equity Distribution Agreement with Piper Sandler & Co., and $0.8 million
through the exercise of stock purchase warrants that we had issued and sold during a prior period. In addition to applying a portion of our cash on hand to
paying operating expenses, we used $10 million of the cash we raised to complete our acquisition of Razor during February 2021. We believe that our current
cash, cash equivalents, and marketable equity securities are sufficient to finance our current operations through at least twelve months from the issuance date of
the consolidated financial statements included in this Report.

 
On October 17, 2019, we refinanced our loan with Silicon Valley Bank (the “Bank”) as further discussed in Note 9 to our consolidated financial

statements included elsewhere in this Report. The outstanding principal amount of the loan, with interest accrued, the final payment fee, and the prepayment
fee may become due and payable prior to the applicable maturity date if an “Event of Default” as defined in the Loan and Security Agreement, as amended
governing the loan (the “Loan Agreement”) occurs and is not cured within any applicable cure period. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an
Event of Default, all obligations due to the Bank will bear interest at a rate per annum which is 5% above the then applicable interest rate. An Event of Default
includes, among other events, failure to pay interest and principal when due, material adverse changes, which include a material adverse change in Oncocyte’s
business, operations, or condition (financial or otherwise), failure to provide the bank with timely consolidated financial statements and copies of filings with
the SEC, as required, legal judgments or pending or threatened legal actions of $50,000 or more, insolvency, and delisting from the national securities exchange
on which our common stock trades. Oncocyte’s obligations under the Loan Agreement are collateralized by substantially all of its assets other than intellectual
property such as patents and trade secrets that Oncocyte owns. Accordingly, if an Event of Default were to occur and not be cured, the Bank could foreclose on
its security interest in the collateral. We are in compliance with the Loan Agreement, as amended, as of the filing date of this Report.

 
During April, 2020, we obtained a U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) loan in the principal amount of

$1,140,930 from the Bank. The PPP loan bears interest at a rate of 1% per annum and matures on April 23, 2022. Under the provisions of the PPP loan, the
principal amount and accrued interest on the PPP loan is subject to forgiveness by the Bank through the SBA. Our loan forgiveness application is pending as of
the date of this Report. Although the terms of the PPP loan obligated us to make monthly payments of principal and interest starting in November 2020, each in
such equal amount required to fully amortize the principal amount outstanding on the PPP loan by the maturity date, we have not been billed or charged for any
repayment amounts on the PPP loan because of our loan forgiveness application pending status. We continue to accrue interest on the PPP loan and there can be
no assurance that any part of the PPP loan will be forgiven.

 
We expect that our operating expenses will increase as we build our marketing and sales force and add new equipment and personnel to our CLIA

laboratories to commercialize DetermaRx™, followed by DetermaIO™ for clinical use and other diagnostic tests in our pipeline after development is
completed, including DetermaCNI if we complete the Chronix merger. Although we intend to market our diagnostic tests in the United States through our own
sales force, we are also beginning to make marketing arrangements with distributors in other countries. We may also explore a range of other
commercialization options in order to enter overseas markets and to reduce our capital needs and expenditures, and the risks associated the timelines and
uncertainty for attaining the Medicare reimbursement approvals that will be essential for the successful commercialization of additional cancer diagnostic tests.
Those alternative arrangements could include marketing arrangements with other diagnostic companies through which we might receive a licensing fee and
royalty on sales, or through which we might form a joint venture to market one or more tests and share in net revenues, in the United States or abroad.
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In addition to sales and marketing expenses we will incur expenses from leasing and improving our new office and laboratory facilities in Irvine
California, and from operating our CLIA laboratories in Brisbane, California and Nashville, Tennessee and our planned CLIA laboratory at our Irvine facility.

 
We will need to continue to raise additional capital to finance our operations, including the development and commercialization of our diagnostic tests,

and making payments that may become due under our obligations to Razor shareholders and Insight shareholders, until such time as we are able to generate
sufficient revenues to cover our operating expenses. Delays in the development of DetermaIO™, or obtaining reimbursement coverage from Medicare for that
diagnostic test and for the other diagnostic tests that we may develop or acquire, could prevent us from raising sufficient additional capital to finance the
completion of development and commercial launch of those tests. Investors may be reluctant to provide us with capital until our tests are approved for
reimbursement by Medicare or reimbursement by private healthcare insurers or healthcare providers, or until we begin generating significant amounts of
revenue from performing those tests. The unavailability or inadequacy of financing or revenues to meet future capital needs could force us to modify, curtail,
delay, or suspend some or all aspects of our planned operations. Sales of additional equity securities could result in the dilution of the interests of our
shareholders. We cannot assure that adequate financing will be available on favorable terms, if at all.

 
Our ability to generate revenues from operating activities and the availability of financing may be adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic

which could continue to cause deferrals of cancer surgeries that might otherwise have resulted in the utilization of DetermaRx™, or could cause the deferral of
clinical development of therapies that might otherwise have resulted in the utilization of DetermaIO™ or our Pharma Services. The commercial release of
DetermaRx™ and our acquisition of the Insight Pharma Services business during the COVID-19 pandemic has rendered it more difficult for prospective
investors to forecast the demand for our diagnostic testing and Pharma Services and to assess our opportunities for growth. Although the deployment of the
recently developed vaccines may quell the impact of COVID-19, the pandemic could continue to depress national and international economies and disrupt
capital markets, supply chains, and aspects of our operations for a period of time, all of which may render it more difficult for us to secure additional financing
when needed. The extent to which the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic will ultimately impact our business, results of operations, financial condition, or cash
flows is highly uncertain and difficult to predict because it will depend on many factors that are outside of our control, such as the duration, scope and severity
of the pandemic, steps required or mandated by governments to mitigate the impact of the pandemic, and whether COVID-19 can be effectively prevented and
contained by the new vaccines, and whether effective treatments may be developed. We do not yet know the extent to which COVID-19 will negatively impact
our financial results or liquidity.
 
Cash used in operating activities
 

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, our total research and development expenses were $9.8 million and $6.8 million, respectively,
our general and administrative expenses were $16.8 million and $13.3 million, respectively, and our sales and marketing expenses were $6.5 million and $2.2
million, respectively, and we also incurred $1.9 million in cost of revenues in the year 2020. Net loss for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
amounted to $29.9 million and $22.4 million, respectively, and net cash used in operating activities amounted to $26.0 million and $19.7 million, respectively.
Our cash used in operating activities during 2020 does not include the following noncash items: $5.1 million in stock-based compensation; $4.0 million in gain
from the change in fair value of contingent consideration; $2.5 million in depreciation and amortization expenses, including a $0.4 million noncash impairment
charge for long-lived assets; $1.5 million in pro rata loss from our equity method investment in Razor; and a $1.3 million income tax benefit associated with a
partial release of our valuation allowance stemming from our acquisition of Insight. Changes in working capital were approximately $0.4 million as an
additional source of cash.
 
Cash used in investing activities

 
During the year ended December 31, 2020, net cash used in investing activities was $11.7 million, primarily attributable to the $6.2 million cash

portion of the consideration paid for the acquisition of Insight in January 2020, net of cash acquired; a $4.0 million CMS pricing milestone payment to Razor;
$1.2 million paid for the purchase of furniture and equipment; and $0.3 million of deposits and exclusivity payments to Chronix, as part of a merger agreement,
which will be offset against the total consideration payable upon completion of the merger.
 
Cash provided by financing activities
 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, cash provided by financing activities was $22.8 million. primarily attributable to $20.7 million of net cash
proceeds from the sale of shares of common stock, including $2.4 million of net cash proceeds from at-the-market transactions, $1.4 million from exercises of
stock options, and the $1.1 million we borrowed under the Paycheck Protection Program, offset by repayments of principal on loans payable and financing
lease obligations of $0.4 million. See Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Report.

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

As of December 31, 2020, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC Regulation S-K.
 
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
 

Under SEC rules and regulations, as a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this item.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
Stockholders and Board of Directors
OncoCyte Corporation
Irvine, California
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of OncoCyte Corporation (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31,
2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
/s/ OUM & CO. LLP
 
San Francisco, California
March 19, 2021
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2015.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
 

ONCOCYTE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands)
 
  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
ASSETS         
CURRENT ASSETS         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 7,143  $ 22,072 
Accounts receivable   203   - 
Marketable equity securities   675   379 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   1,205   505 

Total current assets   9,226   22,956 
         
NONCURRENT ASSETS         

Right-of-use assets, machinery and equipment, net and construction in progress   6,524   3,728 
Equity method investment in Razor   13,417   10,964 
Goodwill   9,187   - 
Intangibles, net   15,009   - 
Deposits and other noncurrent assets   2,056   2,211 

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 55,419  $ 39,859 
         
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY         
CURRENT LIABILITIES         

Amount due to Lineage and affiliates  $ -  $ 6 
Accounts payable   432   469 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   5,752   2,610 
Loan payable, current   2,390   1,125 
Right-of-use and financing lease liabilities, current   422   230 

Total current liabilities   8,996   4,440 
         
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES         

Loan payable, net of deferred financing costs, noncurrent   1,508   1,905 
Right-of-use and financing lease liabilities, noncurrent   4,312   2,676 
Contingent consideration liabilities   7,120   - 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   21,936   9,021 
         
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)         
         
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY         

Preferred stock, no par value, 5,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding   -   - 
Common stock, no par value, 150,000 shares authorized; 69,117 and 57,032 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively   157,160   124,583 
Accumulated deficit   (123,677)   (93,745)
Total shareholders’ equity   33,483   30,838 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  $ 55,419  $ 39,859 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ONCOCYTE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2020   2019  
REVENUE         

Total revenues  $ 1,216  $ - 
         
OPERATING EXPENSES         

Cost of revenues   1,855   - 
Research and development   9,800   6,794 
General and administrative   16,788   13,281 
Sales and marketing   6,494   2,164 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration   (4,010)   - 
Total costs and operating expenses   30,927   22,239 

         
Loss from operations   (29,711)   (22,239)
         
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES), NET         

Loss on extinguishment of debt   -   (153)
Interest income (expense), net   (252)   299 
Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable equity securities   297   (49)
Pro rata loss from equity method investment in Razor   (1,547)   (281)
Other income (expenses), net   27   (3)
Total other expenses, net   (1,475)   (187)

         
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES   (31,186)   (22,426)
         

Income tax benefit   1,254   - 
         
NET LOSS  $ (29,932)  $ (22,426)
         
Net loss per share; basic and diluted  $ (0.46)  $ (0.44)
         
Weighted average shares outstanding; basic and diluted   65,478   51,296 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ONCOCYTE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands)
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2020   2019  
       
NET LOSS  $ (29,932)  $ (22,426)

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax   -   - 
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  $ (29,932)  $ (22,426)
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ONCOCYTE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands)
 

  Common Stock   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive  Accumulated   
Total

Shareholders’  
  Shares   Amount   Loss   Deficit   Equity  
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2018   40,664  $ 74,742  $      -  $ (71,319)  $ 3,423 
Net loss   -   -   -   (22,426)   (22,426)
Stock-based compensation   -   2,995   -   -   2,995 
Sale of common shares   15,793   48,850   -   -   48,850 
Financing costs paid to issue common shares   -   (3,317)   -   -   (3,317)
Exercise of stock options   575   943   -   -   943 
Issuance of warrants   -   370   -   -   370 
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2019   57,032  $ 124,583  $ -  $ (93,745)  $ 30,838 
Net loss   -   -   -   (29,932)   (29,932)
Stock-based compensation   -   5,066   -   -   5,066 
Sale of common shares   8,257   18,343   -   -   18,343 
Financing costs paid to issue common shares   -   (58)   -   -   (58)
Sale of common shares under at-the-market
transactions   1,137   2,732   -   -   2,732 
Financing costs for at-the-market sales   -   (82)   -   -   (82)
Exercise of stock options   680   1,422   -   -   1,422 
Shares issued upon vesting of RSU, net of shares
retired to pay employees’ taxes   13   (15)   -   -   (15)
Issuance of common stock in lieu of cash for payment
of board fees and deferred salaries   82   169   -   -   169 
Issuance of common stock as partial consideration for
Insight Genetics, Inc. acquisition   1,916   5,000   -   -   5,000 
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2020   69,117  $ 157,160  $ -  $ (123,677)  $ 33,483 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ONCOCYTE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2020   2019  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:         
Net loss  $ (29,932)  $ (22,426)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Depreciation expense   313   344 
Amortization of intangible assets   81   - 
Amortization of right-of-use assets and liabilities   1,504   7 
Impairment charge for long-lived assets   422   - 
Pro rata loss from equity method investment in Razor   1,547   281 
Amortization of prepaid maintenance   74   37 
Stock-based compensation   5,066   2,995 
Unrealized (gain) loss on marketable equity securities   (297)   49 
Amortization of debt issuance costs   102   59 
Loss on extinguishment of debt   -   153 
Warrants issued for advisory services   -   234 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration   (4,010)   - 
Deferred income tax benefit   (1,254)   - 
Other   5   107 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
Accounts receivable   (182)   - 
Amount due to Lineage and affiliates   (6)   (2,094)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (267)   (202)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   854   741 

Net cash used in operating activities   (25,980)   (19,715)
         
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:         

Acquisition of Insight Genetics, net of cash acquired   (6,189)   - 
Deposits paid for the Chronix merger agreement   (325)   - 
Equity method investment in Razor   (4,000)   (11,245)
Purchases of furniture and equipment   (1,227)   (918)
Security deposit and other   (7)   (252)

Net cash used in investing activities   (11,748)   (12,415)
         
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:         

Proceeds from exercise of stock options   1,445   943 
Proceeds from sale of common shares   18,343   48,850 
Financing costs to issue common shares   (58)   (3,288)
Proceeds from sale of common shares under at-the-market transactions   2,462   - 
Financing costs for at-the-market sales   (74)   - 
Common shares received and retired for employee taxes paid   (14)   - 
Proceeds from refinance of bank loan   -   3,000 
Payoff of principal and bank fees from refinancing of bank loan   -   (516)
Repayment of principal of loan payable prior to refinancing   (375)   (667)
Repayment of financing lease obligations   (71)   (454)
Proceeds from PPP loan   1,141   - 

Net cash provided by financing activities   22,799   47,868 
         
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH   (14,929)   15,738 
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH:         

At beginning of the year   23,772   8,034 
At end of the year  $ 8,843  $ 23,772 

         
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION         

Cash paid for interest  $ 209  $ 171 
         
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NONCASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES         

Common stock issued for acquisition of Insight Genetics   5,000   - 
Initial fair value of contingent consideration at acquisition date   11,130   - 
Holdback liability   600   - 
Construction in progress, machinery and equipment purchases included in accounts payable, accrued
liabilities and landlord liability   2,049   - 



Accounts receivable from agent for at-the-market sales of common stock, net of financing costs   262   - 
Issuance of common stock in lieu of cash for payment of board fees and deferred salaries   169   - 
Deferred final commitment fee for bank loan   -   200 
See Note 14 for additional disclosures around leases         

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ONCOCYTE CORPORATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
1. Organization, Description of the Business and Liquidity
 

OncoCyte Corporation (“Oncocyte”), incorporated in 2009 in the state of California, is a molecular diagnostics company focused on developing and
commercializing proprietary laboratory-developed tests (“LDTs”) to serve unmet medical needs across the cancer care continuum. Oncocyte’s mission is to
provide actionable information to physicians and patients at critical decision points to optimize diagnosis and treatment decisions, improve patient outcomes,
and reduce overall cost of care. Oncocyte has prioritized lung cancer as its first indication. Lung cancer remains the leading cause of cancer death in the United
States, despite the availability of molecular testing and novel therapies to treat patients.

 
Oncocyte’s first product for commercial release is a proprietary treatment stratification test called DetermaRx™ that identifies which patients with

early stage non-small cell lung cancer may benefit from chemotherapy, resulting in a significantly higher, five-year survival rate. Through December 31, 2020,
Oncocyte held a 25% equity interest in Razor Genomics, Inc. (“Razor”), a privately held company, that has developed and licensed to Oncocyte the lung cancer
treatment stratification laboratory test that Oncocyte is commercializing as DetermaRx™. Oncocyte has an option to acquire all of the outstanding shares of
Razor common stock from the Razor stockholders(see Notes 7 and 15).

 
On January 31, 2020 (the “Merger Date”), Oncocyte completed its acquisition of Insight Genetics, Inc. (“Insight”) through a merger with a newly

incorporated wholly-owned subsidiary of Oncocyte (the “Merger”) under the terms of an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”). Prior to
the Merger, Insight was a privately held company specializing in the discovery and development of the multi-gene molecular, laboratory-developed diagnostic
tests that Oncocyte has branded as DetermaIO™. DetermaIO™ is a proprietary gene expression assay with promising data supporting its potential to help
identify patients likely to respond to checkpoint inhibitor drugs. Insight has a CLIA-certified diagnostic laboratory with the capacity to support clinical trials or
assay design on certain commercially available analytic platforms that may be used to develop additional diagnostic tests. Insight has also performed assay
development and clinical testing services for pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. The Merger has been accounted for using the acquisition method of
accounting in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805, Business Combinations, which requires, among other things, that the
assets and liabilities assumed be recognized at their fair values as of the acquisition date. See Note 5 for a full discussion of the Merger.

 
Other tests in the development pipeline include DetermaTx™, a test intended to compliment DetermaIO™ by assessing the mutational status of a

tumor to help identify the appropriate targeted therapy. Oncocyte also plans to initiate the development of DetermaMx™ as a blood-based test to monitor
cancer patients for recurrence of their disease. Oncocyte plans to add to its diagnostic test pipeline the TheraSure™-CNI Monitor, a patented, blood-based test
for immunotherapy monitoring, through a merger with the developer of the test Chronix Biomedical, Inc. (“Chronix”) (see Note 15).

 
Liquidity
 

Oncocyte has incurred operating losses and negative cash flows since inception and had an accumulated deficit of $123.7 million as of December 31,
2020. Oncocyte expects to continue to incur operating losses and negative cash flows for the foreseeable future. Oncocyte did not generate revenues from its
operations prior to the first quarter of 2020, and revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020 were not sufficient to cover Oncocyte’s operating expenses for
that period. Oncocyte finances its operations primarily through the sale of shares of its common stock. Oncocyte was formerly a subsidiary of Lineage Cell
Therapeutics, Inc. (“Lineage”) and Lineage provided Oncocyte with accounting, billing, bookkeeping, payroll, treasury, payment of accounts payable, and
other similar administrative services, and the use of Lineage office and laboratory facilities, under a Shared Facilities and Services Agreement (the “Shared
Facilities Agreement”), which was terminated as to all services on September 30, 2019, and as to all use of facilities on December 31, 2019 (see Note 8).
Lineage’s ownership interest in Oncocyte has decreased to below 5% and Lineage no longer exercises significant influence over the operations and
management of Oncocyte.

 
As of December 31, 2020, Oncocyte had $7.1 million of cash and cash equivalents and held Lineage and AgeX Therapeutics, Inc. (“AgeX”) common

stock as marketable equity securities with a combined fair market value of $0.7 million. On March 20, 2020, Oncocyte entered into an Equity Distribution
Agreement with Piper Sandler & Co as “Sales Agent” (“ATM Agreement”) which Oncocyte may utilize in the future to raise up to $25 million of additional
equity capital through the sale of shares of its common stock in “at the market” transactions. Oncocyte raised $69.6 million of additional capital through sales
of its common stock during January and February 2021, which included sales through the ATM Agreement (see Note 15). A portion of the capital raised was
used to purchase the outstanding Razor common stock form Razor stockholders (see Note 15). Oncocyte believes that its current cash, cash equivalents and
marketable equity securities are sufficient to carry out current operations through at least twelve months from the issuance date of the consolidated financial
statements included in this Report.
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On April 23, 2020, Oncocyte obtained a U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) loan in the principal
amount of $1,140,930 from Silicon Valley Bank (the “Bank”). The PPP loan bears interest at a rate of 1% per annum (see Note 9) and matures on April 23,
2022. The principal amount and accrued interest on the PPP loan is subject to forgiveness by the Bank through the SBA under the provisions of the PPP loan
program. Oncocyte’s application for forgiveness of principal and accrued interest for the PPP loan is pending as of the date of this Report. Although Oncocyte
was obligated to make monthly payments of principal and interest on the PPP loan commending in November 2020, each in such equal amount required to
fully amortize the principal amount outstanding by the maturity date, Oncocyte has not been billed or charged for any payments for the PPP loan because of its
loan forgiveness application status pending. Oncocyte continues to accrue interest on the PPP loan and there can be no assurance that any part of the PPP loan
will be forgiven.

 
Oncocyte will need to raise additional capital to finance its operations, including the development and commercialization of its cancer diagnostic tests,

until such time as it is able to generate sufficient revenues from the commercialization of one or more of its cancer diagnostic tests and performing Pharma
Services to cover its operating expenses. Presently, Oncocyte is devoting substantially all of its efforts on initial commercialization efforts for DetermaRx™
and completing development and planning commercialization of its cancer diagnostic test DetermaIO™, although DetermaIO™ is currently available for
biopharma diagnostic development and research use only as a companion test in immunotherapy drug development to select patients for clinical trials. While
Oncocyte plans to primarily market its diagnostic tests in the United States through its own sales force, it is also beginning to make marketing arrangements
with distributors in other countries. In order to reduce capital needs and to expedite the commercialization of any new diagnostic tests that may become
available for clinical use, Oncocyte may also pursue marketing arrangements with other diagnostic companies through which Oncocyte might receive licensing
fees and royalty on sales, or through which it might form a joint venture to market its cancer tests and share in net revenues, in the United States or abroad.

 
In addition to general economic and capital market trends and conditions, Oncocyte’s ability to raise sufficient additional capital to finance its

operations from time to time will depend on a number of factors specific to Oncocyte’s operations such as operating revenues and expenses, progress in
development of, or in obtaining reimbursement coverage from Medicare for, DetermaIO™ and other future diagnostic tests that Oncocyte may develop or
acquire. The availability of financing and Oncocyte’s ability to generate revenues from operating activities may be adversely impacted by the ongoing COVID-
19 pandemic which could continue to cause deferrals of cancer surgeries that might otherwise have resulted in the utilization of DetermaRx™, and which could
continue to depress national and international economies and disrupt capital markets, supply chains, and aspects of Oncocyte’s operations. The extent to which
the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic will ultimately impact Oncocyte’s business, results of operations, financial condition, or cash flows is highly uncertain and
difficult to predict because it will depend on many factors that are outside Oncocyte’s control. The unavailability or inadequacy of financing or revenues to
meet future capital needs could force Oncocyte to modify, curtail, delay, or suspend some or all aspects of planned operations. Sales of additional equity
securities could result in the dilution of the interests of its shareholders. Oncocyte cannot assure that adequate financing will be available on favorable terms, if
at all.
 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Basis of presentation
 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). Beginning on
February 17, 2017, Lineage’s percentage ownership of the outstanding Oncocyte common stock declined below 50%, resulting in a loss of “control” of
Oncocyte under GAAP and, as a result, Lineage deconsolidated Oncocyte’s financial statements from Lineage’s consolidated financial statements. As a result
of this deconsolidation, since February 17, 2017 Oncocyte has no longer been considered a subsidiary of Lineage under GAAP. During the year ended
December 31, 2019, because Lineage’s ownership interest in Oncocyte decreased to below 20%, Lineage no longer exercised significant influence over the
operations and management of Oncocyte. As of the date of this Report, Lineage’s ownership interest in Oncocyte is less than 5%.
 

Prior to January 1, 2020, to the extent Oncocyte did not have its own employees or human resources for its operations, Lineage or Lineage
subsidiaries provided certain employees for administrative or operational services, as necessary, for the benefit of Oncocyte (see Note 8). Lineage allocated
expenses such as salaries and payroll related expenses incurred and paid on behalf of Oncocyte based on the amount of time that particular employees devoted
to Oncocyte affairs. Other expenses such as legal, accounting, human resources, marketing, travel, and entertainment expenses were allocated to Oncocyte to
the extent that those expenses were incurred by or on behalf of Oncocyte. Lineage also allocated certain overhead expenses such as facilities rent, utilities,
property taxes, insurance, and internet and telephone expenses based on a percentage determined by management. These allocations were made based upon
activity-based allocation drivers such as time spent, percentage of square feet of office or laboratory space used, and percentage of personnel devoted to
Oncocyte’s operations or management. Management evaluated the appropriateness of the percentage allocations and believes that the basis for allocation is
reasonable.
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Principles of consolidation
 

On January 31, 2020, with the consummation of the Merger, Insight became a wholly owned subsidiary of Oncocyte, and on that date Oncocyte began
consolidating Insight’s operations and results with Oncocyte’s operations and results (see Note 5).
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements, in the opinion of management, include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring
adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of Oncocyte’s financial condition and results of operations. All material intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.
 
COVID-19 impact and related risks
 

The ongoing global outbreak of COVID-19, and the various attempts throughout the world to contain it, have created significant volatility, uncertainty
and disruption. In response to government directives and guidelines, health care advisories and employee and other concerns, Oncocyte has altered certain
aspects of its operations. A number of Oncocyte’s employees have had to work remotely from home and those on site have had to follow Oncocyte’s social
distance guidelines, which could impact their productivity. COVID-19 could also disrupt Oncocyte’s operations due to absenteeism by infected or ill members
of management or other employees, or absenteeism by members of management and other employees who cannot effectively work remotely but who elect not
to come to work due to the illness affecting others in Oncocyte’s office or laboratory facilities, or due to quarantines.
 

During the COVID-19 pandemic, Oncocyte has not been able, and may continue to not be able, to maintain its preferred level of physician or
customer outreach and marketing of its diagnostic testing and Pharma Services, which may have negatively impacted and may continue to negatively impact
potential new customers’ interest in those tests and services. Because of COVID-19, travel, visits, and in-person meetings related to Oncocyte’s business have
been severely curtailed or canceled and Oncocyte has instead used on-line or virtual meetings to meet with potential customers and others.
 

In addition to operational adjustments, the consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic have led to uncertainties related to Oncocyte’s business growth
and ability to forecast the demand for its diagnostic testing and Pharma Services and resulting revenues. Concerns over available hospital, staffing, equipment,
and other resources, and the risk of exposure to the virus, has led to early stage lung cancer surgeries being delayed, and the continued deferral of lung cancer
surgeries due to resurgence in COVID-19 cases could result in delayed or reduced use of DetermaRx™.
 

It is possible that impacts of COVID-19 on Oncocyte’s operations or revenues or its access to capital could prevent Oncocyte from complying, or
could result in a material noncompliance, with one or more obligations or covenants under material agreements to which Oncocyte is a party, with the result
that Oncocyte would be in material breach of the applicable obligation, covenant, or agreement. Any such material breach could cause Oncocyte to incur
material financial liabilities or an acceleration of the date for paying a financial obligation to the other party to the applicable agreement, or could cause
Oncocyte to lose material contractual rights, such as rights to use leased equipment or laboratory or office space, or rights to use licensed patents or other
intellectual property the use of which is material to Oncocyte’s business. Similarly, it is possible that impacts of COVID-19 on the business, operations, or
financial condition of any third party with whom Oncocyte has a contractual relationship could cause the third party to be unable to perform its contractual
obligations to Oncocyte, resulting in Oncocyte’s loss of the benefits of a contract that could be material to Oncocyte’s business.
 

The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic and the various responses to it might impact Oncocytes’ business, operations and financial results
will depend on numerous evolving factors that are not subject to accurate prediction and that are beyond Oncocyte’s control.
 
Use of estimates

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets and liabilities, and contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates estimates which are subject to significant judgment, including, but not
limited to, valuation methods used, assumptions requiring the use of judgment to prepare financial projections, timing of potential commercialization of
acquired in-process intangible assets, applicable discount rates, probabilities of the likelihood of multiple outcomes of certain events related to contingent
consideration, comparable companies or transactions, determination of fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed including those relating to
contingent consideration, assumptions related to the going concern assessments, allocation of direct and indirect expenses, useful lives associated with long-
lived intangible assets, key assumptions in operating and financing leases including incremental borrowing rates, loss contingencies, valuation allowances
related to deferred income taxes, and assumptions used to value debt and stock-based awards and other equity instruments. Actual results may differ materially
from those estimates.
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Similarly, Oncocyte assessed certain accounting matters that generally require consideration of forecasted financial information. The accounting
matters assessed included, but were not limited to, Oncocyte’s equity investments, the carrying value of goodwill, acquired in-process intangible assets and
other long-lived assets. Those assessments as well as other estimates referenced above were made in the context of information reasonably available to
Oncocyte. While Oncocyte considered known or expected impacts of COVID-19 in making its assessments and estimates, the future impacts of COVID-19 are
not presently determinable and could cause actual results to differ materially from Oncocyte’s estimates and assessments. Oncocyte’s future analysis or forecast
of COVID-19 impacts could lead to changes in Oncocyte’s future estimates and assessments which could result in material impacts to Oncocyte’s consolidated
financial statements in future reporting periods.
 
Going concern assessment
 

In accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB”) standard on going concern, Accounting Standard Update, or ASU No.
2014-15, Oncocyte assesses going concern uncertainty in its consolidated financial statements to determine if it has sufficient cash, cash equivalents and
working capital on hand, including marketable equity securities, and any available borrowings on loans, to operate for a period of at least one year from the
date the consolidated financial statements are issued, which is referred to as the “look-forward period” as defined by ASU No. 2014-15. As part of this
assessment, based on conditions that are known and reasonably knowable to Oncocyte, it will consider various scenarios, forecasts, projections, estimates and
will make certain key assumptions, including the timing and nature of projected cash expenditures or programs, and its ability to delay or curtail expenditures
or programs, if necessary, among other factors. Based on this assessment, as necessary or applicable, Oncocyte makes certain assumptions around
implementing curtailments or delays in the nature and timing of programs and expenditures to the extent Oncocyte deems probable those implementations can
be achieved and it has the proper authority to execute them within the look-forward period in accordance with ASU No. 2014-15.
 
Business combinations and fair value measurements
 

Oncocyte accounts for business combinations in accordance with ASC 805, which requires the purchase consideration transferred to be measured at
fair value on the acquisition date in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement. ASC 820 establishes a single authoritative definition of fair value, sets
out a framework for measuring fair value and expands on required disclosures about fair value measurement. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that
would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. ASC 820 describes a fair value hierarchy based on three levels of inputs, of which the first
two are considered observable and the last unobservable, that may be used to measure fair value, which are the following:
 
 ● Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
   
 ● Level 2 – Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted market prices for similar assets or liabilities;

quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially
the full term of the assets or liabilities.

   
 ● Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
 

When a part of the purchase consideration consists of shares of Oncocyte common stock, Oncocyte calculates the purchase price attributable to those
shares, a Level 1 security, by determining the fair value of those shares quoted on the NYSE American as of the acquisition date. Oncocyte recognizes
estimated fair values of the tangible assets and identifiable intangible assets acquired, including in-process research and development, and liabilities assumed,
including any contingent consideration, as of the acquisition date. Goodwill is recognized as any amount of the fair value of the tangible and identifiable
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in excess of the consideration transferred. ASC 805 precludes the recognition of an assembled workforce as
an asset, effectively subsuming any assembled workforce value into goodwill.

 
In determining fair value, Oncocyte utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable

inputs to the extent possible, and also considers counterparty credit risk in its assessment of fair value. For the periods presented, Oncocyte has no financial
assets or liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis, except for cash and cash equivalents consisting of money market funds and marketable equity
securities of Lineage and AgeX common stock held by Oncocyte described below. These assets are measured at fair value using the period-end quoted market
prices as a Level 1 input. Oncocyte also has certain contingent consideration liabilities which are carried at fair value based on Level 3 inputs (see Note 5).
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The carrying amounts of cash equivalents, prepaid expenses and other current assets, amounts due to Lineage and other affiliates, accounts payable,
accrued expenses and other current liabilities approximate fair values because of the short-term nature of these items.
 

The carrying amount of the Loan Payable to Silicon Valley Bank approximates fair value because the loan bears interest at a floating market rate, and
the carrying amount of the PPP loan approximates fair value because of the SBA guarantee on the terms of the loan and the relatively recent funding date of the
loan (see Note 9).
 
Cash and cash equivalents
 

Cash equivalents typically consist of money market fund investments for capital preservation, with maturities of three months or less when purchased.
At December 31, 2020 and 2019, Oncocyte’s cash and cash equivalents balances totaled $7.1 million and $22.1 million, respectively.
 

Financial instruments that potentially subject Oncocyte to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents. Oncocyte maintains cash and
cash equivalent balances at financial institutions in excess of amounts insured by United States government agencies. Oncocyte places its cash and cash
equivalents with high credit quality financial institutions.
 
Accounting for Lineage and AgeX shares of common stock

 
Oncocyte accounts for the Lineage and AgeX shares of common it holds as marketable equity securities in accordance with ASC 320-10-25,

Investments – Debt and Equity Securities, as amended by Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-01, Financial Instruments–Overall: Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, as the shares have a readily determinable fair value quoted on the NYSE American and are held
principally to meet future working capital purposes, as necessary. The securities are measured at fair value and reported as current assets on the consolidated
balance sheets based on the closing trading price of the security as of the date being presented.

 
As of December 31, 2020, Oncocyte held 353,264 and 35,326 shares of common stock of Lineage and AgeX, respectively, as marketable equity

securities with a combined fair market value of $675,000.
 
Restricted cash
 

Oncocyte classifies cash that has contractual or legal restrictions imposed by third parties as restricted cash, which is restricted as to withdrawal or use
except for the specified purpose under a contract. Oncocyte includes the restricted cash consistent with the nature of the underlying contract and classifies it as
part of current assets if the restricted cash will be released in the next twelve months from the balance sheet date, or in deposits and other noncurrent assets if it
will be restricted for longer than twelve months from the balance sheet date.

 
Oncocyte adopted ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash, which requires that the statement of cash flows explain the

change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, and that restricted cash be included with cash and cash equivalents when
reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statements of cash flows. Prior to the adoption of ASU 2016-18, restricted
cash was not included with cash and cash equivalents on the statements of cash flows.
 

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the balance sheet dates that comprise the
total of the same such amounts shown in the statements of cash flows in accordance with ASU 2016-18 (in thousands):

 
  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 7,143   $ 22,072       
Restricted cash included in deposits and other noncurrent assets (see Note 14)   1,700    1,700       
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash as shown in the statements of cash flows  $ 8,843   $ 23,772       
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Goodwill and intangible assets
 

In accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other, in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) projects acquired in a business
combination that are not complete as of the acquisition date are capitalized and accounted for as indefinite-lived intangible assets until completion or
abandonment of the related research and development efforts. Upon successful completion of the project, the capitalized amount is amortized over its estimated
useful life. If a project is abandoned, all remaining capitalized amounts are written off immediately. Oncocyte considers various factors and risks for potential
impairment of IPR&D assets, including the current legal and regulatory environment and the competitive landscape. Adverse clinical trial results, significant
delays or inability to obtain local determination coverage (“LCD”) from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) for Medicare
reimbursement for a diagnostic test, the inability to bring a diagnostic test to market and the introduction or advancement of competitors’ diagnostic tests could
result in partial or full impairment of the related intangible assets. Consequently, the eventual realized value of the IPR&D project may vary from its fair value
at the date of acquisition, and IPR&D impairment charges may occur in future periods. During the period between completion or abandonment, the IPR&D
assets will not be amortized but will be tested for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests if Oncocyte becomes aware of any events occurring
or changes in circumstances that would indicate a reduction in the fair value of the IPR&D projects below their respective carrying amounts (see Notes 5 and
6).
 

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net identifiable assets and liabilities. Goodwill, similar to IPR&D, is not
amortized but is tested for impairment at least annually, or if circumstances indicate its value may no longer be recoverable. Qualitative factors considered in
this assessment include industry and market conditions, overall financial performance, and other relevant events and factors affecting Oncocyte’s business.
Based on the qualitative assessment, if it is determined that the fair value of goodwill is more likely than not to be less than its carrying amount, the fair value
of a reporting unit will be calculated and compared with its carrying amount and an impairment charge will be recognized for the amount that the carrying
value exceeds the fair value. Oncocyte continues to operate in one segment and considered to be the sole reporting unit and, therefore, goodwill is tested for
impairment at the enterprise level.
 

Oncocyte does not have intangible assets with indefinite useful lives other than goodwill and the acquired IPR&D discussed in Notes 5 and 6. As of
December 31, 2020, there has been no impairment of goodwill and intangible assets.
 
Contingent consideration liabilities
 

Certain of Oncocyte’s asset and business acquisitions involve the potential for future payment of consideration to third-parties and former selling
shareholders in amounts determined as a percentage of future net revenues generated, or upon attainment of revenue milestones, from Pharma Services or
diagnostic tests, as applicable, or annual minimum royalties to certain licensors, as provided in the applicable agreements. The fair value of such liabilities is
determined using unobservable inputs. These inputs include the estimated amount and timing of projected cash flows and the risk-adjusted discount rate used to
present value the cash flows. These obligations are referred to as contingent consideration.

 
ASC 805 requires that contingent consideration be estimated and recorded at fair value as of the acquisition date as part of the total consideration

transferred. Contingent consideration is an obligation of the acquirer to transfer additional assets or equity interests to the selling shareholders in the future if
certain future events occur or conditions are met, such as the attainment of product development milestones. Contingent consideration also includes additional
future payments to selling shareholders based on achievement of components of earnings, such as “earn-out” provisions or percentage of future revenues,
including royalties paid to the selling shareholders based on a percentage of revenues generated from DetermaIO™ and Insight Pharma Services over their
respective useful life.

 
The fair value of contingent consideration after the acquisition date is reassessed by Oncocyte as changes in circumstances and conditions occur, with

the subsequent change in fair value recorded in the consolidated statements of operations. Changes in key assumptions can materially affect the estimated fair
value of contingent consideration liabilities and, accordingly, the resulting gain or loss that Oncocyte records in its consolidated financial statements. See Notes
5 and 7 for a full discussion of these liabilities.
 
Investments in capital stock of privately held companies

 
Oncocyte evaluates whether investments held in common stock of other companies require consolidation of the company under, first, the variable

interest entity (“VIE”) model, and then under the voting interest model in accordance with accounting guidance for consolidations under Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 810-10. If consolidation of the entity is not required under either the VIE model or the voting interest model, Oncocyte determines
whether the equity method of accounting should be applied in accordance with ASC 323, Investments – Equity Method and Joint Ventures. The equity method
applies to investments in common stock or in-substance common stock if Oncocyte exercises significant influence over, but does not control, the entity, where
significant influence is typically represented by ownership of 20% or more, but less than majority ownership, of the voting interests of a company.
 

Oncocyte initially records equity method investments at fair value on the date of the acquisition with subsequent adjustments to the investment
balance based on Oncocyte’s share of earnings or losses from the investment. The equity method investment balance is shown in noncurrent assets on the
consolidated balance sheets.
 

Oncocyte reviews investments accounted for under the equity method for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the investment may not be fully recoverable. If a determination is made that an “other-than-temporary” impairment exists, Oncocyte writes
down its investment to fair value. On September 30, 2019, Oncocyte acquired a 25% ownership interest in Razor accounted for under the equity method of
accounting as further discussed in Note 7.
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On February 24, 2021, Oncocyte acquired the remaining 75% ownership interest in Razor (see Note 15).
 
Leases

 
Oncocyte accounts for leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases. Oncocyte determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Leases are classified

as either financing or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the consolidated statements of operations. Under the
available practical expedients for the adoption of ASC 842, Oncocyte accounts for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. Oncocyte
recognizes right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities for leases with terms greater than twelve months in the consolidated balance sheet. ROU assets
represent the right to use an underlying asset during the lease term and lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.
Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As most
leases do not provide an implicit rate, Oncocyte uses an incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining
the present value of lease payments. Oncocyte uses the implicit rate when it is readily determinable. The operating lease ROU asset also includes any lease
payments made and excludes lease incentives. Lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that Oncocyte
will exercise that option. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating leases are included as right-of-
use assets in machinery and equipment, and ROU lease liabilities, current and long-term, in the consolidated balance sheets. Financing leases are included in
machinery and equipment, and in financing lease liabilities, current and long-term, in the consolidated balance sheets. Oncocyte discloses the amortization of
our ROU assets and operating lease payments as a net amount, “Amortization of right-of-use assets and liabilities”, on the consolidated statements of cash
flows.

 
On January 1, 2019, the adoption date of ASC 842, and based on the available practical expedients under the standard, Oncocyte did not reassess any

expired or existing contracts, reassess the lease classification for any expired or existing leases and reassess initial direct costs for exiting leases. Oncocyte also
elected not to capitalize leases that have terms of twelve months or less.

 
The adoption of ASC 842 did not have a material impact to Oncocyte’s consolidated financial statements because Oncocyte did not have any

significant operating leases at the time of adoption. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, Oncocyte entered into various operating leases and
an embedded operating lease in accordance with ASC 842 discussed in Note 14. Oncocyte’s accounting for financing leases (previously referred to as “capital
leases”) remained substantially unchanged.
 
Machinery and equipment, construction in progress
 

Machinery and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, generally over a period of 3 to 10 years. For equipment purchased under financing leases, Oncocyte depreciates the
equipment based on the shorter of the useful life of the equipment or the term of the lease, ranging from 3 to 5 years, depending on the nature and classification
of the financing lease. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred whereas significant renewals and betterments are capitalized. When assets are retired
or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected
in Oncocyte’s results of operations.

 
Construction in progress, comprised primarily of leasehold improvements under construction, is not depreciated until the underlying asset is placed

into service.
 
Long-lived intangible assets
 

Long-lived intangible assets, consisting primarily of acquired customer relationships, are stated at acquired cost, less accumulated amortization.
Amortization expense is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 5 years (see Note 5).
 
Impairment of long-lived assets
 

Oncocyte assesses the impairment of long-lived assets, which consist primarily of right-of-use assets for operating leases, customer relationships and
machinery and equipment, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that such assets might be impaired and the carrying value may not be
recoverable. If events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable and the expected undiscounted future
cash flows attributable to the asset are less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its
fair value is recorded.
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As part of Oncocyte’s impairment assessment of its long-lived assets, Oncocyte determined that certain assets, mainly comprised of machinery and
equipment and related prepaid service agreements used in the development of DetermaDx™ were impaired as of June 30, 2020, because Oncocyte determined
to discontinue the development of that diagnostic test. Accordingly, Oncocyte recorded a noncash charge of $422,000 representing the net book value of those
assets as of that date and included that charge in research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2020 (see Note 4). As of December 31,
2020, there has been no other impairment of long-lived assets.
 
Accounting for warrants
 

Oncocyte determines the accounting classification of warrants it issues, as either liability or equity classified, by first assessing whether the warrants
meet liability classification in accordance with ASC 480-10, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity,
then in accordance with ASC 815-40, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock. Under
ASC 480, warrants are considered liability classified if the warrants are mandatorily redeemable, obligate Oncocyte to settle the warrants or the underlying
shares by paying cash or other assets, or warrants that must or may require settlement by issuing variable number of shares. If warrants do not meet liability
classification under ASC 480-10, Oncocyte assesses the requirements under ASC 815-40, which states that contracts that require or may require the issuer to
settle the contract for cash are liabilities recorded at fair value, irrespective of the likelihood of the transaction occurring that triggers the net cash settlement
feature. If the warrants do not require liability classification under ASC 815-40, and in order to conclude equity classification, Oncocyte also assesses whether
the warrants are indexed to its common stock and whether the warrants are classified as equity under ASC 815-40 or other applicable GAAP. After all relevant
assessments, Oncocyte concludes whether the warrants are classified as liability or equity. Liability classified warrants require fair value accounting at issuance
and subsequent to initial issuance with all changes in fair value after the issuance date recorded in the statements of operations. Equity classified warrants only
require fair value accounting at issuance with no changes recognized subsequent to the issuance date. Oncocyte does not have any liability classified warrants
as of any period presented (see Note 10).
 
Income taxes
 

Oncocyte has filed a standalone U.S. federal income tax return since its inception. For California purposes, Oncocyte activity for 2016 and for the
period from January 1, 2017 through February 16, 2017, the date immediately before Lineage owned less than 50% of Oncocyte outstanding common stock,
was included in Lineage’s California combined tax return. For periods beginning on February 17, 2017 and thereafter, Oncocyte filed or will file a standalone
California income tax return. The provision for state income taxes has been determined as if Oncocyte had filed separate tax returns for the periods presented.
Accordingly, the effective tax rate of Oncocyte in future years could vary from its historical effective tax rates depending on the future legal structure of
Oncocyte and related tax elections. The historical deferred tax assets, including the operating losses and credit carryforwards generated by Oncocyte, will
remain with Oncocyte. Oncocyte accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, which prescribes the use of the asset and liability
method, whereby deferred tax asset or liability account balances are calculated at the balance sheet date using current tax laws and rates in effect. Valuation
allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. Oncocyte’s judgments regarding future taxable income may change over time due to changes in market conditions, changes in tax laws, tax planning
strategies or other factors. If Oncocyte’s assumptions and consequently its estimates change in the future, the valuation allowance may be increased or
decreased, which may have a material impact on Oncocyte’s statements of operations.
 

The guidance also prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax
positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more-likely-than-not sustainable upon
examination by taxing authorities. Oncocyte will recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. No
amounts were accrued for the payment of interest and penalties as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. Oncocyte is not aware of any uncertain tax positions that
could result in significant additional payments, accruals, or other material deviation for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. Oncocyte is currently
unaware of any tax issues under review.
 

On December 22, 2017, the United States enacted major federal tax reform legislation, Public Law No. 115-97, commonly referred to as the 2017 Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act (“2017 Tax Act”), which enacted a broad range of changes to the Internal Revenue Code. Changes to taxes on corporations impacted by the
2017 Tax Act include, but are not limited to, lowering the U.S. federal tax rates to a 21% flat tax rate, eliminating the corporate alternative minimum tax
(“AMT”), imposing additional limitations on the deductibility of interest and net operating losses, allowing any net operating loss (“NOLs”) generated in tax
years ending after December 31, 2017 to be carried forward indefinitely and generally repealing carrybacks, reducing the maximum deduction for NOL
carryforwards arising in tax years beginning after 2017 to a percentage of the taxpayer’s taxable income, and allowing for additional expensing of certain
capital expenditures.
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On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “Cares Act”) was enacted. The CARES Act included loans and
grants to certain businesses, and temporary amendments to the Internal Revenue Code which changed net loss carryforward and back provisions and the
business interest expenses limitation. Under the CARES Act provisions, the most relevant income tax considerations to Oncocyte relate to the amounts
received under the Paycheck Protection Program loan program and the possible forgiveness of those loans by the SBA. Oncocyte has applied for forgiveness
for the PPP loan and the application is still pending a decision by the SBA as of the date of this Report.
 

On December 21, 2020, the U.S. president has signed into law the “Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021” which includes further COVID-19
economic relief and extension of certain expiring tax provisions. The relief package includes a tax provision clarifying that businesses with forgiven PPP loans
can deduct regular business expenses that are paid for with the loan proceeds for federal tax purposes. Additional pandemic relief tax measures include an
expansion of the employee retention credit, enhanced charitable contribution deductions, and a temporary full deduction for business expenses for food and
beverages provided by a restaurant (see Note 12).
 
Revenue recognition
 

Prior to January 1, 2020, Oncocyte generated no revenues. Effective on January 1, 2020, Oncocyte adopted the revenue recognition standard ASC
Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC) 606. Pursuant to ASC 606, revenues are recognized when control of services performed is
transferred to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration Oncocyte expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services. ASC 606 provides for a
five-step model that includes, (i) identifying the contract with a customer, (ii) identifying the performance obligations in the contract, (iii) determining the
transaction price, (iv) allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations, and (v) recognizing revenue when, or as, an entity satisfies a performance
obligation.
 

DetermaRx™ testing revenue
 

In the first quarter of 2020, Oncocyte commercially launched DetermaRx™ and commenced performing tests on clinical samples through orders
received from physicians, hospitals and other healthcare providers. In determining whether all of the revenue recognition criteria (i) through (v) above are met
with respect to DetermaRx™ tests, each test result is considered a single performance obligation and is generally considered complete when the test result is
delivered or made available to the prescribing physician electronically and, as such, there are no shipping or handling fees incurred by Oncocyte or billed to
customers. Although Oncocyte bills a list price for all tests ordered and completed for all payer types, Oncocyte recognizes realized revenue on a cash basis
rather than accrual basis when it cannot conclude that all the revenue recognition criteria have been met. Because DetermaRx™ is a novel test and there are no
current reimbursement arrangements with third-party payers other than Medicare, the transaction price represents variable consideration. Application of the
constraint for variable consideration is an area that requires significant judgment. For all payers other than Medicare, Oncocyte must take into account the
novelty of the test, the uncertainty of receiving payment, or being subject to claims for refund, from payers with whom it does not have a sufficient payment
collection history or contractual reimbursement agreements. Accordingly, for those payers, Oncocyte expects to continue to recognize revenue on a cash basis
until it has a sufficient history to reliably estimate payment patterns or has contractual reimbursement arrangements, or both, in place. In September 2020,
Oncocyte received a final pricing decision for DetermaRx™ from CMS and with Medicare coverage in effect, Oncocyte commenced recognizing revenue
when DetermaRx™ tests are performed for Medicare patients, or when payment was approved by Medicare in the case of certain tests performed prior to
September 2020, rather than on a cash basis.
 

As of December 31, 2020, Oncocyte had accounts receivable from Medicare of $100,000 for completed DetermaRx™ tests (see Note 13).
 
Pharma Services revenue

 
Revenues recognized during the year ended December 31, 2020 include Pharma Services performed by Oncocyte’s Insight subsidiary. Insight

provides a range of molecular diagnostic services to its pharmaceutical customers (referred to as “Pharma Services”) including testing for biomarker discovery,
assay design and development, clinical trial support, and a broad spectrum of biomarker tests in its CLIA-certified laboratory. These Pharma Services are
generally performed under individual scope of work (“SOW”) arrangements with specific deliverables defined by the customer. Pharma Services are generally
performed on a time and materials basis. Upon Insight’s completion of the service to the customer in accordance with the SOW, Insight has the right to bill the
customer for the agreed upon price (either on a per test or per deliverable basis) and recognizes the pharma service revenue at that time. Insight identifies each
sale of its pharma service offering as a single performance obligation.
 

68



 
 

Completion of the service and satisfaction of the performance obligation under a SOW is typically evidenced by access to the report or test made
available to the customer or any other form or applicable manner of delivery defined in the SOW. However, for certain SOWs under which work is performed
pursuant to the customer’s highly customized specifications, Insight has the enforceable right to bill the customer for work completed, rather than upon
completion of the SOW. For those SOWs, Insight recognizes revenue over a period of time during which the work is performed using a formula that accounts
for expended efforts, generally measured in labor hours, as a percentage of total estimated efforts for the completion of the SOW. As Insight satisfies the
performance obligation under the SOW, any amounts earned as revenue and billed to the customer are included in accounts receivable. Any revenues earned
but not yet billed to the customer as of the date of Oncocyte’s consolidated financial statements are recorded as contract assets and are included in prepaids and
other current assets as of the financial statement date. Amounts recorded in contract assets are reclassified to accounts receivable in Oncocyte’s consolidated
financial statements when the customer is invoiced according to the billing schedule in the contract.
 

Insight establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based on the evaluation of the collectability of its Pharma Services accounts receivables after
considering a variety of factors, including the length of time receivables are past due, significant events that may impair the customer’s ability to pay, such as a
bankruptcy filing or deterioration in the customer’s operating results or financial position, and historical experience. If circumstances related to customers
change, estimates of the recoverability of receivables would be further adjusted. Insight continuously monitors collections and payments from customers and
maintains a provision for estimated credit losses and uncollectible accounts, if any, based upon its historical experience and any specific customer collection
issues that have been identified. Amounts determined to be uncollectible are written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. As of December 31, 2020,
Oncocyte has not recorded any losses or allowance for doubtful accounts on its account receivables from Pharma Services.
 

As of December 31, 2020, Oncocyte had accounts receivable from Pharma Services customers of $103,000 (see Note 13).
 

Cost of revenues
 

Cost of revenues generally consists of cost of materials, direct labor including benefits, bonus and stock-based compensation, equipment and
infrastructure expenses, clinical sample related costs associated with performing Pharma Services and DetermaRx™ tests, and license fees due to third parties,
and also includes amortization of acquired customer relationship intangible assets. Infrastructure expenses include depreciation of laboratory equipment,
allocated rent costs, leasehold improvements and allocated information technology costs for operations at Oncocyte’s CLIA laboratories in California and
Tennessee. Costs associated with performing diagnostic tests and Pharma Services are recorded as the tests or services are performed regardless of whether
revenue was recognized with respect to that test or pharma service. Royalties or revenue share payments for licensed technology calculated as a percentage of
revenues generated using the associated technology are recorded as expenses at the time the related revenues are recognized. As discussed above, Oncocyte
generated no revenues or cost of revenues prior to January 1, 2020.
 
Research and development expenses
 

Research and development expenses are comprised of costs incurred to develop technology, and include: salaries and benefits, including stock-based
compensation; laboratory expenses, including reagents and supplies used in research and development laboratory work; infrastructure expenses, including
allocated facility occupancy costs; and contract services and other outside costs. Indirect research and development expenses are allocated primarily based on
headcount, as applicable, and include rent and utilities, common area maintenance, telecommunications, property taxes, and insurance. Research and
development costs are expensed as incurred. For periods prior to January 1, 2020, indirect research and development expenses included overhead costs incurred
and allocated by Lineage to Oncocyte under the Shared Facilities Agreement as expenses that benefited or supported Oncocyte’s research and development
functions. The Shared Facilities Agreement was terminated as of December 31, 2019 (see Note 8).
 
General and administrative expenses
 

General and administrative expenses include both direct expenses incurred by Oncocyte and, prior to January 1, 2020, indirect overhead costs incurred
by Lineage and allocated to Oncocyte under the Shared Facilities Agreement as expenses that benefited or supported Oncocyte’s general and administrative
functions. Direct general and administrative expenses consist primarily of: compensation and related benefits, including stock-based compensation, for
executive and corporate personnel; professional and consulting fees; rent and utilities; common area maintenance; telecommunications; property taxes; and
insurance. Indirect general and administrative expenses allocated by Lineage to Oncocyte under the Shared Facilities Agreement, which was terminated as of
December 31, 2019 (see Note 8), were primarily based on headcount or space occupied, as applicable, and include costs for financial reporting and compliance,
rent and utilities, common area maintenance, telecommunications, property taxes, and insurance.
 
Sales and marketing expenses
 

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel costs and related benefits, including stock-based compensation, trade show expenses,
branding and positioning expenses, and consulting fees. Sales and marketing expenses also include indirect expenses for applicable overhead allocated based
on headcount, and include allocated costs for rent and utilities, common area maintenance, telecommunications, property taxes, and insurance. Prior to January
1, 2020, a portion of the expenses allocated by Lineage under the Shared Facilities Agreement were designated by Oncocyte as sales and marketing expenses to
the extent Oncocyte determined that such expenses were fairly allocable to sales and marketing functions, including overhead.
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Stock-based compensation
 

Oncocyte recognizes compensation expense related to employee option grants and restricted stock grants, if any, in accordance with FASB ASC 718,
Compensation – Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”).
 

All excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies from stock-based compensation awards accounted for under ASC 718 are recognized as income tax benefit
or expense, respectively, in the statements of operations. An excess income tax benefit arises when the tax deduction of a share-based award for income tax
purposes exceeds the compensation cost recognized for financial reporting purposes and, a tax deficiency arises when the compensation cost exceeds the tax
deduction. Because Oncocyte has a full valuation allowance for all periods presented (see Note 12), there was no impact to Oncocyte statements of operations
for any excess tax benefits or deficiencies, as any excess benefit or deficiency would be offset by the change in the valuation allowance. Forfeitures are
accounted for as they occur.
 

Oncocyte estimates the fair value of employee stock-based payment awards on the grant-date and recognizes the resulting fair value over the requisite
service period. For stock-based awards that vest only upon the attainment of one or more performance goals set by Oncocyte at the time of the grant
(sometimes referred to as milestone vesting), compensation cost is recognized if and when Oncocyte determines that it is probable that the performance
condition or conditions will be, or have been, achieved. Oncocyte uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model for estimating the fair value of options granted
under Oncocyte’s equity plans. The fair value of each restricted stock grant, if any, is determined based on the value of the common stock granted or sold.
Oncocyte has elected to treat stock-based payment awards with graded vesting schedules and time-based service conditions as a single award and recognizes
stock-based compensation on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.
 

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based
Payment Accounting, which simplifies the accounting for non-employee share-based payment transactions. The new standard expands the scope of Topic 718
to include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from non-employees. Oncocyte adopted ASU 2018-07 on January 1, 2019. As
Oncocyte does not have a significant number of outstanding and unvested non-employee share-based awards, the application of the new standard did not have a
material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
 

The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires Oncocyte to make certain assumptions including the expected option term, the expected volatility,
the risk-free interest rate and the dividend yield (see Note 11).
 

The expected term of employee stock options represents the weighted-average period that the stock options are expected to remain outstanding.
Oncocyte estimates the expected term of options granted based on its own experience and, in part, based on upon the “simplified method” provided under Staff
Accounting Bulletin, Topic 14, or SAB Topic 14, as necessary. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, Oncocyte estimated the expected volatility
using its own stock price volatility to the extent applicable or a combination of its stock price volatility and the stock price volatility of peer companies, for a
period equal to the expected term of the options. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upon observed interest rates on the United States government
securities appropriate for the expected term of Oncocyte’s stock options. The dividend yield assumption is based on Oncocyte’s history and expectation of
dividend payouts. Oncocyte has never declared or paid any cash dividends on its common stock, and Oncocyte does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in
the foreseeable future.
 
Net loss per common share
 

Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the
period. Diluted net loss per share reflects the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding plus the potential effect of dilutive securities or
contracts which are exercisable to common stock, such as stock options and warrants (using the treasury stock method) and shares issuable in future periods,
except in cases where the effect would be anti-dilutive. Because Oncocyte reported net losses for all periods presented, all potentially dilutive common stock is
antidilutive for those periods.
 

The following common stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per common share of common stock for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 because including them would have been antidilutive (in thousands):
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2020   2019  
Stock options   8,906    1,589  
Warrants   3,384    3,384  
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Segments
 

Oncocyte’s executive management team, as a group, represents the entity’s chief operating decision makers. To date, Oncocyte’s executive
management team has viewed Oncocyte’s operations as one segment that includes the research, development and commercialization of diagnostic tests for the
detection of cancer, including molecular diagnostic services to pharmaceutical customers. As a result, the financial information disclosed materially represents
all of the financial information related to Oncocyte’s sole operating segment.
 
Recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted
 

The following accounting standards, which are not yet effective, are presently being evaluated by Oncocyte to determine the impact that it might have
on its consolidated financial statements.

 
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes

the following exceptions: exception to the incremental approach for intraperiod tax allocation; exception to accounting for basis differences when there are
ownership changes in foreign investments; and exception to interim period tax accounting for year to date losses that exceed anticipated losses. ASU 2019-12
also improves financial reporting for franchise taxes that are partially based on income; transactions with a government that result in a step up in the tax basis
of goodwill; separate financial statements of legal entities that are not subject to tax; and enacted changes in tax laws in interim periods. ASU 2019-12 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. Oncocyte will adopt this
standard as of January 1, 2021 and does not expect a material impact on the disclosure requirements and its effect on the consolidated financial statements.

 
In August 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt – Debt with Conversion and Other Options (subtopic 470-

20) and Derivatives and Hedging – Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40). This update simplifies the accounting for convertible debt instruments
and amends the accounting for certain contracts and freestanding financial instruments in an entity’s own equity, including warrants and preferred stock. The
new guidance modifies how particular convertible instruments and certain contracts that may be settled in cash or shares impact the computation of diluted
EPS. The amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early
adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Oncocyte does not expect a material impact of this guidance on its
consolidated financial statements.
 
3. Selected Balance Sheet Components
 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
 

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, prepaid expenses and other current assets were comprised of the following (in thousands):
 
  2020   2019  
       
Prepaid insurance  $ 264       $ 80      
Prepaid vendors, deposits and service agreements   646        389      
Other   295        36      
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 1,205       $ 505      
 
Deposits and other noncurrent assets

 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, deposits and other noncurrent assets were comprised of the following (in thousands):

 
  2020   2019  
       
Restricted cash and security deposit for the Irvine Lease (Note 14)  $ 1,850       $ 1,850      
Long-term prepaid maintenance contracts   118        268      
Other   88        93      
Total deposits and other noncurrent assets  $ 2,056       $ 2,211      
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Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
 

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, accrued expenses and other current liabilities were comprised of the following (in thousands):
 

  2020   2019  
Accrued compensation (1)  $ 3,556       $ 1,287      
Cash holdback liability (see Note 5)   600        -      
Accrued vendor and other expenses   1,596        1,323      
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  $ 5,752       $ 2,610      

 
(1) Includes approximately $1.1 million in severance accrual as of December 31, 2020, in accordance with the severance benefits provided under certain

employment and severance benefit agreements, in connection with Oncocyte’s partial reduction in force plan and salary reduction agreements instituted in
September 2020 (see Note 14).

 
4. Right-of-use Assets, Machinery and Equipment, Net and Construction in Progress
 

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, rights-of-use assets, machinery and equipment, net, and construction in progress were comprised of the following
(in thousands):
 
  2020   2019  
Right-of-use assets (1)  $ 3,397         $ 2,856        
Machinery and equipment   2,480          1,089        
Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (1,440)         (343)       
Right-of-use assets, machinery and equipment, net   4,437          3,602        
Construction in progress   2,087          126        
Right-of-use assets, machinery and equipment, net, and construction in progress  $ 6,524         $ 3,728        
 
(1) Oncocyte recorded certain right-of-use assets and liabilities for operating leases in accordance with ASC 842 (see Note 14).
 

Depreciation expense amounted to approximately $313,000 and $344,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Accumulated depreciation and amortization as of December 31, 2020 reflects a noncash impairment charge of $333,000 representing the net book value of
certain machinery and equipment primarily used in the discontinued DetermaDx development program (see Note 2); the noncash charge is included in research
and development expenses in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020.

 
Construction in progress
 

Construction in progress as of December 31, 2020 includes $2.1 million for leasehold improvements, consisting primarily of the costs incurred for the
construction of Oncocyte’s primary laboratory facility its Irvine, California headquarters. Of this amount, $1.1 million has been financed by the landlord and is
included in landlord liability (see Note 14). Construction in progress is not depreciated until the underlying asset is placed into service.

 
5. Acquisition of Insight

 
On January 31, 2020, Oncocyte completed its acquisition of Insight pursuant to the Merger Agreement.
 

Merger Consideration at Closing
 
Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, Oncocyte agreed to pay $7 million in cash and $5 million of Oncocyte common stock (the “Initial Merger

Consideration”), subject to a holdback for indemnity claims not to exceed ten percent of the total Merger Consideration. The parties agreed to holdback $0.6
million in cash (“Cash Holdback”) and approximately 0.2 million shares of Oncocyte common stock (“Stock Holdback”) through December 31, 2020, in the
event that Oncocyte has indemnity claims. The Stock Holdback shares are considered to be issued and outstanding shares of Oncocyte common stock as of the
Merger Date but were placed in an escrow account and will be released from escrow after the holdback period, less any shares that may be returned to
Oncocyte on account of any indemnity claims. Accordingly, on the Merger Date, Oncocyte delivered approximately $11.4 million in Merger Consideration,
consisting of $6.4 million in cash, which was net of the $0.6 million cash holdback, and 1.9 million shares of Oncocyte common stock, which includes the
stock holdback shares placed in escrow. The shares of Oncocyte common stock delivered were valued at $5 million, based on the average closing price of
Oncocyte common stock on the NYSE American during the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the Merger Agreement.
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Milestone Payments (Milestone Contingent Consideration)

 
In addition to the Initial Merger Consideration, Oncocyte may also pay contingent consideration of up to $6.0 million in any combination of cash or

shares of Oncocyte common stock if certain milestones are achieved (the “Milestone Contingent Consideration”), which consist of (i) a $1.5 million clinical
trial completion and data publication milestone, (ii) $3.0 million for an affirmative final local coverage determination from CMS for a specified lung cancer
test, and (iii) up to $1.5 million for achieving certain CMS reimbursement milestones.

 
Revenue Share (Royalty Contingent Consideration)

 
As additional consideration for Insight’s shareholders, the Merger Agreement provides for Oncocyte to pay a revenue share of not more than ten

percent of net collected revenues for current Insight pharma service offerings over a period of ten years, and a tiered revenue share percentage of net collected
revenues through the end of the technology lifecycle if certain new cancer tests are developed and commercialized using Insight technology.

 
Registration Rights

 
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Oncocyte filed a registration statement with the SEC to register the resale of the shares of common stock under the

Securities Act issued in connection with the Merger, which the SEC declared effective in August 2020.
 

Workforce
 
In connection with the closing of the Merger, Oncocyte did not assume sponsorship of the Insight Equity Incentive Plan. Accordingly, the Insight

Equity Incentive Plan and all related stock options to purchase shares of Insight common stock outstanding immediately prior to the Merger were canceled on
the Merger Date for no consideration. At the Merger Date, all of Insight’s employees ceased employment with Insight and Oncocyte offered employment to
certain of those former Insight employees, principally in laboratory roles and certain administrative roles (“New Oncocyte Employees”), and granted new
equity awards to the New Oncocyte Employees under the Oncocyte 2018 Equity Incentive Plan. All Oncocyte stock option awards granted to the New
Oncocyte Employees have vesting terms and conditions consistent with stock options granted to most other Oncocyte employees.
 
Aggregate Merger Consideration and Purchase Price Allocation
 

The calculation of the aggregate merger consideration, consisting of the Initial Merger Consideration, Milestone Contingent Consideration and
Royalty Contingent Consideration (the “Aggregate Merger Consideration”) transferred on January 31, 2020, at fair value, is shown in the following table (in
thousands, except for share and per share amounts). The Milestone Contingent Consideration and the Royalty Contingent Consideration are collectively
referred to as “Contingent Consideration”.
 
Cash consideration  $ 7,000(1)
     
Stock consideration     
     
Shares of Oncocyte common stock issued on the Merger Date   1,915,692(2)
     
Closing price per share of Oncocyte common stock on the Merger Date  $ 2.61 
     
Market value of Oncocyte common stock issued  $ 5,000 
     
Contingent Consideration  $ 11,130(3)
     
Total fair value of consideration transferred on the Merger Date  $ 23,130 
 
(1) The cash consideration paid on the Merger Date was $6.4 million, which was net of a $0.6 million cash holdback discussed above, recorded as a holdback

liability since Oncocyte retained the cash. In accordance with ASC 805, amounts held back for general representations and warranties of the sellers are
included as part of the total consideration transferred.

  
(2) The 229,885 Stock Holdback shares were placed in an escrow account and considered to be issued and outstanding Oncocyte common stock. In

accordance with ASC 805, amounts held back for general representations and warranties of the sellers, including escrowed shares of common stock, are
included as part of the total consideration transferred.
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(3) In accordance with ASC 805, Contingent Consideration, at fair value, is part of the total considered transferred on the Merger Date, as further discussed

below.
 
Aggregate Merger Consideration allocation

 
Oncocyte allocated the Aggregate Merger Consideration transferred to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed

based on their estimated fair values as of the Merger Date. The fair values of the identifiable intangible assets acquired and the liabilities assumed was
determined based on inputs that were unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement, which is also based on estimates and assumptions
made by management at the time of the Merger. As such, this was classified as Level 3 fair value hierarchy measurements and disclosures in accordance with
ASC 820.

 
The following table sets forth the allocation of the Aggregate Merger Consideration transferred to Insight’s tangible and identifiable intangible assets

acquired and liabilities assumed on the Merger Date, with the excess recorded as goodwill (in thousands):
 
  January 31, 2020  
Assets acquired:     
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 36             
Accounts receivable and other current assets   42             
Right-of-use assets, machinery and equipment   585             
Long-lived intangible assets – customer relationships   440             
Acquired in-process research and development   14,650             
     

Total identifiable assets acquired (a)   15,753             
     
Liabilities assumed:     
Accounts payable   61             
Right-of-use liabilities – operating lease   495             
Contingent Consideration transferred   11,130             
Long-term deferred income tax liability   1,254             
     

Total identifiable liabilities assumed (b)   12,940             
     

Net assets acquired, excluding goodwill (a) - (b) = (c)   2,813             
     

Total cash and stock consideration transferred (d)   12,000             
     

Goodwill (d) - (c)  $ 9,187             
 
The valuation of identifiable intangible assets and applicable estimated useful lives are as follows (in thousands, except for useful life):

 

  
Estimated Asset

Fair Value   Useful Life (Years)  
In process research and development (“IPR&D”)  $ 14,650            n/a          
Customer relationships   440            5          
  $ 15,090             

 
The following is a discussion of the valuation methods and significant assumptions used to determine the fair value of Insights’ material assets and

liabilities in connection with the Merger:
 
Acquired In-Process Research and Development and Deferred Income Tax Liability – The fair value of identifiable IPR&D intangible assets consists

of $14.7 million allocated to DetermaIO™.
 
Oncocyte determined the estimated aggregate fair value of DetermaIO™ using the Multi-Period Excess Earnings Method (“MPEEM”) under the

income approach. MPEEM calculates the economic benefits by determining the income attributable to an intangible asset after the returns are subtracted for
contributory assets such as working capital, assembled workforce, and fixed assets. The resulting after-tax net earnings are discounted at a rate commensurate
with the risk inherent in the economic benefit projections of the assets.
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To calculate fair value of DetermaIO™ under MPEEM, Oncocyte used probability-weighted, projected cash flows discounted at a rate considered
appropriate given the significant inherent risks associated with similar assets. Cash flows were calculated based on projections of revenues and expenses related
to the asset and were assumed to extend through a multi-year projection period. Revenues from commercialization of DetermaIO™ were based on the
estimated market potential for the indications for use which may include tests for the treatment of certain lung cancers and tests for the treatment of certain
breast cancers. The expected cash flows from DetermaIO™ were then discounted to present value using a weighted-average cost of capital for companies with
profiles substantially similar to that of Oncocyte and the risk inherent in the economic benefit projections of similar assets, which Oncocyte believes represents
the rate that market participants would use to value those assets. The discount rate used to value DetermaIO™ was approximately 35%. The projected cash
flows were based on significant assumptions, including the time and resources needed to complete development of the asset, timing and reimbursement rates
from CMS, regulatory approvals, if any, to commercialize the asset, estimates of the number of tests that might be performed, revenue and operating profit
expected to be generated by the asset, the expected economic life of the asset, market penetration and competition, and risks associated with achieving
commercialization, including delay or failure to obtain CMS and any required regulatory approval, failure of clinical trials, and intellectual property litigation.

 
Because the IPR&D (prior to completion or abandonment of the research and development) is considered an indefinite-lived asset for accounting

purposes but is not recognized for tax purposes, the fair value of the IPR&D on the acquisition date generated a deferred income tax liability (“DTL”) in
accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes. This DTL is computed using the fair value of the IPR&D assets on the acquisition date multiplied by Oncocyte’s
federal and state effective income tax rates. While this DTL would reverse on impairment or sale or commencement of amortization of the related intangible
assets, ASC 740 allows Oncocyte to treat acquired available deferred tax assets (“DTAs”), such as Insight’s net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) (subject
to the annual limitation under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code) as available DTAs to offset against the DTLs, as the DTLs are expected to reverse
within the NOL carryforward period. Any excess DTAs over those DTLs would be assessed for a valuation allowance in accordance with ASC 740. This
accounting treatment is acceptable if, at the time of the acquisition, Oncocyte can both reasonably estimate a timeline to commercialization and the economic
useful life of the IPR&D assets upon commercialization, which will be amortized during the carryforward period of the offsetting DTAs. On the Merger Date,
Oncocyte estimated and recorded a net DTL of $1.3 million after offsetting the acquired available NOLs with the IPR&D generated DTLs (see Note 12).

 
Customer relationships – Insight provided a range of molecular diagnostic services to its pharmaceutical customers referred to as “Pharma Services,”

including testing for biomarker discovery, assay design and development, clinical trial support and a broad spectrum of biomarker tests in its CLIA-certified
laboratory. None of the Pharma Services are related to DetermaIO™. The pharma service customer relationships are considered separate long-lived intangible
assets under ASC 805 and were valued primarily using the MPEEM discussed above, and will be amortized over their useful life, estimated to be 5 years based
on the net income that can be expected from these relationships in future years and based on observed historical trends. The resulting cash flows were
discounted to the valuation date based on a rate of return that recognizes a lower level of risk associated with these assets as compared to DetermaIO™
discussed above. As of the Merger Date, there were no uncompleted performance obligations by Insight under any of its Pharma Services contracts, therefore
no deferred revenues were assumed.

 
Customer relationships generate similar DTLs to IPR&D as Oncocyte records this asset for accounting purposes but not for tax purposes. Accordingly,

Oncocyte has offset all the acquired DTLs associated with the customer relationships with available acquired NOLs and included in the amount recorded
discussed above (see Note 12).

 
Right-of-use assets and liabilities, machinery and equipment – Insight is a lessee under an operating lease with a third-party lessor for its facilities,

including its laboratory, in Nashville, Tennessee (the “Nashville Lease”). In April 2019, the Nashville lease was renewed by Insight for a five-year term and is
classified as an operating lease under ASC 842. In accordance with ASC 805, when a company acquired in a business combination is a lessee, the acquirer
initially measures the lease liability and the right-of-use asset for an acquired operating lease as if the lease is new at the acquisition date. In other words, the
lease liability is measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments as of the acquisition date and the right-of-use asset is generally measured at an
amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted for favorable or unfavorable terms of the lease when compared with market terms. Since the Nashville Lease was
renewed by Insight in proximity to the Merger Date, the terms of the Nashville Lease were considered by Oncocyte to be market terms at the Merger Date.
Accordingly, Oncocyte measured the net present value of the remaining contractual Nashville Lease payments as of the Merger Date using an incremental
borrowing rate consistent with Oncocyte’s other operating leases and recorded a right-of-use liability and a corresponding right-of-use asset of $0.5 million. In
addition, $0.1 million was allocated to certain laboratory machinery and equipment approximating the fair value of those assets as of the Merger Date.

 
Contingent consideration liabilities – ASC 805 requires that contingent consideration be estimated and recorded at fair value as of the acquisition date

as part of the total consideration transferred. Contingent consideration is an obligation of the acquirer to transfer additional assets or equity interests to the
selling shareholders in the future if certain future events occur or conditions are met, such as the attainment of product development milestones. Contingent
consideration also includes additional future payments to selling shareholders based on achievement of components of earnings, such as “earn-out” provisions
or percentage of future revenues, including royalties paid to the selling shareholders based on a percentage of revenues generated from DetermaIO™ and
Insight Pharma Services over their respective useful life. Accordingly, Oncocyte determined there are two types of contingent consideration in connection with
the Merger, the Milestone Contingent Consideration and the Royalty Contingent Consideration discussed below, which are collectively referred to as the
“Contingent Consideration”.
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There are three milestones comprising the Milestone Contingent Consideration, collectively referred to as the Milestones, in connection with the
Insight Merger which Oncocyte valued and recorded as part of Contingent Consideration as of the Merger Date (see table below), which consist of (i) a
payment for clinical trial completion and related data publication (“Milestone 1”), (ii) a payment for an affirmative final local coverage determination from
CMS for a specified lung cancer test (“Milestone 2”), and (iii) a payment for achieving specified CMS reimbursement milestones (“Milestone 3”). If achieved,
any respective Milestone will be paid at the contractual value shown below, with the payment made either in cash or in shares of Oncocyte common stock as
determined by Oncocyte. There can be no assurance that any of the Milestones will be achieved.

 
There are two separate components of the Royalty Contingent Consideration, collectively referred to as the Royalty Payments, in connection with the

Merger which Oncocyte valued and recorded as part of Contingent Consideration as of the Merger Date (see table below); Royalty Payments consist of (i)
revenue share payments based on a percentage of future sales generated from DetermaIO™ (“Royalty 1”), and (ii) revenue share payments based on percentage
of future sales generated from current Insight pharma service offerings, as defined in the Merger Agreement (“Royalty 2”). There can be no assurance that any
revenues on which the Royalty Payments are based will be generated from DetermaIO™ or pharma service offerings.

 
The following table shows the Merger Date contractual payment amounts, as applicable, and the corresponding fair value of each respective

Contingent Consideration liability (in thousands):
 

  
Contractual

Value   
Initial Fair

Value  
Milestone 1  $ 1,500  $ 1,340 
Milestone 2   3,000   1,830 
Milestone 3 (a)   1,500   770 
Royalty 1 (b)   See (b)   5,980 
Royalty 2 (b)   See (b)   1,210 

Total  $ 6,000  $ 11,130 
 
(a) Indicates the maximum payable if the Milestone achieved.
(b) Royalty Payments are based on a percentage of future revenues of DetermaIO™ and Pharma Services over their respective useful life, as defined,

accordingly, there is no fixed contractual value for the Royalty Contingent Consideration.
 
The fair value of the Milestone Contingent Consideration was determined using a scenario analysis valuation method which incorporates Oncocyte’s

assumptions with respect to the likelihood of achievement of the Milestones, credit risk, timing of the Milestone Contingent Consideration payments and a risk-
adjusted discount rate to estimate the present value of the expected payments. The discount rate was estimated at approximately 8% after adjustment for the
probability of achievement of the Milestones. No Milestone Contingent Consideration is payable with respect to a particular Milestone unless and until the
Milestone is achieved. Since the Milestone Contingent Consideration payments are based on nonfinancial, binary events, management believes the use of the
scenario analysis method is appropriate. The fair value of each Milestone after the Merger Date is reassessed by Oncocyte as changes in circumstances and
conditions occur, with the subsequent change in fair value recorded in Oncocyte’s consolidated statements of operations.

 
The fair value of the Royalty Contingent Consideration was determined using a single scenario analysis method to value the Royalty Payments. The

single scenario method incorporates Oncocyte’s assumptions with respect to specified future revenues generated from DetermaIO™ and current Insight Pharma
Services over their respective useful lives, credit risk, and a risk-adjusted discount rate to estimate the present value of the expected royalty payments. The
credit and risk-adjusted discount rate was estimated at approximately 48%. Since the Royalty Contingent Consideration payments are based on future revenues
and linear payouts, management believes the use of the single scenario method is appropriate.

 
The fair value of the Contingent Consideration after the Merger Date will be reassessed by Oncocyte as changes in circumstances and conditions

occur, with the subsequent change in fair value recorded in Oncocyte’s consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2020, based on Oncocyte’s
reassessment of the significant assumptions note above, there was a reduction of approximately $4 million to the fair value of the Contingent Consideration
primarily attributable to revised estimates of the timing of the possible future payouts and, accordingly, this decrease was recorded as an unrealized gain in the
consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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The following table reflects the activity for Oncocyte’s Contingent Consideration since the Merger Date, measured at fair value using Level 3 inputs
(in thousands):

 
  Fair Value  
Balance at January 31, 2020  $ 11,130 

Change in estimated fair value   (4,010)
Balance at December 31, 2020  $ 7,120 

 
Contingent consideration is not deductible for tax purposes, even if paid; therefore, no deferred tax assets related to the Contingent Consideration were

recorded.
 
Goodwill – Goodwill is calculated as the difference between the acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred and the values assigned to

the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including Contingent Consideration. Goodwill also includes the $1.3 million of net deferred tax liabilities recorded
principally related to DetermaIO™ and customer relationships discussed above. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at least annually, or
more frequently if circumstances indicate potential impairment (see Notes 2 and 6).

 
Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets may not be amortizable or deductible for tax purposes since these assets are not recognized for tax

purposes.
 
6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets, net
 

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, goodwill and intangible assets, net, consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
  2020   2019  
Goodwill (1)  $ 9,187   $ -            
         
Intangible assets:         

Acquired IPR&D – DetermaIO™ (2)  $ 14,650   $ -            
       -            
Intangible assets subject to amortization:         

Acquired intangible assets – customer relationship   440    -            
Total intangible assets   15,090    -            

Accumulated amortization   (81)   -            
Intangible assets, net  $ 15,009   $ -            
 
(1) Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in the Merger (see

Note 5).
  
(2) See Note 5 for information on the Merger which was consummated on January 31, 2020.

 
7. Equity Method Investment in Razor Genomics, Inc.
 

On September 30, 2019, Oncocyte completed the purchase of 1,329,870 shares of Razor Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per
share (the “Preferred Stock”), representing 25% of the outstanding equity of Razor on a fully diluted basis, for $10 million in cash (the “Initial Closing”)
pursuant to a Subscription and Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), dated September 4, 2019, among Oncocyte, Encore Clinical, Inc.
(“Encore”), and Razor. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Oncocyte entered into Minority Holder Stock Purchase Agreements of like tenor (the “Minority
Purchase Agreements”) with the shareholders of Razor other than Encore (the “Minority Shareholders”) for the future purchase of the shares of Razor common
stock they own. Oncocyte has also entered into certain other agreements with Razor and Encore, including a Sublicense and Distribution Agreement (the
“Sublicense Agreement”), a Development Agreement (the “Development Agreement”), and an amendment to a Laboratory Services Agreement (the
“Laboratory Agreement”) pursuant to which Oncocyte became a party to that agreement.
 
Purchase Option

 
Oncocyte has the option to acquire the balance of the outstanding shares of Razor common stock from Encore under the Purchase Agreement and

from the Minority Shareholders under the Minority Purchase Agreements (the “Option”) for an additional $10 million in cash and Oncocyte common stock
valued at $5 million in total (the “Additional Purchase Payment”). If the issuance of shares of Oncocyte common stock having a market value of $5 million
would exceed the number of shares issuable without shareholder approval under applicable stock exchange rules, Oncocyte may deliver a number of shares of
common stock that would not exceed the number of shares permissible under stock exchange rules and an amount of cash necessary to bring the combined
value of cash and shares to $5 million.
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Oncocyte has agreed to exercise the Option if, within a specified time frame, certain milestones are met related to the contracting of clinical trial sites
for a clinical trial of DetermaRx™. Even if DetermaRx™ clinical trial milestones are not met within the time frame referenced in the Purchase Agreement and
the Minority Purchase Agreements, Oncocyte will have the option, but not the obligation, to purchase the balance of the outstanding Razor common stock from
Encore and the Minority Shareholders for the Additional Purchase Payment that would be applicable if the milestones were met. Oncocyte’s obligations to
purchase the Razor shares from Encore and the Minority Shareholders are subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions customary for a transaction of this
kind.

 
As further discussed in Note 15, on February 24, 2021, Oncocyte made the Additional Purchase Payment and acquired the balance of the outstanding

Razor common stock.
 

Development Agreement
 

Under the Development Agreement, Razor reserved as a “Clinical Trial Expense Reserve” $4 million of the proceeds it received at the Initial Closing
from the sale of the Preferred Stock to Oncocyte, to fund Razor’s share of costs incurred in connection with a clinical trial of DetermaRx™ for purposes of
promoting commercialization (“Clinical Trial”).

 
Oncocyte will be responsible for all expenses for the Clinical Trial that exceed the Clinical Trial Expense Reserve up to the total budget amount

approved by representatives of Oncocyte and Encore on a Steering Committee, which is expected to cover multiple years and is estimated to be up to $12
million for Oncocyte’s portion.
 

The Development Agreement provides for certain payments by Oncocyte to Encore if certain product reimbursement, Clinical Trial, and financing
milestones are attained. Oncocyte has paid Encore $1 million in cash as a milestone payment for the receipt of a preliminary positive coverage decision from
the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Molecular Diagnostic Services Program (“CSM/MolDx”) for DetermaRx™ (the “Preliminary Coverage
Milestone Payment”). In June 2020, following Razor’s receipt of a positive final coverage decision from CMS for reimbursement of patient costs of
DetermaRx™, Oncocyte paid Encore $4 million (“CMS Final Milestone Payment”). Oncocyte accounted for those milestone payments as part of its equity
method investment in Razor.

 
Upon completion of enrollment of the full number of patients for the Clinical Trial, Oncocyte will issue to Encore and the Minority Shareholders

shares of Oncocyte common stock with an aggregate market value at the date of issue equal to $3 million (“Clinical Trial Milestone Payment”). If the issuance
of shares of our common stock having a market value of $3 million would require us to issue a number of shares that, when combined with any shares we
issued under the Purchase Agreement and the Minority Shareholder Purchase Agreements, would exceed the number of shares that may be issued without
shareholder approval under applicable stock exchange rules, Oncocyte may deliver the number of shares permissible under stock exchange rules and an amount
of cash necessary to bring the combined value of cash and shares to $3 million.
 

If within a specified time frame Encore is substantially responsible for obtaining funding to Oncocyte or Razor for the Clinical Trial from any third-
party pharmaceutical company, a portion of such additional funding amount will be paid to Encore, subject to a $3 million cap on the payment to Encore if the
funding is provided by a designated pharmaceutical company.

 
Sublicense Agreement
 

Under the Sublicense Agreement, Razor granted to Oncocyte an exclusive worldwide sublicense under certain patent rights applicable to
DetermaRx™ in the field of use covered by the applicable license held by Razor for purposes of commercialization and development of DetermaRx™.
 

Pursuant to the Razor Sublicense Agreement Oncocyte will pay all royalties and all revenue sharing and earnout payments owed by Razor to certain
third parties with respect to DetermaRx™ revenues, including the licensor of the patent rights sublicensed to Oncocyte, but those payments will be deducted
from gross revenues to determine net revenues for the purpose of paying royalties to the Razor shareholders. Total royalty and earnout payments to the Razor
shareholders, the licensor, and other third parties will be a low double-digit percentage, and in addition certain milestone payments may become due if
cumulative net revenue benchmarks are reached. Royalties and earnout payments will be payable on a quarterly basis. This payment obligation will continue
after Oncocyte’s purchase of the Razor common stock from Encore and the Minority Shareholders.
 
Laboratory Agreement
 

Under the Laboratory Agreement, Oncocyte has assumed Razor’s Laboratory Agreement payment obligations of $450,000 per year (see Note 14). The
Laboratory Agreement gives Oncocyte the right to use Razor’s CLIA laboratory in Brisbane, California. Oncocyte pays Encore a quarterly fee for services
related to operating and maintaining the CLIA laboratory, including certain staffing. The Laboratory Agreement will expire on September 29, 2021, but
Oncocyte may extend the term for additional one-year periods, or Oncocyte may terminate the agreement at its option after it completes the purchase of the
shares of Razor common stock from Razor stockholders pursuant to the Purchase Agreement and Minority Purchase Agreements. Oncocyte also has the right to
terminate the Laboratory Agreement if there is an event or occurrence that adversely affects, in any material respect, DetermaRx™ or its prospects or its ability
to be commercialized, and it remains continuing and uncured.
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Accounting for the Razor Investment
 

Oncocyte has accounted for the Razor investment under the equity method of accounting under ASC 323 because prior to purchasing the Razor
common stock form Encore and the Minority Shareholders Oncocyte exercised significant influence over, but did not control, the Razor entity. Oncocyte did
not control the Razor entity because, among other factors, Oncocyte was entitled to designate one person to serve on a three-member board of directors of
Razor, with the other two members designated by Encore. Also, any deadlocked decisions by a Steering Committee of Oncocyte and Encore representatives
that makes decisions with respect to the Clinical Trial, other than with respect to the Clinical Trial budget, will be resolved by a member designated by Encore.

 
The Razor Preferred Stock is considered in-substance common stock for purposes of the ASC 323 equity method investment in Razor. The equity

method investment in Razor is considered an asset, rather than a business, because, among other factors, Razor has no workforce, no commercial product, no
revenues, no distribution system and no facilities. Substantially all of the fair value of Razor’s assets at the Initial Closing was concentrated in Razor’s
intangible asset, DetermaRx™, thus satisfying the requirements of the screen test in accordance with Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2017-01, Business
Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business.

 
The aggregate Razor acquisition payments of $11.245 million incurred during September 2019, including $10 million paid for the Razor Preferred

Stock, the $1 million Preliminary Coverage Milestone Payment, and $0.245 million in transaction expenses, and the $4 million CMS Final Milestone Payment
made by Oncocyte during June 2020, will be amortized over a 10-year useful life of DetermaRx™ and will be reflected in Oncocyte’s pro rata earnings and
losses of the equity method investment in Razor. Under ASC 323, the additional contingent consideration arrangements, including the Clinical Trial Milestone
Payment and the Additional Purchase Payment discussed above, will be recorded only if the consideration is both probable (milestone has been achieved) and
estimable in accordance with ASC 450, Contingencies, and as of December 31, 2020, none of those other contingent consideration payments were recorded as
none of the applicable conditions were achieved as of that date (see Note 15).
 
Summarized standalone financial data for Razor

 
The unaudited results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 of Razor is summarized below (in thousands):

 

Condensed Statement of Operations (1)  

Year Ended
December 31, 2020

(unaudited)  
Research and development expense  $ 691            
General and administrative expense   -            
Loss from operations   (691)           
Net loss  $ (691)           

 
(1) The condensed statement of operations of Razor is provided for informational purposes only. Razor’s full results are not included in Oncocyte’s

consolidated results of operations because Razor is not consolidated with Oncocyte’s financial statements for any period presented but has been accounted
for under the equity method of accounting since the September 30, 2019 Initial Closing date. However, since September 30, 2019 and through December
31, 2020, Oncocyte’s pro rata share of losses from the Razor investment have been included in other income or expenses, net, on the condensed
consolidated statements of operations.

 
8. Related Party Transactions
 
Shared Facilities and Service Agreement
 

On October 8, 2009, Oncocyte and Lineage executed the Shared Facilities Agreement. Beginning on October 1, 2019, Oncocyte ceased using shared
services and has relied its own administrative, finance and accounting personnel. Effective December 31, 2019, Oncocyte terminated the Shared Facilities
Agreement. Under the terms of the Shared Facilities Agreement, Lineage permitted Oncocyte to use Lineage’s office and laboratory facility and equipment
located in Alameda, California. Through September 30, 2019, Lineage provided accounting, billing, bookkeeping, payroll, treasury, payment of accounts
payable, and other similar administrative services to Oncocyte and through December 31, 2019, Lineage permitted Oncocyte the use of Lineage’s office and
laboratory facilities and equipment. In January 2020, Oncocyte moved into its new corporate headquarters in Irvine, California, and also operates clinical
laboratories in Brisbane, California and Nashville, Tennessee (see Note 14).
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Lineage charged Oncocyte a “Use Fee” for services received and usage of facilities, equipment, and supplies. For each billing period, Lineage
prorated and allocated costs incurred, as applicable, to Oncocyte. Such costs included services of Lineage employees, equipment, insurance, lease, professional,
software, supplies and utilities. Allocation of expenses between Lineage and Oncocyte depended on key cost drivers including actual documented use, square
footage of facilities used, time spent, costs incurred by or for Oncocyte, or upon proportionate usage by Lineage and Oncocyte, as reasonably estimated by
Lineage. Lineage charged Oncocyte a 5% markup on such allocated costs as permitted by the Shared Facilities Agreement.
 

In addition to the Use Fees, Oncocyte reimbursed Lineage for any out of pocket costs incurred by Lineage for the purchase of office supplies,
laboratory supplies, and other goods and materials and services for the account or use of Oncocyte based on invoices documenting such costs.

 
The Shared Facilities Agreement was not considered a lease under the provisions of ASC 842 discussed in Note 2, because, among other factors, a

significant part of the Shared Facilities Agreement was a contract for services, not a tangible asset, and was cancelable by either party without penalty.
 

In the aggregate, Lineage charged Use Fees to Oncocyte as follows (in thousands):
 

  
Year Ended

December 31, 2019  
Research and development  $ 696           
General and administrative   438           
Sales and marketing   108           
Total use fees  $ 1,242           
 

As of December 31, 2019, amounts owed to Lineage under the Shared Facilities Agreement were insignificant.
 
Financing Transactions
 

On January 2, 2020, Oncocyte entered into Subscription Agreements with selected investors, including Broadwood Partners, L.P. (“Broadwood”) and
certain funds and accounts managed by Pura Vida Investments LLC (“Pura Vida”), in a registered direct offering of 3,523,776 shares of common stock, no par
value, at an offering price of $2.156 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $7.6 million.

 
During April 2020, Oncocyte sold 4,733,700 shares of common stock, no par value, at an offering price of $2.27 per share, for an aggregate purchase

price of approximately $10.75 million, in a registered direct offering. Oncocyte paid no fees or commissions to broker-dealers or any underwriting or finder’s
fees. Broadwood and certain funds and accounts managed by Pura Vida purchased shares in the offering (see Note 15).

 
Consulting Services
 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Oncocyte incurred consulting fees of $0.6 million to a firm in which Oncocyte’s current President and
Chief Executive Officer, Ronald Andrews, was a partner. Mr. Andrews resigned from this firm as an active partner effective June 30, 2019, the date prior to
commencement of his employment by Oncocyte.
 
9. Loan Payable to Silicon Valley Bank
 

On February 21, 2017, Oncocyte entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Silicon Valley Bank (the “Bank”) pursuant
to which Oncocyte borrowed $2.0 million. Payments of interest only on the principal balance were due monthly from the loan funding date, March 23, 2017,
through October 31, 2017, and, beginning on November 1, 2017, monthly payments of principal of approximately $67,000 plus interest are due and payable.

 
The outstanding principal amount plus accrued interest was due and payable to the Bank at maturity on April 1, 2020, but was paid off through a loan

refinancing completed in October 2019, including a payment of a $116,000 final payment fee due under the terms of the Loan Agreement. The Bank waived a
1.0% prepayment fee in connection with the refinancing of the loan.
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Amended Loan Agreement
 

On October 17, 2019, Oncocyte entered into a First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement (the “Amended Loan Agreement”) with the Bank
pursuant to which Oncocyte obtained a new $3 million secured credit facility (“Tranche 1”), a portion of which was used to repay the remaining balance of
approximately $400,000 on outstanding loans from the Bank, plus a final payment of $116,000, under the February 21, 2017 Loan Agreement. The credit line
under the Amended Loan Agreement may be increased by an additional $2 million (“Tranche 2”) if Oncocyte obtains at least $20 million of additional equity
capital, as was the case with the original Loan Agreement, and a positive final coverage determination is received from the Centers for Medicate and Medicaid
Services for DetermaRx at a specified minimum price point per test (the “Tranche 2 Milestone”), and Oncocyte is not in default under the Amended Loan
Agreement.

 
Payments of interest only on the principal balance were due monthly from the draw date through March 31, 2020, followed by 24 monthly payments

of principal and interest, but the Bank has agreed to a deferral of principal payments, as discussed below. The outstanding principal balance of the loan will
bear interest at a stated floating annual interest equal to the greater of (a) the prime rate or (b) 5% per annum. As of December 31, 2020, the latest published
prime rate was 3.25% per annum.

 
On April 2, 2020, as part of the Bank’s COVID-19 pandemic relief program, Oncocyte and the Bank entered into a Loan Deferral Agreement (“Loan

Deferral”) with respect to the Amended Loan Agreement. Under the Loan Deferral Agreement, the Bank agreed to (i) extend the scheduled maturity date of the
Amended Loan Agreement from March 31, 2022 to September 30, 2022, and (ii) deferred the principal payments by an additional 6 months whereby payments
of interest only on the Bank loan principal balance will be due monthly from May 1, 2020 through October 1, 2020, followed by 23 monthly payments of
principal and interest beginning on November 1, 2020, all provided at no additional fees to Oncocyte. No other terms of the Amended Loan Agreement were
changed or modified. The Loan Deferral was accounted for as a modification of debt in accordance with ASC 470-50, Debt – Modifications and
Extinguishments, thus there was no gain or loss recognized on the transaction.

 
At maturity of the loan, Oncocyte will also pay the Bank an additional final payment fee of $200,000, which was recorded as a deferred financing

charge in October 2019 and is being amortized to interest expense over the term of the loan using the effective interest method. As of December 31, 2020, the
unamortized deferred financing cost was $68,000.

 
Oncocyte may prepay in full the outstanding principal balance at any time, subject to a prepayment fee equal to 2.0% of the outstanding principal

balance if prepaid more than one year but less than two years after October 17, 2019, or 1.0% of the outstanding principal balance if prepaid two years or more
after October 17, 2019. Any amounts borrowed and repaid may not be reborrowed.

 
The outstanding principal amount of the loan, with interest accrued, the final payment fee, and the prepayment fee may become due and payable prior

to the applicable maturity date if an “Event of Default” as defined in the Amended Loan Agreement occurs. Oncocyte was in compliance with the Amended
Loan Agreement as of the filing date of this Report.

 
Bank Warrants
 

In 2017, in connection with the Loan Agreement, Oncocyte issued common stock purchase warrants to the Bank (the “2017 Bank Warrants”) entitling
the Bank to purchase shares of Oncocyte common stock in tranches related to the loan tranches under the Loan Agreement. In conjunction with the availability
of the loan, the Bank was issued warrants to purchase 8,247 shares of Oncocyte common stock at an exercise price of $4.85 per share, through February 21,
2027. On March 23, 2017, the Bank was issued warrants to purchase an additional 7,321 shares at an exercise price of $5.46 per share, through March 23,
2027. The Bank may elect to exercise the 2017 Bank Warrants on a “cashless exercise” basis and receive a number of shares determined by multiplying the
number of shares for which the applicable tranche is being exercised by (A) the excess of the fair market value of the common stock over the applicable
exercise price, divided by (B) the fair market value of the common stock. The fair market value of the common stock will be the last closing or sale price on a
national securities exchange, interdealer quotation system, or over-the-counter market.

 
On October 17, 2019, in conjunction with Tranche 1 becoming available under the Amended Loan Agreement, Oncocyte issued a common stock

purchase warrant to the Bank (the “2019 Bank Warrant”) entitling the Bank to purchase 98,574 shares of Oncocyte common stock at the initial “Warrant Price”
of $1.69 per share through October 17, 2029. The number of shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of the 2019 Bank Warrant will increase on the
date of each draw, if any, on Tranche 2. The number of additional shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of the 2019 Bank Warrant will be equal to
0.02% of Oncocyte’s fully diluted equity outstanding for each $1 million draw under Tranche 2. The Warrant Price for Tranche 2 warrant shares will be
determined upon each draw of Tranche 2 funds and will be closing price of Oncocyte common stock on the NYSE American or other applicable market on the
date immediately before the applicable date on which Oncocyte borrows funds under Tranche 2. The Bank may elect to exercise the 2019 Bank Warrant on a
“cashless exercise” basis and receive a number of shares determined by multiplying the number of shares for which the 2019 Bank Warrant is being exercised
by (A) the excess of the fair market value of the common stock over the applicable Warrant Price, divided by (B) the fair market value of the common stock.
The fair market value of the common stock will be last closing or sale price on a national securities exchange, interdealer quotation system, or over-the-counter
market.
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Paycheck Protection Program Loan

 
On April 23, 2020, Oncocyte obtained a a PPP loan from the Bank in the principal amount of $1,140,930. The PPP loan bears interest at a rate of 1%

per annum and matures on April 23, 2022. Under the provisions of the PPP loan, the principal amount and accrued interest is subject to forgiveness by the Bank
through the SBA. Oncocyte’s loan forgiveness application with the SBA is pending as of the date of this Report., Although Oncocyte was obligated to make
monthly payments of principal and interest commencing on November 23, 2020, each in such equal amount required to fully amortize the principal amount
outstanding on the PPP loan by the maturity date, Oncocyte has not been billed or charged for any repayment amounts on the PPP loan because of its loan
forgiveness application pending status. Oncocyte continues to accrue interest on the PPP loan and there can be no assurance that any part of the PPP loan will
be forgiven.

 
The PPP loan promissory note contains customary borrower default provisions and lender remedies, including the right of the Bank to require

immediate repayment in full the outstanding principal balance of the PPP loan with accrued interest.
 
10. Shareholders’ Equity
 
Preferred Stock
 

Oncocyte is authorized to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of no par value preferred stock. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, no preferred shares were
issued or outstanding.
 
Common Stock
 

Oncocyte has 150,000,000 shares of no par value common stock authorized. The holders of Oncocyte’s common stock are entitled to receive ratably
dividends when, as, and if declared by the Board of Directors out of funds legally available. Upon liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, the holders of
Oncocyte common stock are entitled to receive ratably the net assets available after the payment of all debts and other liabilities and subject to the prior rights
of Oncocyte outstanding preferred shares, if any.
 

The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of Oncocyte stockholders. The holders of
common stock have no preemptive, subscription, or redemption rights. The outstanding shares of common stock are fully paid and non-assessable.

 
Under the ATM Agreement, during the year ended December 31, 2020, Oncocyte sold 1,136,673 shares of common stock for net proceeds of

approximately $2.65 million in at-the-market transactions, of which $0.3 million was receivable from the Sales Agent for sales completed on the last trading
day of December 2020. On February 4, 2021, in connection with the offering completed on February 9, 2021 discussed in Note 15, Oncocyte suspended
offering any shares of its common stock pursuant to the ATM Agreement and will not make any further sales of its common stock pursuant to the ATM
Agreement.

 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, Oncocyte had 69,116,802 and 57,031,654 issued and outstanding shares of common stock, respectively. See Note

8 with respect to certain financing transactions pursuant to which Oncocyte sold shares of common stock and common stock purchase warrants during the
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. See Note 15 regarding for common stock sales completed after December 31, 2020.

 
Common Stock Purchase Warrants

 
As of December 31, 2020, Oncocyte had an aggregate of 3,383,913 common stock purchase warrants issued and outstanding with exercise prices

ranging from $1.69 to $5.50 per warrant (see Note 15). The warrants will expire on various dates through October 17, 2029. Certain warrants have “cashless
exercise” provisions meaning that the value of a portion of warrant shares may be used to pay the exercise price rather than payment in cash, which may be
exercised under any circumstances in the case of the 2017 Bank Warrants and 2019 Bank Warrants or, in the case of certain other warrants, only if a registration
statement for the warrants and underlying shares of common stock is not effective under the Securities Act or a prospectus in the registration statement is not
available for the issuance of shares upon the exercise of the warrants.

 
Oncocyte has considered the guidance in ASC 815-40, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a

Company’s Own Stock, which states that contracts that require or may require the issuer to settle the contract for cash are liabilities recorded at fair value,
irrespective of the likelihood of the transaction occurring that triggers the net cash settlement feature. This liability classification guidance also applies to
financial instruments that may require cash or other form of settlement for transactions outside of the company’s control and, in which the form of
consideration to the warrant holder may not be the same as to all other shareholders in connection with the transaction. However, if a transaction is not within
the company’s control but the holder of the financial instrument can solely receive the same type or form of consideration as is being offered to all the
shareholders in the transaction, then equity classification of the financial instrument is not precluded, if all other applicable equity classification criteria are
met. Based on the above guidance and, among other factors, the fact that the warrants cannot be cash settled under any circumstance but require share
settlement, all of the outstanding warrants meet the equity classification criteria and have been classified as equity.
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Stock Option Exercises
 

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, 680,308 and 575,000 shares of common stock, respectively, were issued upon the exercise of
stock options, from which Oncocyte received $1.4 million and $0.9 million in cash proceeds, respectively.
 
11. Stock-Based Compensation
 
Stock Option Plan
 

Oncocyte had a 2010 Stock Option Plan (the “2010 Plan”) under which 5,200,000 shares of common stock were authorized for the grant of stock
options or the sale of restricted stock.
 

On August 27, 2018, Oncocyte shareholders approved a new Equity Incentive Plan (the “2018 Incentive Plan”) to replace the 2010 Plan. In adopting
the 2018 Incentive Plan, Oncocyte terminated the 2010 Plan and will not grant any additional stock options or sell any stock under restricted stock purchase
agreements under the 2010 Plan; however, stock options issued under the 2010 Plan will continue in effect in accordance with their terms and the terms of the
2010 Plan until the exercise or expiration of the individual options.
 

The 2018 Incentive Plan reserved 11,000,000 shares of common stock for the grant of stock options or the sale of restricted stock (“Restricted Stock”)
or for the settlement of hypothetical units issued with reference to common stock (“Restricted Stock Units”). Oncocyte may also grant stock appreciation rights
(“SARs”) under the 2018 Incentive Plan. The 2018 Incentive Plan also permits Oncocyte to issue such other securities as its Board of Directors (the “Board”)
or the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) administering the 2018 Incentive Plan may determine. Awards of stock options, Restricted Stock, SARs,
and Restricted Stock Units (“Awards”) may be granted under the 2018 Incentive Plan to Oncocyte employees, directors, and consultants.

 
Awards may vest and thereby become exercisable or have restrictions on forfeiture lapse on the date of grant or in periodic installments or upon the

attainment of performance goals, or upon the occurrence of specified events. Awards may not vest, in whole or in part, earlier than one year from the date of
grant. Vesting of an Award after the date of grant may be accelerated only in the limited circumstances specified in the 2018 Incentive Plan. In the case of the
acceleration of vesting of any performance-based Award, acceleration of vesting shall be limited to actual performance achieved, pro rata achievement of the
performance goal(s) on the basis for the elapsed portion of the performance period, or a combination of actual and pro rata achievement of performance goals.
 

No person shall be granted, during any one-year period, options to purchase, or SARs with respect to, more than 1,000,000 shares in the aggregate, or
any Awards of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units with respect to more than 500,000 shares in the aggregate. If an Award is to be settled in cash, the
number of shares on which the Award is based shall not count toward the individual share limit.

 
No Awards may be granted under the 2018 Incentive Plan more than ten years after the date upon which the 2018 Incentive Plan was adopted by the

Board, and no options or SARS granted under the 2018 Incentive Plan may be exercised after the expiration of ten years from the date of grant.
 

Stock Options
 
Options granted under the 2018 Incentive Plan may be either “incentive stock options” within the meaning of Section 422(b) of the Internal Revenue

Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), or “non-qualified” stock options that do not qualify incentive stock options. Incentive stock options may be granted
only to Oncocyte employees and employees of subsidiaries. The exercise price of stock options granted under the 2018 Incentive Plan must be equal to the fair
market of Oncocyte common stock on the date the option is granted. In the case of an optionee who, at the time of grant, owns more than 10% of the combined
voting power of all classes of Oncocyte stock, the exercise price of any incentive stock option must be at least 110% of the fair market value of the common
stock on the grant date, and the term of the option may be no longer than five years. The aggregate fair market value of common stock (determined as of the
grant date of the option) with respect to which incentive stock options become exercisable for the first time by an optionee in any calendar year may not exceed
$100,000.

 
The exercise price of an option may be payable in cash or in common stock having a fair market value equal to the exercise price, or in a combination

of cash and common stock, or other legal consideration for the issuance of stock as the Board or Committee may approve.
 

83



 
 

Generally, options will be exercisable only while the optionee remains an employee, director or consultant, or during a specific period thereafter, but
in the case of the termination of an employee, director, or consultant’s services due to death or disability, the period for exercising a vested option shall be
extended to the earlier of 12 months after termination or the expiration date of the option.
 
Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units
 

In lieu of granting options, Oncocyte may enter into purchase agreements with employees under which they may purchase or otherwise acquire
Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units subject to such vesting, transfer, and repurchase terms, and other restrictions. The price at which Restricted Stock
may be issued or sold will be not less than 100% of fair market value. Employees or consultants, but not executive officers or directors, who purchase
Restricted Stock may be permitted to pay for their shares by delivering a promissory note or an installment payment agreement that may be secured by a pledge
of their Restricted Stock. Restricted Stock may also be issued for services actually performed by the recipient prior to the issuance of the Restricted Stock.
Unvested Restricted Stock for which Oncocyte has not received payment may be forfeited, or Oncocyte may have the right to repurchase unvested shares upon
the occurrence of specified events, such as termination of employment.

 
Subject to the restrictions set with respect to the particular Award, a recipient of Restricted Stock generally shall have the rights and privileges of a

shareholder, including the right to vote the Restricted Stock and the right to receive dividends; provided that, any cash dividends and stock dividends with
respect to the Restricted Stock shall be withheld for the recipient’s account, and interest may be credited on the amount of the cash dividends withheld. The
cash dividends or stock dividends so withheld and attributable to any particular share of Restricted Stock (and earnings thereon, if applicable) shall be
distributed to the recipient in cash or, at the discretion of the Board or Committee, in shares of common stock having a fair market value equal to the amount of
such dividends, if applicable, upon the release of restrictions on the Restricted Stock and, if the Restricted Stock is forfeited, the recipient shall have no right to
the dividends.

 
The terms and conditions of a grant of Restricted Stock Units shall be determined by the Board or Committee. No shares of common stock shall be

issued at the time a Restricted Stock Unit is granted. A recipient of Restricted Stock Units shall have no voting rights with respect to the Restricted Stock Units.
Upon the expiration of the restrictions applicable to a Restricted Stock Unit, Oncocyte will either issue to the recipient, without charge, one share of common
stock per Restricted Stock Unit or cash in an amount equal to the fair market value of one share of common stock.

 
At the discretion of the Board or Committee, each Restricted Stock Unit (representing one share of common stock) may be credited with cash and

stock dividends paid in respect of one share (“Dividend Equivalents”). Dividend Equivalents shall be withheld for the recipient’s account, and interest may be
credited on the amount of cash Dividend Equivalents withheld. Dividend Equivalents credited to a recipient’s account and attributable to any particular
Restricted Stock Unit (and earnings thereon, if applicable) shall be distributed in cash or in shares of common stock having a fair market value equal to the
amount of the Dividend Equivalents and earnings, if applicable, upon settlement of the Restricted Stock Unit. If a Restricted Stock Unit is forfeited, the
recipient shall have no right to the related Dividend Equivalents.

 
Equity awards activity
 

A summary of Oncocyte equity awards activity under the 2010 Plan and related information follows (in thousands except weighted average exercise
price):
 

Options’  

Shares
Available
for Grant   

Number
of Options

Outstanding   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price  
Balance at January 1, 2019   -            4,171           $ 2.92  
Options exercised   -            (575)           1.64  
Options forfeited, cancelled and expired   -            (405)           3.43  
Balance at December 31, 2019   -            3,191           $ 3.08  
Options exercised   -            (680)           2.12  
Options forfeited, cancelled and expired   -            (1,293)           2.73  
Balance at December 31, 2020   -            1,218           $ 3.55  
Exercisable at December 31, 2020       1,216           $ 3.58  
 

84



 
 

In 2018, under the 2010 Plan, Oncocyte granted certain stock options with exercise prices ranging from $2.30 per share to $3.15 per share, that will
vest in increments upon the attainment of specified performance conditions related to the development of DetermaDx™ and obtaining Medicare reimbursement
coverage for that test (“Performance-Based Options”). During the year ended December 31, 2019, certain performance conditions required for vesting were
met, and, accordingly, 47,500 shares vested and $101,000 of stock-based compensation expense was recorded with regard to the Performance-Based Options.
The Medicare reimbursement conditions will not be met as Oncocyte has determined not to pursue commercialization of DetermaDx™. Approximately
125,000 stock options granted in May 2018 contain a hybrid vesting condition which vest on the earlier to occur of three years of service from the grant date or
achieving a defined Performance-Based Option milestone with respect to DetermaDx™ local decision coverage. These stock options are considered to be
service-based awards for financial accounting purposes with the fair value of the options being recognized in stock-based compensation expense over an
effective three-year service period. During the year ended December 31, 2020, prior to the discontinuation of development of DetermaDx™, certain
performance conditions required for vesting were met, and, accordingly, 265,000 shares vested and $466,000 of stock-based compensation expense was
recorded with regard to the Performance-Based Options during that period. As of December 31, 2020, there were no Performance-Based Options outstanding.
 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, Oncocyte had approximately $8.1 million and $6.5 million, respectively, of total unrecognized compensation
expense related to the 2010 Plan and 2018 Incentive Plan that will be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.5 years and 2.6 years,
respectively.

 
A summary of 2018 Incentive Plan activity and related information follows (in thousands except weighted average exercise price):

 

  

Shares
Available
for Grant   

Number
of Options

Outstanding   

Number
of RSUs

Outstanding   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price  
Balance at January 1, 2019   4,639             361             -            $ 2.21           
Option pool increase   6,000             -             -            $ -           
Options granted   (4,089)            4,089             -            $ 2.87           
RSUs granted   (170)            -             85            $ n/a           
Options exercised   -             -             -            $ -           
Options forfeited and cancelled   362             (362)               $ 3.42           
Balance at December 31, 2019   6,742             4,088             85            $ 2.77           
RSUs vested   -             -             (20)           $ n/a           
RSUs granted   (272)            -             136            $ n/a           
Options granted   (3,332)            3,332             -            $ 2.42           
Options exercised   -             -             -            $ -           
Options forfeited and cancelled   208             (208)            -            $ 2.16           
Balance at December 31, 2020   3,346             7,212             201            $ 2.60           
Exercisable at December 31, 2020       2,195                $ 2.73           

 
Additional information regarding Oncocyte’s outstanding stock options and vested and exercisable stock options is summarized below:

 
   Options Outstanding As of December 31, 2020  

Exercise Prices   
Number of Shares

(in thousands)   
Weighted Average Remaining

Contractual Life (Years)   
Weighted Average

Exercise Price  
$ 1.33 - $2.38    2,920    8.56   $ 2.04  
$ 2.40 - $2.63    3,299    8.62    2.58  
$ 2.78 - $5.90    2,155    7.29    4.01  
$ 1.33 - $5.90    8,374    8.26   $ 2.76  

 
Oncocyte recorded stock-based compensation expense in the following categories on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the

years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):
 
  2020   2019  
Cost of revenues  $ 93  $ - 
Research and development   1,245   612 
General and administrative   3,187   2,272 
Sales and marketing   541   111 
Total stock-based compensation expense  $ 5,066  $ 2,995 
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The weighted-average estimated fair value of stock options with service-conditions granted during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was
$2.42 and $2.01 per share, respectively, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:
 
  2020   2019  
Expected life (in years)   6.00        6.03      
Risk-free interest rates   1.08%       2.05%     
Volatility   103.73%       79.02%     
Dividend yield   -%       -%     
 

The determination of stock-based compensation is inherently uncertain and subjective and involves the application of valuation models and
assumptions requiring the use of judgment. If Oncocyte had made different assumptions, its stock-based compensation expense and net loss for years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019 may have been significantly different.
 

Oncocyte does not recognize deferred income taxes for incentive stock option compensation expense and records a tax deduction only when a
disqualified disposition has occurred.
 
12. Income Taxes
 

An income tax benefit of $1.3 million was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2020, and no provision or benefit for income taxes was recorded
for the year ended December 31, 2019. Oncocyte has filed standalone U.S. federal income tax returns since its inception and will file a consolidated return with
Insight Genetics for the year ended December 31, 2020.

 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting

purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
 
The primary components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows (in thousands):

 
  2020   2019  
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities):         
Net operating loss carryforwards and capital loss carryforwards  $ 29,203   $ 19,391  
Research and development credit carryforwards   2,638    2,190  
Marketable equity securities   261    394  
Patents and fixed assets   -    949  
Stock-based and other compensation   1,855    1,166  
Equity method investment in Razor   404    81  
Right-of-use liability   1,064    764  
Other   168    -  
Right-of-use asset   (712)   (749)
Intangibles and fixed assets   (3,129)   -  
Total   31,752    24,186  
Valuation allowance   (31,752)   (24,186)
Net deferred tax asset  $ -   $ -  
 
In connection with the Merger discussed in Note 5 and in accordance with ASC 805, a change in the acquirer’s valuation allowance that stems from a

business combination should be recognized as an element of the acquirer’s income tax expense or benefit in the period of the acquisition. Accordingly, for the
year ended December 31, 2020, Oncocyte recorded a $1.25 million partial release of its valuation allowance and a corresponding income tax benefit stemming
from the DTLs generated by the IPR&D and customer relationships intangible assets acquired in the Merger.
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Income taxes differed from the amounts computed by applying the applicable U.S. federal income tax rates indicated to pretax losses from operations
as a result of the following:
 
  2020   2019  
Computed tax benefit at federal statutory rate   21%    21%
Permanent differences   2%    (2)%
State tax benefit   4%    2%
Research and development credits   1%    (2)%
Other   -%    -%
Adjust basis for available-for-sale-securities   -%    -%
Change in valuation allowance   (24)%    (19)%
   4%    -%
 

As of December 31, 2020, Oncocyte had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $119.7 million for U.S. federal income tax purposes and
$73.6 million for state income tax purposes. Federal net operating losses generated on or prior to December 31, 2017 expire in varying amounts between 2027
and 2037, while federal net operating losses generated after December 31, 2017 carryforward indefinitely. The state net operating losses expire in varying
amounts between 2022 and 2040. Oncocyte also has capital loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes of $0.3 million each which expire in
2022.

 
As of December 31, 2020, Oncocyte has research and development credit carryforwards for federal and state purposes of $1.8 million and $1.7

million, respectively. The federal credits will expire between 2030 and 2040, while the state credits have no expiration.
 
A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Other than the

partial release discussed above, Oncocyte established a full valuation allowance for all periods presented due to the uncertainty of realizing future tax benefits
from its net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets. The change in the valuation allowance was $7.6 million and $4.3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

 
Oncocyte has uncertain tax benefits (“UTBs”) totaling $3.1 million and $2.9 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which were

netted against deferred tax assets subject to valuation allowance as shown below. The UTBs had no effect on the effective tax rate and there would be no cash
tax impact for any period presented. Oncocyte recognizes interest and penalties related to UTBs, when they occur, as a component of income tax expense.
There were no interest or penalties recognized for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. Oncocyte does not expect its UTBs to change significantly
over the next twelve months.

 
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending unrecognized tax benefit amount is as follows (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
  (in thousands)  
Balance at the beginning of the year  $ 2,888   $ -  
Additions based on tax positions related to current year   149    1,301  
Adjustments based on tax positions related to prior years   15    1,587  
Balance at end of year  $ 3,052   $ 2,888  
 
Other Income Tax Matters

 
Internal Revenue Code Section 382 places a limitation (“Section 382 Limitation”) on the amount of taxable income that can be offset by NOL

carryforwards after a change in control (generally greater than 50% change in ownership within a three-year period) of a loss corporation. California has
similar rules. Generally, after a change in control, a loss corporation cannot deduct NOL carryforwards in excess of the Section 382 Limitation. Due to these
“change in ownership” provisions, utilization of the NOL and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to an annual limitation regarding their utilization against
taxable income in future periods.

 
In general, Oncocyte is no longer subject to tax examination by the Internal Revenue Service or state taxing authorities for years before 2016.

Although the federal and state statutes are closed for purposes of assessing additional income tax in those prior years, the taxing authorities may still make
adjustments to the NOL and credit carryforwards used in open years. Therefore, the tax statutes should be considered open as it relates to the NOL and credit
carryforwards used in open years. For tax years that remain open to examination, potential examinations may include questioning of the timing and amount of
deductions, the nexus of income among various tax jurisdictions and compliance with the Internal Revenue Code or state tax laws. Oncocyte’s management
does not expect that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will materially change over the next twelve months.

 
Oncocyte’s practice is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in tax expense. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, Oncocyte

has no accrued interest and penalties.
 

87



 
 
13. Disaggregation of Revenues and Concentration Risk
 

The tables present certain information concerning source of Oncocyte revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020. Oncocyte generated no
revenues during the year ended December 31, 2019.
 

The following table presents the percentage of consolidated revenues attributable to products or services classes that represent greater than ten percent
of consolidated revenues:

 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2020   2019  
DetermaRx™   45%         -             
Pharma Services   55%          -             
Total   100%         -             

 
The following table presents the percentage of consolidated revenues received from unaffiliated customers that individually represent greater than ten

percent of consolidated revenues:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2020   2019  
Medicare for DetermaRx™   40%   -  
Pharma Services Company A   23%   -  
Pharma Services Company B   12%   -  

 
The following table presents the percentage of consolidated revenues attributable to geographical locations:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2020   2019  
United States   61%   -  
Outside of the United States – Pharma Services   39%   -  
Total   100%   -  

 
The following table presents accounts receivable, as a percentage of total consolidated accounts receivables, from third-party payers and other

customers that provided in excess of 10% of Oncocyte’s total accounts receivable.
 

  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
Pharma Services Company A   35%   -  
Medicare for DetermaRxTM   45%   -  

 
14. Commitments and Contingencies
 

Oncocyte has certain commitments other than those discussed in Notes 5 and 7.
 

Office Lease Agreement
 

On December 23, 2019, Oncocyte entered into an Office Lease Agreement (the “Irvine Lease”) of a building containing approximately 26,800 square
feet of rentable space located at 15 Cushing in Irvine California (the “Premises”) that will serve as Oncocyte’s new principal executive and administrative
offices and laboratory facility. Oncocyte completed the relocation of its offices to the Premises in January 2020. Oncocyte is constructing a laboratory at the
Irvine facility to perform cancer diagnostic tests. The laboratory construction is expected to be completed during 2021.

 
The Irvine Lease has an initial term of 89 calendar months (the “Term”), which commenced on June 1, 2020 (the “Commencement Date”). Oncocyte

has an option to extend the Term for a period of five years (the “Extended Term”).
 
Oncocyte will pay base monthly rent in the amount of $61,640 during the first 12 months of the Term. Base monthly rent will increase annually, over

the base monthly rent then in effect, by 3.5%. Oncocyte will be entitled to an abatement of 50% of the base monthly rent during the first ten calendar months of
the Term. If the Lease is terminated based on the occurrence of an “event of default,” Oncocyte will be obligated to pay the abated rent to the lessor.
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If Oncocyte exercises its option to extend the Term, the initial base monthly rent during the Extended Term will be the greater of the base monthly rent
in effect during the last year of the Term or the prevailing market rate. The prevailing market rate will be determined based on annual rental rates per square
foot for comparable space in the area where the Premises are located. If Oncocyte does not agree with the prevailing market rate proposed by the lessor, the rate
may be determined through an appraisal process. The base monthly rent during the Extended Term shall be subject to the same annual rent adjustment as
applicable for base monthly rent during the Term.

 
In addition to base monthly rent, Oncocyte will pay in monthly installments (a) all costs and expenses, other than certain excluded expenses, incurred

by the lessor in each calendar year in connection with operating, maintaining, repairing (including replacements if repairs are not feasible or would not be
effective) and managing the Premises and the building in which the Premises are located (“Expenses”), and (b) all real estate taxes and assessments on the
Premises and the building in which the Premises are located, all personal property taxes for property that is owned by Landlord and used in connection with the
operation, maintenance and repair of the Premises, and costs and fees incurred in connection with seeking reductions in such tax liabilities (“Taxes”). Subject to
certain exceptions, Expenses shall not be increased by more than 4% annually on a cumulative, compounded basis.

 
Oncocyte was entitled to an abatement of its obligations to pay Expenses and Taxes while constructing improvements to the Premises constituting

“Tenant’s Work” under the Lease prior to the Commencement Date, except that Oncocyte was obligated to pay 43.7% of Expenses and Taxes during the period
prior to the Commencement Date for its use of the second floor of the Premises, which was already built out as office space.

 
The lessor has agreed to provide Oncocyte with a “Tenant Improvement Allowance” in the amount of $1,340,000 to pay for the plan, design,

permitting, and construction of the improvements constituting Tenant’s Work. The lessor shall be entitled to retain 1.5% of the Tenant Improvement Allowance
as an administrative fee. As of December 31, 2020, the lessor had provided $1.1 million of the total Tenant Improvement Allowance.

 
Oncocyte has provided the lessor with a security deposit in the amount of $150,000 and a letter of credit in the amount of $1,700,000. The lessor may

apply the security deposit, in whole or in part, for the payment of rent and any other amount that Oncocyte is or becomes obligated to pay under the Irvine
Lease but fails to pay when due and beyond any cure period. The lessor may draw on the letter of credit from time to time to pay any amount that is unpaid and
due, or if the original issuing bank notifies the lessor that the letter of credit will not be renewed or extended for the period required under the Irvine Lease and
Oncocyte fails to timely provide a replacement letter of credit, or an event of default under the Irvine Lease occurs and continues beyond the applicable cure
period, or if certain insolvency or bankruptcy or insolvency with respect to Oncocyte occur. Oncocyte is required to restore any portion of the security deposit
that is applied by the lessor to payments due under the Lease, and Oncocyte is required to restore the amount available under the letter of credit to the required
amount if any portion of the letter of credit is drawn by the lessor. Commencing on the 34th month of the Term, (a) the amount of the letter of credit that
Oncocyte is required to maintain shall be reduced on a monthly basis, in equal installments, to amortize the required amount to zero at the end of the Term, and
(b) Oncocyte will have the right to cancel the letter of credit at any time if it meets certain market capitalization and balance sheet thresholds; provided, in each
case, that Oncocyte is not in then default under the Lease beyond any applicable notice and cure period and the lessor has not determined that an event exists
that would lead to an event of default.

 
To obtain the letter of credit, Oncocyte has provided the issuing bank with a restricted cash deposit that the bank will hold to cover its obligation to

pay any draws on the letter of credit by the lessor. The restricted cash may not be used for any other purpose (see Note 3).
 

Application of leasing standard, ASC 842
 

The Irvine Lease is an operating lease under ASC 842 included in the tables below. The tables below provide the amounts recorded in connection with
the application of ASC 842 as of, and during, the year ended December 31, 2020, for Oncocyte’s operating and financing leases (see Note 2).

 
Under the Laboratory Agreement discussed in Note 7, Oncocyte assumed all of Razor’s Laboratory Agreement payment obligations amounting to

$450,000 per year. Although Oncocyte is not a party to any lease agreement with Razor or Encore, under the terms of the Laboratory Agreement, Oncocyte
received the landlord’s consent for the use of the laboratory at Razor’s Brisbane, California location (the “Brisbane Facility”) under the terms of a sublease to
which Encore is the sublessee. The sublease expires on March 31, 2023 (the “Brisbane Lease”). The laboratory fee payments to Encore include both laboratory
services and the use of the Brisbane Facility. Under the provisions of the Laboratory Agreement, if Oncocyte terminates the Laboratory Agreement prior to the
expiration of the Brisbane Lease, Oncocyte shall assume the costs related to the subletting or early termination of the Brisbane Lease. If the Laboratory
Agreement were to be terminated on December 31, 2020, the aggregate payments due to the landlord for early cancellation of the Brisbane Lease would be
approximately $329,000 (aggregate payments from December 30, 2020 through March 31, 2023). Oncocyte determined that the Laboratory Agreement
contains an embedded operating lease for the Brisbane Facility and Oncocyte allocated the aggregate payments to this lease component for purposes of
calculating the net present value of the right-of-use asset and liability as of the inception of the Laboratory Agreement in accordance with ASC 842, as shown
in the table below.
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Financing lease
 

As of December 31, 2020, Oncocyte has one financing lease remaining through December 2023 for certain laboratory equipment with aggregate
remaining payments of $433,000 shown in the table below.
 
Operating and Financing leases

 
The following table presents supplemental cash flow information related to operating and financing leases for the year ended December 31, 2020 (in

thousands):
 

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:     
Operating cash flows from operating leases  $ 552 
Operating cash flows from financing leases   9 
Financing cash flows from financing leases   71 

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligation:     
Operating lease, including lease acquired in Insight Genetics business combination  $ 536 

 
The following table presents supplemental balance sheet information related to operating and financing leases as of December 31, 2020 (in thousands,

except lease term and discount rate):
 

Operating leases     
Right-of-use assets, net  $ 2,919 

     
Right-of-use lease liabilities, current  $ 271 
Right-of-use lease liabilities, noncurrent   4,091 

Total operating lease liabilities  $ 4,362 
     
Financing Leases     

Machinery and equipment, gross  $ 523 
Accumulated depreciation   (180)

Machinery and equipment, net  $ 343 
     
Current liabilities  $ 151 
Noncurrent liabilities   221 

Total financing lease liabilities  $ 372 
     
Weighted average remaining lease term     

Operating leases   6.2 years 
Financing leases   2.7 years 

     
Weighted average discount rate     

Operating leases   11.15%
Financing leases   11.27%

 
The following table presents future minimum lease commitments as of December 31, 2020 (in thousands):
 

  Operating Leases   Financing Leases  
Year Ending December 31,         
2021  $ 1,030  $ 185 
2022   1,096   124 
2023   1,000   124 
2024   889   - 
2025   869   - 
Thereafter   1,594   - 
Total minimum lease payments   6,478   433 
Less: amounts representing interest   (1,887)   (61)
Less: Tenant Improvement Allowance, net of administrative fee   (229)(1)  - 
Present value of net minimum lease payments  $ 4,362  $ 372 
 
(1) In accordance with ASC 842, a tenant allowance should be included in the measurement of the consideration in the lease agreement at inception and

reflected as a reduction to the right-of-use asset and a corresponding reduction to the right-use-liability if the lessee both controls the construction of the
tenant improvements and the expects to fully earn all of the tenant allowance. Oncocyte has met both conditions at the inception of the Irvine Lease and
has recorded the Tenant Improvement Allowance accordingly. As the cash for the Tenant Improvement Allowance is received from the lessor under the
terms of the Irvine Lease, the corresponding right-of-use liability will increase and will be amortized as part of the right-of use asset and liability
amortization over the term of the Irvine Lease in accordance with ASC 842. As of December 31, 2020, the lessor had provided $1.1 million of the total



$1.3 million Tenant Improvement Allowance, leaving a balance of $0.2 million.
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Litigation – General
 

Oncocyte will be subject to various claims and contingencies in the ordinary course of its business, including those related to litigation, business
transactions, employee-related matters, and other matters. When Oncocyte is aware of a claim or potential claim, it assesses the likelihood of any loss or
exposure. If it is probable that a loss will result and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, Oncocyte will record a liability for the loss. If the loss
is not probable or the amount of the loss cannot be reasonably estimated, Oncocyte discloses the claim if the likelihood of a potential loss is reasonably
possible and the amount involved could be material.
 
Tax Filings
 

Oncocyte tax filings are subject to audit by taxing authorities in jurisdictions where it conducts business. These audits may result in assessments of
additional taxes that are subsequently resolved with the authorities or potentially through the courts. Management believes Oncocyte has adequately provided
for any ultimate amounts that are likely to result from these audits; however, final assessments, if any, could be significantly different than the amounts
recorded in the consolidated financial statements.

 
Employment Contracts
 

Oncocyte has entered into employment and severance benefit contracts with certain executive officers. Under the provisions of the contracts,
Oncocyte may be required to incur severance obligations for matters relating to changes in control, as defined, and certain terminations of executives. As of
December 31, 2020, Oncocyte accrued approximately $1.1 million in severance obligations for certain executive officers, in accordance with the severance
benefit provisions of their respective employment and severance benefit agreements, related to Oncocyte’s partial reduction in force plan and salary reduction
agreements instituted in September 2020.
 
Indemnification
 

In the normal course of business, Oncocyte may provide indemnification of varying scope under Oncocyte’s agreements with other companies or
consultants, typically Oncocyte’s clinical research organizations, investigators, clinical sites, suppliers and others. Pursuant to these agreements, Oncocyte will
generally agree to indemnify, hold harmless, and reimburse the indemnified parties for losses and expenses suffered or incurred by the indemnified parties
arising from claims of third parties in connection with the use or testing of Oncocyte’s diagnostic tests. Indemnification provisions could also cover third party
infringement claims with respect to patent rights, copyrights, or other intellectual property pertaining to Oncocyte’s diagnostic tests. Oncocyte’s office and
laboratory facility leases also will generally contain indemnification obligations, including obligations for indemnification of the lessor for environmental law
matters and injuries to persons or property of others, arising from Oncocyte’s use or occupancy of the leased property. The term of these indemnification
agreements will generally continue in effect after the termination or expiration of the particular research, development, services, lease, or license agreement to
which they relate. The Purchase Agreement also contains provisions under which Oncocyte has agreed to indemnify Razor and Encore from losses and
expenses resulting from breaches or inaccuracy of Oncocyte’s representations and warranties and breaches or nonfulfillment of Oncocyte’s covenants,
agreements, and obligations under the Purchase Agreement. The potential future payments Oncocyte could be required to make under these indemnification
agreements will generally not be subject to any specified maximum amounts. Historically, Oncocyte has not been subject to any claims or demands for
indemnification. Oncocyte also maintains various liability insurance policies that limit Oncocyte’s financial exposure. As a result, Oncocyte management
believes that the fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal. Accordingly, Oncocyte has not recorded any liabilities for these agreements as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019.
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15. Subsequent Events
 
Equity financings and related transactions

 
On January 20, 2021, Oncocyte entered into Subscription Agreements with certain institutional investors for a registered direct offering of 7,301,410

shares of common stock, no par value, at an offering price of $3.424 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $25.0 million. The price per share was the
average of the closing price of our common stock on the NYSE American for the five trading days prior to the date on which we and the investors executed the
Subscription Agreements. Oncocyte did not pay any fees or commissions to broker-dealers or any finder’s fees, nor did it issue any stock purchase warrants, in
connection with the offer and sale of the shares. The investors included Broadwood Capital, LP, Oncocyte’s largest shareholder, and certain investment funds
and accounts managed by Pura Vida Investments, LLC, which beneficially owns greater than 5% of our issued and outstanding common stock.

 
On February 4, 2021, Oncocyte entered into a Purchase Agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with Piper Sandler & Co., as representative of the

underwriters named therein (the “Underwriters”), pursuant to which agreed to issue and sell to the Underwriters in an underwritten public offering (the
“Offering”) an aggregate of 7,780,000 shares of OncoCyte common stock at a public offering price of $4.50 per share, before underwriting discounts and
commissions. Under the terms of the Underwriting Agreement, Oncocyte also granted to the Underwriters an option to purchase up to an additional 1,167,000
shares of common stock to cover over-allotments. On February 9, 2021, Oncocyte completed the Offering and issued 8,947,000 shares of common stock,
including the 1,167,000 shares to cover the exercise in full of the Underwriters’ over-allotment option, for aggregate net proceeds to Oncocyte of approximately
$37.5 million, after deducting commissions, discounts and estimated expenses related to the Offering. Broadwood Capital, LP purchased 600,000 shares in the
Offering.

 
In January 2021, under the ATM Agreement, Oncocyte sold 2,178,327 shares of common stock in at-the-market transactions for approximately $6.3

million in net cash proceeds. On February 4, 2021, in connection with the Offering discussed above, Oncocyte suspended all further offers and sales of shares
of its common stock pursuant to the ATM Agreement.

 
In February 2021, Oncocyte received $0.8 million in cash proceeds from the issuance of 248,251 shares of common stock from the exercise of certain

common stock purchase warrants that were issued and sold during a prior period.
 

Razor Genomics Second Close
 

On January 29, 2021, the principal shareholder of Razor informed Oncocyte that the milestone requiring Oncocyte to purchase the outstanding shares
of Razor common stock had been attained under the Subscription and the Purchase Agreement. On February 24, 2021, Oncocyte completed the purchase of all
of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Razor and paid the selling shareholders in total $10 million in cash and issued to them a total of
982,318 shares of Oncocyte common stock having a market value of $5 million based on an average closing price of common stock on the NYSE American
over the five trading day period ending on the date prior to the date on which Oncocyte received notice of the achievement of the milestone. As a result of the
purchase of the Razor common stock, Oncocyte is now the sole shareholder of Razor.

 
Merger Agreement with Chronix Biomedical, Inc.
 

On February 2, 2021, OncoCyte entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with CNI Monitor Sub, Inc., a Delaware
corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of OncoCyte, (“Merger Sub”), Chronix Biomedical, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Chronix”), the stockholders party
to the Merger Agreement (the “Stockholders”) and the equityholder representative. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will be merged with and
into Chronix (the “Merger”) with Chronix surviving the Merger. OncoCyte’s board of directors and Chronix’s board of directors have approved the Merger
Agreement.
 

Merger Consideration
 

If the Chronix merger is completed, Oncocyte will issue 295,000 shares of OncoCyte common stock to holders of certain Chronix preferred stock, will
provide $2.675 million in cash for the payment of certain Chronix liabilities and will assume up to $5.575 million of additional Chronix liabilities.

 
Earnout Consideration

 
As additional consideration for Chronix’s stockholders, the Merger Agreement provides for OncoCyte to pay (i) up to $14 million in any combination

of cash or OncoCyte common shares if the milestones are achieved, (ii) earnout consideration during the five to ten-year earnout periods of up to 15% of net
collections for sales of specified tests and products, and (iii) up to 75% of net collections from the sale or license to a third party of Chronix’s patents for use in
transplantation medicine during a seven-year earnout period.

 
The completion of the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of closing conditions, including: (i) the absence of any applicable law or order

that prohibits completion of the Merger, (ii) performance in all material respects of the obligations required to be performed by the other party pursuant to the
Merger Agreement at or prior to the completion of the Merger, (iii) the accuracy of certain representations and warranties made in the Merger Agreement by the
other party, subject to certain knowledge or materiality qualifications, (iv) no Stockholders entitled to vote on the Merger will have provided notice of exercise
of their dissenter’s rights, and (v) the liabilities of Chronix and its subsidiaries will not exceed $8.25 million in the aggregate.

 
The Merger Agreement also includes termination provisions for both OncoCyte and Chronix, including the right to terminate by mutual consent and

the right of either party to terminate the Merger Agreement if the closing has not occurred on or prior to April 30, 2021.
 
Registration Rights

 
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, OncoCyte agreed to file a registration statement with the SEC covering the issuance or resale of the shares of



common stock to be issued in connection with the Merger within 90 days following receipt of information necessary to file the registration statement.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
 

Not applicable.
 
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

It is management’s responsibility to establish and maintain adequate internal control over all financial reporting pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the
Exchange Act. Our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, have reviewed and evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of our fourth quarter. Following this review and evaluation, management collectively determined that our
disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange
Act (i) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms; and (ii) is accumulated and communicated to
management, including our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
 
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial
reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f), is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive officer, our principal
operations officer, and our principal financial officer, and effected by our Board of Directors, management, and other personnel, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:
 
 ● Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;
   
 ● Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our
management and directors; and

   
 ● Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have

a material effect on the financial statements.
 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

 
Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in

the 2013 Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by COSO. Based on this assessment, management believes that, as of that date, our internal control
over financial reporting was effective.
 
Item 9B. Other Information

 
None.
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PART III
 
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance
 

Information about each of our directors and each nominee for election as a director is contained under the caption “Election of Directors” in our Proxy
Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and is incorporated herein by reference. Information about our executive officers, and committees of
the Board of Directors, reported under the caption “Corporate Governance,” in our Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is
incorporated herein by reference.
 

We have a written Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (“Code of Ethics”) that applies to our principal executive officer, our principal financial
officer and accounting officer, our other executive officers, our other employees, and our directors. The purpose of the Code of Ethics is to deter wrongdoing
and to promote (i) honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional
relationships; (ii) full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure in reports and documents that we file with or submit to the SEC and in our other
public communications; (iii) compliance with applicable governmental rules and regulations; (iv) prompt internal reporting of violations of the Code of Ethics
to an appropriate person or persons identified in the Code; and (v) accountability for adherence to the Code. A copy of our Code of Ethics has been posted on
our internet website and can be found at www.oncocyte.com. If we amend or waive a provision of our Code of Ethics that applies to our chief executive officer
or chief financial officer, we will post the amended Code of Ethics or information about the waiver on our internet website.
 

Information about our compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 reported under the caption “Delinquent Section 16(a)
Reports” in our Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated herein by reference.
 
Item 11. Executive Compensation
 

Information about compensation of our executive officers reported under the caption “Executive Compensation,” and information about compensation
of directors reported under the caption “Director Compensation,” in our Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated herein
by reference.
 
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management, and Related Stockholder Matters
 

Information on the number of common shares of Oncocyte beneficially owned by each shareholder known by us to be the beneficial owner of 5% or
more of our common shares, and by each director and named executive officer, and by all directors and named executive officers as a group, contained under
the caption “Principal Shareholders” in our Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, is incorporated herein by reference.
 
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
 

Information about transactions with related persons; review, and approval or ratification of transactions with related persons reported under the caption
“Principal Shareholders,” and information about director independence reported under the caption “Election of Directors,” in our Proxy Statement for our 2021
Annual Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated herein by reference.
 
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
 

Information about our Audit Committee’s pre-approval policy for audit services, and information on our principal accounting fees and services
reported under the caption “Ratification of the Selection of Our Independent Auditors” in our Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is
incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
 
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
 
(a-1)  Financial Statements.
   
  The following consolidated financial statements of OncoCyte Corporation are filed in the Form 10-K:
   
  Consolidated Balance Sheets
  Consolidated Statements of Operations
  Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
  Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
 
Exhibit
Numbers

 
Exhibit Description

2.1  Subscription and Stock Purchase Agreement, dated September 4, 2019, among OncoCyte Corporation, Encore Clinical, Inc., and Razor
Genomics Inc.†  (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on October 3, 2019)

   
2.2  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of January 10, 2020, among OncoCyte Corporation, Cancer DX Sub, Inc., Insight Genetics, Inc., the

Shareholders who became a Party to the Merger Agreement and the Equityholder Representative. (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte
Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 5, 2020)

   
2.3  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 2, 2021, among Oncocyte Corporation, CNI Monitor Sub, Inc., Chronix Biomedical, Inc.,

the Shareholders who became a Party to the Merger Agreement and the Equityholder Representative (Incorporated by Reference to Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 3, 2021)

   
3.1  Articles of Incorporation with all amendments (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 29, 2020)
   
3.2  Amended and Restated By-Laws (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on March 6, 2020)
   
4.1  Specimen of Common Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Form 10 12(b) filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on November 23, 2015)
   
4.2  Form of August 2016 Warrant (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on August 29, 2016)
   
4.3  Form of 2017 Warrant, Exercise Price $3.25 (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on February 27, 2017)
   
4.4  Form of 2017 Warrant, Exercise Price $5.50 (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on February 27, 2017)
   
4.5  Silicon Valley Bank Warrant (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on February 27, 2017)
   
4.6  Form of July 2017 Warrant, Exercise Price $5.50; five-year term (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form

8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 26, 2017)
   
4.7  Form of July 2017 Warrant, Exercise Price $3.25, five-year term (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form

8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 26, 2017)
   
4.8  Form of July 2018 Warrant (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on August 1, 2018)
   
4.9  Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock, dated August 1, 2019 (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Quarterly Report

on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2019)
   
4.10  Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated October 17, 2019, between OncoCyte Corporation and Silicon Valley Bank (Incorporated by

Reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 21, 2019)
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4.11  Description of Securities*
   
10.1  Form of Director/Consultant Option Agreement (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Form 10 12(b) filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on November 23, 2015)
   
10.2  Form of Employee Incentive Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Form 10 12(b) filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on November 23, 2015)
   
10.3  Registration Rights Agreement dated October 15, 2009 (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Form 10 12(b) filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on November 23, 2015)
   
10.4  Amendment of Registration Rights Agreement, dated August 23, 2011 (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Form 10 12(b)

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 23, 2015)
   
10.5  Second Amendment of Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 8, 2015 (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Form 10

12(b) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 23, 2015)
   
10.6  Third Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 16, 2015 (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Form 10

12(b) A-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 29, 2015)
   
10.7  Form of Alternate Warrant Exercise Agreement, dated February 17, 2017 (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report

on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 24, 2017)
   
10.8  Loan and Security Agreement, dated February 21, 2017, between OncoCyte Corporation and Silicon Valley Bank (Incorporated by reference to

OncoCyte Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 27, 2017)
   
10.9  2017 Amendment to 2010 Stock Option Plan (Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-8, File Number 333-219109 filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2017)
   
10.10  Form of July 2017 Warrant Exercise Agreement, dated July 21, 2017 (July 2017 Warrant for 100% of shares received on exercise of Original

Warrant, at $5.50 exercise price with five-year term) (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 26, 2017)

   
10.11  Form of July 2017 Warrant Exercise Agreement, dated July 21, 2017 (July 2017 Warrant for 50% of shares received on exercise of Original

Warrant, at $3.25 exercise price with five-year term) (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 26, 2017)

   
10.12  Employment Agreement, dated November 15, 2017, between OncoCyte Corporation and Mitchell Levine (Incorporated by reference to

OncoCyte Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2018)
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10.13  2018 Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on August 29, 2018)
   
10.14  Form of 2018 Equity Incentive Plan Employee Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report

on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 29, 2018)
   
10.15  Form of 2018 Equity Incentive Plan Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 29, 2018)
   
10.16  Form of 2018 Equity Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 29, 2018)
   
10.17  Employment Agreement, dated May 22, 2019, between OncoCyte Corporation and Padma Sundar (Incorporated by Reference to Annual Report

on Form 10-K Filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 26, 2020)
   
10.18  Employment Agreement, dated June 4, 2019, between OncoCyte Corporation and Ronald Andrews (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte

Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 6, 2019)
   
10.19  Amendment to 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on July 23, 2019)
   
10.20  Development Agreement, dated September 30, 2019, among OncoCyte Corporation, Encore Clinical, Inc., and Razor Genomics Inc. †

(Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
October 3, 2019)

   
10.21  Sublicense and Distribution Agreement, dated September 30, 2019, among OncoCyte Corporation, Encore Clinical, Inc., and Razor Genomics

Inc.† (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on October 3, 2019)

   
10.22  Laboratory Services Agreement, dated August 15, 2015, as amended, among OncoCyte Corporation, Encore Clinical, Inc., and Razor Genomics

Inc.† (Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on October 3, 2019)

   
10.23  First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated October 17, 2019, between OncoCyte Corporation and Silicon Valley Bank †

(Incorporated by reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
October 21, 2019)

   
10.24  Office Lease Agreement, dated December 23, 2019, as amended between OncoCyte Corporation and Cushing Ventures, LLC (Incorporated by

reference to OncoCyte Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 27, 2019)
   
10.25  Lease Agreement, dated November 10, 2011, between Insight Genetics, Inc. and MPC Holdings, LLC, as renewed by notice dated January 3,

2019 (Incorporated by Reference to Annual Report on Form 10-K Filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 26, 2020)
   
10.26  Oncocyte Corporation Change in Control and Severance Plan (Incorporated by Reference to Annual Report on Form 10-K Filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on March 26, 2020)
   
10.27  Form of Change in Control and Severance Agreement (Incorporated by Reference to Annual Report on Form 10-K Filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on March 26, 2020)
   
10.28  Form of Subscription Agreement between OncoCyte Corporation and Certain Investors (Incorporated by Reference to Current Report on Form

8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 28, 2020)
   
10.29  U.S. Small Business Administration Paycheck Protection Program Note (Incorporated by Reference to Current Report on Form 8-K filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 29, 2020)
   
10.30  Loan Deferral Agreement, dated April 2, 2020, between OncocCyte Corporation and Silicon Valley Bank (Incorporated by Reference to

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 12, 2020)
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10.31  Acknowledgement and Agreement, dated May 7, 2020, between OncoCyte Corporation and Ronald Andrews (Incorporated by Reference to

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 12, 2020)
   
10.32  Acknowledgement and Agreement, dated May 7, 2020, between OncoCyte Corporation and Mitchell Levine (Incorporated by Reference to

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 12, 2020)
   
10.33  Acknowledgement and Agreement, dated May 7, 2020, between OncoCyte Corporation and Lyndal Hesterberg (Incorporated by Reference to

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 12, 2020)
   
10.34  Employment Agreement, dated March 23, 2020, between OncoCyte Corporation and Doug Ross (Incorporated by Reference to Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 29, 2020)
   
10.35  Reduction in Salary Agreement between OncoCyte Corporation and Albert Parker (Incorporated by Reference to Current Report on Form 8-K

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 28, 2020)
   
10.36  Reduction in Salary Agreement between OncoCyte Corporation and Lyndal Hesterberg (Incorporated by Reference to Current Report on Form

8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 28, 2020)
   
10.37  Reduction in Salary Agreement between OncoCyte Corporation and Tony Kalajian (Incorporated by Reference to Current Report on Form 8-K

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 28, 2020)
   
10.38  Exclusive Sublicense Agreement in the PRC Territory, Dated December 14, 2020, by and among Razor Genomics, Inc., OncoCyte Corporation,

Encore Clinical, Inc., and Burning Rock Biotech Limited (Incorporated by Reference to Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on December 16, 2020)

   
10.39  Subscription Agreements, dated January 20, 2021, between OncoCyte Corporation and the Investors Named Therein (Incorporated by

Reference to Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 21, 2021)
   
10.40  Amended and Restated Exclusive License Agreement, effective February 15, 2018, between Razor Genomics, Inc. and the licensor named

therein†*
   
21  Subsidiaries*
   
23.1  Consent of OUM & Co. LLP *
   
31  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification *
   
32  Section 1350 Certification *
   
101  Interactive Data Files *
   
101.INS  XBRL Instance Document
   
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
   
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
   
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Document
   
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
   
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
 
*Filed herewith
 
† Portions of this exhibit have been omitted because the omitted information is (i) not material and (ii) would likely cause competitive harm to the registrant if
publicly disclosed
 
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
 

None.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report on Form 10-K
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on the 19th day of March 2021.
 
 ONCOCYTE CORPORATION
   
 By: /s/ Ronald Andrews
  Ronald Andrews
  President and Chief Executive Officer
 

Signature  Title  Date
     
/s/ Ronald Andrews  President and Chief Executive Officer and Director  March 19, 2021
RONALD ANDREWS  (Principal Executive Officer)   
     
/s/ Mitchell Levine  Chief Financial Officer  March 19, 2021
MITCHELL LEVINE  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)   
     
/s/ Melinda Griffith  Director  March 19, 2021
MELINDA GRIFFITH     
     
/s/ Andrew Arno  Director  March 19, 2021
ANDREW ARNO     
     

 Director  March 19, 2021
ALFRED D. KINGSLEY     
     
/s/ Andrew Last  Director  March 19, 2021
ANDREW LAST     
     
/s/ Jennifer L Carter  Director  March 19, 2021
JENNIFER L. CARTER     
     
/s/ Cavan Redmond  Director  March 19, 2021
CAVAN REDMOND     
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Exhibit 4.11

 
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

 
The following description of certain terms of OncoCyte Corporation (“Oncocyte”) common stock is a summary and is qualified in its entirety by

reference to (i) Oncocyte’s Articles of Incorporation, as amended, (ii) Oncocyte’s Amended and Restated Bylaw, and (iii) the California General Corporation
Law.
 
Common Stock
 

The Oncocyte Articles of Incorporation currently authorize the issuance of up to 150,000,000 shares of common stock, no par value. Each holder of
record of common stock is entitled to one vote for each outstanding share owned, on every matter properly submitted to the shareholders for their vote;
provided, that if any shareholder entitled to vote at a meeting at which directors are to be elected gives timely notice of their intention to cumulate votes in the
election of directors, shareholders may cumulate votes for the election of directors.
 

Subject to the dividend rights of holders of any preferred stock that may be issued from time to time, holders of common stock are entitled to any
dividend declared by the Oncocyte Board of Directors out of funds legally available for that purpose.
 

Subject to the prior payment of the applicable liquidation preference to holders of any preferred stock that may be issued from time to time, holders of
common stock are entitled to receive on a pro rata basis all remaining assets available for distribution to the holders of common stock in the event of the
liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of Oncocyte’s operations.

 
Holders of common stock do not have any preemptive, subscription, redemption, or conversion rights. There are no redemption or sinking fund

provisions applicable to the common stock. The rights, powers, preferences and privileges of holders of Oncocyte common stock will be subject to those of the
holders of any shares of Oncocyte preferred stock that may be issued in the future.
 
 
 



 
Exhibit 10.44

 
Certain identified information has been omitted because the omitted information is (i) not material and (ii) would likely cause competitive harm to OncoCyte
Corporation if publicly disclosed. Omitted portions of this exhibit are marked [**].
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UCSF Case Nos. SF2002-023, SF2006-090, SF2007-086, SF2008-010, & SF2011-157
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGREEMENT
 

for
 

GENE-BASED ASSAYS FOR CANCER DIAGNOSIS AND PROGNOSIS
 

This amended and restated license agreement (“Agreement”) is made effective this ______ day of February, 2018 (“Effective Date”), by and between
The Regents of the University of California, a California corporation, having its statewide administrative offices at 1111 Franklin Street, 12th Floor, Oakland,
California 94607-5200 (“The Regents”) and acting through its University of California, San Francisco Office of Technology Management, 600 16th Street,
Suite S-272, San Francisco, CA, 94158 (“UCSF”), and Razor Genomics, Inc., a Delaware corporation, having a principal place of business at 27709 Via Cerro
Gordo, Los Altos Hills, California 94022 (“Licensee”).

 
BACKGROUND

 
A. Certain inventions, generally characterized as [**]“A Multi-Gene Assay To Predict Clinical Outcome In Non-small Cell Lung Carcinoma”, [**],

and “Gene Expression Assay for Lung Cancer” (collectively “Invention”), were made in the course of research at the University of California, San Francisco,
by Drs. [**], and at Pinpoint Genomics by [**], and are claimed in Patent Rights as defined below.

 
B. The development of the Invention was sponsored in part by the Department of Health and Human Services and, as a consequence, this license is

subject to overriding obligations to the United States Federal Government under 35 U.S.C. §§ 200-212 and applicable regulations including a non-exclusive,
non-transferable, irrevocable, paid-up license to practice or have practiced the Invention for or on behalf of the United States Government throughout the
world.
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C. Pinpoint Genomics, Inc., a Delaware corporation, having a principal place of business at 231 S. Whisman Road, Mountain View, CA 94041-1522
(“Pinpoint”) and The Regents executed an exclusive license agreement, with an effective date of December 19th, 2009 (UC Agreement Control No. 2010-03-
0034) (“Original Agreement”) for “Gene-Based Assays For Cancer Diagnosis and Prognosis” wherein Pinpoint was granted certain rights.

 
D. Pinpoint and The Regents executed an exclusive license agreement, with an effective date of March 3rd, 2012, (UC Agreement Control Nos. 2012-

03-0053) (“2012 Agreement”) for “Gene Expression Assay for Lung Cancer” wherein Pinpoint was granted certain rights, including rights to UC Case No.
SF2011-157.

 
E. The Licensee and The Regents hereby mutually agree to terminate the 2012 Agreement and amend and restate the Original Agreement for the

purposes of revising certain terms, and to include The Regents’ rights in patent rights filed under UC Case No. SF2011-157 to the Agreement.
 
F. The Original Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety and restated herein. Such amendment and restatement is effective upon the execution of

this Agreement by Licensee and The Regents.
 
G. The Licensee wishes to maintain certain rights obtained from The Regents for the commercial development of the Invention, in accordance with the

terms and conditions set forth herein and The Regents is willing to grant those rights so that the Invention may be developed and the benefits enjoyed by the
general public.

 
H. The scope of such rights granted by The Regents is intended to extend to the scope of the patents and patent applications in Patent Rights, but only

to the extent that The Regents has proprietary rights in and to the Valid Claims of such Patent Rights.
 
I. The Licensee is a “small business firm” as defined in 15 U.S.C. §632.
 
J. Both parties recognize and agree that Earned Royalties are due under this Agreement with respect to products, services and methods and that such

royalties will be paid with respect to both pending patent applications and issued patents, in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth herein.
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K. Both parties recognize and agree that Earned Royalties due under this Agreement will be based on the Licensee’s or a Sublicensee’s last act of

infringement of Patent Rights within the control of the Licensee or a Sublicensee, regardless of whether the Licensee or a Sublicensee had control over prior
infringing acts; the parties intend that Earned Royalties due under this Agreement will be calculated based on the Net Sales of the product or service resulting
from the last act of infringement by the Licensee and its Sublicensees.

 
- - oo 0 oo - -

 
The parties agree as follows:

 
1. DEFINITIONS
 

As used in this Agreement, the following terms, whether used in the singular or plural, shall have the following meanings:
 

1.1 “Affiliate” of the Licensee means any entity which, directly or indirectly, Controls the Licensee, is Controlled by the Licensee or is under common
Control with the Licensee. “Control” means (i) having the actual, present capacity to elect a majority of the directors of such affiliate; (ii) having the power to
direct at least forty percent (40%) of the voting rights entitled to elect directors; or (iii) in any country where the local law will not permit foreign equity
participation of a majority, ownership or control, directly or indirectly, of the maximum percentage of such outstanding stock or voting rights permitted by local
law.
 

1.2 “Attributed Income” means the total gross proceeds (exclusive of Earned Royalties of Sublicensees, but including, without limitation, any license
fees, maintenance fees, or milestone payments), whether consisting of cash or any other forms of consideration and whether any rights other than Patent Rights
are granted, which gross proceeds are received by or payable to the Licensee, any Affiliate and/or Joint Venture from any Sublicensee in consideration of the
grant of a sublicense. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Attributed Income shall not include proceeds attributed in such sublicense or such agreement,
arrangement or other relationship to bona fide (i) debt financing; (ii) equity (and conditional equity, such as warrants, convertible debt and the like) investments
in the Licensee at market value; (iii) reimbursements of Patent Prosecution Costs actually incurred by the Licensee; and (iv) reimbursement for the cost of
research and/or development services to be provided on a going forward basis by Licensee for the applicable Sublicensee under such sublicense or such
agreement, arrangement or other relationship on the basis of full-time equivalent (“FTE”) efforts of personnel at or below commercially reasonable and
standard FTE rates. For the avoidance of doubt, any gross proceeds meeting the definition set forth above in this Article 1.2 shall be “Attributed Income”
irrespective of whether such gross proceeds are received under one or more separate agreements and irrespective of how such gross proceeds are referred to or
characterized by the Licensee or the Sublicensee.
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1.3 “Earned Royalty” is defined in Paragraph 8.1.
 

1.4 “Field of Use” means all diagnostic, prognostic and predictive applications. The Field of Use specifically excludes all other uses and applications.
 
1.5 “FTE” is defined in Paragraph 1.2 (Attributed Income).

 
1.6 “Joint Venture” means any separate entity established pursuant to an agreement between a third party and the Licensee and/or Sublicensee to

constitute a vehicle for a joint venture, in which the separate entity manufactures, uses, purchases, Sells or acquires Licensed Products from the Licensee or
Sublicensee.

 
1.7 “Licensed Method” means any process, art or method the use or practice of which, but for the license granted in this Agreement, would infringe, or

contribute to, or induce the infringement of, any Patent Rights in any country were they issued at the time of the infringing activity in that country.
 
1.8 “Licensed Product” means any Product, including, without limitation, a Product for use or used in practicing a Licensed Method and any Product

made by practicing a Licensed Method, the manufacture, use, Sale, offer for Sale or import of which, but for the license granted in this Agreement, would
infringe, or contribute to, or induce the infringement of, any Patent Rights in any country were they issued at the time of the infringing activity in that country.

 
1.9 “Licensed Service” means any service provided for consideration (whether in cash or any other form), when such service (i) involves the use of a

Licensed Product or (ii) involves the practice of a Licensed Method.
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1.10 “Net Invoice Price” means (a) the gross invoice price charged and the value of any other consideration owed to the Licensee and/or any Sublicensee
for a Licensed Product or Licensed Service, or (b) in those instances where the Licensed Product or Licensed Service is combined in any manner with any
other Product or service, the gross invoice price charged and the value of any other consideration owed to the Licensee and/or any Sublicensee for the
combined Product or service in its entirety, less the following items, but only to the extent that they actually pertain to the disposition of such Licensed Product
or Licensed Service, are included in the gross invoice price charged or other consideration owed, and are identified separately on a bill or invoice:
 
 1.10.1 Allowances actually granted to customers for rejections, returns and prompt payment and volume discounts;
   
 1.10.2 Freight, transport packing and insurance charges associated with transportation;
   
 1.10.3 Taxes, including Deductible Value Added Tax, tariffs or import/export duties based on Sales when included in the gross invoice price, but

excluding value-added taxes other than Deductible Value Added Tax or taxes assessed on income derived from Sales. “Deductible Value
Added Tax” means only the portion of the value added tax that is actually incurred and is not reimbursable, refundable or creditable
under the tax authority of any country;

   
 1.10.4 Only those normal and customary discounts and rebates given as a part of a formulary program that are paid or credited to customers,

third-party payers, healthcare systems, or administrators for a Licensed Product or Licensed Service that is included in such formulary
program, as permitted by applicable law;

   
 1.10.5 Only those normal and customary wholesaler’s discounts and rebates given as a part of a formulary program that are paid or credited to

customers, third-party payers, health care systems, or administrators for a Licensed Product or Licensed Service that is included in such
formulary program, as permitted by applicable law;

   
 1.10.6 Rebates and discounts paid or credited pursuant to applicable law; and
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 1.10.7 Amounts that have been billed or invoiced but are written off as uncollectible (determined in a manner consistent with generally

accepted accounting principles, consistently applied) due to insurance coverage limits, contracted in-network claims, denied claims, user
co-pay and deductible fees and patient assistance fees, any such deduction to be taken in the royalty reporting period in which such
amounts are written off, provided that should any such amounts thereafter be received, such amounts shall be recorded as Net Sales in
the royalty reporting period of receipt.

 
1.11 “Net Sale” means:

 
 1.11.1 except in the instances described in Paragraphs 1.11.2, 1.11.3 and 1.11.4 of this Paragraph, the Net Invoice Price;
   
 1.11.2 for any Relationship-Influenced Sale of a Licensed Product or Licensed Service, Net Sales shall be based on the Net Invoice Price at

which the Relationship-Influenced Sale Purchaser re-Sells such Licensed Product or Licensed Service;
   
 1.11.3 in those instances where Licensed Product or Licensed Service is not Sold, but is otherwise exploited, the Net Sales for such Licensed

Product or Licensed Service shall be the Net Invoice Price of products or services of the same or similar kind and quality, Sold in similar
quantities, currently being offered for Sale by the Licensee and/or any Sublicensee. Where such products or services are not currently
being offered for Sale by the Licensee and/or any Sublicensee, the Net Sales for Licensed Product or Licensed Service otherwise
exploited, for the purpose of computing royalties, shall be the average Net Invoice Price at which products or services of the same or
similar kind and quality, Sold in similar quantities, are then currently being offered for Sale by other manufacturers. Where such products
or services are not currently Sold or offered for Sale by the Licensee and/or any Sublicensee, or others, then the Net Sales shall be the
Licensee’s and/or any Sublicensee’s cost of manufacture of Licensed Product or the cost of conducting the service, determined according
to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”), plus [**]; and
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 1.11.4 for a Reacquisition Sale or Exploitation, Net Sales shall mean the Net Invoice Price upon the Reacquisition Sale or Exploitation of a
Licensed Product or Licensed Service.

1.12 “New Developments” means inventions, or claims to inventions, which constitute advancements, developments or improvements, whether or not
patentable and whether or not the subject of any patent application, which are not sufficiently supported by the specification of a previously-filed patent or
patent application within the Patent Rights to be entitled to the priority date of the previously-filed patent or patent application.

 
1.13 “Patent Prosecution Costs” is defined in Paragraph 20.4.

 
1.14 “Patent Rights” means the Valid Claims of, to the extent assigned to or otherwise obtained by The Regents, the following United States patents and

patent applications:
 

UC Case Number  United States Application Number or United States Patent Number  Filing Date
[**]     
2007-086-4  US Application 15/453,864  03/08/2017
[**]     
     
     
2011-157-4  US Patent 9,476,098  10/25/2016 Issued
 
Patent Rights shall further include the Valid Claims of, to the extent assigned to or otherwise obtained by The Regents, the corresponding foreign patents and
patent applications (requested under Paragraph 20.6 herein) and any reissues, extensions, substitutions, continuations, divisions, and continuation-in-part
applications (but only those Valid Claims in the continuation-in-part applications that are entirely supported in the specification and entitled to the priority date
of the parent application). This definition of Patent Rights excludes any rights in and to New Developments.
 

1.15 “Product” means any kit, article of manufacture, composition of matter, material, compound, component or product.
 
1.16 “Progeny” means descendants from the Original Materials, Progeny and/or Unmodified Derivatives, including those with mutations such as: virus

from virus; cell from cell; or organism from organism.
 
1.17 “Reacquisition Sale or Exploitation” means those instances where the Licensee or a Sublicensee acquires a Licensed Product or Licensed Service

and then subsequently Sells or otherwise exploits such Licensed Product or Licensed Service.
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1.18 “Related Party” means a corporation, firm or other entity with which, or individual with whom, the Licensee and/or any Sublicensee (or any of its
respective stockholders, subsidiaries or Affiliates) have any agreement, understanding or arrangement (for example, but not by way of limitation, an option to
purchase stock or other equity interest, or an arrangement involving a division of revenue, profits, discounts, rebates or allowances) unrelated to the Sale or
exploitation of the Licensed Products or Licensed Services without which such other agreement, understanding or arrangement, the amounts, if any, charged by
the Licensee or any Sublicensee to such entity or individual for the Licensed Product or Licensed Service, would be higher than the Net Invoice Price actually
received, or if such agreement, understanding or arrangement results in the Licensee or any Sublicensee extending to such entity or individual lower prices for
such Licensed Product or Licensed Service than those charged to others without such agreement, understanding or arrangement buying similar products or
services in similar quantities.
 

1.19 “Relationship-Influenced Sale” means a Sale of a Licensed Product or Licensed Service, or any exploitation of the Licensed Product or Licensed
Method, between the Licensee and/or any Sublicensee and (i) an Affiliate; (ii) a Joint Venture; (iii) a Related Party or (iv) the Licensee and/or a Sublicensee.

 
1.20 “Relationship-Influenced Sale Purchaser” means the purchaser of Licensed Product or Licensed Service in a Relationship-Influenced Sale.
 
1.21 “Sale” means the act of selling, leasing or otherwise transferring, providing, or furnishing for use for any consideration. Correspondingly, “Sell”

means to make or cause to be made a Sale and “Sold” means to have made or caused to be made a Sale.
 
1.22 “Service Income” means Net Sales with respect to Licensed Services. Service Income shall not include Attributed Income and amounts received by

the Licensee or any Affiliate, Joint Venture, or Sublicensee to the extent such amounts are reasonably and fairly attributable to Licensed Services performed on
an FTE basis at or below commercially reasonable and standard FTE rates.

 
1.23 “Sublicensee” means any person or entity (including any Affiliate or Joint Venture) to which any of the license rights granted to the Licensee

hereunder are sublicensed.
 
1.24 “Sublicense Fee” is defined in Paragraph 7.1.

 
1.25 “Valid Claim” means a claim of a patent or patent application in any country that (i) has not expired; (ii) has not been disclaimed; (iii) has not been

cancelled or superseded, or if cancelled or superseded, has been reinstated; and (iv) has not been revoked, held invalid, or otherwise declared unenforceable or
not allowable by a tribunal or patent authority of competent jurisdiction over such claim in such country from which no further appeal has or may be taken.
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2. GRANT
 

2.1 Subject to the limitations and other terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement including the license granted to the United States Government set
forth in the Background and in Paragraph 2.3.1, The Regents grants to the Licensee a license under its rights in and to Patent Rights to make, use, Sell, offer for
Sale and import Licensed Products and Licensed Services and to practice Licensed Methods, in the United States and in other countries where The Regents
may lawfully grant such licenses, only in the Field of Use.

 
2.2 Except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement, the license granted under Patent Rights in Paragraph 2.1 is exclusive.
 
2.3 The license granted in Paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2 is subject to the following:

 
 2.3.1 The obligations to the United States Government under 35 U.S.C. §§ 200-212 and all applicable governmental implementing regulations,

as amended from time to time, including the obligation to report on the utilization of the Invention as set forth in 37 CFR. § 401.14(h),
and all applicable provisions of any license to the United States Government executed by The Regents; and

   
 2.3.2 the National Institutes of Health “Principles and Guidelines for Recipients of NIH Research Grants and Contracts on Obtaining and

Disseminating Biomedical Research Resources,” 64 F.R. 72090 (Dec. 23, 1999), as amended from time to time.

2.4 The license granted in Paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2 is limited to methods and products that are within the Field of Use. For other methods and products, the
Licensee has no license under this Agreement.
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2.5 The Regents reserves and retains the right (and the rights granted to the Licensee in this Agreement shall be limited accordingly) to make, use and
practice the Invention and any technology relating to any of the foregoing and to make and use any Products and to practice any process that is the subject of
the Patent Rights (and to grant any of the foregoing rights to other educational and non-profit institutions) for educational and research purposes, including
without limitation, any sponsored research performed for or on behalf of commercial entities and including publication and other communication of any
research results. The Regents also reserves and retains the right (and the rights granted to the Licensee in this Agreement shall be limited accordingly) to make,
use and practice the Invention and any technology relating to any of the foregoing and to make, use and Sell any Products and to practice any process that is the
subject of the Patent Rights in the Field of Use (and to grant such rights to other academic and non-profit institutions) for compassionate use, including but not
limited to use for patients seeking second opinions on prior results obtained through purchase and use of Licensed Products or Licensed Services from Licensee
or a Sublicensee, and use for uninsured patients unable to afford access to Licensed Products and/or Licensed Services provided by Licensee or a Sublicensee
and seeking diagnostic, prognostic or predictive services from The Regents or other academic or non-profit entities. For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent
the Invention and any technology relating to any of the foregoing are not the subject of the exclusive license under the Patent Rights granted to the Licensee
hereunder, The Regents shall be free to make, use, Sell, offer to Sell, import, practice and otherwise commercialize and exploit (including to transfer, license to,
or have exercised by, third parties) for any purpose whatsoever and in its sole discretion, such Invention, technology and any Products or processes that are the
subject of any of the foregoing.
 

2.6 Because the Invention was made under funding provided by the United States Government, Licensed Products, the Invention, and any products
embodying the Invention sold in the United States will be substantially manufactured in the United States.
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3. SUBLICENSES
 

3.1 The Regents also grants to the Licensee the right to sublicense to third parties (including to Affiliates and Joint Ventures) the rights granted to the
Licensee hereunder, with no right to further sublicense except as provided below, as long as the Licensee has current exclusive rights thereto under this
Agreement. Each Sublicensee must be subject to a written sublicense agreement. All sublicenses will include all of the rights of, and will require the
performance of all the obligations due to, The Regents (and, if applicable, the United States Government and other sponsors), other than those rights and
obligations specified in Article 5 (License Issue Fee), Article 6 (License Maintenance Fee) and Paragraph 8.3 (Minimum Annual Royalty) and Paragraphs 20.4
and 20.6 (reimbursement of Patent Prosecution Costs). For the avoidance of doubt, the Licensee shall have no right to permit any Sublicensee and no
Sublicensee shall have any right to further sublicense any of the rights granted to the Licensee hereunder, except that each Sublicensee (except Affiliates and
Joint Ventures) may sublicense to its affiliates as affiliate is defined in Paragraph 1.1 with Sublicensee substituted for licensee in the definition, to the extent
needed for the development and commercialization of Licensed Products in accordance with this Agreement. Also, for the avoidance of doubt, Affiliates and
Joint Ventures shall have no licenses under this Agreement unless such Affiliates and Joint Ventures are granted a sublicense. For the purposes of this
Agreement, the operations of all Sublicensees shall be deemed to be the operations of the Licensee, for which the Licensee shall be responsible.
 

3.2 In the event that The Regents and the Licensee each own an undivided interest in any Patent Rights licensed hereunder, the Licensee will not
separately grant a license to any third party under its rights without concurrently granting a license under The Regents’ rights on the terms and conditions
described in this Article 3 (Sublicenses).

 
3.3 The Licensee will notify The Regents of each sublicense granted hereunder and will provide The Regents with a complete copy of each sublicense

(along with a summary of the material terms of each such sublicense) and each amendment to such sublicense within thirty (30) days of issuance of such
sublicense or such amendment. The Licensee will collect from Sublicensees and pay to The Regents all fees, payments, royalties and the cash equivalent of any
consideration due The Regents. The Licensee will guarantee all monies due The Regents from Sublicensees. For clarity, if the Licensee grants a sublicense that
contains a provision for payment of royalties by any Sublicensee in an amount that is less than the Sublicensee Royalty required to be paid under Paragraph 7.1
below, then the Licensee will pay to The Regents a total amount equal to the Sublicensee Royalty based on the Sublicensees’ Net Sales as provided for in
Paragraph 7.1. The Licensee will require Sublicensees to provide it with copies of all progress reports and royalty reports in accordance with the provisions
herein and the Licensee will collect and deliver all such reports due The Regents from Sublicensees.
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3.4 If Licensee licenses patent rights assigned to or otherwise acquired by it (“Licensee’s Patent Rights”), and it believes, in good faith, that the recipient
of such license will infringe Patent Rights in practicing the Licensee’s Patent Rights, then the Licensee will not separately grant a license to such recipient
under Licensee’s Patent Rights without concurrently granting a sublicense under Patent Rights on the terms required under this Agreement.
 

3.5 Upon any expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason, all sublicenses shall automatically terminate, unless The Regents, at its sole
discretion, agrees in writing to an assignment to The Regents of any sublicense. In the event of termination of this Agreement and if The Regents accepts
assignment of any sublicense, The Regents will not be bound by any grant of rights broader than or will not be required to perform any obligation other than
those rights and obligations contained in this Agreement. Moreover, The Regents will have the sole right to modify each such assigned sublicense to include all
of the rights of The Regents (and, if applicable, the United States Government and other sponsors) that are contained in this Agreement, including the payment
of Earned Royalties directly to The Regents by the Sublicensee as if it were the Licensee at a rate that is no lower than the rate set forth in Article 8 (Earned
Royalties and Minimum Annual Royalties) in accordance with Article 4 (Payment Terms).

 
4. PAYMENT TERMS
 

4.1 Paragraphs 1.7, 1.8, 1.9 and 1.14 define Licensed Method, Licensed Product, Licensed Service and Patent Rights, so that Earned Royalties are payable
on products and methods covered by both pending patent applications and issued patents. Earned Royalties will accrue in each country for the duration of
Patent Rights in that country and will be payable to The Regents when Licensed Products or Licensed Services are invoiced, or if not invoiced, when delivered
or otherwise exploited by the Licensee or Sublicensee in a manner constituting a Net Sale as defined in Paragraph 1.11. Sublicense Fees with respect to any
Attributed Income shall accrue to The Regents within thirty (30) days of the date that such Attributed Income is due to the Licensee.

 
4.2 The Licensee will pay to The Regents all Earned Royalties, Sublicense Fees and other consideration payable to The Regents quarterly on or before

February 28 (for the calendar quarter ending December 31), May 31 (for the calendar quarter ending March 31), August 31 (for the calendar quarter ending
June 30) and November 30 (for the calendar quarter ending September 30) of each calendar year. Each payment will be for Earned Royalties, Sublicense Fees
and other consideration which has accrued within the Licensee’s most recently completed calendar quarter.
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4.3 All consideration due The Regents will be payable and will be made in United States dollars by check payable to “The Regents of the University of
California” or by wire transfer to an account designated by The Regents. The Licensee is responsible for all bank or other transfer charges. When Licensed
Products or Licensed Services are Sold for monies other than United States dollars, the Earned Royalties and other consideration will first be determined in the
foreign currency of the country in which such Licensed Products or Licensed Services were Sold and then converted into equivalent United States dollars. The
exchange rate will be the average exchange rate quoted in the The Wall Street Journal during the last thirty (30) days of the reporting period.

 
4.4 Sublicense Fees and Earned Royalties on Net Sales of Licensed Products or Licensed Services and other consideration accrued in, any country outside

the United States may not be reduced by any taxes, fees or other charges imposed by the government of such country, except those taxes, fees and charges
allowed under the provisions of Paragraph 1.11 (Net Sales).

 
4.5 Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 27 (Force Majeure) if at any time legal restrictions prevent the prompt remittance of Earned Royalties or

other consideration owed to The Regents by the Licensee with respect to any country where a sublicense is issued or a Licensed Product or Licensed Service is
Sold or otherwise exploited, then the Licensee shall convert the amount owed to The Regents into United States dollars and will pay The Regents directly from
another source of funds in order to remit the entire amount owed to The Regents.

 
4.6 In the event that any patent or claim thereof included within the Patent Rights is held invalid in a final decision by a court of competent jurisdiction

and last resort and from which no appeal has or can be taken, then all obligation to pay royalties based on that patent or claim or any claim patentably indistinct
therefrom will cease as of the date of final decision. The Licensee will not, however, be relieved from paying any royalties that accrued before such final
decision and the Licensee shall be obligated to pay the full amount of royalties due hereunder to the extent that The Regents licenses one or more Valid Claims
within the Patent Rights to the Licensee with respect to Licensed Products or Licensed Services.
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4.7 No Earned Royalties will be collected or paid hereunder to The Regents on Licensed Products or Licensed Services Sold to, or otherwise exploited

for, the account of the United States Government as provided for in the license to the United States Government. The Licensee and its Sublicensees will reduce
the amount charged for Licensed Products or Licensed Services Sold to, or otherwise exploited by, the United States Government by an amount equal to the
Earned Royalty for such Licensed Products or Licensed Services otherwise due The Regents. Such reduction in Earned Royalties will be in addition to any
other reductions in price required by the United States Government.

 
4.8 In the event that royalties, fees, reimbursements for Patent Prosecution Costs or other monies owed to The Regents are not received by The Regents

when due, the Licensee will pay to The Regents interest at a rate of [**] simple interest per annum. Such interest will be calculated from the date payment was
due until actually received by The Regents. Such accrual of interest will be in addition to and not in lieu of, enforcement of any other rights of The Regents due
to such late payment.

 
5. LICENSE ISSUE FEE
 

Licensee paid to The Regents a license issue fee of [**] on April 13th, 2011.
 
6. LICENSE MAINTENANCE FEE
 

Because Sale of CLIA-certified Licensed Product began September 27th, 2012, the parties agree that Licensee is not obligated to pay a license
maintenance fee.
 
7. PAYMENTS ON SUBLICENSES
 

7.1 The Licensee will pay to The Regents the following non-refundable and non-creditable sublicense fees (“Sublicense Fees”):
 

 7.1.1 [**] of all Attributed Income received on sublicenses executed prior to first commercial Sale of a CLIA-certified Licensed Product or
Licensed Service;

   
 7.1.2 [**] of all Attributed Income received on sublicenses executed after the first commercial Sale of a CLIA-certified Licensed Product or

Licensed Service and prior to receipt of 510K marketing approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA;
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 7.1.3 [**] of all Attributed Income received on sublicenses executed after receipt of 510K marketing approval from the FDA.

7.2 The Licensee will also pay to The Regents, with respect to each Sublicensee, a pass-through Earned Royalty as provided for under Section 8 Earned
Royalties and Minimum Annual Royalties.

 
8. EARNED ROYALTIES AND MINIMUM ANNUAL ROYALTIES
 

8.1 The Licensee will also pay to The Regents an earned royalty of (i) [**] of the Net Sales of Licensed Product or Licensed Method by the Licensee,
any Affiliate, Sublicensee or Joint Venture; and (ii) [**] of any Service Income of the Licensee, any Affiliate, Sublicensee or Joint Venture (“Earned Royalty”).
 

8.2 In the event it becomes necessary for Licensee (or its Affiliate or Sublicensee) to license patent rights owned by an unaffiliated third party(ies) in order
to make, use, Sell, offer to Sell or import Licensed Product or Licensed Method, and Licensee (or its Affiliate or Sublicensee) is required to pay a royalty to the
unaffiliated third party(ies) under a separate license agreement in order to practice Licensed Methods, and/or to make, use, Sell, offer to Sell or import Licensed
Products, in addition to Licensee paying to The Regents a royalty under this Agreement for such activity, and the combined earned royalty due all the parties
exceeds eight percent (8%), then the Earned Royalty to be paid to The Regents under this Agreement by Licensee shall be reduced on a going-forward basis by
an amount equal to one-half (1/2) of the royalty rate due to such unaffiliated third party(ies) that is in excess of the [**] percent ([**]%) combined royalty rate
due to all parties. However, in no event shall the amount paid to The Regents be reduced below fifty percent (50%) of the original Earned Royalty amount due
The Regents under Paragraph 8.1 above. In addition, any credit must be used within the royalty reporting period that such credit is earned and may not roll
forward from one royalty reporting period to the next.
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8.3 The Licensee will also pay to The Regents a minimum annual royalty of [**] for the life of Patent Rights, beginning with the year of the first Sale of
Licensed Product or Licensed Service. The minimum annual royalty will be paid to The Regents by February 28 of each year and will be credited against the
Earned Royalty due for the calendar year in which the minimum payment was made. However, if the first Sale occurs after February 28, then the Licensee’s
obligation to pay the minimum annual royalty will be pro-rated for the number of months remaining in that calendar year when Sales commence and will be
due the following February 28 (along with the minimum annual royalty payment for that year), to allow for crediting of the pro-rated year’s Earned Royalties.
 
9. MILESTONE PAYMENTS
 

9.1 With respect to the first Licensed Product to achieve the following milestone, the Licensee will pay to The Regents a non-refundable, non-creditable
amount of [**] upon [**].

 
9.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the milestone payment set forth in Paragraph 9.1 will be payable regardless of whether the applicable milestone event has

been achieved by the Licensee or any Affiliate, Joint Venture, or Sublicensee.
 
9.3 All milestone payments are due to The Regents within thirty (30) days of the occurrence of the applicable milestone event.
 

10. DUE DILIGENCE
 

10.1 The Licensee, upon execution of this Agreement, will diligently proceed with the development, manufacture and Sale of Licensed Products and
Licensed Services and will earnestly and diligently market the same after execution of this Agreement and in quantities sufficient to meet the market demands
therefor.

 
10.2 The Licensee will obtain all necessary governmental approvals in each country where Licensed Products and Licensed Services are manufactured,

used, Sold, offered for Sale or imported.
 
10.3 The Licensee will:

 
 10.3.1 Market first CLIA-certified Licensed Product within eighteen months (18) months from the Effective Date;
   
 10.3.2 Submit 510K application (or PMA) to FDA within three (3) years from the Effective Date, if required by FDA regulations;
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 10.3.3 Market 510K-approved Licensed Product in the United States within six (6) months of receiving approval of such Licensed Product from
FDA; and

   
 10.3.4 Fill the market demand for Licensed Products and Licensed Services within one (1) year following commencement of marketing at any

time during the exclusive period of this Agreement.10.3.1;

10.4 If the Licensee is unable to perform any of the provisions under 10.3.1 through 10.3.3 within the specified time on its own or through an Affiliate,
Joint Venture or Sublicensee, and Licensee can demonstrate with supporting documentation its (or its Affiliate’s, Joint Venture’s or Sublicensee’s) diligent
efforts to meet such milestones, then The Regents agrees to extend such milestone for one (1) year upon payment of an extension fee of [**].

 
10.5 If the Licensee is unable to perform any of the provisions under Paragraph 10.3 and cannot demonstrate its diligent efforts to achieve such milestone,

then The Regents has the right and option to either terminate this Agreement or reduce the exclusive license granted to the Licensee to a nonexclusive license in
accordance with Paragraph 10.6 below. This right, if exercised by The Regents, supersedes the rights granted in Article 2 (Grant).

 
10.6 To exercise either the right to terminate this Agreement or to reduce the exclusive license granted to the Licensee to a non-exclusive license for lack

of diligence required in this Article 10 (Due Diligence), The Regents will give the Licensee written notice of the deficiency. The Licensee thereafter has [**]
days to cure the deficiency. If The Regents has not received written tangible evidence satisfactory to The Regents that the deficiency has been cured by the end
of the [**]-day period, then The Regents may, at its option, terminate this Agreement immediately without the obligation to provide [**] days’ notice as set
forth in Article 14 (Termination by The Regents) or reduce the exclusive license granted to the Licensee to a non-exclusive license by giving written notice to
the Licensee.

 
11. PROGRESS AND ROYALTY REPORTS
 

11.1 Beginning on March 31, 2009, and semi-annually thereafter, the Licensee will submit to The Regents a written progress report as described in
Paragraph 11.2 below covering the Licensee’s (and any Affiliates’, Joint Ventures’ or Sublicensee’s) activities related to the development and testing of all
Licensed Products and Licensed Services and related to the obtaining of the governmental approvals necessary for marketing and the activities required and
undertaken in order to meet the diligence requirements set forth in Article 10 (Due Diligence). Progress reports are required for each Licensed Product and
Licensed Service until the first Sale or other exploitation of that Licensed Product or Licensed Service occurs in the United States and shall be again required if
Sales of such Licensed Product or Licensed Service are suspended or discontinued.
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11.2 Progress reports submitted under Paragraph 11.1 shall include, but are not limited to, a detailed summary of the following topics so that The Regents
will be able to determine the progress of the development of Licensed Products and Licensed Services and will also be able to determine whether or not the
Licensee has met its diligence obligations set forth in Article 10 (Due Diligence) above:

 
11.2.1 [**];

 
11.2.2 [**];

 
11.2.3 [**];

 
11.2.4 [**]

 
11.2.5 [**];

 
11.2.6 [**]; and

11.2.7 [**].
 

11.3 If the Licensee fails to submit a timely progress report to The Regents, then The Regents will be entitled to terminate this Agreement. If either party
terminates this Agreement before any Licensed Products or Licensed Services are Sold or before this Agreement’s expiration, then a final progress report
covering the period prior to termination must be submitted within [**] days of termination or expiration.
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11.4 The Licensee has a continuing responsibility to keep The Regents informed of the business entity status (small business entity status or large business
entity status as defined by the United States Patent and Trademark Office) of itself, any Affiliates, Joint Ventures, or Sublicensees. The Licensee will notify The
Regents of any change of its status or that of any Affiliate, Joint Venture, or Sublicensee within thirty (30) days of the change in status.
 

11.5 The Licensee will report to The Regents [**].
 
11.6 Beginning with the earlier of (i) the first Sale or other exploitation of a Licensed Product or Licensed Service or (ii) the first transaction that results in

Sublicense Fees accruing to The Regents, the Licensee will make quarterly royalty and Sublicensee Fee reports to The Regents on or before each February 28
(for the quarter ending December 31), May 31 (for the quarter ending March 31), August 31 (for the quarter ending June 30) and November 30 (for the quarter
ending September 30) of each year. Each royalty and Sublicensee Fee report will cover Licensee’s most recently completed calendar quarter and will, at a
minimum, show:

 
 11.6.1 the gross invoice prices and Net Sales of Licensed Products or Licensed Services Sold or otherwise exploited (itemizing the applicable

gross proceeds and any deductions therefrom), any Attributed Income (itemizing the applicable gross proceeds and any deductions
therefrom) and any Service Income (itemizing the applicable gross proceeds and any deductions therefrom) due to the Licensee;

   
 11.6.2 the quantity of each type of Licensed Product and/or Licensed Service Sold or otherwise exploited;
   
 11.6.3 the country in which each Licensed Product and Licensed Service was made, used or Sold or otherwise exploited;
   
 11.6.4 the Earned Royalties, in United States dollars, payable with respect to Net Sales and Service Income;
   
 11.6.5 the Sublicense Fees, in United States dollars, payable with respect to Attributed Income;
   
 11.6.6 the method used to calculate the Earned Royalty, specifying all deductions taken and the dollar amount of each such deduction;
   
 11.6.7 the exchange rates used, if any;
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 11.6.8 the amount of the cash and the amount of the cash equivalent of any non-cash consideration including the method used to calculate the
non-cash consideration;

   
 11.6.9 for each Licensed Product and each Licensed Service, the specific Patent Rights identified by UC Case Number exercised by the

Licensee or any Affiliate, Joint Venture or Sublicensee, or in the course of making, using, selling, offering for Sale or importing such
Licensed Product and/or using, selling or offering for Sale such Licensed Service; and

   
 11.6.10 any other information reasonably necessary to confirm Licensee’s calculation of its financial obligations hereunder.

11.7 If no Sales of Licensed Products and Licensed Services have been made and no Licensed Products and Licensed Services have been otherwise
exploited and no Attributed Income is due to the Licensee during any reporting period, then a statement to this effect must be provided by the Licensee in the
immediately subsequent royalty and Sublicense Fee report.

 
12. BOOKS AND RECORDS
 

12.1 The Licensee will keep accurate books and records showing all Licensed Product under development, manufactured, used, offered for Sale,
imported, Sold and or otherwise exploited; all Licensed Service Sold or otherwise provided; all Net Sales, all Attributed Income, all Service Income and other
amounts payable hereunder; and all sublicenses granted under the terms of this Agreement. Such books and records will be preserved for at least five (5) years
after the date of the payment to which they pertain and will be open to examination by representatives or agents of The Regents at reasonable times to
determine their accuracy and assess the Licensee’s compliance with the terms of this Agreement.

 
12.2 The Regents shall pay the fees and expenses of such examination. If, however, an error in royalties of more than five percent (5%) of the total

royalties due for any year is discovered in any examination, then the Licensee shall bear the fees and expenses of such examination and shall remit such
underpayment to The Regents within thirty (30) days of the examination results.
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13. LIFE OF THE AGREEMENT
 

13.1 Unless otherwise terminated by operation of law, Paragraph 13.2, or by acts of the parties in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, this
Agreement will remain in effect from the Effective Date until the expiration or abandonment of the last of the Patent Rights licensed hereunder.

 
13.2 This Agreement will automatically terminate without the obligation to provide 60 days’ notice as set forth in Article 14 (Termination By The

Regents) upon the filing of a petition for relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code by or against the Licensee as a debtor or alleged debtor.
 
13.3 Any termination or expiration of this Agreement will not affect the rights and obligations set forth in the following Articles:
 

 Article 1 Definitions
 Paragraph 4.8 Late Payments
 Article 5 License Issue Fee
 Article 7 Payments on Sublicenses
 Paragraphs 8.1 and 8.3 Earned Royalties and Minimum Annual Royalties
 Article 12 Books and Records
 Article 13 Life of the Agreement
 Article 16 Disposition of Licensed Products and Licensed Services on Hand Upon Termination or Expiration
 Article 17 Use of Names and Trademarks
 Article 18 Limited Warranty
 Article 19 Limitation of Liability
 Paragraphs 20.4 & 20.6 Patent Prosecution and Maintenance
 Article 23 Indemnification
 Article 24 Notices
 Article 28 Governing Laws; Venue; Attorneys Fees
 Article 31 Confidentiality
 

13.4 The termination or expiration of this Agreement will not relieve the Licensee of its obligation to pay any fees, royalties or other payments owed to
The Regents at the time of such termination or expiration and will not impair any accrued right of The Regents, including the right to receive Earned Royalties
in accordance with Articles 7 (Payments on Sublicenses), 8 (Earned Royalties and Minimum Annual Royalties) and 16 (Disposition of Licensed Products and
Licensed Services Upon Termination or Expiration).
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14. TERMINATION BY THE REGENTS
 

If the Licensee fails to perform or violates any term of this Agreement, then The Regents may give written notice of such default (“Notice of Default”) to
the Licensee. If the Licensee fails to repair such default within [**] days after the effective date of such notice, then The Regents will have the right to
immediately terminate this Agreement and its licenses by providing a written notice of termination (“Notice of Termination”) to the Licensee.

 
15. TERMINATION BY LICENSEE
 

The Licensee has the right at any time to terminate this Agreement by providing a Notice of Termination to The Regents. Moreover, the Licensee will be
entitled to terminate the rights under Patent Rights on a country-by-country basis by giving notice in writing to The Regents. Termination of this Agreement
(but not termination of any patents or patent applications under Patent Rights, which termination is subject to Paragraph 20.6) will be effective sixty (60) days
from the effective date of such notice.

 
16. DISPOSITION OF LICENSED PRODUCT AND LICENSED SERVICES UPON TERMINATION OR EXPIRATION
 

16.1 Upon termination (but not expiration) of this Agreement, within a period of [**] days after the date of termination, the Licensee is entitled to (i)
dispose of all previously made or partially made Licensed Product, but no more and (ii) provide previously contracted-for Licensed Services, provided that the
Sale or use of such Licensed Product and the provision of such Licensed Services are subject to the terms of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the
rendering of reports and payment of Earned Royalties, Sublicense Fees and any other payments therefor required under this Agreement. The Licensee will not
otherwise make, use, Sell, offer for Sale or import Licensed Products or Licensed Services, or practice the Licensed Method after the date of termination.

 
16.2 If applicable Patent Rights exist at the time of any making, Sale, offer for Sale, or import of a Licensed Product or the time of any Sale, offer for Sale,

or rendering of a Licensed Service, then Earned Royalties shall be paid at the times provided herein and royalty reports shall be rendered in connection
therewith, notwithstanding the absence of applicable Patent Rights with respect to such Licensed Product or Licensed Service at any later time. Otherwise, no
Earned Royalties shall be paid on the Sales of such product or service. Any fees or other payments owed to The Regents at the time of expiration not based on
the Sales of a Licensed Product or Licensed Service will be paid to The Regents at the time such fee or other payment would have been due had this Agreement
not expired.
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17. USE OF NAMES AND TRADEMARKS
 

Nothing contained in this Agreement will be construed as conferring any right to either party to use in advertising, publicity or other promotional
activities any name, trade name, trademark or other designation of the other party (including a contraction, abbreviation or simulation of any of the foregoing).
Without the Licensee’s consent case-by-case, The Regents may list Licensee’s name as a licensee of technology from The Regents without further identifying
the technology. Unless required by law or unless consented to in writing by Director, UCSF Office of Technology Management, the use by the Licensee of the
name “The Regents of the University of California” or the name of any campus of the University of California in advertising, publicity or other promotional
activities is expressly prohibited.

 
18. LIMITED WARRANTY
 

18.1 The Regents warrants to the Licensee that it has the lawful right to grant this license.
 

18.2 Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, this license and the associated Invention, Patent Rights, Licensed Products, Licensed Services,
Licensed Methods and any Biological Materials are provided by The Regents WITHOUT WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A
PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR ANY OTHER WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED. THE REGENTS MAKES NO EXPRESS OR
IMPLIED REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY THAT THE INVENTION, PATENT RIGHTS, LICENSED PRODUCTS, LICENSED SERVICES,
LICENSED METHODS OR BIOLOGICAL MATERIALS WILL NOT INFRINGE ANY PATENT, COPYRIGHT, TRADEMARK OR OTHER RIGHTS.
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18.3 This Agreement does not:
 
 18.3.1 express or imply a warranty or representation as to the validity, enforceability, or scope of any Patent Rights; or
   
 18.3.2 express or imply a warranty or representation that anything made, used, Sold, offered for Sale or imported or otherwise exploited under

any license granted in this Agreement is or will be free from infringement of patents, copyrights, or other rights of third parties; or
   
 18.3.3 obligate The Regents to bring or prosecute actions or suits against third parties for patent infringement except as provided in Article 22

(Patent Infringement); or
   
 18.3.4 confer by implication, estoppel or otherwise any license or rights under any patents or other rights of The Regents other than Patent

Rights, regardless of whether such patents are dominant or subordinate to Patent Rights; or
   
 18.3.5 obligate The Regents to furnish any New Developments, know-how, technology or information not provided in Patent Rights.
 
19. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY
 

THE REGENTS WILL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY LOST PROFITS, COSTS OF PROCURING SUBSTITUTE GOODS OR SERVICES, LOST
BUSINESS, ENHANCED DAMAGES FOR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY INFRINGEMENT OR ANY INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL,
PUNITIVE OR OTHER SPECIAL DAMAGES SUFFERED BY LICENSEE, SUBLICENSEES, JOINT VENTURES OR AFFILIATES ARISING OUT OF
OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT FOR ALL CAUSES OF ACTION OF ANY KIND (INCLUDING TORT, CONTRACT, NEGLIGENCE, STRICT
LIABILITY AND BREACH OF WARRANTY) EVEN IF THE REGENTS HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.
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20. PATENT PROSECUTION AND MAINTENANCE
 

20.1 As long as the Licensee has paid Patent Prosecution Costs as provided for in this Article 20 (Patent Prosecution and Maintenance), The Regents will
diligently prosecute and maintain the United States and foreign patents comprising the Patent Rights using counsel of its choice. The Regents’ counsel will take
instructions only from The Regents. The Regents will provide the Licensee with copies of all relevant documentation so that the Licensee will be informed of
the continuing prosecution and may comment upon such documentation sufficiently in advance of any initial deadline for filing a response, provided, however,
that if the Licensee has not commented upon such documentation in a reasonable time for The Regents to sufficiently consider the Licensee’s comments prior
to a deadline with the relevant government patent office, or The Regents must act to preserve the Patent Rights, The Regents will be free to respond without
consideration of the Licensee’s comments, if any. The Licensee agrees to keep this documentation confidential as provided for in Article 31 (Confidentiality).
 

20.2 The Regents shall use reasonable efforts to amend any patent application to include claims reasonably requested by the Licensee to protect the
products and services contemplated to be Sold, or the Licensed Method to be practiced, under this Agreement.

 
20.3 The Licensee will apply for an extension of the term of any patent included within the Patent Rights if appropriate under the Drug Price Competition

and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 and/or European, Japanese and other foreign counterparts of this Law. The Licensee shall prepare all documents and
The Regents agrees to execute the documents and to take additional action as the Licensee reasonably requests in connection therewith. Licensee shall be liable
for all costs relating to such application.

 
20.4 The Licensee will bear the costs of preparing, filing, prosecuting and maintaining all United States and foreign patent applications contemplated by

this Agreement (“Patent Prosecution Costs”). Patent Prosecution Costs billed by The Regents’ counsel will be rebilled to the Licensee and are due within thirty
(30) days of rebilling by The Regents. These Patent Prosecution Costs will include, without limitation, patent prosecution costs for the Invention incurred by
The Regents prior to the execution of this Agreement and any patent prosecution costs that may be incurred for patentability opinions, re-examination, re-issue,
interferences, oppositions or inventorship determinations. Any Patent costs incurred and not yet reimbursed by Licensee under the Original Agreement and the
2012 Agreement are due within thirty (30) days of the original invoice.
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20.5 The Licensee may request that The Regents obtain patent protection on the Invention in foreign countries, if available and if it so desires. The
Licensee will notify The Regents of its decision to obtain or maintain foreign patents not less than ninety (90) days prior to the deadline for any payment, filing
or action to be taken in connection therewith. This notice concerning foreign filing must be in writing, must identify the countries desired and must reaffirm the
Licensee’s obligation to pay the Patent Prosecution Costs thereof. The absence of such a notice from the Licensee to The Regents will be considered an election
not to obtain or maintain foreign Patent Rights.
 

20.6 The Licensee will be obligated to pay any Patent Prosecution Costs incurred during the [**] period after receipt by either party of a Notice of
Termination, even if the invoices for such Patent Prosecution Costs are received by the Licensee after the end of the [**] period following receipt of a Notice of
Termination. The Licensee may terminate its obligation to pay Patent Prosecution Costs with respect to any given patent application or patent under Patent
Rights in any or all designated countries upon three (3)-months’ written notice to The Regents. The Regents may continue prosecution and/or maintenance of
such application(s) or patent(s) at its sole discretion and expense, provided, however, that the Licensee will have no further right or licenses thereunder. Non-
payment of Patent Prosecution Costs may be deemed by The Regents as an election by the Licensee not to maintain such application(s) or patent(s).

 
20.7 The Regents may file, prosecute or maintain patent applications or patents at its own expense in any country in which the Licensee has not elected to

file, prosecute or maintain patent applications or patents in accordance with this Article 20 (Patent Prosecution and Maintenance) and those applications,
resultant patents and patents will not be subject to this Agreement.

 
21. PATENT MARKING
 

The Licensee will mark all Licensed Products made, used or Sold under the terms of this Agreement or their containers in accordance with the applicable
patent marking laws.
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22. PATENT INFRINGEMENT
 

22.1 In the event that The Regents (to the extent of the actual knowledge of the licensing professional responsible for the administration of this
Agreement) or the Licensee learns of infringement of potential commercial significance of any patent licensed under this Agreement, the knowledgeable party
will provide the other (i) with written notice of such infringement and (ii) with any evidence of such infringement available to it (the “Infringement Notice”).
During the period in which, and in the jurisdiction where, the Licensee has exclusive rights under this Agreement, neither The Regents nor the Licensee will
notify a possible infringer of infringement or put such infringer on notice of the existence of any Patent Rights without first obtaining consent of the other. If
the Licensee puts such infringer on notice of the existence of any Patent Rights with respect to such infringement without first obtaining the written consent of
The Regents and if a declaratory judgment action is filed by such infringer against The Regents, then Licensee’s right to initiate a suit against such infringer for
infringement under Paragraph 22.2 below will terminate immediately without the obligation of The Regents to provide notice to the Licensee. Both The
Regents and the Licensee will use their diligent efforts to cooperate with each other to terminate such infringement without litigation.
 

22.2 If infringing activity of potential commercial significance by the infringer has not been abated within [**] days following the date the Infringement
Notice takes effect, then the Licensee may institute suit for patent infringement against the infringer. The Regents may join such suit at its own expense, but
may not otherwise commence suit against the infringer for the acts of infringement that are the subject of the Licensee’s suit or any judgment rendered in that
suit. The Licensee may not join The Regents as a party in a suit initiated by the Licensee without The Regents’ prior written consent. If The Regents joins any
suit at the request of the Licensee, then the Licensee will pay any costs incurred by The Regents arising out of such suit, including but not limited to, any legal
fees of counsel that The Regents selects and retains to represent it in the suit.

 
22.3 If, within a [**] days following the date the Infringement Notice takes effect, infringing activity of potential commercial significance by the infringer

has not been abated and if the Licensee has not brought suit against the infringer, then The Regents may institute suit for patent infringement against the
infringer. If The Regents institutes such suit, then the Licensee may not join such suit without The Regents’ consent and may not thereafter commence suit
against the infringer for the acts of infringement that are the subject of The Regents’ suit or any judgment rendered in that suit.
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22.4 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in the event that the infringement or potential infringement pertains to an issued patent
included within the Patent Rights and written notice is given under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 (and/or foreign
counterparts of this Law), then the party in receipt of such notice under the Act (in the case of The Regents to the extent of the actual knowledge of the
licensing officer responsible for the administration of this Agreement) shall provide the Infringement Notice to the other party promptly. If the time period is
such that the Licensee will lose the right to pursue legal remedy for infringement by not notifying a third party or by not filing suit, the notification period and
the time period to file suit will be accelerated to within [**] days of the date of such notice under the Act to either party.
 

22.5 Any recovery or settlement received in connection with any suit will first be shared by The Regents and the Licensee equally to cover any litigation
costs each incurred and next shall be paid to The Regents or the Licensee to cover any litigation costs it incurred in excess of the litigation costs of the other. In
any suit initiated by the Licensee, any recovery in excess of litigation costs will be shared between Licensee and The Regents as follows: (a) for any recovery
other than amounts paid for willful infringement: (i) The Regents will receive [**] of the recovery if The Regents was not a party in the litigation and did not
incur any litigation costs, (ii) The Regents will receive [**] of the recovery if The Regents was a party in the litigation whether joined as a party under the
provisions of Paragraph 22.2 or otherwise, but The Regents did not incur any litigation costs, and (iii) The Regents will receive [**] of the recovery if The
Regents incurred any litigation costs in connection with the litigation; and (b) for any recovery for willful infringement, The Regents will receive [**] of the
recovery. In any suit initiated by The Regents, any recovery in excess of litigation costs will belong to The Regents. The Regents and the Licensee agree to be
bound by all determinations of patent infringement, validity and enforceability (but no other issue) resolved by any adjudicated judgment in a suit brought in
compliance with this Article 22 (Patent Infringement).

 
22.6 Any agreement made by the Licensee for purposes of settling litigation or other dispute shall comply with the requirements of Article 3 (Sublicenses)

of this Agreement.
 
22.7 Each party will cooperate with the other in litigation proceedings instituted hereunder but at the expense of the party who initiated the suit (unless

such suit is being jointly prosecuted by the parties).
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22.8 Any litigation proceedings will be controlled by the party bringing the suit, except that The Regents may be represented by counsel of its choice in

any suit brought by the Licensee.
 

23. INDEMNIFICATION
 

23.1 The Licensee will, and will require its Sublicensees to, indemnify, hold harmless and defend The Regents, the sponsors of the research that led to the
Invention, and the inventors of any invention claimed in patents or patent applications under Patent Rights (including the Licensed Products, Licensed Services
and Licensed Methods contemplated thereunder) and their employers, and the officers, employees and agents of any of the foregoing, against any and all
claims, suits, losses, damage, costs, fees and expenses resulting from, or arising out of, the exercise of this license or any sublicense. This indemnification will
include, but not be limited to, any product liability. Licensee may not use Licensed Products in humans. If The Regents, in its sole discretion, believes that there
will be a conflict of interest or it will not otherwise be adequately represented by counsel chosen by the Licensee to defend The Regents in accordance with this
Paragraph 23.1, then The Regents may retain counsel of its choice to represent it and the Licensee will pay all expenses for such representation.

 
23.2 The Licensee, at its sole cost and expense, will insure its activities in connection with any work performed hereunder and will obtain, keep in force,

and maintain the following insurance:
 

 23.2.1 Commercial Form General Liability Insurance (contractual liability included) with limits as follows:
 

Each Occurrence  $ [**],000
Products/Completed Operations Aggregate  $ [**],000
Personal and Advertising Injury  $ [**],000
General Aggregate (commercial form only)  $ [**],000

 
If the above insurance is written on a claims-made form, it shall continue for [**] years following termination or expiration of this Agreement. The insurance
shall have a retroactive date of placement prior to or coinciding with the Effective Date of this Agreement; and
 

 23.2.2 Worker’s Compensation as legally required in the jurisdiction in which the Licensee is doing business.
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23.3 The coverage and limits referred to in Paragraph 23.2.1 and 23.2.2 above will not in any way limit the liability of the Licensee under this Article 23

(Indemnification). Upon the execution of this Agreement, the Licensee will furnish The Regents with certificates of insurance evidencing compliance with all
requirements. Such certificates will:

 
 - Provide for thirty (30) days’ (ten (10) days for non-payment of premium) advance written notice to The Regents of any cancellation of

insurance coverage; the Licensee will promptly notify The Regents of any material modification of the insurance coverage;
 - Indicate that The Regents has been endorsed as an additional insured under the coverage described above in Paragraph 23.2.1; and
 - Include a provision that the coverage will be primary and will not participate with, nor will be excess over, any valid and collectable

insurance or program of self-insurance maintained by The Regents.

23.4 The Regents will promptly notify the Licensee in writing of any claim or suit brought against The Regents for which The Regents intends to invoke
the provisions of this Article 23 (Indemnification). The Licensee will keep The Regents informed of its defense of any claims pursuant to this Article 23
(Indemnification).

 
24. NOTICES
 

24.1 Any notice or payment required to be given to either party under this Agreement will be in writing and will be deemed to have been properly given
and to be effective as of the date specified below if delivered to the respective address given below or to another address as designated by written notice given
to the other party:

 
 24.1.1 on the date of delivery if delivered in person;
   
 24.1.2 on the date of mailing if mailed by first-class certified mail, postage paid; or
   
 24.1.3 on the date of mailing if mailed by any global express carrier service that requires the recipient to sign the documents demonstrating the

delivery of such notice or payment.
 

In the case of Licensee: Razor Genomics, Inc.
 [**]
 Attention: Michael Mann, CEO
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In the case of The Regents: Office of Technology Management
 University of California San Francisco
 600 16th Street, Suite S-272
 San Francisco, CA 94158
 Attention: Director
 RE: UCSF Case Nos. 2002-023, SF2006-090, SF2007-086, SF2008-010, &

SF2011-157

For payments to The Regents: Office of Technology Transfer
 Attn.: Accounts Receivable
 University of California
 Office of the President
 1111 Franklin Street, 5th Floor

Oakland, CA 94607-5200
 RE: UCSF Case Nos. SF2002-023, SF2006-090, SF2007-086, SF2008-010,

& SF2011-157

25. ASSIGNABILITY
 

This Agreement is personal to the Licensee. The Licensee may not assign or transfer this Agreement, including by merger, operation of law, or otherwise,
without The Regents’ prior written consent, except that such consent will not be required in the case of assignment or transfer to a party that succeeds to all or
substantially all of Licensee’s business or assets relating to this Agreement, whether by sale, merger, operation of law or otherwise, provided that a) such
assignee or transferee promptly agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement and signs The Regents’ standard substitution of party letter
(the form of which is attached hereto as Appendix A), b) Licensee gives The Regents a fifteen (15) day notice of assignment, and c) upon payment by Licensee
to The Regents of a [**] assignment fee. Any attempted assignment by the Licensee in violation of this Article 25 (Assignment) will be null and void. This
Agreement is binding upon and will inure to the benefit of The Regents, its successors and assigns.
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26. WAIVER
 

No waiver by either party of any breach or default of any of the agreements contained herein will be deemed a waiver as to any subsequent and/or similar
breach or default. No waiver will be valid or binding upon the parties unless made in writing and signed by a duly authorized officer of each party.

 
27. FORCE MAJEURE
 

27.1 Except for the Licensee’s obligation to make any payments to The Regents hereunder, the parties shall not be responsible for any failure to perform
due to the occurrence of any events beyond their reasonable control which render their performance impossible or onerous, including, but not limited to:
accidents (environmental, toxic spill, etc.); acts of God; biological or nuclear incidents; casualties; earthquakes; fires; floods; governmental acts; orders or
restrictions; inability to obtain suitable and sufficient labor, transportation, fuel and materials; local, national or state emergency; power failure and power
outages; acts of terrorism; strike; and war.

 
27.2 Either party to this Agreement, however, will have the right to terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice if either party is

unable to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement due to any of the causes specified in Paragraph 27.1 for a period of one (1) year.
 

28. GOVERNING LAWS; VENUE; ATTORNEYS’ FEES
 

28.1 THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE INTERPRETED AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
excluding any choice of law rules that would direct the application of the laws of another jurisdiction and without regard to which party drafted particular
provisions of this Agreement, but the scope and validity of any patent or patent application will be governed by the applicable laws of the country of such
patent or patent application.

 
28.2 Any legal action brought by the parties hereto relating to this Agreement will be conducted in San Francisco, California.
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28.3 The prevailing party in any suit related to this Agreement will be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees in addition to its costs and

necessary disbursements.
 

29. GOVERNMENT APPROVAL OR REGISTRATION
 

If this Agreement or any associated transaction is required by the law of any nation to be either approved or registered with any governmental agency, the
Licensee will assume all legal obligations to do so. The Licensee will notify The Regents if it becomes aware that this Agreement is subject to a United States
or foreign government reporting or approval requirement. The Licensee will make all necessary filings and pay all costs including fees, penalties and all other
out-of-pocket costs associated with such reporting or approval process.

 
30. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS
 

The Licensee shall comply with all applicable international, national, state, regional and local laws and regulations in performing its obligations hereunder
and in its use, manufacture, Sale or import of the Licensed Products, Licensed Services or practice of the Licensed Method. The Licensee will observe all
applicable United States and foreign laws with respect to the transfer of Licensed Products and related technical data and the provision of Licensed Services to
foreign countries, including, without limitation, the International Traffic in Arms Regulations (ITAR) and the Export Administration Regulations. The Licensee
shall manufacture Licensed Products and practice the Licensed Method in compliance with applicable government importation laws and regulations of a
particular country for Licensed Products made outside the particular country in which such Licensed Products are used, Sold or otherwise exploited.

 
31. CONFIDENTIALITY
 

31.1 The Licensee and The Regents will treat and maintain the other party’s proprietary business, patent prosecution, software, engineering drawings,
process and technical information and other proprietary information, including the negotiated terms of this Agreement and any progress reports and royalty
reports and any sublicense agreement issued pursuant to this Agreement (“Proprietary Information”) in confidence using at least the same degree of care as the
receiving party uses to protect its own proprietary information of a like nature from the date of disclosure until five (5) years after the termination or expiration
of this Agreement.
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31.2 The Licensee and The Regents may use and disclose Proprietary Information to their employees, agents, consultants, contractors and, in the case of
the Licensee, its Sublicensees, provided that such parties are bound by a like duty of confidentiality as that found in this Article 31 (Confidentiality).
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, The Regents may release this Agreement or any sublicense, including any terms thereof,
and information regarding royalty payments or other income received in connection with this Agreement to the inventors, senior administrative officials
employed by The Regents and individual Regents upon their request. If such release is made, The Regents will request that such terms be kept in confidence in
accordance with the provisions of this Article 31 (Confidentiality). In addition, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if a third party
inquires whether a license to Patent Rights is available, then The Regents may disclose the existence of this Agreement and the extent of the grant in Articles 2
(Grant) and 3 (Sublicenses) and related definitions to such third party, but will not disclose the name of the Licensee unless Licensee has already made such
disclosure publicly.

 
31.3 All written Proprietary Information will be labeled or marked confidential or proprietary. If the Proprietary Information is orally disclosed, it will be

reduced to writing or some other physically tangible form, marked and labeled as confidential or proprietary by the disclosing party and delivered to the
receiving party within thirty (30) days after the oral disclosure.

 
31.4 Nothing contained herein will restrict or impair, in any way, the right of the Licensee or The Regents to use or disclose any Proprietary Information:
 

 31.4.1 that recipient can demonstrate by written records was previously known to it prior to its disclosure by the disclosing party;
   
 31.4.2 that recipient can demonstrate by written records is now, or becomes in the future, public knowledge other than through acts or

omissions of recipient;
   
 31.4.3 that recipient can demonstrate by written records was obtained lawfully and without restrictions on the recipient from sources

independent of the disclosing party; and
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 31.4.4 that The Regents is required to disclose pursuant to the California Public Records Act or other applicable law.

The Licensee or The Regents also may disclose Proprietary Information that is required to be disclosed (i) to a governmental entity or agency in connection
with seeking any governmental or regulatory approval, governmental audit, or other governmental contractual requirement or (ii) by law, provided that the
recipient uses reasonable efforts to give the party owning the Proprietary Information sufficient notice of such required disclosure to allow the party owning the
Proprietary Information reasonable opportunity to object to, and to take legal action to prevent, such disclosure.
 

31.5 Upon termination of this Agreement, the Licensee and The Regents will destroy or return any of the disclosing party’s Proprietary Information in its
possession within fifteen (15) days following the termination of this Agreement. The Licensee and The Regents will provide each other, within thirty (30) days
following termination, with written notice that such Proprietary Information has been returned or destroyed. Each party may, however, retain one copy of such
Proprietary Information for archival purposes in non-working files.

 
32. MISCELLANEOUS
 

32.1 The headings of the several sections are inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect the meaning or
interpretation of this Agreement.

 
32.2 This Agreement is not binding on the parties until it has been signed below on behalf of each party. It is then effective as of the Effective Date.
 
32.3 No amendment or modification of this Agreement is valid or binding on the parties unless made in writing and signed on behalf of each party.
 
32.4 This Agreement embodies the entire understanding of the parties and supersedes all previous communications, representations or understandings,

either oral or written, between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof.
 
32.5 The 2012 Agreement (UC Control No. 2012-03-0053) with an effective date of March 12, 2012, is hereby terminated.
 
32.6 In case any of the provisions contained in this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or

unenforceability will not affect any other provisions of this Agreement and this Agreement will be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable
provisions had never been contained in it.
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32.7 This Agreement includes the attached Appendix A.
 

32.8 No provisions of this Agreement are intended or shall be construed to confer upon or give to any person or entity other than The Regents and the
Licensee any rights, remedies or other benefits under, or by reason of, this Agreement.

 
32.9 In performing their respective duties under this Agreement, each of the parties will be operating as an independent contractor. Nothing contained

herein will in any way constitute any association, partnership, or joint venture between the parties hereto, or be construed to evidence the intention of the
parties to establish any such relationship. Neither party will have the power to bind the other party or incur obligations on the other party’s behalf without the
other party’s prior written consent.

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, both The Regents and the Licensee have executed this Agreement, in duplicate originals, by their respective and duly

authorized officers on the day and year written.
 
RAZOR GENOMICS, INC.  THE REGENTS OF THE

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA
     
By: /s/ Michael Mann  By: /s/ Sunita Rajder
Name: Michael Mann  Name: Sunita Rajder
Title: President and CEO  Title: Senior Associate Director
   USF Office of Technology Management
     
Date: 2/15/2018  Date: 2/20/2018
     
   Approved as to legal form
    
   /s/ Rita Hao      2-15-2018
   Rita Hao          Date
   Senior Counsel
   Office of the General Counsel
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APPENDIX A: CONSENT TO SUBSTITUTION OF PARTY
 

UCSF Case Nos. SF2002-023, SF2006-090, SF2007-086, SF2008-010, & SF2011-157
 

This substitution of parties (“Agreement”) is effective this        day of          , 20__, among The Regents of the University of California (“The
Regents”), a California corporation, having its statewide administrative offices at 1111 Franklin Street, 12th Floor, Oakland, California 94607-5200 and acting
through its Office of Technology Management, University of California San Francisco (“UCSF”), 3333 California Street, Suite S-11, San Francisco, California
94143; Razor Genomics, Inc. (“Razor”), a Delaware corporation, having a principal place of business 27709 Via Cerro Gordo, Los Altos Hills, California
94022; and [new licensee name] [(“YYY”)] a_______________ corporation, having a principal place of business at                   .
 
BACKGROUND
 

A. The Regents and Razor entered into a License Agreement effective_____________ (UC Control No. __-__-_____ ), entitled
____________(“License Agreement”), wherein Razor was granted certain rights.
 

B. Razor desires that [YYY] be substituted as Licensee (defined in the License Agreement) in place of Razor, and The Regents is agreeable to such
substitution.

 
. [YYY] has read the License Agreement and agrees to abide by its terms and conditions.
 
The parties agree as follows:

 
1. [YYY] assumes all liability and obligations under the License Agreement and is bound by all its terms in all respects as if it were the original Licensee of the
License Agreement in place of Razor.
 
2. [YYY] is substituted for Razor, provided that [YYY] assumes all liability and obligations under the License Agreement as if [YYY] were the original party
named as Licensee as of the effective date of the License Agreement.
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3. The Regents releases Razor from all liability and obligations under the License Agreement arising before or after the effective date of this Agreement.
 

The parties have executed this Agreement in triplicate originals by their respective authorized officers on the following day and year.
 
RAZOR GENOMICS, INC.  THE REGENTS OF THE
  UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA
     
By:            By:                     
 (Signature)   (Signature)
     
Name:   Name:  
 (Please print)   (Please print)
     
Title:   Title:   
     
Date:   Date:  
     
[YYY] COMPANY    
     
By:     
     
     
     
     
 (Signature)    
     
Name:     
 (Please print)    
Title:     
    
Date:     
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Exhibit 21

 
Oncocyte Corporation

 
The following is a list of subsidiaries of Oncocyte Corporation, omitting some subsidiaries which, considered in the aggregate, would not constitute a

significant subsidiary.
 

Subsidiary  State or Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Insight Genetics, Inc.  Tennessee
Razor Genomics, Inc.  Delaware
 
 

 



 
EXHIBIT 23.1

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-213810), Registration

Statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-220769, 333-231980, 333-240207 and 333-252765) and in Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-219109, 333-
208935, 333-227118 and 333-232773) of OncoCyte Corporation of our report dated March 16, 2021 relating to the financial statements of OncoCyte
Corporation, which appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
/s/ OUM & Co. LLP
 
San Francisco, California
March 19, 2021
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CERTIFICATIONS

 
I, Ronald Andrews, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of OncoCyte Corporation;
   
2 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
   
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
   
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

   
 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this periodic report is being prepared;

   
 (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

   
 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
   
  (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
   
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
   
 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
   
 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
Date: March 19, 2021
 
/s/ Ronald Andrews  
Ronald Andrews  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
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CERTIFICATIONS
 

I, Mitchell Levine, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of OncoCyte Corporation;
   
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
   
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
   
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

   
 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this periodic report is being prepared;

   
 (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

   
 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
   
  (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
   
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
   
  (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
   
 (c) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
Date: March 19, 2021
 
/s/ Mitchell Levine  
Mitchell Levine  
Chief Financial Officer  
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of OncoCyte Corporation (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2020 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Ronald Andrews, President and Chief Executive Officer, and Mitchell Levine,
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:
 
1 The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
  
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Date: March 19, 2021
 
/s/ Ronald Andrews  
Ronald Andrews  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
  
/s/ Mitchell Levine  
Mitchell Levine  
Chief Financial Officer  
 
 

 
 
 


